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PREFACE.

851227
In preseuting this volume to the public, I do so with

much hesitatioD, aud embarrassment. Making no preten-

sions to being an author, and this book being the result of

an accident as it were, I ask from the reader a kindly con-

sideration, and generous criticism. Some eight years ago,

I, for my own amusement, furnished to the press a series of

articles entitled " Our Early Settlers," in which I endeavor-

ed to truthfully detail some of the many reminiscences of

pioneer life in this county. As these articles progressed,

they had the merit of attracting some attention, especially

from the old settlers, who took the matter in earnest, and

steps were taken to form a Pioneer xVssociation, which re-

sulted in the formation of such a society. At the meetings

and re-unions of this Association papers appropriate to the

occasion were prepared and read by myself and others. I

was then requested by many of the old .frontiersmen, for

whom I have the profoundest respect, as well as by many

of the descendants of those who had " gone home " to pre-

pare and have published a history of the county.

Upon this earnest solicitation, and with a due apprecia-

tion of the labors and responsibilities of the undertaking, I

consented. The work has been one of great labor and re-

search, of continual inquiry and thought. And now, with

the assistance I have received from many kind friends, who

have cheerfully furnished all the information in their pow-

er, when requested, and by the courtesy of the various

county officials to whom I have applied for permission to
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examine the records, and their assistance in such examina-

tion, this work is completed, and offered for your amuse-

ment and possible instruction.

There is no pretence in its preparation to rhetorical flour-

ish, choice phrases, or finish of diction, but I have endeav-

ored to

" Tell a plain, unvarnished tale,"

in a plain homelike manner. Of course absolute verity can

not be claimed for all here related. But I do claim that

there is nothing herein written, which has not the sanction

of either the public records, or of the best recollection of

those who were actors in the scenes related, or of those

who had them directly from these actors, hence this work

is as nearly a truthful history in all its parts, as is possible,

under the circumstances. Nothing has been introduced by

way of embellishment, at the expense of truth. The ar-

rangement of the work may be somewhat desultory, but

this does not interfere with its historical value, or under-

standing, and may be a source of relief to the reader.
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HIZSTOI^ir

Hancock County.

CHAPTER I.

BEFORE THE ORGANIZATION OF THE COLWTV.

[NEED oDly remind the reader, that as a part of Ohio,

Hancock County was a part of that great "North-west

Territory," ceded by Virginia to the United States Govern-

ment, and which territory has since been carved up into

States, which have rose to the tirst rank in this Union of

States, none of which are more prominent than our own

beautiful Ohio. Her military chieftains are no less promi-

nent that her statesmen, and the highest judicial honors of

the nation have been conferred on more than one of her

distinguished sous. Every citizen of this free Republic,

is proud that he is a;n American, and we may be excused

for the feeling of pride, that in addition to being an Ameri-

can citizen, we are also a native " Buckeye."

Of course not much, if anything, was known of this wM
region, perhaps not even of its existence, except by the

Indians, until about IS] 2, or during our second war with

Great Britain. In common with all the great v^est, this

o
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was an imbroken wilderness, and far from civilization.

June 21, 1785, a treaty was concluded at Fort Mcintosh,

with the Wyandotte, Delaware, Chippewa and Ottowa

Indians, by which the boundary line between the United

States and the Wyandotte and Delaware nations, was

declared to begin " At the mouth of the river Cuyahoga and

to extend up said river to the Portage between that and

the Tuscarawas branch of the Muskingum; thence down

the branch to the crossing place above Fort Laurens

;

thence westerly to the Portage of the Big Miami which

runs into the Ohio, at the mouth of which branch the fort

stood which was taken by the French in 1752; thence

along said Portage to the Great Miamee or Omee (Mau-

mee) river, and down .the south side of the same to its

mouth ; thence along the south shore of Lake Erie to the

mouth of the Cuyahoga river where it began." In this

boundary Hancock County was included.

In 1796 Wayne County, Ohio, was established, including

all the north-western part of Ohio, a large tract in the

north-eastern part of Indiana, and the whole Territory of

Michigan. As late as 1816, this, with the counties of

Hardin, Wood and some others, was embraced in Logan

County, Bellefontaine being the county seat. It was not

until after lb05, that by treaties with the Indians, all the

country watered by the Maumee and the Sandusky and

their tributaries, was acquired by the Uuited States.

The first white settlement in the territory now embraced

within the limits of Hancock County, so far as we have any

authentic account, was made at' the present site of the town

of Findley, in about the year 18J5. It is possible, how-

ever, and indeed, we have a tradition to that effect, that a

man by the name of Thorp or Tharp, came here with the
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soldiers, who occupied Fort Fiudley iu the war of 1812-15,

and remained here after its evacuation, and either lived

alone, or with the Indians. Not much, however, is" known
or remembered of him.

The first white family settling here, was that of Benjamin

-Cox. Upon their arrival, nought but an unbroken forest,

save in the immediate vicinity of the old Fort, greeted

them. Indians and wild beasts roamed the woods. No
neighbors within many days journey perhaps. All was

new, all was solitude, and it must have been a most trying

time for that one lone family. After making this their

home for a few years, the family removed to Wood County,

where some of them are still living. On their removal,

one of the daughters acted as an interpreter between the

whites and the Indians, she having a knowledge of the

language of both the Wyandotte and Ottowa tribes, who

frequented this part of the country.

But not long did they remain here alone. Others,

through a spirit of adventure, or restless desire for new

scenes, came and formed settlements. Emigrants were

attracted by the richness of the soil, and the abundance of

game. Or perhaps with imaginations reaching out to the

future, they pictured to themselves the exceeding loveliness,

and fruitfulness of the lands, when redeemed from the

wilderness, and were constrained to make this their abid-

ing place.

True it is, that from whatever motive they were actua-

ted, they came here and formed settlements, cleared up the

forests, built themselves cabins and roads, and laid the

foundations, deep and permanent, for our present great

prosperity and wealth, and transmitted to their children a

rich and beautiful inheritance.
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About the middle of June, 1812, the army, under Gen.

Hull, left Urbana, Champaign County, Ohio, and passed

north through the present couuties of Logan, Hardin, Han-

cock and Wood, over what was known during, and after

the war, as "Hull's Trail," into Michigan. This army cut

a road through the unbroken wilderness, uninhabited

except by hostile Indian? and wild animals.

On this route they built Fort McArthur, on the Scioto

River in Hardin County, and Fort Findley, on the Blanch-

ard E-iver, in Hancock.

In the same summer (1812) General Edmund W. Tup-

per, of Gallia County, enlisted about one thousaud men for

six months service, mainly from Gallia, Lawrence and

Jackson Counties, who, under orders of General Winches-

ter, marched from Urbana north by "Hull's Trail" to the

foot of the ]Maumee Rapids. Tiie enemy attacked Tupper's

forces, but were driven otf with considerable loss. They

then returned to Detroit, and the Americans, under Tupper,

returned back to Fort McArthur.

The Fort at Findley was erected by Col. James Findley,

under orders from Gen. Hull, and was named in honor of

the Colonel. It was a stockade of about fifty yards square,

with a block house at each corner, and a ditch in front. It

stood on the south bank of the Blanchard River, just west

of the present iron bridge, and was used as a depot for

military stores.

The Fort was garrisoned by a company under the com-

mand of Captain Arthur Thomas, who lived at King's

Creek, three miles from Urbana. So far as known, there

were no battles fought at Fort Findley, and garrison duty

was no doubt monotonous and irksome. But little to

excite or amuse the men, they no doubt longed for peace
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and a release from duty, that they might again join their

families.

Colonel William Oliver, late of Cincinnati, left Fort

Meigs, on the Maumee River, about 8 o'clock on a dark and

stormy night, during the war, in company with a Kentuck-

ian, on an errand of importance to Fort Findley. Thev had

proceeded but a short distance on their perilous journey,

through the wilderness, surrounded with enemies, when
they unexpectedly came upon an Indian camp, around the

fires of which the Indians were cooking their suppers. So

near had they got to the camp, that the noise of their

approach alarmed the savages, who at once sprang to their

feet and ran towards them. Oliver and his companion

reined their horses into the branches of a fallen tree. The

horses, as if conscious of danger, as were their riders,

remained perfectly quiet, and the Indians passed around

the tree without discovering them. At this juncture, the

daring messengers put spurs to their horses and dashed

forward into the woods, through which they passed to the

Fort, where they arrived safely, but with the loss of their

clothing, which had been torn from them by the brush

through which they had passed—their bodies bruised and

lacerated. Nor were they a moment too soon in their

arrival, for the Indians, enraged at their escape, had pur-

sued them so closely, that Oliver and his companion had

scarcely been admitted into the Fort, when their pursuers

made their appearance on the opposite side of the river.

After giving vent to their disappointment at the loss of the

scalps of the^^aZe/rtce.b^ in hideous yells, they very wisely

retraced their steps toward the Maumee, on the lookout for

some unsuspecting but less fortunate white man.

After the close of the war. Captain Thomas' company
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returned to Urbana. On their journey home, the Captain

and his sou lost their horses, and separated from the rest of

the company in search of them.

They encamped at the Big Spring, near Solomon stown^

about five miles from Bellefontaine, and the next morning

were found murdered and scalped. Their bodies were

taken to Urltana by a deputation of citizens.

In connection with this account of the fate of Captain

Thomas, I will give a copy of a letter received by me from

one who speaks knowingly of the matter, and although he

is unknown to me, yet I have no doubt but his statements

are correct, and as a matter of history, are of great inter-

est. But to the letter:

M.MMoN, Iowa, Dec. G, 1875.

D. B. Beardslev, Esq.;

—

Dear Sir:—I saw in a sketch

of the early history of Hancock County, Ohio, as read by

you at the Second Annual Pic-nic and Reunion of the

Pioneers of your county, publislicd in the Findley Jeffer-

sonian, an account of Captain Arthur Thomas and son, that

was killed by the Indians at the Big Springs, some five

miles from Bellefontaine, and thinking I might furnish you

an item or two, concluded to drop you a line. My father

was stationed at a block-house called Menary, about two

miles north-west from Bellefontaine, there being a small

company of soldiers, I think commanded by Lieut. Joiin

Kelly. The object seemed to be to guard and keep in

bounds some pet Indians that the Government had in care,

and was furnishing supplies through an Agent by the name
of McPherson.

On the morning af^er the murder of Thomas and son,

the word was brought to the company, and a deputation

was sent out after them, among whom was my father (John
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Rathbun) and when they reached the spot, and found them

in the broiling sun, being scalped, and the blood oozing

from their heads, he thought it the most sickening sight he

ever beheld; and made him declare vengeance against the

tawny tribe, pet or no pet. He always said that it was

the pets that done the deed, for as they were returning with

the men to the block-house, three of the half-breeds came

in sight armed and painted, contrary to orders. The

horsemen took after them, and succeeded in stopping them,

but the Commander would not let the Post Guard come up

in shooting distance, lor he knew there would have been

three red-skins less in double quick.

The officers let them go with some good promises on their

part, not to be found there arrayed again. After reaching

the block-house, they (the Thomas') were put into the hands

of the citizens, that conveyed them to their homes and

final resting place, as you have it recorded. At Roundhead

there was a large village of those pets or friendly Indians,

as they were called, and an order was sent out from the

Post, to have them come in on a certain day, but the day

came and none made their appearance; the second day none.

The third day a deputation started after them, but they met

them in sc^uads coming in. They were old men, women and

children, all the warriors had gone to fight for the British,

except a few young men that had charge of affairs. When
they reached the village, all had left but one, and he dodged

out of sight in a moments time. About all that was accom-

plished, was to show that while we were taking care of their

families, the warriors were fighting against us.

Time passed on, the war ended, and when I reached my
fourteenth year, I went to visit an uncle that lived on what

was called the Block-house farm. The house was in rather
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a dilapidated couditiou, the roof off aud half the upper

story had l)eeii removed. It brought to miud mauy iuci-

dents that I had heard my father relate thirty-six years ago.

I left the place of my nativity and settled in what was called

the Black Hawk })urchase, or Iowa. Had not been here

Ions: before I heard of the Thomas familv havinn" settled at

Cascade, where the son of a In-other of the Captain, and

son alluded to, owned a fine mill proi)erty, and in the course

of some three years I went to his mill, where I saw the

whole family, the widow, her son and three or four daugh-

ters, all married except the widow. She never married, or

at least not to that time. Thomas sold his mill and went

further west, and I have lost sight of him. I always like to

cherish in memory those who have suffered in their coun-

try's cause.

But I Avill close.

Yours in Pioneer Friendship,

NELSON RATHBUN.
The Lakes, and Greers, aud Elders, and Hamlins formed

a settlement at the present site of ^It. Blanchard, in one of

the most beautiful and fertile portions of the county. And

today, around the town of Mt. Blanchard, are some of the

most valuable farms in the county.

Wilson Vance, and Carlin, and Hamilton and Johnston

and the Chamberlains, with others, formed the settlement

of Findley and vicinity, aud in casting their lots here, they

were not disappointed, in the fertility of the soil, in the

natural advantages of the location, or in their estimate of

the future of the town.

The McKinnis, the Poes, the Fishels and other kindred

spirits, formed a settlement down the river from Findley,

in a most beautiful part of the county, aud it was not long
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until these taniilies uf hardy stalwart men and women were

known for their hospitality and bravery.

Morelaud and Helms and a few other families formed a

settlement in the south part of the county, where their in-

dustry and energy enabled them to soon open up the coun-

try, and wdiere they resided many years, respected by all

who knew them, for their honesty and fair dealing.

A little later along perhaps, a settlement w^as formed

still further dow^u the river than was the McKinnis settle-

ment, by the Dukes brothers, John, Richard and Lewis,

and by the Moffitts, and the Downings, and Groves, and

Davis. These men, all farmers, w^ere fortunate in the se-

/lection of their lands, and to-day there is not a richer

region of country in north-western Ohio than is this same

Dukes settlement. Farms of unsurpassed loveliness; acres

of most productive lands, bordering on the Blanchard River

on either side ; lirst-class farm buildings; lands in the high-

est state of cultivation, all tell of the industry, economy

and good managament of these broad acres.

Todd, and Kalb, and Algire and other families settled at

or near the site of the village of McComb. These families,

true pioneers, made for themselves homes, and where was

one unbroken w'ilderness, now stands the prosperous vil-

lage of McComb. xA.nd a few of these first settlers, these

frontiersmen of half a century ago, are still alive, and look

with just pride upon the results of their labor.

And as it is in all new' countries, so here the bold emi-

grant bought his land, built his cabin, and then addressed

himself to the more serious business of reclaiming the lands,

and making for himself and his family a home.

At this time no one thought of any law but that of doing

to others, as thev would others should do to them, and of



18 History of Hancock Countii,

dealing honestly with all men, of fulfilling every promise,

of redeeming every pledge, of rendering to his neighbor,

without hope of fee or reward, that assistance which was

necessary. But of course this state of affairs could not

last long. The time would come when these settlements

must be organized into political divisions, and when rulers

must be elected. Not so much perhaps by reason of any

real necessity, on the part of the inhabitahts, but because

the state had some claims on the people. For the protec-

tion it threw around them, it must be paid, and hence taxes

must be levied and collected, and the rights of the people

must be respected, and this could not be done without olU-

cers, and officers must be paid for the time they devoted to

the public good, so the county must be organized, and of

this organization we will speak in the next chapter.

But before doing so I deem this the proper place to relate

an interview I had with a daughter of Benjamin Cox,

spoken of before as the first white settler in the county.

In the summer of 1880, 1 visited Mrs. Eberly, the daughter

before spoken of, at her home about one mile east of Port-

age, Wood county, and spent a few hours in conversation

with her^ and from her learned many incidents of the

earliest history of the county. But I will give the sub-

stance of what she said to me in the shape of a narrative,

and as nearly in her own words as I can. I was warmly

received by Mrs. Eberly and her worthy husband, who

seemed to be delighted in talking over the wild scenes of

fifty years ago.

MRS. EBERLEY'S narrative.

I am the daughter of Benjamin Cox, and was born in

Green County, Ohio, in 1806, and when about nine years

old, my father removed with his family to Findley, in Han-
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cock County. Our family was the first white family to

settle in that county. My sister Lydia, born in 1817, was

the first white child born in that county. We lived in a

hewed log house, located where the brick residence of the

late Wilson Vance now stands, on the south bank of the

river, and on the east side of Main street. When Mr.

Vance came to the place, we had to move into a log cabin

a little east of the hewed log house, into which Mr. Vance

took his family.

My father was engaged in farming- -if the cultivation of

a small tract of cleared land surrounding our cabin could

be called farming—and keeping a public house. Shortly

after we came to the place, Hamilton, Moreland and Slight

came. Some other families came in, stayed a short time

and then left. For to be candid about it, Findley was not

then a very inviting place, whatever it may now be. There

were two or three block-houses, and some pickets, the re-

mains of Ft. Findley, standing when we came. The Ot-

towa Indians made frequent visits to the place, as it was

stated that they were in some way related to the

Wyandotts.

Before we left Findley, the Morelands, Hamiltons,

Slights, Chamberlains, Frakes, McKinnis, Simpsons, Vances

and Rileys had moved to the county. Hamilton and some

others had started a settlement above the town, and Frakes

and the McKinnis' below the town. I was at that time

too young and too busy to make the acquaintance of many

of these persons. But I shall never forget Susy Frakes— as

she was called— the wife of Nathan Frakes. Many a day

did 1 spend with them in their cabin on the river side, and

I thought Susy the best woman I ever knew, kind-hearted,

almost to a fault, hospitable and intelligent.
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Mrs. Riley was perhaps the first white person who died

in the county. She had heeu sick with the chills and fever,

and had called in the services of a Mr. Smith, a Kentuck-

ian, who pretended to he a druggist, and who gave her

medicine which was so effective that she was soon a corpse.

So sudden was her decease that it was suspected that a

mistake had been made, either in the medicine or in its

administering. It was said at the time that Smith had for-

bidden her to drink water, but such was her intense thirst

that she prevailed on two little girls who were left to watch

with her, to bring her some, of which she drank freely, and

very shortly afterwards was found dead. Of course her

sudden death was attributed to the drink of water.

I was l)ut a girl when Vance came to Findley. The

first mill in the county was built whilst we were there.

Mrs. Vance had gone to Urbana just previous to the birth

of their first child, and Mr. Vance's sister, Bridget, came

to keep house for him, l)ut had been with him but a short

time when she was attacked by the ague. I then went to

live with them, and not only cooked for the men who were

digging the mill race, and boarded at Vance's, but I even

worked in the race. My mother, my sister and myself

gathered the stalks of nettles which grew on the river

bottoms below the town, from which we stripped fiber

enough, that on being dressed like fiax, was spun and

woven into linen to the amount of forty yards, and was

made into clothing for the family.

At one time We-ge-hah, or Tree-top-in-water, son of In-

op-qua-nah, a Wyandott chief, became sick, and the Indians

believed him to be bewitched by a bad spirit, and sent to

Towa-town for Big Medicine to exorcise the spirit. My
mother did not like the Indians verv well, and never went
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amongst them much. On this occasion, however, when the

Indians sent out their invitations for the great pow-w^ow

my mother received one. It was after much persuasion on

the part of my father, and with the understanding tJiat I

should accompany her, that she finally consented to attend.

When we arrived at the place of meeting, which was a log

house a little west of where Judge Cory now lives, we found

a few Indians assembled. The Big Medicine and his in-

terpreter occupied the center of the room. The lights were

extinguished. The tom-tom was beaten and a great noise

and hub-bul) was made. The lights were again set to

burning, and after a short silence refreshments were passed

around. During this time my mother and myself having

been seated in the circle which was formed around the

room, clung closely together, not a little frightened at the

performance.

The sick man got no better. Big Medicine declared that

the young chief was bewitched, and that the witch lived in

Browutown, near Detroit, and that the sick man had a

])unch of hair in his breast, blown there by the witch, and

he must cut it out. He went into a tent alone with the

young man, and afterwards produced and exhibited a knot

of bloody hair w^hich he pretended to have taken from the

breast of the sick man. He said, however, that just as

likely as not the old witch would find out that he had taken

it out, and blow it back again, and if he did the young chief

would die. The witch no doubt did so, for the young man
died. The disease of which he died was no doubt the con-

sumption.

I am now seventy-four years old. I have seen some very

hard times, but I have never seen the time that I was not

happy and contented.

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found
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I have not visited Fiudley Ijut ouce siuce I left there in

J 8 -5, and that was about twenty years ago. There is but

one person now residing in Findley that I remember to have

been there during our stay, and that one is Job Chamberlain.

When we first came to Wood County, I lived for some time

in the family of Squire Carlin, who then resided there."

My visit to Mrs. Eberley was a very pleasant one, and

she is a very pleasant old lady, having the appearance of a

well preserved person of not more than sixty years.
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CHAPTER II.

FIRST ORGANIZATION OF THE COUNTY.

OX the 12th clay of February, 1820, the General Assem-

bly of Ohio, Avith Allen Trimble as President ofthe Senate,

and Joseph Richardson as Speaker of the House, passed au

*'Act for the erection of certain counties named therein."

In that Act we find the following reference to Hancock

county, "* * * ^ * fifth, to include townships, one

and two, south, and one and two, north, in the ninth, tenth,

eleventh and twelfth ranges, and to be known by the name

of Hancock County."

Section 2 of the same x\ct provides, "That the counties of

Hancock, Henry, Putnam, Paulding and Williams shall be

attached to the county of Wood."

The following order was made by the Commissioners of

Wood County on the 4th of March,*^1822 : "Ordered by the

Board that the township of Waynesfield, within the juris-

diction of the county of Wood, be co-extensive with the

boundaries of Wood and Hancock, and to include the same."

The territory thus included in one township, is now-

divided into two counties, which counties are sub-divided in-

to thirty-six townships, any one of which perhaps to-day has

a greater population than had the two counties of Hancock

and Wood at the date of that order.

The following order was made by the Commissioners of

Wood county on the 28th day of May, 1823

:
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"Ordered further, that so much of the township ol

Wayuesfield as is included in tlie unorganized county ot

Hancock, be set off and organized, and the same is herehy

organized into a township by the name of Findley, and tliat

the election for township otticers be held on the lii-st day of

July, A. D., 1823, at the house of Wilson Vance, in the

said township."

The first record of the townshi}) we have is that of the

election of April 5th, 1824, at which election Job Chamber-

lain, William Moreland and Jacob Poe were Judges, and

Matthew Reighly and Wilson Vance clerks, who certify that

there were eighteen votes cast, and that Job Chandjerlain,

Wilson Vance and Jacob Poe were elected Trustees, Mat-

thew Reighly, Clerk; Wilson Vance, Lister (Assessor);

Philip McKinnis, Constable; John Hunter and John Gard-

ner, Fence Viewers; Rol)ert McKinnis and William More-

land, Overseers of the Poor; and Job Chandjerlain, senior,

Treasurer.

A search of the records of Wood County for a duplicate

of the taxable property of Hancock County fails to disclose

any prior to the year 1826."'

lu the year 1826 there were twenty-six tax-payers in the

county, and the value of taxable personal property was

about two thousand dollars. The total tax was fifty-six

dollars and twelve cents. In 1827 there were fourteen tax-

payers, the largest of whom was Elnathan Cory, and the

total tax was fifty dollars and twenty-nine cents.

Not much labor in auditing that duplicate, and not a very

fat salary for collecting it. An Assessor might have some

trouble in finding the property, but he would certainly not

have much trouble in making his report to the Auditor.

'•See Chapter VI for earlier duplicate, found siuce writing the above.
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The people of the county, at that day were not rich, cer-

tainly in this world's goods. Their capital was their strong

arms and willing hands, and their wealth was their honesty,

contentment and indomitable pluck.

During these years of dependence on the protection of

Wood County, and the inconveniences of transacting public

business, so remote from home, if it was counted an incon-

venience by the pioneers, which we very much doubt, emi-

gration was flowing into the county in a steady, if not a

rushing stream. Settlements were being formed all. over

the county, and farms were being opened in every direction-

Neighbors were getting closer than a day's journey of each

other. Ministers of the Gospel had already visited the

locality, and had formed religious societies. So much had

the population increased that the county had outgrown its

township clothes, and now asked to be advanced to a sepa-

rate county organization, and to be entitled to all the privi-

leges and conveniences incident thereto. Wood County had

also increased in population, and so much territory was

cumbersome to it, and the people of that county were willing

to release their guardianship of Hancock, and allow her to

try the experiment of taking care of herself The General

Assembly of Ohio said "Let it be done,"

During this transition state, as it were, from 1820 to

1828, the authorities had very little trouble in preserving

the peace, and protecting the lives and property of the peo-

ple, as all the early settlers were intent on building them-

selves homes, and felt in all its force the necessity of each

one living an orderly and peaceal)le life. This quietude was

occasionally disturbed by some inroad of the red-man. Init

against these foes, the instinct of self-preservation did not
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ask the intervention of law and law officers to repel them.

Each man considered himself in duty bound to aid in the

general defense, without the formality of an election, as one

of the public guardians.
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CHAPTER III.

INDEPENDENT ORGANIZATION OF THE COUNTY.

ON the 21st day of January, 1828, the General Assembly

of Ohio, passed an Act entitled *' An Act to organize the

County of Hancock " of which Act the following are some

of the provisions:

"Sec. 1. That the County of Hancock as heretofore laid

ofifl, and the same shall be, and is hereby organized into a

separate and distinct County, and suits and prosecutions

which shall be pending, and all crimes which shall have

been committed within said County of Hancock previous to

its organization, shall be prosecuted to final judgment and

execution within the County of Wood, in the same manner

they would have been, had the County of Hancock not been

organized; and the Sheriff, Coroner and Constables of

Wood County, shall execute within the County of Hancock,

such process as shall be necessary to carry into effect such

suits, prosecutions and judgments ; and the Treasurer of

Wood shall collect all such taxes as shall have been levied

and imposed within the County of Hancock previous to the

taking effect of this Act."

"Sec. 2. That all Justices of the Peace, and Constables

within the said County of Hancock shall continue to

execute the duties of their respective offices, in the same

manner as if the County of Hancock had remained attached

to the County of Wood."
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" Sec. 3. That on the First Monday of April next, the legal

voters within the County of Hancock shall assemhle within

their respective Townships, at the place of holding elections,

and shall elect their several County Officers, who shall hold

their offices until the next annual election. This Act shall

take effect from and after the First day of March next."

In accordance with the provisions of this xVct, the voters

of Hancock County met in Findley, (there being but one

Township in the County) and proceeded to hold an election.

The following is a copy of the Poll Book, Tally Sheet and

abstract of that election, verbatim

:

" Pool book of the Election held in the township of finley

county of hancock, on the seventh day of Aprile in the year

of our lord one thousand eight hundred and twenty eight.

Al)ram Huff, Wilson Vance, Mordica Hammond, Judges.

John C. Wickham, Edniun S. Jones, Clerks for county

officers of this Election were severally sworn as the law

directs, previous to their entering on the duties of their respec-

tive offices. Of this election were severally sworn as the

law directs previous to their entering on the duties of their

res})ective offices.

Number and names of Electors.
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TALLY SHEET.

>1

<l> IS

o ^

o

03

e/a.

CX3

Reuben Hale, 11111 11111 11111 11111 11111 11111 1111 No. 34

Don Alonzo Hamlin, 11111 11111 11111 11111 11111

Hill mil 1111 No. 39

Isaac Johnson, 11111 11111 11111 11111 Hill Hill

bo . 1111 No. 34

Thomas Slight, Hill HHl Hill 11111 11111 11111

lllHH No. 37

John Bold, 111 No. 3

Job Chaml)erlin, Hill Hill Hill Hill Hill Hill lNo.3I

Charles McKinnis, Hill Hill 11111 11111 HHl

HHl HHl No. 35

Godfrey Wolford, 11111 11111 11111 11111 11111 11111

lllH 11111 Hill Hill Hill

John P. Hambleton, Hill HIH Hill Hill HHl

HHl 11111 Hill 1 No.4i

John Long, Hill Hill 11111 HHl HHl HHl HHl

nil No. 39

mil 11111 1111 Godfrey Wolford continued No. 74

Mathew Reighly, llill 11111 11111 Hill Hill 11111

illH 11111 mil Hill mil Hll No. 59

Joshua Hedges, Hill Hill llUl lllH 11111 IHll

mil HHl mil mil ninii No. 57

John Long, mil IHll IHll 11111 HIH llHl imiNo.35
William Hackney, 11111 11111 11111 11111 11111

mil mil nil no. 39

00.
CO
03



Certificate of Election.

We do hereby certify that Reubin Hale bad votes for

Sheritf, 34, and Don Alouzo Hamlin for Sheriff 39.

John Boid, for Coroner, had 3 votes.

Isaac Johnson, 34 votes.

Thomas Slight, 37 votes.

Job Chamberlain, had 31 votes for Commissioner.

Charles McKinnis had 85 votes.

Godfrey Wolford had 74 votes.

John P. Hambleton had 41 votes.

John Long had 39 votes.

JMathew Reighly, had 59 votes for Auditor.

Joshua Hedges, had 57 for Treasurer.

John Long had 35 votes for x^ssesser,

William Hackney had 39 votes.

Attest ABRAHAM HUFF, ^ Judges
WILSON VANCE,

\
of

MORDICA HAMMOND J Election.

J. C. WickHAM, ) ^, ,

-17 o T } Clerks.
E. S. Jones,

)

On examining the Poll Book of the Election for County

Officers, we do find that the following candidates were

elected

:

Don Alonzo Hamlin, Sheriff.

Thomas Slight, Coroner.

Godfrey Wolford,
j

John Long, > Commissioners.

John P. Hambleton.
j

Mathew Reighlv, Auditor.

Joshua Hedges, Treasurer.

William Hackney, Assessor.

Clerk and Justices present,

W^iLSON Vance, Clerk, pro tem.

Joshua Hedges, } Justices of the

William Hackney, ( Peace.
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There were no Public Buildiugs in the county at that time;

and we have no information as to where the offices were

held, in what building or part of the town. Tradition has it,

that the Treasurer's Office was in his hat, or at least that is

where he carried the tax duplicate for convenience sake, as

he resided in the country. lie was thus ever ready with

his duplicate to receive moneys of the unfortunate tax pay-

ers, at any time or place they chanced to meet. Whether

this legend l)e true or not, the fact that the tax duplicate

could have ])een carried in the hat of the Treasurer without

any inconvenience to the wearer will not admit of serious

doubt.

We are not told as to where the other officers kept their

l)Ooks, l)ut as they were not of any greater volume than

those of the Treasurer, they might have been disposed of in

the same way.

The county is now under ;iu independent organization,

and I'ully officered and prepared for lousiness, in which happy

condition we will leave it for the present, and turn our

attention to some of the general characteristics of the

country.
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CHAPTER IV.

GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE COUNTV. ITS SOIL AND PRODUCTS.

HANCOCK County was named in honor of John Hancock

of Revolutionary fame. It originally contained 308,640

acres of land, hut upon the formation of Wyandotte County

in 1845, 28,800 acres were struck off of Hancock and be-

came a part of the new county.

This county is in the north-west part of Ohio, and in

what is known as the Maumee Valley. It is bounded on

the north by Wood County, on the east by Seneca and Wy-
andotte, on the south by Hardin, and on the west by Put-

nam. The soil is varied, mostly black loam, mixed with

sand on a limestone base. There is scarcely a foot of soil

in the county, but is susceptible of cultivation, and adapted

to the production of almost any crop known in the temper-

ate zone. The soil is not of that character which is adapted

to and produces but one kind of cereal, but is just as pro-

ductive of wheat as of corn, of grass as of vegetables. In

most parts of the county the soil is deep and lasting, and

does not require much assistance from fertilizers. The river

and creek bottoms, though subject to occasional overflows,

are especially productive, whilst the high lands yield scarce

less bountiful crops.

The county is well watered, (in fact at times too well-

watered). The Blanchard fork of the Auglaize River passes

through it. Having its source in Hardin County, it enters

this county in the south-eastern part, at nearly the center of
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the south line of Delaware township, nmiiing nearly north

through that and Jackson and Amanda, and to near the

center of Marion, when from that point it runs in a west-

erly course through Marion, Findley, Liberty and Blanchard

townships, to the Putnam County line. The most northern

cui-ve of the river is in section seven, Liberty township.

The Shawnee name of this river was Sho-po-(|uo-to-kepe,

or Tailor river. It was so called from the fact that Blanch-

ard, after wliom it was named, was by occupation a tailor.

This river formerly furnished sufficient water power for

running mills, almost the entire year, l)ut as the country

has improved, lands became drained, creeks cleared of fallen

timber and other obstructions, the supply of water is only

sufficient for such })urposes for a few months in the year.

The early settlers were enabled to supply themselves,

from the river, with an abundance of choice lish, but now

by reason of the many obstructions placed in the river in

the shai»e of mill-dams, ]»ut lew lish are caught, and they

only of an inferior quality. Wild game was also very

al)undant, but since the settlement of the county it has al-

most entirely disappeared. The wild honey bee, that ad-

vance courier of civilization, led the settlements of the

wdiite man, and the pioneers were well supplied with its

sweet labor.

There are but few springs of v\ater in the county, but

water of a good quality may be easily obtained, in most

places, by sinking wells from six feet to thirty feet in depth.

The water, in consequence of the almost universal presence

of limestone, is highly impregnated with lime, and is what

is called "hard water." The river and creeks furnish an

abundance of good limestone, used only, however, for

making lime, of which article a very fine quality is pro-
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ducecl, and for building foundation and basement walls, not

being of a quality suitable for other building purposes.

The timber consists of the different varieties of the oak,

and ash, walnut, poplar, beech, elm, maple—both hard and

soft—buckeye, linn, hackberry, honey locust, wild cherry

and mulberry. There was - a very great quantity of wal-

nut, ash and poplar, which woods are now most valuable,

but which at the early settlement were of little or no value

except for making rails for fencing, and aside from that

they were regarded as a very nuisance. Now no timber

grows but is of some value and in great demand, and at

this day the tiniber on any ordinarily wooded tract of land

is of more value than the land is after the timber is re-

moved. 851327
At the time of the first settlement of the county, it was

an unbroken wilderness, densely covered with rank vegeta-

tion. A part of what is now Big Lick township was a wet

prairie, covered with a luxuriant growth of grass, but the

ground was so wet and soft that it was almost impassable.

The face of the country is generally level, and much of

it is appropriately called "flat land." The borders of the

river and creeks are in many places broken, but in no place

can they be said to be hilly. Enough declination towards

the water courses to make drainage easy and cheap. Xo

hills, no swamps, no lakes, no deserts, but the entire county

is adapted to agricultural purposes.

In the north part of the county there is a tract of laud

ranging from one mile to two miles in width, and about ten

miles in length from east to west, known as "the wild-cat

thicket." It has its beginning in the western part of Port-

age township, and crosses Allen and Cass, terminating in

the western part of Washington township. Prior to the
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settlement of that pai't of the county this ti-act of land

was covered with a dense undergrowth, the larger tim-

ber having all been blown down by a hurricane, it is

supposed, which passed over it, no one knows when.

Indeed, from its then appearance, the entire Ixxly of tim-

ber, both large and small, must have been j^rostrated by

the violence of no ordinary st-um, and the present

growth of timber dates since that jieriod. Many of the

older inhabitants well remember the look of desolation

which was here presented—trunks of foiest trees, de-

cayed and decaying, an almost impenetrable thicket of

bushes and wild vines, all believed to be, and possiljly

was inhabited by wild cats, and other dangerous ani-

mals. Hence, the name of "Wild Cat Thicket."

The course of the storm nuist have been from west to

east, as the trunks of the fallen trees lay in that direc-

tion, with their tops to the east. The land in this

thicket, in its wild state, is low and wet, but when i-e-

claimed by proj)er drainage is very productive.

In the south-westei'n part of the county, in Orange

township, there was quite an extensive cranberry marsh,

which for years after the settlement of the county, was
considered valueless almost, and certainly entirely so for

farming purposes. But as the country became settled,

and farms wei-e opened up on the borders of this marsh,

making gradual encroachments upon it, the attention of

the land owners in the vicinity was called to it, and

now by a system of drainage under the supervision of

the county officials, it has all been reclaimed, and is rich

beyond measure. Thus demonstrating, as before ob-

served, that all parts and all portions of the county are

susceptible of remunerative cultivation.
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The pi'oductious of tlie county are varied, not con-

fined to any one product, but adapted to all. The prin-

cipal crops are wheat—and in this cereal we are num-

bered the fourth county in the State. Indian corn is

produced in all parts of the county and has always been

regarded as a standard crop. Oats of a good quality are

produced in great quantities. Barley and rye are culti-

vated to some extent, but not being so readily mar-

keted as wheat, not much attention is paid to their

raising. Flax has l^ecome an article of great demand,

and much attention is being j^aid to its cultivation, both

for the value of the fiber as well as of the seed, there

being both a flax mill and linseed oil mill in the county.

Buckwheat of course commands some attention from the

farmer, as people could not very well do without their

"Buckwheat cakes" for breakfast. Irish and sweet \)0-

tatoes are easily cultivated, and yield most abundantly.

Indeed all kinds of vegetables yield a most bountiful

harvest. Fruits of almost all kinds can be found in all

parts of the county. Apples are the surest crop.

Peaches, although a never failing croj:) in the early days

of the county, may now be considered an almost entire

failure. Small fruits are usually a good crop, but oc-

casionally complete failures happen.

In some parts of the county farmers meet with diffi-

culty in tilling the soil, in consequence of the cropping

out of the limestone formation. But the perfect adapta-

tion of such lauds to wheat raising, and the enormous

crops produced fully compensate for the extra trouble.

Tables of Agricultural Statistics found elsewhere in

this work, Avill exhi]:)it the wealth and pi'osperity of the

county, as a farming and stock raising locality.
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CHAPTER V:

RELATING TO A FEW FIRST THINGS IN THE COUNTY.

AN examination of the Poll Book of that first election,

held in April, 1828, discloses the fact that S(|uire

Carlin is the only man now .living in Findley, of all

those who then voted. The names of Judges Hutf,

Hammond, McKinnis and Wilson, George Shaw, Josiah

Elder, Wilson Vance, Jacob Poe, Joshua Hedges, Asa

M. Lake, Nathan Frakes and many others appear, all of

whom, after having provided a goodly inheritance for

their children, have passed away. S(iuire Carlin, Joseph

Johnson, Peter George and perhaps a few others of that

old 74 still live in our county, a link connecting the past

with the present of our history. They have lived to see

the wilderness disappear before the march of civiliza-

tion, and beautiful farms, commodius buildings and

thriving villages spring into life all over the county.

To see railroads and telegraph lines, and all the modern

improvements introduced amongst us. And others still,

such men as James McKinnis, John Fishel, Edmund S.

Jones and Joseph DeWitt after a residence of many
years in the county, again took up the line of mai'ch

westward, and became the pioneers of other states.

The first church edifice erected in the county was the

"Dukes' Meeting House," in Blanchard township. It was

built and owned Vjy the Methodist Episcopal Church.
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The building was of hewed logs, and its dimensions were
thirty-two feet long and twenty-eight feet wide. The
roof was of clap-boards, a kind of roofing very much in

use at that time, and were kept in their places by poles

laid on each course of boards. The openings between

the logs were chinked with wood, and daubed with

mortar, the then prevailing style. The pulpit .and sea.ts

were of rude construction. The seats were simply

benches without backs, and the pulpit of unpainted

boards. The building still stands, and althoucrh not

now used as a house of worship, still to many who are

now living it is surrounded with cherished memories..

Many, very manj^, who in that early day met in that

house for worship, have passed away. The pulpit in

that old church has been occupied by such ministers as

Bigelow, Finley, Thomj^son, Wilson, Gurley, Allen,

Heustiss, Conway, Hill, liunnells, Breckenridge, Delany,

Biggs and a host of other pioneer Methodists, whose

names are familiar, not only in our own county, but all

over Western Ohio, But they have nearly all gone to

their reward, and their works do follow them.

Humanity, civilization, good society, and all that goes

to make us a great people, owe to these self-sacriftcing,

earnest, unselfish, devoted servants of their Master, a

debt which can never be repaid, except by a practice of

the precepts they taught, and in a defense of their mem-
ories.

As early as the year 1822, the Kev. James Gilruth, a

Methodist minister, and who died but a few years ago,

preached in Findley. In an interview with him but a

short time before his death, and whilst he was here on a

visit to his daughter, Mrs. Frederick Didway, he stated
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that in 1822 lie left his home in the east and came west

for the purpose of enteriniz; lands. He first visited the

land office at Bui yi'u?, Ohio, and there obtained a plat

€)f Government lands not taken up in the District. He
made his way into Hardin County, passing through old

Ft. McArthur. But not beinc? able to suit himself in

that i-egion, he turned north towards Findley. After

leaving Ft. McArthur, he did not see a dwelling house

until his ai-iival in Findley, which was in the month of

April.

As soon as it l)ecame known that a preacher had ar-

rived, he was waited upon by some of the citizens, and

requested to preach for them. This he readily consented

to do, and an appointment was made and circulated to

the different settlements. Father Gilruth said he had a

very attentive congregaticui, and as large an one as he

could expect, and indeed it was said at the time, by

those in attendance, that almost every man and woman
in the county was present. This sermon was undoubt-

edly the first ever preached in the county.

The late Rev. Adam Poe, also of the Methodist

Church, was led to suppose that he preached the first

sermon in the county, and related the following incident

connected with it. He and another young minister on

their way from the Maumee River to the South, stoj^ped

at Findley over night, .and as a matter of course were

solicited to preach. Poe consented to do so. They had

put up at the tavern kept by Wilson Vance, had their

horses cared for and ate their suppers, after which they

went to the place of meeting, which was in a log school

house near where the depot of the C. S. <fe C. Railroad

is now located. The two Missionaries had but a single

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found


First School House. 41

dollar between them, and as it would require all that to

pay for their suppers and the care of their horses, and
no one inviting them Lome with them, they slept in the

school house that night, and the next morning, after pay-

ing their bill at the tavern, they rode to the next settle-

ment, a distance of several miles, before getting break-

fast. It is not at all strange, after such an experience,

that Poe and his companion should conclude that they

were the first to bring good tidings to this benighted

people.

The first school house in the county was built in Find-

ley, and the first school was taught by John C. Wick-
ham, who was long a resident of the county. As there

has been very decided improvement in the architecture

and conveniences of this class of buildings, it will not

be uninteresting, perhaps, to the young people, at least,

to describe one of these ancient seats of learning, and as

a specimen " brick," I will briefly describe one with

which I was most familiar, but which fairly represents a

majority of the primitive school houses of the county,

It stood some rods from the public highway—did the

one I refer to—built so perhaps, that the attention of

the scholars might not be attracted to passers-by, but

more, I suspect, for the reason that its location was at a

place less liable to be inundated by the floods. It was

built of round loes, and was chinked and daubed in the

most approved style. Its dimensions were certainly not

more than fifteen feet square. It was covered with clap-

boards, nailed on with weight-poles. The height be-

tween the floors was about six feet. Nearly the entii-e

north side was occupied by a huge fire-place—stoves

were not theu invented—with an outside chimney built
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of sticks and mortar. On the south side was a door—and

the only one in the building—made of unplaned boards,

which creaked on its massive wooden hinges, and by the

way they were the only massive things about the build-

ing. The older boys said that the door and fire-place

were placed opposite to each other for convenience in

])ringing in the logs of wood for the fire, which they

protested were drawn in through the fire-place by a

yoke of oxen, and the oxen were then unyoked and

driven out at the door. But I think this could not have

been true, for no little boy or girl ever saw such a per-

formance. The lower floor was of split logs, or punch-

eons, a kind of lumber much in use at that time, as it

was manufactured without the assistance of saw-mills,

xmd the upper floor was of clap boards, laid loosely on

the round joists. Windows almost the entire length of

the two ends of the building, admitted the light. These

windows were just ten inches in height, and the writing-

desks were placed immediately beneath them. In lieu

of window-glass, these windows were filled with paper

:well oiled to protect it from the weather. The writing-

desks were long boards supported by wooden pins in-

serted in the walls at proper angles, for that purpose.

The seats were slabs procured at the saw mill, supported

by wooden legs, and always elevated high enough from

the floor to prevent the feet of the smaller scholars from

t<mching, thus making it impossible for them to be noisy

with their feet, an arrangement satisfactory to the

teacher no doubt, but dreadfully luicomfortable for the

little boys and girls. We were perched upon these seats

of torture eight hours each day, M'ith nothing at our

backs, and the same under our feet.



A Primitive School House.

The external surroundings of this primitive academy
wt-re not so disagreeable. True, in the winter season,

when not frozen, we had an over abundance of water,

but when frozen we had an almost boundless skating

rink. In the summer season it was a very pleasant

place. Just in the rear of the house and used as a play-

ground, was a most beautiful grove, cool, shady and in-

viting. Only a few rods from the house ran the river,

with its cool waters, and the old mill, with its huge

wooden wheel, splashing and battling in the flood,

•seemed to laugh at us little prisoners shut up in the hot

school room, and bid us run away from teacher, and

school and books, and join it in its sport.

The boys and girls of that day knew nothing of the

modern improvements in school houses, school books,

and school conveniences. The school year consisted of

three months of school in the winter for the larger pu-

pils, and a thi-ee months term in the summer for the

smaller ones. No blackboards, no geographical or as-

tronomical apparatus, no changing text books every

term. Orthography was taught from the old American

and United States spelling books. The Introduction to

the English Reader, the English Reader, and the Sequel

to the English Reader, the New Testament and the Life

of Washington were the principal readers. Pike and

Daball furnished the Mathematics and Olney and Kirk-

ham the Grammar and Geography.

With all these inconveniences and want of what

would now be deemed indispensable necessities, quite a

passable education was obtained at these schools. No
scholar was then allowed to idle away his time, if it were

possible to prevent it. The substance, the real business
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of imparting and obtaining an education, actuated both

teacher and pupil. But little attention was paid to

forms
;
provided a pui)il got a fair understanding of that

which he was studying, the way, the formula, was not of

so much anxiety to the teacher. Good wholesome in-

structions in deportment as well as the sciences were

made a part of the duty of the teacher. Pupils were

under their care not only in the school room, but on the

way to and from school as well, and woe ! to the urchin

who was guilty of passing a man or woman on the road,

without a bow or courtesy. No brawling on the road,

no impertinence to strangers, no profane language, no

tale-bearing. The conduct of the pupils was as much
the concern of the teacher as was their studies. I fear^

with all our present boasted superiority in school appli-

ances, that we have gone backwards in this matter of

''good manners," and that the youth of to-day would

suffer by comparison with those of that early day.
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CHAPTER VI.

EARLY APPRAISEMENT AND ASSESSMENT OF PROPERTV.

THE proceedings of the County Commissioners on the 1st

day of June, 1829^ show the following entiy

:

" Don Alonzo Hamlin made his return of assessment of

chattle property, and land property subject to taxation in

Hancock County, which was examined and accepted, and

the said Assessor presented his account for his labor in

assessing the property of the county, which was accepted,

and which was nineteen dollars and seventy-five cents."

There was but one Assessor in the county, and his duty

appears to have been to value both real and personal prop-

erty. In December of the same year we find this entry:

" The xluditor presented his account, and was qualified to

the same, ordered that the said Auditor be allowed twelve

dollars and twenty-five cents for his services, and that said

Auditor be paid the sum of ten dollars for extra services up

to and including this day."

In June, 1831, the Commissioners and Auditor, as a

Board of Equalization, ordered that the valuation of lot No.

16 be reduced from eighty-five dollars, to forty dollars

;

and lot No. 1 was then, as now, occupied by Squire Carlin,

as a residence, to be valued at five hundred dollars, including

buildings.

A search of the records of Wood County failed to show

a tax duplicate of this county, prior to 1826, but ujjou
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information received from Judge Whitely, I learned that

Chief Justice Waite had in his possession a copy of the tax

list for 1821. I thereupon addressed a letter to the Judge

to which I received the following reply:

Toledo, Ohio, July 11, 1881.

Dear Sik :— 1 take pleasure in sending you a copy of the

pa}»er to whicli Judge Whitely refers. The original is in the

oflice of the Auditor of Wood County.

Truly yours,

M. U. W.VITE.

1 give a coi)y of that list, as sent hy the Judge.

List of all the Taxable Pro})erty in the Townshij) of

Findley

:

Proprietors Xames. iiorses above
3 years olri.

Xoat cattle above
3 years old.

L Asa Lake,

M Charles McKinnis,

M Henry McWhorter,

P James Patterson,

P Jacob Poe,

W Joseph White,

11 John P. Hamilton,

G John (iardner,

H John Huiiter,

C Job Chaml)erlin,

S John Simpson,

G John (nirdner, jr.

M Jacob Moreland,

B ^lichael Beck, taken in from h«iy,

M Phili]) :\lcKinnis,

S Thomas Slight,

T iThomas Thonjpson, ^'^'''^'iJ.Vy?'''"

M William Moreland,
V Wilson Vance,
C Elnathan Cory, given m by wiison

11

-1

10

7

5

2

2

8

5
1
'6

4
2

G
4

5

3

4
15
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I certify the above to be a correct list.

Wilson Vance,

Lister of Fiudley Township, Wood County, Ohio.

Endorsed Taxable property, Findley Township, 1824.

The Amount of tax on each animal was fixed by the

Auditor, the tax being a specified sum on each, and not a

per cent., as at the present day. No animals under three

years of age were taxable. The Township of Findley, it

will be recollected, embraced the whole county, at this date.

In 1826. as the Records of Wood County—to which we

were then attached—comprising one township—shows that

the tax in this county was Fifty-six (Jollars and Sfren-

teen cerits. In 1829, the earliest tax list found, after the

independent organization of the county, the value of the

taxable property of the county, as returned, was sixteen

thousand six hundred and one dollars, and included in

the then townships of Findley, Delaware and Amonda, the

only organized townships in the county, and the assess-

ment included both real and personal property. The tax

assessed upon the valuation was one hundred and seventy-

two dollars B,nd forty-foicr cents.

In 1829, there was but four thousand seven hundred and

seventy-five acres of land su])ject to taxation in the county,

and this was valued at eight thousand one hundred and

eighty-six dollars, not more than an average farm is now

worth. Of this taxable land, two thousand nine hundred

and sixty-nine acres was in Findley ; thirteen hundred and

seventy-four in Delaware, and two hundred and fifty-two in

Imonda Township. Our Amonda Township friends will

perhaps be mortified to know that their lands were valued

nuch lower than were the lands in the other townships,

aid yet it was no doubt some consolation to know that
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they paid but four dollars and tldrty cents tax ou laud.

In 1820, there was returned by the Assessor 7iinf}/-three

horses, valued at three thousand seven hundred and twenty

dollars. Two hundred and seventy-nine cattle, valued

at three thousand one hundred and sixteen dollars.

From these few illustrations, we may see from what

Ismail beginnings the early settlers began life in this new

country.

In the year 1830, the salary of the County Assessor was

fixed at twenty-three dollars and thirty-seven and a half

•cents, and that of the Auditor at forty dollars.

On the 3d day of April, 1S34, William L. Henderson

was appointed appraiser of real estate for Hancock County.

The tax levy for 1829 for county purposes, was seven and

one half mills on the dollar. For 1830, it was seven mills.

For 1831, it was seven mills. For 1832, it was five mills.

In 1833, for county purposes, seven and one-quarter mills,

and for road purposes, two mills.

In June, 1S31, we find a Record of the County Board of

Equalization. Present, John P. Hamilton and Charles

McKinuis, Commissioners; Don Alonzo Hamblin, Assessor,

and Thos. F. Johnston, Auditor. It was ordered "That Lot

16 (Patterson's Corner), appraised at eighty-five dollars,

shall be reduced to forty dollars. That L. & B. Rawson,

Physicians income, be two hundred and fifty dollars. That

Lot 15, (Newell's Main st.) be entered on the duplicate at

forty dollars. That Lot 85, (Commercial House) be enterec'

on the duplicate at one hundred dollars. The capital of S

<fe P. Carlin, merchants, be entered on the duplicate at ona

thousand dollars."

At the session of the Board of Equalization in J 834, it

was "Ordered that the south part of north-east fraction, in
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name of John Cambell, with a grist and saw-mill thereon,

appraised at twelve hundred dollars, be, by this Board, ap-

praised at nine hundred dollars." (Now Carlin's Mills.)

"Also, that the east half of south-west quarter of Section

eleven; Township two South Range eleven, with grist

mill, (G. S. Fohl's Mill.) be appraised at five hundred

dollars."

"Also, the east half of north-west quarter. Section 12,

in the name of S. & P. Carlin, (now a part of the town of

Findley,) be appraised at six hundred dollars."

'• Also, that the east part of south-east quarter of frac-

tional Section thirteen, Township one north, Range ten

east, in the name of James Gilruth, (now Didway farm,) be

appraised at four hundred dollars."

" Also, that Lot No. 3, in Findley, in the name of Wm.
Taylor, (now Davis Opera House) be appraised at three

hundred dollars."

For the present condition of the county as to amount,

valuation, assessment and taxation of the property of the

county, the reader is referred to the statistical tables in

another part of this work. By a comparison of those

tables, with the statements made in this chapter, the reader

will find that whilst our wealth has increased at a wonder-

ful and gratifying rate, that our taxes have not in the least

been slow to accumulate in the same wonderful ratio. Busi-

ness, wealth, prosperity, security in person and property,

cannot be enjoyed in this or any other county without pay.

A study of these tables will engage the attention of every

tax payer, and very likely more than one will exclaim:

" Where does all the money go to." Look around you

;

see your public buildings
;
your bridges

;
your roads, all

costing money, for your answer.
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Table show

with rates of

from 1829 to

Esq., Deputy

ing the value of Real and Personal Property,

taxes thereon, and amount of taxes assessed,

1879, inclusive, as prepared by Elijah Barnd,

Auditor

:

Year.



Taxes of Hancock Comity. 51

lb60

1861

1862
1863
1864
1865

1866
1867
1868
1869
1870
1871
1872
1873
1874
1875
1876
1877
1878
1879

U79230
4485720
4501953
153 7907
4535434
4547977
4560746
4605265
4634728
4670313
4991422
8044485
8068679
82011-20

8192268
8235058
8255709
8295420
8330166
8369655

429769
458400
460668
465055
481480
491899
512990
540368
551285
581623
595788
832940
873122
902163
907029
944851
1006684
1029185
1053334
10622JO

1670:^58

1805635
1620532
1844167
2130700
2168838
2520937
2352421
2442677
2585511
2478659
2516893
2880963
3177257
3146215
3149012
3269956
3232652
3086815
2906973

6579257
6779785
6583153
6827186
7147674
7208754
7594673
749S054
76-'8790

7832447
7765869
11394318
11822764
12180432
12245512
12328921
1-532349
12557263
L2470915
12338838

60534.

86554.

74023.

80007.

121464.

148218.

134258.

141193.

135588.

143282.

158055.

131715.

153906.

182701.

172510,

188406.

194153.

195389,

205449
189494,

38
84
23
43
29
46
87

94

90

18

52
29
15

51

64
22

35

15

17
,47

9.20

12.76

11.24

11.71

16.90

20.56

17.66

18.68

17.77

18.29

20.35

11.55

13.01

14.90

14.08

15.28

15.4 9

15.56

16.47
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CHAPTER VII.

FIRST JAIL AND FIRST COURT HOUSE.

AS shown by the records in July, 1830, the Commis-

sioners of the county determined to build a Jail, for

the safe keeping of criminals, and ordered that said jail

should be ^'Sixteen feet wide, and twenty-four feet long,

with a partition in the center. The timber to be white

oak, twelve inches square, with two doors and three

windows." The jail was built on the Public Square, and

situate about midway between the present Court House

and "old white corner Store." With this location it

seems that some of the citizens of the county were not

well pleased, for in December of the same year, it is re-

corded that a petition was presented by sundry citizens

of Hancock County, praying for the removal of the jail

from the public square in the town of Findley. But

the Commissioners rejected the petition, thinking no

doubt that the sight of such an institution would have

a restraining effect upon the somewhat wild community.

Many of the readers of this history will remember the

old log jail on the Public Square. They will doubtless

remember, too, that as a place of safe-keeping for prison-

ers, it was but a trifle better than the open street. I

quite w^ell remember that it was not a formidable look-

ing structure, and that it had neither beauty or strength

to adorn it. The prisoners used to amuse themselves by
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burning down the door, or removing the ii'on bars from

the windows, and after escaping, report themselves to

the Sheriff, who wouhl conduct them back to the place

from whence they came. But the old log jail, like many
other things of its day, has long since passed away,

giving place to a structure, more in keeping with the

wants of the county, and affording the l)etter security of

the prisoners, and this in its turn has been replaced by a

structure magnificent in its proportion, and secure in its

construction.

Prior to 1831 the courts had been held in the old log

school house, but now increased business demanded in-

creased facilities for its transaction. The minds of the peo-

ple had been prepared for a building such as was needed,

and the financial condition of the county was such as to

permit its erection. Whereupon the County Commissioners

at their December session in 1831, ordered, "that advertise-

ments be posted up in three public places, for constructing,,

putting up and furnishing a frame in the village of Findley,

etc.," and here I may be pardoned for copying at lenglh

fi-om the records, to show not onlv the kind of building; in-

tended to be erected, but as also showing the degree of ex-

actness in which the plans and specifications were intended

to be placed before competitors for the contract. I say in-

tended, for a careful perusal of the specifications will show

a degree of ambiguity not intended by the Commissioners.

But to the record. "The building to be twenty-four feet

by tliirty-six feet, two stories high. Lower story to be nine

feet in the clear, and the upper story eight and a half feet

in the clear. Lower story to have a hall or entry eight feet

wide, through the center, with good partitions on either side

of planed boards. The one end to be divided by a par-
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tition through the center, dividing it into equal parts. A

good substantial flight of stairs to be put up in the entry.

One front door, one back door to said entry, both to be of

panelled doors, the front one to have four lights over it.

Four twenty-light windows in front, and two back of twenty

lights each in lower story, and tive twenty-light windows in

front in upper story and three same size back. Glass to be

eight by ten, and well puttied in. The upper story to be

ceiled with three-quarter boards, planed, tongued and

grooved. A good joint shingle roof to be put on. The

building to ])e underpinned with a good, rough stone wall,

laid in lime and sand mortar, raised eighteen inches above

the surface. With plain door into each room, all the doors

to be hung with three-inch cast iron l)utts, the lower floor

to be laid out of white ash boards, not to exceed six inches

in width. The upper floor to be of white or blue ash boards

of the same width ; both floors to be tongued and grooved,

and joints broken, and well nailed. The sills, posts and

sleepers of the frame to be of white oak, t)ie studding not

to exceed two feet from center to center, joists same dis-

tance apart. Good sufficient locks on all the doors, and

plain latches and handles. Plain eavetroughs and cornise.

The front to be weatherboarded with poplar, plained, and

the remainder with black walnut, rough. A washboard and

chairboard up stairs and down, a plain bannistering to the

stairs, together with substantial bannistering at the top of

the stairs."

The Commissioners met on the 16th day ot January,

1832, the time appointed for opening the bids for the above

work. Two proposals were handed in—one from Mathew
Reighley for seven hundred and fifty dollars, and one from

William Taylor, Frederick Henderson and Jonathan Parker
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for seven hundred dollars, which last was accepted, and I

infer that the work was well and satisfactorily done, and

accepted by the Commissioners, although there is no record

of that fact.

In June, 1833, the Commissioners met and received pro-

posals for plastering the Court House, when the bid of Par-

lee Carlin was accepted, the price, hewever, was not named.

Whereupon, Parlee Carlin entered into a bond to lath and

plaster the several rooms in the Court House in a durable

and workmanlike manner, and complete the same by the

fii-st of November next. This job too, was no doubt com-

pleted according to contract and accepted by the Commis-

sioners, although the records are silent on the subject.

Ihe building was erected on the southw^est corner of

Main and Putnam streets, the site now occupied by the

"Wheeler Block," and was used as a Court House, school

house and church until the completion of the present Court

House in 1811. The old Court House has since been re-

moved to the south part of Main street, just north of the

First Presbyterian Church, and is occupied by Jacob Carr

and family as a residence. After having served as a Court

House it was for many years used as a hotel.

The County Commissioners were very solicitous about the

good usage and the authorized occupancy of this new struc-

ture, and passed not a few orders touching the matter, and

prescribing the terms on which it could be occupied.

In March, 1833, the Commissioners met "and examined

the Court House, and accepted it."' At their December

session, 1834, it was "ordered that the Auditor do cause to

be erected in the Court House a suitable seat for the Court.

Also that he do procure two sets of chairs for the Court

room."
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At the session of December, 1836, "Ordered that all re-

ligious societies be prohibited from holding meetings in the

Court' House after the 1st day of January, J 837." This

was rather rough on the churches, and I have been unable

to find a reason for the order.

But the authorities soon relented, if indeed they ever at-

tempted to enforce the order, for at their very next session,

that of March, 1837, the records show this action : "Ordered

that the Presbyterian Church and the Methodist Episcopal

Church, of the town of Findley, each pay into the Treasury

of Hancock County the sum of seventy-five cents per month >

for the time they occupy the same, for the use of the Court

Room for religious purposes, to commence from this date."

At the same session it was "Ordered that the Directors

of School District, No. one, in Findley township, pay into

the County Treasury at the rate of Eleven dollars for six

months, for the use of the Court Room for a district school."

Finally, at the session of the Commissioners held in

March, 1840, it was "Ordered that the Auditor of the

county of Hancock offer the lot that the old Court House

stands on, including said building, at public sale, one third

of the purchase money in hand, the balance in two equal

annual payments, on the third Saturday of May next, ad-

vertising the same thirty days previous to the day of sale."

The property was sold to one Jacob Barnel.

Thus ended the use of said building for legal purposes,

for the county had outgrown so small a temple of Justice,

and had already erected, or had in process of erection the

present Court House, which, however shabby and inferior

it now seems, was at the time of its building regarded as a

massive structure, and in beauty and finish, was regarded a
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triumph ot architectural skill. Now it is regarded as being

entirely too old fogyish for our present wants, as well as

wholly inadequate for the proper transaction of the neces-

sary business of the county.
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CHAPTER YIII.

EARLV COURTS FIRST JUDGES FIRST JURIES.

THE early history of our Courts is one of interest. We
learu from the recorded proceedings, the simplicity of

such courts, their cheapness, and the promptness with

which business was transacted. Under the Constitution of

Ohio, adopted in 1802, the Judicial power of the State,

both in law and equity, was vested in a Supreme Court, in

Courts of Common Pleas for each County, &c. Sec. 3 of

the Constitution provided :
" That the several Courts of

Common Pleas shall consist of a President and Asso-

ciate Judges. There shall be appointed in each county, not

more than three, nor less than two Associate Judges, who

during their continuance in office shall reside therein."

These Judges were appointed by a joint ballot of both

Houses of the General Assembly, and held their office for

the term of seven years, if so long they behaved well.

Such were the provisions of the Constitution, and when

Hancock became a separate and distinct County, three of

her citizens were honored with the appointment of i\.sso-

eiate Judges.

In March, 1828, Abraham Huff, Robert McKinnis and

Ebenezer Wilson were appointed by the Legislature. We
find the record of their first meeting, or the first court held

in the county :
" At a special court begun and held in the

town of Fiudley on the 14th of March, in the year of our

Lord, one thousand, eight hundred and twenty-eight, pres-
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eut, Honorables Abraham Huff, Robert McKinnis and

Ebenezer Wilson, Judges of aud for the Couuty of Han-
cock, and State of Ohio, and proceeded to appoint a Clerk,

pro tem., and after consideration, appointed Wilson Vance,

and gave him the following certificate of his appointment in

the following words and ffgures, to-wit :
' Know all men by

these presents, that we, Abraham Huff, Robert McKin-
nis and Ebenezer Wilson, Associate Judges, in and for

the County of Hancock, have this day met at the school

house in the town of Findley, in said county, and after

consultation and deliberation, have proceeded to appoint by

living voice, Wilson Vance, Esq., of said county. Clerk,

Pro tern., at Findley, this 14th day of March, 1828.'

Abraham Huff,
j

Robert McKinnis,
J-

Associate Judges.

Ebenezer Wilson, »

The vote stood, ayes two, nays ojie. Mr. Vance was

sworn into office by Judge McKinnis."

The office of Clerk, was held by Mr. Vance as clerk pro

tem., under the provisions of Sec. 7, Art. 3, of the Consti-

tution of 1802, which recited: "That each Court shall

appoint its own Clerk, for the term of seven years, but no

person shall be appointed Clerk except pro-tempore, who

shall not produce to the Court appointing him a certificate

from a majority of the Judges ~ of the Supreme Court,

that they judge him to be well qualified to execute the

duties of the office of Clerk to any Court of the same dig-

nity, with that for which he offers himself," There is a

litle sprinkling of " civil service reform " in that.

The first Judicial officers of the county deserve more than

a passing notice. Many who are now living, and who had

an acquaintance with them, can no doubt bear witness to
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their fidelity to business, and their fairness in the discharge

of their duties, and to their unsullied character as men.

Judge Robert McKinnis was born in Butler County,

Pennsylvania, and removed from thence to Ross County,,

Ohio, and from thence, in 1822, he came to Hancock, where

he at once became one of the leading spirits of the then;

new settlements in the county. Judge McKinnis married

before his emigration to Ohio, and was surrounded by a

grown up family when he came to this county. He was

of Scotch-Irish descent, and combined the frankness of the

Scotchman, with the warm jovial hearted Irishman.

Not only was the Judge himself a noted man, but his

sons, of whom there were four, Charles, Philip, James and

John, were men who were trusted by the early settlers with

positions of responsibility, wliicli positions were always

filled with intelligence and honesty. Charles was one of

the first Commissioners of the County, a position which at

that time, was one of peculiar importance. The affairs of a

new county were to be put in shape, all the conflicting

interests of rival settlements to be harmonized, public

buildings and public business were to he looked after. To

safely and successfully manage, and control all these with

economy, and to the "best interests of a poor struggling

population, required'discrimiuation, decision and patience.

Mr. McKinnis did not fail in these qualifications.

Judge McKinnis was the owner of a good farm in Liberty

Township, on the south bank of the Blanchard, and lived to

enjoy the fruits of his toil. In after life, and when quite

advanced in years, he made several trips to the far west,

some of his children having removed there, going and

returning alone in his wagon. He died at a ripe old age?

loved and respected by all who had his acquaintance.
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Judge Ebenezer Wilson came to the county in 18'2G, and

settled in Liberty Township, on the farm on which his sou

Joseph now resides, where he continued his residence until

his death. Of the Judge, it can be said that as a man, he

enjoyed the respect and confidence of his neighbors to an

unlimited extent. That he filled the office of Associate Judge,

\vith intelligence and honesty, is evidenced by the fact that

he held the office for two terms—fourteen years—a greater

length of time than did any other. The Judge was one of

the Pioneers of the Presbyterian church, and was noted for

his exemplary life. He had a large family of children, who
like the Judge, were social, good natured people. The

Judge lived long enough to reclaim from the wilderness,

and enjoy the blessings of one of the handsomest farms in

the county, to see those who had come to the wilds of the

county with him, peaceably enjoy the fruit of their labor,

and he had the good fortune to retain to the last the esteem

and fi-iendship of his old pioneer associates.

I have not been able to ascertain at just what time Judge

Al)raham Huff came to the county, but it was a very early

period in its history. There seems to be but little known of

ids history by those living. I have learned this much,

however, from some of his old acquaintances, that he was

an honorable, straight forward man, of good strong common

sense, and was an upright, intelligent Judge. He was a

man of poor bodily health, and left the county at an early

day, and went to the State of Missouri, in hopes of regain-

ing his health, in which he partially succeeded, but he has

been dead many years.

The first Court of Common Pleas held in the county,

was the June term 1828, and the following is a complete

record of the term.
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"At a Court of Common Pleas begun and held in the

town of Findley, in and for the county of Hancock, in the

State of Ohio, on the third day of June, in the year of our

Lord eighteen hundred and twenty-eight. Present,* the

Associate Judges, Abraham Huff, Robert McKinuis and

Ebenezer Wilson, the Presiding Judge not being present.

Don Alonzo Hamlin, Sheriff. Wilson Vance, QIqvV;. pro-teui.y

Anthony Casad was appointed by the Court to prosecute

the Pleas in behalf of the State, for said county for the

term of one year, and to l>e allowed forty dollars for his

services."

"Elijah T. Davis was a})})t)inted Administrator on the et-

fects of Thomas Wilson, late of Findley township, de-

ceased. Joshua Hedges and S(juire Carliii were accepted

as his sureties, bonds given in the sum of Five Hundred

dollars. Joshua Hedges, Jacob ]\>e and Charles McKinnis

were appointed appraisers of said effects. On application

ordered that the citizens of Welfare—now Delaware

—

township have leave to elect one Justice of the Peace.

One Justice of the Peace was appointed for Amanda town-

ship. The Court appointed Wilson Vance Recorder of

Hancock County for the term of seven years, and the

Court adjourned without day.

ABRAHAM HUFF."
The first Grand Jury was composed of the following

named persons: Joseph DeWitt, John P. Hamilton, Jacob

Poe, Asa Lake, Charles McKinnis, Reuben Hales, Mordica

Hammond, William Wade, John Boyd, Henry George, AVil-

iiam Moreland, James McKinnis, William Taylor, Edwin

S. Jones and John C. Wickham. The foreman was Wil-

liam Taylor.
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The first Petit Jury summoned was as follows: John
Beard, Joseph Johnson, John Huff, WilJiam Moreland, jr.,

John Tullis, John J. Hendricks, Thomas Thompson, James
Pettis, and there being no business for a Jury they were

discharged without tilling the panel. Rachel Wilson was

appointed guardian of Rebecca and Jane Wilson, minor

children of Thomas Wilson, deceased. Rebecca was eight

and Jane one year old. When grown up Rebecca became

the wife of John Reed, of Liberty township, and Jane the

wife of George L. Poe, of Allen township.

On application, a license was granted to William Taylor

to vend merchandise at his residence in Findley, until the

first day of April next, he to pay into the Treasury tivo-

dollars and tweiity-flve cents for said license.

At the November term of the Court it " Appearing that

there was no business before the Grand Jury, they were dis-

charged." At the same term William Taylor was ap-

pointed Surveyor of the county, and the Clerk ordered to

certify the same to the Governor. William Taylor, Wil-

liam Hackney and Mordica Hammond were appointed ex-

aminers of common schools. It was " Ordered by the

Court that there be allowed to the Clerk of the Court the

sum of ten dollars each year, to be paid one half at each

term of Court." Seven years Clerk of the Court for the^

magnificent sum of seventy dollars.

A special session of the court was held on the 19th day

of March, 1829, for the purpose of granting letters of ad-

ministration on the estate of John Patterson. William

Taylor was appointed. Mr. Patterson was a brother of the

wife of Mr. Taylor.

At the April term, 1829, Judges Huff, Wilson and Mc-

Kinnis were present, also Sheriff John C. Wickham, Clerk
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Wilson Vance and Prosecuting Attorney Anthony Casad.

The Grand Jury, the second one called and empanneled in

the county was as follows : Robert Long, Amos Beard,

Thomas Cole, John Shoemaker, Rueben W. Hamblin, Sam-

uel Sargeant, William J. Greer, Robert Elder, John Hunter,

Isaac Johnson, Nathan Frakes, Rueben Hales, Jacob Fos-

ter, William Moreland, jr., Nathan Williams. The foreman

was William J. Greer. Due notice having been given,

William Taylor was licensed to keep a tavern at his house

in Findley, by paying five dollars. The Grand Jury, at

this session, found a bill of indictment, the first ever re-

turned in the county.

The first case on the civil docket was that of Robert

Elder and wife against Asa Lake and wife for slander.

Damages claimed, five hundred dollars. The action was

brought at the November term, LS28, Abel Rawson, Plain-

tilf's Attorney. A judgment was rendered for the defend-

ants, and the plaintiffs ordered to pay the costs, taxed at

two dollars and twenty-two cents. Such a cost bill as

that would not go very far towards paying the costs of a

slander suit in these hard times, neither would it make the

ofiicers of the court either rich or happy.

At the April term, 1S30, the case of Henry McWhorter

against Samuel Sargeant and Abraham Huff was tried be-

fore Ebenezer Lane, President Judge, and Judges Wilson

and McKinnis. Associates. The action was upon note of

band, and amount claimed four hundred dollars, and one

hundred dollars damages. I give only the finding of the

court. "Now comes the plaintiff by Mr. Godman, his At-

torney, and the defendant being three times solemnly called

came not, but made default. It is therefore considered that

the plaintiff recover of said defendants the sum of $237.83,
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his debt aforesaid, together with his damages assessed by

the court at one cent, and his costs of suit to be taxed at

$3.30.

The case of State of Ohio against Thomas Slight was

tried before a jury composed of Joshua Hedges, Vanrensa-

lear Hancock, John Elder, Seldon Blodgett, Sampson Dil-

dine, James McKinnis, Wm. DeWitt, Josiah Elder, Thomas

F. Johnson, Asa M. Lake, Asa Lake and Mathew Reighly.

Verdict, guilty. Second trial allowed, case finally dis-

missed.

Perhaps no cases tried in the county excited more inter-

est at the time than those in which John P. Hamilton and

Charles and Philip McKinnis figured. The facts as I have

them are as follows :

Charles McKinnis and John P. Hamilton were both

County Commissioners, and a petition had been presented to

the Board, praying for the division of Findley township,

which then included all the western part of the county.

To this proposition McKinnis, and perhaps his immediate

constituency, were opposed, as it struciv them off from

Findley.

At the session in which the matter w^as to be determined,

McKinnis after coming to town was attacked with the

ague, and consequently was not able to meet with the

Board, and whilst the ague was shaking him, Hamilton and

the other Commissioner passed the act dividing the town-

ship. This was done no doubt, without any intention of

discourtesy or insult to McKinnis, but as it came up in the

regular order ot business. But it seems that McKinnis did

not so regard it, for when the matter came to his ears, he

was terribly enraged, as he believed they had purposely

taken advantage of his absence to pass the obnoxious order.
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As soon as he was able to be on the street, meeting Ham-
ilton, and considering him the prime mover in the matter,

he at once proceeded to revenge himself by giving Hamil-

ton a severe whipping, according to the usages of warfare,

practiced amongst gentlemen at that time. Philip Mc-

Kinnis happening in town and hearing that his brother

Charles and Hamilton had been in a fight, and knowing

that Charles was sick, took it for granted that he had been

worsted in the fight. Well aware that a fight between two

full grown men meant business, and that whoever got

whipped was badly whipped, he in his impetuous manner,

and without stopjjing to inquire who had the best of the

fight, started out to find the man whom he supposed had

taken an undue advantage, and meeting Hamilton, with-

out further ceremony pitched into him, and repeated the

dose which Charles had administered. Thus by mistake

Hamilton got two dressings, for had Philip known that

Charles had come out first best in the fight, or even that he

had been the aggressor, and got whipped in a fair fight, he

would not under any consideration have interfered.

The matter came before the Grand Jury, and bills of

indictments were found against the McKinnis brothers. The

indictments were found by the following named Grand Juiy :

William Moreland, George Flenner, Squire Carlin, Asa

Lake, John Bashore, Jacob Foster, John Hunter, Edwin 8,

Jones, John Beard, Don Alonzo Hamblin, Asher Wickham,

Joshua Powell, Isaac Johnson, Joseph Sargent and Bass

Kawson. The record says that to the indictment the

defendants say they are guilty, and throw themselves on the

mercy of the court. The sentence pronounced l)y the court

against Charles McKinnis was: " And, thereupon, it is

considered and adjudged by the court, that said McKinnis
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pay a fine of one dollar, and the costs of suit, taxed at

$2.24, and that he stand charged until the sentence of the

court is complied with and be in mercy." The case against

Philip was disposed of in the same way.

John P. Hamilton, in September, 1829, by T. C. Powell, his

Attorney, brought suit against Charles McKinnis for dam-

ages sustained by him in the assault and battery, claiming

five hundred dollars damage.

The declaration (or petition as it would now be called),

recites that: "The said Charles on the first day of Sep-

tember, 1829. at Findley, in the County of Hancock, with

force and arms made an assault upon the said John, and

then and there, with a certain stick, and with his fists, gave

and struck the said John a great many violent blows and

strokes, on and about his head, face, breast, back, shoulders,

arms, legs and divers other places of his body, and, also,

then and there with great force and violence, shook and

pulled about the said John, down onto and upon the ground,

and then and there violently kicked the said John,

and gave and struck him a great many other blows and

strokes, by means of which said second premises he, the

said John, was then and there greatly hurt, bruised, wounded

and became and was sick, sore and lame."

It will perhaps, be well enough to remember that the

lawyers of that day, in drawing up papers, put in everything

that actually did happen, and for fear of accidents, they

then put in everything that might have happened. H' the

said Charles w-as guilty of inflicting even a tithe of the

injury on the said John, with which he was charged, the

fine of one dollar, although that was a large sum of money

at that day, was a very cheap punishment.
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The case was tried to a jury composed as follows : Josiah

Elder, Don Alouzo Hamblin, Robert L. Strother, Joseph

Egbert, Joshua Powell, Nathan Williams, William J. Greer,

John J. Hendricks, Mordica Hammond, Peter George, Thos.

Thompson and William Moreland. Verdict, guilty. Damages

assessed at seventy-five dollars.

vSuit was also brought against Philip McKinnis, and a

judgment for thirty-five dollars recovered.

Anthony Casad, of Bellefontaine, Ohio, was appointed

Prosecuting Attorney of the County, at the munificent sala-

ry of forty dollars. Amongst the names of Attorneys prac-

ticing in the courts at that day, and for many years subse-

quently, we find those of Casad, Godman, Powell, Goit,

Hall, Bates, Morrison, O'Neal, Coffinberry, Patterson, May
and Rawsou.

In 1835, Robert L. Strother and John W. Baldwin were

appointed Associate Judges, in place of Huff and McKinnis,

Judge Wilson being reappoined. Judge Baldwin held the

ofiice but a short time, and upon his resignation, Major

Bright was appointed.

In 1842, John Ewing, Mordica Hammond and William

Roller were appointed, and they were succeeded by Michael

Price, John Cooper and Gamaliel C. Brandel, and with them

the race of Associate Judges became extinct, as the Consti-

tution of 1851 abolished the office. The people of the

county were very fortunate in the appointment of Judges,

as all were, at least, of the best citizens of the county.
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CHAPTER IX.

THE COUNTRY SHOEMAKER— THE SCHOOLMASTER LOG ROLLLNG.

IN
the early settlement of the coimty, an absence of mer-

cantile and manufacturing establishments made it ex-

ceedingly inconvenient, and at times almost impossible to

obtain the necessary articles of clothing. A very laro-e

portion of the early settlers were preparing to engage in

agricultnral pnrsuits, and hence mechanics and artisans were

in demand, and the supply was of the less skillful class.

At that time the country shoemaker—and almost every

settlement contained one—was a very necessary appendage

to a well regulated neighborhood. His mission and duty

was to go from house to house in the neighborhood, and

make up suiiicient foot wear for the whole family. Each

farmer or head of a family, would purchase leather enough,

both sole and upper, to supply each member of his family

with a pair of shoes, good heavy water proof ones, none of

your cotton cloth, consumption soled articles—shoes made

for service, rather than for ornament. The shoemaker was

then engaged to work up the stock. He had no shop tur-

nished with counters, shelves and drawers, well stored with

manufactured work, indeed it frequently happened that he

had no abiding place, but like the country school-master,

boarded around.
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lie went from house to house, carrying with him his kit

of tools, woul,d take his seat by the side of the huge fire-place,

and then to the wonder and astonishment of the young

members of the community, would measure, and cut, and

shape, and make shoes enough for the whole family. When

finished, he would pack up his Ml and go to the next. His

annual visits were looked for with interest by the little ones

who, when he had come, would gather arouifd him, watch-

ing with open eyed wonder, the putting together with wax

end and peg, the homely but serviceal)le shoe. And how

they enjoyed his story telling and his songs. The coming

of the shoemaker was one of the events not to be forgotten.

The pioneer, after he had prepared his clearing ready for

logging—as it was called—would invite his neighbors to

come and assist him in rolling the logs into heaps ready for

burning, and no one who was invited would neglect to

attend, unless for the best of reasons. When the log-rollers

had assembled on the ground, they selected two or more of

their number as Captains, and by choice made by the Cap-

tains would divide themselves into parties, and apportion an

equal amount of work to each party. The party who first

cleared the ground, was declared winner and entitled to the

first "smile" from the little brown jug, and a seat at the

first table. A clearing with a score or more of men thus

engaged in a friendly contest, was rather a lively place.

But on occasions of this kind, the good wife, not to be

outdone by her man, would quietly put the patch-work quilt

in the frames, and invite the wives and daughters of the log

rollers to come in and help her. Thus, whilst the men and

boys were busy in the fields, the women and girls were

equally ])usy with needle. After supper, whilst the girls

were engaged in washing the dishes, and setting the house
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in order, the meu foimd recreation in feats of rimning:,

wrestling and jumping. Candles, or the dry hickory-bark

torch were lit at dark, and the rural violinist, that is, the

country fiddler makes his appearance, takes his seat on a

table, tunes up his instrument, when "choose your partners"

was in order. Away goes the music and away go the

dancers, often much more energetic than graceful, "French

four," "money musk," "Scotch reels," interspersed with jigs

and regular break downs. None of your now fashionable

waltzes, polkas, schottish, and fancy cotillion, in which the

whirling and turning, and everlasting swinging, is enough

to give the spectator the delirium tremens.

The pioneer boys and girls danced to the music of such

good old healthy tunes as the Fisher's Horn Pipe, Devil's

Dream, Arkansaw Traveller and Col. Johnston. Whilst

the young people were thus engaged, the older ones occu-

pied themselves in smoking and rehearsing the gallantries

and exploits of their younger days, occasionally joining in

the dance, just to show the young folks how they used to

do, you know.

But to the still younger ones, the most interesting part

of a log-rolling and quilting was the supper, for they were

sure to get an extra piece of Johnny Cake, and a piece of

pumpkin pie, after which they were generally willing to go

to bed; but willing or unwilling, they went, as their room

was much more desirable than their company.

Fifty years ago there were but few school buildings in

the county, and they w^ere of the rudest sort, but small and

rude as they were, they were deemed sufficiently large to

accommodate all who would attend school. There was not

a very great demand for school marms, nor w^ere the ex-

penses of keeping up a school three months in the year,
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very heavy. Although the school buildings were cheap;>

and perhaps shabby in appearance, and the accommodations

for the pupils the poorest, and the qualifications of the

teachers far from first-class, yet with a determination on the

part of teachers, and pupils, and parents, that the time

should be well improved, the community progressed in intel-

ligence. As the }»opulation increased, each settlement had

its log school house, not built perhaps, by taxation, but the

free gift of the honest patrons, who met, cut the logs, car-

ried them together, erected the building, completed it by

covering with clap boards and weight poles, chink and daub

the cracks, put in the rude benches, the paper windows, and

employ the first man who came along, qualified to teach

spelling, reading, writing and arithmetic as far as the sin-

gle-rule of three, and who was willing to board around,

sent their children to school and were happy.

Thus our forefathers did not forget that the peace, and

safety, and prosperity, and happiness of every community

depended upon the intelligence of its members. Did not

forget that vice in all its forms, was sure to attend ignorance

and superstition. Hence, the first building erected in a

settlement, was a school house. In those days the country

school master ranked next in importance to the circuit

preacher, and as he went boarding around he was welcomed

to the best seat by the fireside, and the choicest viands at the

table, and was regarded by the patrons of the school as

the embodiment of wisdom, and by the younger members

of the family as the embodiment of po\yer, for well they

remembered the birch rods sticking up in the walls of the

old school house, and with what expertness he could wield

them.



First Boads. 73

CHAPTER X.

FIRST ROADS AND BRIDGES.

AT the June session of the Commissioners, in the year

1829, "A petition being presented by sundry citizens

of Hancock County, praying for a county road, commencing

at the county line at John Smith's farm, running thence a

north-westerly direction to John Longs, in Section one, thence

to cross Blanchard Fork at or near John J. Hendricks, thence

to run down the river to the mouth of the three mile run,

thence the nearest and best direction to Findley, which was

granted, and John Huff, John J. Hendricks and William

Moreland were appointed viewers, and William Taylor, Sur-

veyor." On the 16th of September the Commissioners met

in special session to receive the report of the viewers of

said road. Report received and the road established. This

road is the one now known as the Findley and Vanlue road,

which crosses the river at the ftirm of Richard Hall.

In August, 1830, the County Commissioners met for the

purpose of apportioning the amount of the three x>G'i^ cent.

fund on the several state roads, and the record says:

"Whereupon it is agreed on by said Commissioners that the

aforesaid amount of money appropriated, shall be laid out

on the following roads, to-wit: The road leading from

Bellefontaiue to Perrysburgh. and the road leading from

6
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Upper Sandusky through Findley to Defiance, which work

is to be performed in cutting out said roads, thirty-two feet

wide, all timber twenty inches in diameter, and clearing the

ground of all timber."

A petition was presented to the Commissioners July 28th,

1831, signed by numerous parties, "Humbly representing

that it would conduce much to the public convenience if a

county road was established between the following points,

to-wit: Beginning at the west end of Main Cross Street,

in the village of Findley (at a point where West street

crosses Main Cross street, at the residence of Mrs. Dr.

Detwiler,) thence on the nearest and best route to Solomon

Foglesong's improvement on Toway Creek, thence on the

nearest and best route in direction of Toway Village, (now

Ottowa, Putnam County,) to the county line." As this is

now one of the leading as well as one of the best roads in

the county, I will give the report of the viewers in full.

" Gentlemen : We, the undersigned viewers, met at the time

and place appointed in your order of December last, and after

being qualified as the law directs, proceeded to view the

ground as therein set forth. Surveying and making a line

as we proceeded, having always a regard to the nature of

the ground, and at the same time paying particular attention

to have no more angles in the survey, than what could not

possibly be avoided. We found it impossible, however, to

take the line to the immediate point at Foglesong's. We
went as near to it, notwithstanding, as the nature of the

ground would admit, which was satisfactory to the petition-

ers. And we can assure you, the whole line (with the ex-

ception of a part of the first mile leaving Findley, which

was unavoidable.) is on as good gTound for a road as we

know of any where in this region of country. We also be-
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lieve it will, when opened, be a road of general utility, both

to the immediate neighborhood and the public in general.

Respectfully submitted,

Thomas F. Johnston,,*

Isaac Baker."

March 5th, 1832.

After these followed the location and opening up of the

Tiffin, Port Clinton, New Haven, Lima and other important

roads. In fact, for the first ten years after the organization

of the county, the principal part of the business of the

Board of Commissioners, was to receive petitions for, and

confirm reports of reviewers and surveyor of county roads.

Such has been the desire of the people, and the acts of the

Commissioners, that we have now public highways running

by and bordering on almost every farm in the county, thus

affording to all an easy and convenient means of communi-

cating with his neighbors.

The records of Wood County, recite that the " Road from

Fort Meigs, or the foot of the Rapids of the Miami of the-

Lake (Maumee), to Bellefontaine, opened December 11th,

1829." This is the road now known as the Perrysburg and

Bellefontaine state road, which crosses the county from

north to south, and divides it into two almost equal parts.

This road was laid out on and near " Hull's Trail."

The Commissioners of the same county, on the 6th day of

June, 1826, "Ordered that four hundred dollars of the road

fund be appropriated for Hancock County, to be expended on

the Urbana road in said county." This road was the Per-

rysburg and Bellefontaine road.

The first roads in the county, were for years scarcely more

than blazed paths through the woods. Very many places

would have been utterly impassable had it not been for a
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system of bridging, then extensively indulged in, known as

corduroy. This was a kind of rail road in which the posi-

tion of the ties and rails on an ordinary rail road were re-

versed. That is, the ties were laid lengthwise and the rails

crosswise. But as timter was abundant, and not much at-

tention was paid to the smoothness of the road, they were

not so very expensive.

The County authorities, and the citizens for many years

contented themselves by bridging the smaller streams and

water courses, wherever absolutely necessary, and then only

with a temporary structure, barely answering the purpose of

its building, without a thought of bridging the river. So

impossible of completion, seemed such an undertaking, and

so immense an amount of money was supposed to be neces-

sary, that no one dared mention such a project.

In 1841, when it was seriously contemplated to build a

bridge across the river at Findley, it was deemed of so much

importance, that this order was made :
" Ordered that the

Auditor instruct the Assessors to take the vote of the people

as to the propriety of laying a tax of eight hundred dollars

for building a bridge across Blanchard River in Findley."

How the voters of the county decided the matter does not

appear by the records, but the inference is, that they "sec-

onded the motion," for in March, 1842, the following reso-

lution was passed by the County Commissioners: "i?^-

solved, That the Auditor receive proposals for building two

bridges across Blanchard River, one at Findley, and the

other at the crossing of the Findley and New Haven State

road, (known as the INIarvin Bridge,) until the first day of

April next, agreeable to the plans now in this office, as

submitted to the Commissioners, one half the pay in Janua-

ry, 1843, and the other half in one year thereafter."
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On opening the bids, at a special session, January 7th,

1843, for the completion of the extension of the bridge

across the river at Findley, it was found that James Robin-

son was the lowest bidder, and the contract was awarded to

him.

The records do not give the names of the contractors, nor

the price paid, except as we find in the proceedings of the

Commissioners at a special session in March, J 843, when it

was "Ordered that the Auditor of Hancock County, Ohio,

inquire into the cause why the bridge across the Blanchard

Fork of the Auglaize River, at Findley, is not completed

agreeable to contract by S. Carlin and H. Eaton, and if no

good cause is shown, institute a suit against said contractors,

and employ counsel if necessary."

June 1, 1843, the Commissioners "Ordered that the

Auditor of Hancock County enter a suit against the con-

tractors of the bridge at Findley, by the first of July next,

if the same is not by that time finished to the satisfaction of

the Commissioners."

It is fair to presume that the bridge was finished to the

" satisfaction of the Commissioners," as there is no record of

a suit being brought. The bridge was a wooden structure,

known as a trestle bridge, the superstructure being supported

by wooden trestles, placed, perhaps twenty feet apart. The

finish was of the plainest kind, only ordinary railing, no

cover, no paint.

In 1 850, the contract for a new and better bridge across

the Blanchard, was let to Jesse Wheeler, William Klamroth

and Edwin B. Vail, for the sum of fifteen hundred dollars.

It too, was a wooden structure, but of a different plan, and

whilst it was more pretentious in appearance, it was also a

much more substantial piece of work. It consisted of two
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spans, being supported at the ends, by massive stone abut-

ments, with a pier in the centre, of the same material. The

sides were elevated—being a truss bridge—and inclosed, and

the whole covered with a shingle roof. There was but a

single track for wagons, with a foot path on either side.

The bridge when finished and opened for travel, was regarded

as a superb piece of work.

But in time, this structure wore out, and decayed, and the

business and travel of the county demanded a better bridge.

One that would not only answer the purpose for which it

should be intended, but which would also be an honor to the

county, and an ornament to the county seat.

In 1872, the old bridge was sold, torn down and taken

away, and the Canton Iron Bridge Company, under contract

with the County Commissioners, erected the present beautiful

and substantial Iron Bridge, at a cost to the county of about

thirteen thousand dollars.

Previous to the building of any of these bridges, the river

was crossed by canoes, when too high to drive teams across.

In 1839, John Byal, Aquilla Gilbert and Daniel Fairchild,

Commissioners, at their March session :
" Ordered that

there l)e appropriated for building a bridge across Eagle

Creek, at what is now called the Upper Ford, or where the

Melmore and Findley State road crosses the creek, the sum

of ten dollars., provided, there is a good and sufficient

bridge erected thereon before the first day of November

next." This bridge was to be built where the Sandusky

street bridge now is. What would our fi-iends in East Find-

ley, and in the eastern part of the county say to a ten dollar

bridge at that place now. But they must remember, that

when this order was passed, that the place designated for

the bridge, was a considerable distance out in the country.
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lu 1845, the sum of iiiue hundred andj forty dollai*s was

expended in the county for bridges. Numerous bridges,

wooden structures, were built across the river at various

times, and were gradually replaced by other and better struc-

tures, until now there are not less than thirteen good, sub-

stantial bridges spanning the Blanchard River within the

limits of the county. Besides these, there are scores of

smaller iron and wooden structures spanning the numerous

creeks and water courses. The value of these bridges, is

quite considerable, and their conveniences to the population

cannot be estimated.
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CHAPTER XL

COUNTY RECORDS. FIRST CENSUS. GENERAL ELECTION 1828.

THE early records of the coimty are iu a very imperfect

couditiou, uot having been kept with that care, and in

a form which would outlive the times in which they were

made. Kept for the most part in small books, poorly made,

or on scraps of paper, poorly preserved, much of our early

history is lost beyond hope of recovery. Much that was

recorded, has by the carelessness of those who had them in

charge, been mutilated to such an extent as to be almost

unintelligible, and much has been entirely destroyed.

The gTeatness of a country depends, perhaps not so much

upon the extent of territory, as upon its population, wealth

and intelligence, and the progress made in these in Hancock

County during the last half century is a matter of interest,

and pride as well, perhaps, to my readers.

I have been unable, in my researches, to find a report of

the population of this county previous to ] 830, that being

the year in which the first federal census was taken after

the organization of the county. We might, by the usual

method, estimate the population in 18'28 from the vote

polled in that year. As we have already seen, the first

election held in the county after its separate organization,

took place on the first Monday in April in that year, at
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which election there were seDenty-foar votes cast. Now
counting the popnhition at five times the number of voters,,

we have three hundred and seventy as the entire population,

which number is no doubt very nearly correct.

At this date there were perhaps not more than a half

dozen settlements—as they were called—iu the county.

One at Mt. Blanchard, one at Findley, one at McKinnis,

and one perhaps in the south part of the county. Of course

there were a few families residing at other points in the

county, but they were regarded as a part of one or the other

of these principal settlements, for all were neighbors then

who lived w ithin a day's journey of each other.

Two years later, when the census of 1830 was taken, there

were eight hundred and thirteen persons in the county. Of
that number four hundred and fifty-one were white males,

and three hundred and fifty-one were white females, and

there were three males and six females colored. Of the

total number, only two hundred and fifty-two were above

the age of twenty-one years. One hundred and fifty-five

males, and one hundred and forty-seven females, about

three-fourths of the entire population, were under the age

of twenty. The population then of the county in 1830 was

eight hundred and thirteen, and in 1880, just fifty years

after, it was twenty-seven thousand three hundred and

forty-three.

The census of 1830 does not give the number of acres of

improved lands, and value of buildings in the county. We
may, however, well conclude that but little had been done

as yet towards subduing the wilderness, for even an hundred

good stalwart pioneers could make but little headway

against nature, W'hich had been at work for centuries, and

:;hat farms or clearings were fiew and fai- between. As to
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buildings, I presume there was not a frame or brick building

in the county, outside of Findley.

Long before church buildings were erected, the mission-

ary—ever mindful of the Master's work—came, and for the

time being the rude cabin of the frontiersman, or the log

school house, were the church edifices, \ji the advanced set-

tlements. Here too, in these primitive buildings, were held

the Sabbath Schools, the meetings of which were as anx-

iously looked for, and as highly enjoyed as are our more

modern schools. Church services were frequently held in

the woods, under the cool shade of the forest trees, "God's

First Temples." Such meetings were known as camp-

meetings, because those attending erected tents in which to

reside during the continuance of the meeting.

This style of meeting was then a necessity, as there were

no buildings of sufficient capacity to hold the congregations,

and not ministers enough to supply the different settlements

with services, hence, they came together in large bodies, and

had the advantage of the ministrations of a number of

preachers.

These meetings were conducted with the utmost decorum,

with services at stated hours, and rules governing the little

community in such a manner that all might enjoy their com-

ing together. This style of services is practiced to a gi-eat

extent even in this day, though there exists no such neces-

sity as at that early date. With the abundance of houses

of worship, and ministers of the gospel, the holding of them

meets with much disfavor by very many good Christian men

and women, as they are too generally visited by the wicked

to avail themselves of an opportunity of showing their inate

cussedness.

The first settlers, situated as they were in the midst of an
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Indian country, cut off by many miles of forest, from the

outside world, naturally felt their dependence on each other

It would have been the extreme of folly in them to have

allowed differences and dissensions to have crept in and

di^dded them, and guarding against that, there was a feeling

of friendship between them, stronger than the fear of Indians,

and which lasted longer.

There was not that constant desire to gain wealth for its

own sake, that fifteeri 2?er cent, feeling, that effort to reach

respectability through the medium of fine clothes, that de-

sire to build themselves up by pulling others down, that

jealousy of another's prosperity, that envy of another's suc-

cess, which has unhappily sprung up amongst their children,

and which has been so destructive of that genuine happi-

ness, which they enjoyed.

At a general election held October, 14, 1828, the second

held in the county, there were seventy-seven votes cast, of

these Allen Trimble received forty-four, and John W. Camp-

bell thirty, for Governor. A certificate signed by Joshua

Hedges and William Hackney, two Justices of the Peace,

and Wilson Vance, Clerk, certifies that for Congress Joseph

Vance had thirty-one votes and John Alexander \i?i(}i forty

-

two votes. For State Senator Asa Sandford had twenty-

nine votes and David Campbell had thirty-tioo votes. For

Representative Samuel M. Lockwood \ia& fifty-four votes.

Samuel Lockwood had one vote. The following named

persons were elected County officers: Commissioners, John

Long, John P. Hamilton and Charles McKinnis, their com-

qetitors being William J. Greer, Mordica Hammond and

Godfrey Wolford. Sheriff, John C. Wickham, beating Squire

Carlin. Thomas Slight was elected Coroner over Reuben

W. Hamblin. For Treasurer Edwin S. Jones beat Joshua
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Hedges, and for Auditor William Hackney had a majority of

four over Mathew Reighly, and Don Alonzo Hamblin had

a majority of twenty-eight over Edwin S. Jones for Asses-

sor.
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CHAPTER XIL

AN INCIDENT. GENERAL MUSTER.

AN anecdote, which is vouched for by persons now living,

is told of Wilson Vance and Philip McKinnis, two of

the pioneers of the county, and who have both been dead

for some years. The story illustrates, not only the honor of

the early settlers, but also shows the light in which they

regarded an agTeement.

In consequence of the want of flouring mills in the

county, flour and other bread stuffs had to be procured from

distant and more favored settlements. Urbana, Perrysburg

and Sandusky City were the principal points visited. On
one occasion Vance and McKinnis, who were warm fi-iends,

had occasion to go to Urbana for proAdsions, each with his own

team of oxen. Everything went along smoothly until they

arrived at Mud Fort, near the south line of the county, on

their return. From that point there were two roads leading

to Findley, one of which roads Vance wanted to take, but

McKinnis objected, and desired to travel the other. They

were in a dilemma, neither wanting to yield the point, and

yet both compelled to travel the same road as a protection

against the savages, as well as to assist each other in case

either team should get stalled in the mud.

After a heated discussion of the matter for some time, and

not being able to agree, JNIcKinnis proposed this novel com-

promise. They should take the road indicated by Vance
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with the understanding that if either of the teams stalled

before reaching Findley, that Vance should submit to a

whipping from McKinnis, but that if they did not stall, that

he—McKinnis—would submit to a whipping from Vance,

for insisting that they should take the other road. The

whipping to be done with the ox-w'hip. To this Vance

agi'eed.

They then started, with Vance in the lead. In this way

they travelled until they had almost reached Findley, with-

out meeting with any mishap, and McKinnis began to shrug

his shoulders, and had made up his mind that Vance had

beaten him for once. But Vance's team suddenly halted,

having failed to touch solid bottom in one of the mud holes,

so common at the foot of Chamberlain's Hill. Nor could

they with all the whipping and coaxing expended on them

by Vance, extricate the wagon, and with a rather solemn

countenance, McKinnis was called on to assist. He readily

consented, and with the help of his team, Vance's wagon

was soon placed on solid ground again. Now came Mc-

Kinnis' time, and insisting on the contract, Vance accepted

the situation as gracefully as possible, while his opponent,

who had fairly won, laid on the ox-gad right lively.

A general muster in the olden time was an event of no

small importance, especially to the younger portion of the

population. For months before the annual parade, people

began preparing to attend. The soldiers were busy in re-

pairing and polishing up their old flint-lock muskets, those

who were fortunate enough to have one. The commissioned

officer was busy studying up his words of command, and

brushing up his regimentals. The farmer, who always had

an eye to business on such occasions, was carefully culti-

vating his melons, and vigilantly watching them to see that
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no thieves should break through and steal them. Every-

thing seemed to be so arranged that general musters and

ripe melons both came at the same season of the year, and

we boys could never quite decide whether general muster

came in water-melon time, or whether water melons came

just when general musters were ripe. The thrifty house

wife was gathering up the eggs and laying by the butter, for

she intends going to town on training day, and with the

proceeds of her produce, buy a little tea for her next quilt-

ing, and an extra bit of muslin for a new cap.

The grown up girls—now called ladies—were busy mak-

ing dresses, for their beaux had been over and invited them

to go to town on muster day, and had offered them a seat on

the horse behind them, and the small boys were carefully

getting and keeping all the pennies they could, for when

they went to militia muster—and had they not industriously

picked up brush in the clearing and pulled weeds in the

corn-field all summer under the promise that they should go ?

—they expected to invest their savings in ginger-bread and

candy.

When the long looked for day came, the farmer hitched

up his ox-team, took his wife and little ones in his wagon,

together with his melons, and butter, and eggs; and the

beaux on horse back with their sweethearts behind them on

the same horse, with their rifles on their shoulders, wended

their way to the county-seat, the place of general rendezvous.

Here almost the entire population of the county was assem-

bled. Officers in blue coats, brass buttons, red sash, mon-

strous epauletts, and broad" swords, mounted on the stately

plow horse, cavorting up and down the street, the terror of

anxious mothers, in danger themselves of broken necks, and

to the admiration of small boys. Oh ! but wasn't it gay ?
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•Oeorge Washington in all his glory was never arrayed like

•one of these militia ofiicers, and we doubt if he ever felt

half so important. The men l)y companies, some aimed

with ritles, but more with sticks and mullein stalks, marched

and counter marched, and performed evolutions not now

laid down in the regulations. They were formed into lines,

into circles, into hollow-squares—a great deal more hollow

than square. There were the Findley Rangers under the

command of Capt. Lape, arrayed in Aaron Baker's uniform.

The Captain, I believe, still survives the dangers of those

troublous times. The Rangers were dressed in uniforms of

green, profusely trimmed with yell(5w tape. There were the

T'an Buren Rangers commanded l)y the now venerable Col.

Wall, with uniforms of green, trimmed with red, marching

to the music of fife and drums. There were other companies,

clothed every man according to his taste, or comfort, or

ability. But the "Light Horse Company," commanded by

Capt. John Byal, was to us boys the very highest military

achievement. To see the men mount and dismount, to face

and right face, was to us truly wonderful. True the evolu-

tions were not performed as rapidly and as gracefully as

Phil Sheridan would have done, l)ut then what does he know

tibout cavalry mustering on farm horses.

Under the direction of Gen. Bell, Col. Byal and other

field and staff officers, the companies were put through their

facings until noon, when they were dismissed for dinnei'.

After dinner the fun commenced, in the shape of running,

jumping, wrestling, pitching horse-shoes, drinking and fight-

ing. The few groceries in the town were places of lively

interest, and a good gingerbread and small beer business was

done.
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Each company had its fighting man, a much more eco-

nomical and comfortable plan than keeping up a whole

fighting company, and he was expected to whip any and

every man who dared offer an indignity to the company or

any member thereof; and it was a very dull day, indeed, if

there were not as many fights as there were companies on

parade. After these amusements, and the wounded had been

properly cared for, those who were not disabled in the en-

gagement, and could walk, were marched to the green on

the river-bank—now the circus ground—for "Grand Review,''

or dress parade. Here they were inspected by the General

in command who sat on his horse, "grand, gloomy and pecul-

iar," under the shade of his umbrella, whilst the heated war-

riors marched solemnly and silently by. Tired, foot-sore, and

hungry, they were discharged until the next mustering day.

These veterans can now well quote the stanza

;

"Oh ! were you ne'er a militia man,
And did you never train ?

And feelthat swelling of the feet

We hope to never feel again."
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CHAPTER XIII.

RAIL ROADS.

AT a special session held April 26th, 1839, the Coimty

Commissioners " Ordered that we, the Commissioners,

agree to subscribe one hundred shares, amounting to one

hundred thousand dollars, to the capital stock of the Belle-

fontaine and Perrysburg Rail Road, and that in our incorpo-

rate capacity, we will place our signatures to the books of

the company for that amount.

John Byal, ) ^ „
-P, -n,

'
> Com.

Daniel tairchild,
^

With all our wealth and population, at the present, no

such liberal terms towards any rail road project would be

entertained by our Commissioners.

At the same meeting, for it seems that the Commissioners

meant business, it was ordered "That we appoint a special

Commissioner to negotiate the loan on the credit of the

county, in the City of New York, or elsewhere, at a rate of

interest not to exceed six per cent, per annum," and it was
" Ordered that Parlee Carlin be delegated our special agent,

to negotiate the loan of one hundred thousand dollars which

we have this day subscribed to the capital stock of the

Bellefontaine and Perrysburg Rail Road Company."

Thus ends the history of this rail road, so far as this

county is concerned. Like an innumerable number of such

projects, it ended in talk, and futile resolutions and orders.

In 1845, the rail road fever again broke out in the county,

and the Commissioners went earnestly to work to make some
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project a success. They were not wholly disappointed, for

they set on foot a movement, which finally resulted in the

building of the Findley Branch of the Mad River and Lake

Erie Rail Road, as it was then called.

On the 4th day of March, 1845, George Shaw, Peter

George and John Lafferty, Commissioners, issued a procla-

mation to the qualified voters of Hancock County to vote at

the election on the first Monday of April, 1845, for or against

a proposition to subscribe to the capital stock of the Mad
River and Lake Erie Rail Road, and that the Auditor have

said proclamation published in three newspapers published

in Findley, until the April election. The returns of said

election was made and counted and certified as follows

:

Washington j
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On the 11th day of April, 1845, the Commissioners, in

their corporate capacity, subscribed to the Capital stock of

the Mad River and Lake Erie Rail Road Company, twelve

hundred shares, of fifty dollars a share, making in all, the

sum of sixty thousand dollars. Wilson Vance, William

Taylor, John Patterson and William L. Henderson were ap-

pointed agents to meet with the Railroad Company, and they

were authorized to employ a special messenger to go to

Perrysburg to get the bonds printed in a neat manner, at as

reasonable a compensation as they can agree upon.

On the 22d of April, 1815, the Commissioners, in special

session, issued bonds for the sum of thirty thousand dollars,

payable to the Mad River and Lake Erie Rail Road Com-

pany, as first payment of sixty thousand dollars subscribed-

At the June session of the Commissioners, John Ewing and

Jacob Barnd were added to the Rail Road Commissioners.

On the 11th day of September, 1815, the County Com-

missioners subscribed three hundred shares, amounting to

fifteen thousand dollars, in addition to the sixty thousand

dollars already subscribed. At the same time. Squire Car-

lin was appointed Rail Road Commissioner in place of Jacob

Barnd, deceased.

On the 19th day of August, 1846, the Mad River and

Lake Erie Rail Road Company accepted the subscription of

seventy-five thousand dollars, and agreed to build the road.

On the 22d day ot September, 1846, the Commissioners of

the County appointed John Ewing, John Patterson and

Hiram Smith Commissioners to manage the construction of

the road.

The road, however, was not completed and put in opera-

tion, until the latter part of December, 1849. This road,

commencing at Findley, takes a south-easterly course,
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through Findley, Marion and Amanda ToAvnships, to Carey,

Wyandotte County. It crosses the Blanchard River in Ma-

rion Township. This road is about sixteen miles in length,

and was originally constructed on a cheap plan. The iron

rails were simply strap iron, or flat iron, as it was termed,

laid on stringers, placed lengthwise on the road-bed. In

this condition it remained for many years, always paying large

dividends to the company, but furnishing very inferior accom-

dations to the county.

Finally, however, by an arrangement entered into, be-

tween the officers of the road and the County Commission-

ers, the company agreed to and did repair the road, lay the

track with " T " rails, and build a passenger house at Find-

ley. The road now is in first class condition, except the

rolling stock, which, as a general thing, is such as is deemed

unfit for use on the main line, and of course- is of a very

unsatisfactory quality.

In 1853, at the time the Dayton and Michigan Rail Road

project was under consideration, it was supposed, and per-

haps promised, that Findley should be one of the points on

the route, and our people became enthusiastic over the mat-

ter. In July, 1853, the Commissioners of the County sub-

scribed one hundred thousand dollars to the capital stock of

the company. A preliminary survey was made of the line^

and we felt reasonably sure of the road. In this we were

disappointed. The management, for some reason, selected

a route farther west, missing our county entirely, and thu&

ended this rail road project, so far as Hancock County was

concerned. The road was built on a line further west, and

has proved a paying investment, a good business road, but

no more so than it would have been, had the route through
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our county been chosen. And the road would have been of

immense advantage to us.

About this time, and perhaps not until after it was defi-

nitely settled that we were not to have the Dayton and

Michigan Road, a project to build a road from Fremont, in

Sandusky County, to Union City, a town on the line of Ohio

and Indiana, by way of Findley and Lima began to be agi-

tated. Henry Brown, Esq., then Editor of the "Hancock

Courier," of Findley, taking the lead in the matter, and set-

ting forth in glowing terms the advantage to be derived from

such a line of road. Finally the matter took form, and a

Company was organized, and chartered under the name of

the "Fremont and Indiana Rail Road Company," to con-

struct a road from Fremont, Ohio, to Union City, on the

Indiana line, by way of Findley and Lima. A survey of

the route was made, which was decided to be practicable.

Subscription books were opened, and stock readily sub-

scribed. The principal stock-holders in Findley, were Judge

Corey, S. and P. Carliu and Bass Rowson. Judge Corey

and Squire Carlin were Directors. After much delay, caused

by the difficulty in collecting subscriptions, and inability to

procure iron, the road was not completed to Findley until

186L About this time, the company became embarrassed,

and the road was sold. The purchasers organized a new
company, under the name of the " Fremont, Lima & Union

Rail Road Company," and this company, in 1865, consoli-

dated with the Lake Erie & Pacific Rail Road Company,

under the name of the Lake Erie & Louisville R. R. Com-
pany, but the road was not completed and operated to Lima

until the winter of 1873, perhaps. From that time until

1878, the road was operated, most of the time, in the hands

of a Receiver.
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At this time, however, some shrewd eastern capitalists

seeing the advantage of such a line, bought the road, and at

once set themselves to work to develop its resources. They
extended the line from Celina, in Mercer County, Ohio, to

Muncie, Indiana, thus making good western connections?

also connecting with Chicago. The name of the road was

changed to that of Lake Erie &: Western, the better to ex-

press its intentions. Connections were sought and obtained

w'ith St. Louis. The road was extended from Fremont to

Sandusky City, on Lake Erie, and to-day this is regarded as

a "Trunk Line," and its business has brought it well up to

the front.

This road enters the county at Fostoria, in Section one,

Washing-ton Township, thence runs a south-west direction,

passing through the Townships of Washing-ton, Cass, Ma-
rion, Findley, Liberty, Eagle, Union and Orange, crossing

into Allen County, at Bluffton. There is about twenty-five

miles of the road in Hancock County, and its business at

Findley and other points, amounts to many thousands of

dollars.

The citizens of McComb and vicinity, having been several

times disappointed in their expectations of the completion of

the Continental Road, which had been graded through their

town, conceived the idea of building a line of road to inter-

sect the Dayton & Michigan at Deshler, about eight miles

distant, went to work earnestly in the matter, and having

made satisfactory arrangements wdth the Dayton & Michi-

gan, organized a company to construct the McComb and

Deshler Railroad. The work was pushed rapidly forward

and the road completed in January, 1881. About four miles

of this road is in Hancock County.

The old Continental line has been bought up by eastern
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capitalists, and under the name of the New York, Chicogo &
St. Louis Railway, is being pushed forward to completion.

This line runs directly across the northern tier of towships,

and when completed, will have about twenty-five miles of

road within Hancock County.
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CHAPTER XIV.

COMMON SCHOOLS.

WE cannot give even the approximate cost of the schools

of the county a half century ago, or the number of

youth within school age. We can very safely conclude,

however, that the number of the one, and the amount of

the other was not large. The schools at that early day

were supported by subscription, and not by money raised by

taxation. It is not probable that the costs of the school

was very great, as we now count the cost. The school

buildings were the rude log cabins, as rudely furnished, and

the teachers were of very limited acquirements, and of but

little experience in the management of schools. The books

used were in very many instances utterly unfit for the use

of children as text books in schools. There was no system,

and very little method in conducting these schools, and

perhaps, the only wonder is that pupils learned anything at

all, or that the schools were not a positive evil, instead of a

benefit.

Yet under all these difficulties, and want of almost every

thing intended to render the school life of the pupil not

only bearable, but attractive, much, very much progress was

made in the acquirement of a common school education.

Indeed many, and in fact almost all the older men and

women of the county, never had other than just such train-

ing.
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But such was tlie perseverance and the determination of

the boys and girls of that day in the pursuit of knowledge

under so many discouraging surroundings, that the educa-

tion thus obtained, has enabled them to go successfully

through life, managing their own affairs, and in many in-

stances those of the public as well, with intelligence an

success.

A great change has transpired. The friends of popular

education have been able to frame and put into successful

operation, a common school system, which for universal

good, is second to that of no other State in the Union.

Free schools—common schools—such as the intelligence of

Ohio men have brought into existence, and such as Ohio

laws foster and protect, have done more to make us a great,

prosperous and happy people, than any other blessing be-

stowed upon us.

Hancock County has not been slow in appreciating this

fact, and in availing herself of the present and lasting ben-

efits which attend it. This is fully proven by a glance at

the school statistics relating to this county. And no surer

indication of our prosperity can be produced than that

which becomes evident in an examination of these statistics.

For it is not possible that a community, which so generally

avails itself of the provisions of so good a law, should be

other than prosperous and happy.

In 1880 the enumeration of youth of school age, in the

county, was nine thousand, two hundred and ten (9,210),

or about forty per cent, of the entire population. Of this

number seven thousand, seven hundred and forty-eight were

enrolled in the diflferent schools of the county, during the

school-year.

To accomodate this small army of boys and girls, there
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are one hundred and forty-nine school buildings, containing

one hundred and seventy-five school rooms. The cost of

these buildings is put down at one hundred and eighty-five

thousand dollars ($185,000). For the instruction of these

children there were one hundred and seventy-six teachers

employed, at a cost of thirty-eight thousand, two hundred

and ninety-four dollars and ninety-eight cents ($38,294.98).

The total receipts of school money during the year was

ninety-six thousand, nine hundred and seventy-seven dollars

and seventy-one cents, and the total expenditures were fifty-

six thousand, eight hundred and four dollars and sixty-eight

cents.

Large as these amounts really are, what is that compared

with the intelligence which is diflused ? What is that com-

pared to the preparing of the young for useful and law-

abiding citizens ? What is that compared with the comfort

and happiness that may attend each individual recipient, if

properly used.

Hancock County has good reason to be proud of her two

hundred school buildings, of her well regulated school

rooms, in many instances furnished with the most approved

school apparatus, and all the modern appliances which tend

to make the acquirement of an education a pleasure rather

than a task. These incipient colleges—the poor man's col-

leges—are scattered all over the county, but conveniently

accessable to all. Places where the children of the poor

can meet on an equality with the children of the rich,

where all may have an equal opportunity of mastering a

common school education, without money and without any

other price than that of industry and close application.

Yes, the common school system of Ohio is fraught with

innumerable blessings, designed as it is for the benefit of all
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who see proper to avail themselves of its provisions. It is

not perfect, perhaps, but may the hand of no quack Legis-

tor ever be laid upon it to mar its present fair proportions,

and fasten upon it \h^ foul sores of political legislation.

May no change ever be allowed, except a change for the

better.
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CHAPTER XV.

SOME OTHER THINGS OF INTEREST.

UNDER the old judicial system of the State, Administra-

tors of the estates of deceased persons were ap-

pointed by the xAssociate Judges of the County, and upon

the decease of an individual seized of an estate, it was

necessary to call a special session of the court, in order to

appoint an Administrator. This was certainly very incon-

venient, and at this day would be very expensive.

The first record we find of such a session of court in this

county, was one held on the 19thday of March, 1829, at Find-

ley, by Judges Huff, McKinnis and Wilson. At that time,

William Taylor was appointed Administrator of the estate

of John Patterson, deceased. His sureties were Job Cham-

berlain, sr.^ and John Boyd. The whole amount of money

coming into the hands of the xAdministrator from the sale

of both real and personal property, was $869.50, quite an

estate for that early day, and Mr. Patterson was regarded

as one of the wealthy men of the county.

In looking over the items of the settlement, we find the

administrator has a credit of two dollars, for two days ser-

vices as administrator. This was certainly a novel way of

getting pay for such services, to say nothing of the very

moderate charge made. The attorneys, for procuring sale

of land, and advsing in the settlement of the estate,

were allowed five dollars. No doubt the heirs and the
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creditors of the estate in those days received larger divi-

dends, than many of that class do at the present.

The first will recorded, was prohated in March, 1830,

and in this day of brevity in such matters, it may be of

interest to mention the introduction to this will as it ap-

pears on record, which we will do, omitting the name of the

testator.

" In the name of God, Amen. I ***** ^f

Hancock County, State ef Ohio, being sick and weak in

body, but of sound mind, memory and understanding,

(praised be God for it,) and considering the certainty of

death, and the uncertainty of the time thereof, and to the

end I may be better prepared to leave this world whenever

it may please God to call me home, do therefore make and

declare this my last will and testament in manner follow-

ing, (that is to say) first and principally I commend my
soul into the hands of Almighty God, my Creator, praying

for free pardon, and remission of all my sins, and to enjoy

everlasting happiness in the Heavenly Kingdom through

Jesus Christ my Savior. My body I commit to the earth,

at the discretion of my executor hereafter named."

Then follows the several items of the will all as properly,

and at the same time as specifically expressed, as is the

foregoing. Indeed, in looking over the records of wills of

that day, we are impressed with the certainty of the lan-

guage of every bequest. No ambiguity, no looseness of

expression on which a law suit might hinge, no possible

chance for litigation and fat fees. No wasting of the estate

in determinig the intentions of the party, but all is plain

and to the point.

In the early history of the county, a noted Wyandotte

Chief, known as Sum-un-du-wat, w^as well known in this
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county, having made so many incursions here—by almost

every man, woman and child in the settlements. He was a

christian Indian, brave, generous and kind, and was not

only honored by his tribe, but was respected by the pale

faces for his honesty and bravery. This noble red man was

most foully, murdered near Napoleon, in Henry County.

The event created a most profound sensation, and for some

time there seemed to be danger of an outbreak amongst the

Indians, to avenge this most fiendish killing of Sum-un-du-

wat, and his daughter and her husband, for they were all

three murdered at the same time and by the same men.

Without a moment's warning they were slain by those who
were receiving their hospitality.

On my visit to the Eberleys, in Wood County, of which

I have before spoken, Mr. Eberly, a pioneer of the county,

related to me the circumstances of the murder. Mr. Eber-

ly's statement was substantially as follows

:

"Sum-un-du-wat, daughter and her husband were mur-

dered near Napoleon, in Henry County, by John Anderson

and James Lyons, who lived near Portage, in Wood County.

Anderson lived with me at the time. Sum-un-du-wat and

party had been in our neighborhood for some days, and

Anderson had tried to buy or trade for a favorite dog of the

Indians, but without success. He made the declaration

that he would have the dog before another week passed.

He and Lyons followed the party to near Napoleon, where

by the direction of one John Ellsworth, who resided about

six miles west of Portage, they committed the bloody mur-

der. They got all the money of which Sum-un-du-wat was

possessed, which Snake-bone and other Chiefs, declared was

about six hundred dollars; also, seven ponies, a lot of furs

and dogs. They returned to the house of Lyons, a little
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west of Portage, where they concealed the ponies and all

of the dogs, except the fa.vorite one, which Anderson ap-

propriated as his own, and although the dog was seen in his

company, no one suspected that he had obtained it other

than by fair means.

" In the excitement after the murder, one of the ponies

escaped fi-om the boys, and wandered to the camp of Snake-

bone and his party. On being followed it returned to the

place where the murdered Indians lay. The alarm was

given, and Snake-bone and his party followed the trail to

Portage, where they found and arrested Anderson and

Lyons.

"The former was at church in the village. The Indians

surrounded the building and captured him as he came out.

The prisoners were conducted to Napoleon, where a prelim-

inary examination was had, and the parties were commited

to jail, but afterwards made their escape, and were never

punished. At the trial, Anderson turned States evidence,

and related the story of the murder. He stated that they

stayed with the party three days before they met with a

favorable opportunity to commit the hellish deed. When
the Indians arrested Lyons, they found all the dogs belong-

ing to them, under the floor of Lyon's house. The boys

said that Ellsworth induced them to commit the murder,

and after it was done, advised them to let him have the

money until the excitement should pass over, and then they

would divide. But the old scoundrel took the money and

fled the country.

" Sum-un-du-wat was about sixty years of age. Snake-

bone, in his endeavors to find the murders, wat three days

and nights on the trail, and such were his exertions, that he

broke dow-n from their effects, and died shortly after."



Murder of Sicm-un-dii-wat. 105

It was thus that another crime was committed towards a

people, who were as often a friend as an enemy. It was but

another exhibition of that devilish disposition, possessed by

some, to cruelly treat the weak and unprotected, to shield

themselves behind a general feeling of hostility towards a

people, and commit acts of persecution and murder even,

on individuals, who are entitled to, and deserve the greatest

consideration at their hands. No one could truthfully point

to a single act of cruelty or hostility by Sum-un-du-wat to-

wards any white man, on the contrary, he had been the

friend of the whites, and had rendered them many valuable

services.

8
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CHAPTER XVI.

OUR ASSOCIATES IN THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF OHIO, IN SENA-

TORIAL AND REPRESENTATIVE DISTRICTS.

THE reader will remember that from the organization of

the county in 1820. preliminary only, until the time of

its separate and independent organization in 1828, we were

attached to, and for all municipal purposes were a part of

Wood County. This being the fact, then in the name of

Wood County, in the following list of Senators and Repre-

sentatives up to 1828, will be included Hancock County.

The following table shows with what counties we have

been connected, both in the election of State Senators and

Representatives to the General x\ssembly of Ohio.

In 1821, the Senatorial District of which we were a

part was composed of the counties of Champaign, Clark,

Logan and Wood. Senator, James Cooley.

Representative District—The counties of Logan and

Wood. Representative, John Shelby.

In 1823, Senatorial District—The counties of Logan,

Clark and Wood. Senator, George Fethian.

Representative District—The counties of Logan and

Wood. Representative. John Shelby.

In 1824, Senatorial District—The counties of Logan,

Hardin and Wood. Senator, Robert Young.

Representative District—The counties of Logan, Hardin

and Wood. Representative, John Shelby.
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In 1825, Senatorial District—The counties of Miami,

Shelby, Allen, Logan, Hardin and Wood. Senator. Robert

Young.

Representative District—The counties of Logan, Hardin

and Wood. Representative, John Shelby.

In 1826, Senatorial District—The counties of Miami,

Shelby, Logan and Wood. Senator, Daniel M. Workman.
Representative District—The counties of Logan, Hardin

and Wood. Representative, John Shelby.

In 1827, Senatorial District—The counties of Miami,

Logan, Shelby and Wood. Senator, Daniel M. Workman.
Representative District—The counties of Logan and

Wood. Representative, John Shelby,

In 1828, Senatorial District—The counties of Sandusky,

Seneca, Wood and Hancock. Senator, David Campbell.

Representative District—The counties of Sandusky,

Seneca, Wood and Hancock. Representative, Samuel M.
Lockwood.

In 1829, Senatorial District—The counties of Sandusky,

Seneca, Wood and Hancock. Senator, David Campbell.

Representative District—The counties of Sandusky,

Seneca, Wood and Hancock. Representative, Samuel M.
Lockwood.

In 1830, Senatorial District—The counties of Sandusky,

Seneca, Wood and Hancock. Senator, David Campbell.

Representative District—The counties of Sandusky,

Seneca, Wood and Hancock. Representative, Josiah

Hedges.

In 1831, Senatorial District—The counties of Huron,

Sandusky, Seneca, Wood and Hancock. Senator, S. M.
Lockwood.

Representative District—The counties of Sandusky,
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Seneca, Wood and Hancock. Representative, Henry J.

Harmon.

In 1832, Senatorial District—The counties of Huron,

Sandusky, Seneca, Wood and Hancock. Senator, Daniel

J. Tilden.

Representative District—The counties of Seneca, San-

dusky, Wood and Hancock. Representative, James L.

Everett.

In 1833, Senatorial District—The counties of Huron,

Sandusky, Seneca, Wood and Hancock, Senator, Daniel

Tilden.

Representative District—The counties of Seneca, San-

dusky, Wood and Hancock. Representative, James L.

Everett.

In 1831, Senatorial District—The counties of Logan,

Hardin, Hancock, Union and Madison. Senator, Samuel

Newell.

Representative District—The counties of Sandusky,

Seneca, Crawford and Hancock. Representative, James

Hubbard.

In 1835, Senatorial District—The counties of Madison,

Union, Logan, Hardin and Hancock. Senator, Samuel

Newell.

Representative District—The counties of Seneca, San-

dusky, Wood and Hancock. Representative, James Hub-

bard.

In 1836, Senatorial District—The counties of Madison,

Union, Logan, Hardin and Hancock. Senator, Samuel

Newell.

Representative District—The counties of Sandusky,

Seneca, Wood and Hancock. Representative, W. B. Craig-

hill.
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In 1837, Senatorial District—The counties of Hancock,

Lucas, Wood and Henry. Senator, John E. Hunt.

Representative District—The counties of Hancock, Sen-

eca and Wood. Representative, W. B. Craighill.

In 1838, Senatorial District—The counties of Lucas,

Wood, Henry, Hancock, Van Wert, Allen, Shelby and

Hardin. Senator, Curtis Bates.

Representative District—Sandusky, Seneca and Han-

cock. Representative, Samuel Treat.

In 1839, Senatorial District—The counties of Lucas,

Wood, Henry, Hancock, Van Wert, Allen, Shelby and

Hardin. Senator, Curtis Bates.

Representative District— Seneca, Sandusky and Han-

cock. Representative, John Welsh.

In 1840, Senatorial District—The counties of Hancock,

W^ood, Lucas, Henry, Williams, Paulding, Putnam, Van
Wert, Allen, Hardin and Shelby. Senator, John E. Hunt.

Representative District—Hancock, Sandusky Seneca,

Wood and Ottowa. Representatives, Moses McAnnelly

and Amos E. Wood.

In 1841, Senatorial District—The counties of Seneca,

Sandusky, Wood, Ottawa and Hancock. vSenator, John

Goodin.

Representative District—Seneca, Wood, Hancock and

Ottowa. Representatives, Amos E. Wood and George W.
Baird.

In 1843, Senatorial District—The counties of Seneca,

Sandusky, Wood, Ottawa and Hancock. Senator, Moses

McAnnelly.

Representative District—Seneca, Sandusky, Hancock,

Wood and Ottawa. Representatives, Wm. B. Craighill and

Samuel Waggoner.
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lu 1844:, Senatorial District—Tiie counties of Sandusky,

Seneca, Hancock and Crawford. Senator, Amos E. Wood.

Representative District—Wood, Lucas, Hancock and

Ottowa. Representative, Elijah Huntington.

In 1845, Senatorial District—The counties of Lucas,

Wood, Hancock and Ottawa. Senator, Charles W. O'Neal.

Representative District—Hancock, Wood, Lucas and

Ottowa. Representative, Lyman Parker.

In 184G, Senatorial District—The counties of Hancock,

Lucas, Wood and Ottowa, Senator, Jesse Wheeler.

Representative District—Wood, Lucas, Hancock and

Ottowa. Representative, John McMahan.

In 1817, vSenatorial District—The counties of Hancock,

Lucas, Wood and Ottowa, Senator, Jesse Wheeler.

R,epresentative District—Wood, Lucas, Hancock and

Ottowa. Representative, Emory D. Potter.

In 1848, Senatorial District—The counties of Lucas,

Henry, Wood, Hancock, Sandusky and Ottowa. Senator,

James Myers.

Representative District—Hancock and Wyandotte. Rep-

resentative, M. C. Whiteley.

In 1849, Senatorial District—The counties of Seneca,

Hancock and Wyandotte. Senator, Joel W. Wilson.

Representative District—Hancock and Wyandotte. Rep-

resentative, M. C. Whiteley.

In 1850, Senatorial District—The counties of Seneca,

Hancock and Wyandotte. Senator, Michael Brackley.

Representative District—Hancock and Wyandotte. Rep-

resentative, Henry Bishop.

In 1852, Senatorial District—The counties of Hancock,

Wood, Lucas, Putnam, Fulton and Henry. Senator, Wil-

liam Mungen.
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Representative District—Hancock. Representative, Hen-

ry Bishop.

lu 1854:, Senatorial District—The counties of Hancock,

Wood, Lucas, Fulton, Henry and Putnam. Senator, Sam-

uel H. Steedman.

Representative District—Hancock. Representative, John

F. Perkey.

In 1856, Senatorial District—The counties of Hancock,

Wood, Lucas, Fulton, Henry and Putnam. Senator, W. S.

Lunt.

Representative District—Hancock. Representative, Par-

lee Carlin.

In 1858, Senatorial District—The counties of Hancock,

Wood, Lucas, Fulton, Henry and Putnam. Senator, Josiah

K. Wescott.

Representative District—Hancock. Representative, John

Wescott.

In 1860, Senatorial District—The counties of Hancock,

Wood, Lucas, Putnam, Fulton and Henry. Senator, George

Laskey.

Representative District—Hancock. Representative, John

Wescott.

In 1862, Senatorial District—The counties of Hancock,

Wood, Lucas, Fulton, Henry and Putnam. Senator, Charles

M, Godfrey.

Representative District—Hancock. Representative, Wm.
Gribben.

In 1864, Senatorial District—The counties of Lucas,

Wood, Hancock, Fulton, Henry and Putnam. Senator,

James C. Hall.

Representative District—Hancock. Representative, Par-

lee Carlin.
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In 1866, Senatorial District—The counties of Putnam,

Lucas, Hancock, Fulton, Henry and Wood. Senators, Par-

lee Carlin and James C. Hall.

Representative District—Hancock. Representative, Isaac

Cusae.

In 1868, Senatorial District—The counties of Wood,

Lucas, Hancock, Fulton, Henry and Putnam. Senators,

James C. Hall and Abel M. Cory.

Representative District—Hancock. Representative, Isaac

Cusae.

In 1870, Senatorial District—The counties of Fulton,

Lucas, Wood, Hancock, Henry and Putnam. Senator,

Abel M. Cory.

Representative District—Hancock. Representacive, A.

B. Shafer.

In 1872, Senatorial District—The counties of Putnam,

Henry, Fulton, Lucas, Wood and Hancock. Senators, D.

W. II. Howard and Hanks P. Gage.

Representative District—Hancock. Representative, Chas.

Oesterlin.

In 1874, Senatorial District—The counties of Henry,

Putnam, Hancock, Wood, Lucas and Fulton. Senators, E.

D. Potter and W. A. Tressler.

Representative District—Hancock. Representative, Wm.
M. McKinley.

In 1876, Senatorial District—The counties of Hancock,

Wood, Lucas, Fulton, Henry and Putnam. Senators,

Charles J. Swan and T. P. Brown.

Representative District—Hancock. Representative, Alex.

Phillips.

In 1878, Senatorial District—The counties of Lucas,
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Hancock, Wood, Putnam, Fulton and Henry. Senators,

David Joy and James B. Steadman.

Representative District-Hancock. Representative, Henry

Sheets.

In 1880, Senatorial District—The counties of Henry,

Lucas, Fulton, Wood, Putnam and Hancock. Senator, W.

A. Wilkins.

Representative District—Hancock. Representative, W.

H. Wheeler.

I am indebted to Hon. W. H. Wheeler for nearly all of

this chapter.
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CHAPTER XVIL

MATTERS OF INTEREST, IN BRIEF PARxiGRAPHS.

AT a session of the Court of Common Pleas, in and for

the County of Wood—Hancock being then a part of said

county—the court being held at Maumee, in 1820, "Wilson

Vance was appointed Surveyor of Wood County."

At a session of the same court, held in May, 1822, "Wil-

son Vance was licensed to keep a tavern in Findley for one

year. The court fixed the price at five dollars per annum."

At the October terra, 1824, of said court, the following

entry was made on the court records : '^The Commission-

ers appointed to establish the seat of Justice in the County

of Hancock, in the State of Ohio, report that they have se-

lected the town of Findley, in said County of Hancock, as

the most suitable site for the seat of Justice of said coun-

ty, as per their report on file in the otfice of the Clerk of

this Court."

This Commission was appointed under the provisions of

the Act of the General Assembly, as follows :

" Resolved, By the General Assembly of the State of

Ohio, that John Owens, of the County of Champaign,

Alexander Long, of the County of Logan, Forest Meeker,

of the County of Delaware, be and they are hereby ap-

pointed Commisioners, to locate and fix the seat of Justice,

in and for the County of Hancock, February 2d, 1824."

I find this record under the date of January, 1825 : "Fin-
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ley, January 11th, 1825. This is to certify, that on the

second day of September, in the year 1824, Samuel Kepler,

of Williams County, and Rachel McKinnis, of Hancock

County, were legally joined in marriage by me. a Justice of

the Peace, in and for the County of Hancock, and Township

of Finley. Given under my hand,

WILSON VANCE, J. P."

This was, undoubtedly, the first marriage in the county.

At all events, it is the first of record in both Hancock and

Wood Counties. Mrs. Kepler, who was one of the parties

in interest, is still living. Many of her relations are resi-

dents of this county.

It might be of interest in this connection to give the

dates of some others of these old-time weddings—matters

of quite as much importance at that day—simple as were

the ceremonies, and plain as were the accompaniments, as

are the gorgeous displays made on such occasions at the

present day. But to the record

:

May 4th, 1826, Jacob Moreland and Sarah Poe, by

Robert McKinnis, J: P.

September 14th, 1826, Asa M. Lake and Charlotte

Greer, by Joshua Hedges, J. P.

March 12th, 1827, William Moreland and Julia Cham-

berlain, by Joshua Hedges, J. P.

August 24th, 1827. Sampson Dildine and Sarah High-

land, by Joshua Hedges, J. P.

November 1st, 1827, John Gardner and Susan Moreland,

by William Hackney, J. P.

December 20th, 1827, Philip MeKinnis and Susan

Dukes, by Joshua Hedges, J. P.

When we are told that many of these parties went miles

through the forests, traveling the narrow paths—for roads



116 History of Hancock Conn ty.

there were none—on horseback, bride and groom both on

same horse—all alone perhaps, in search of the man of law,

who was authorized to say the words, that would make them

one (?) and that afterwards a home must be hewn out of

the forests, and that life—even married life was real—we

can easily imagine that there were no extended wedding

tours, no idle honeymoons, no rounds of gaiety—except,

perhaps, the country dance at the infare, as it was called.

And yet they lived, and loved and prospered. They enjoyed

life, always looking on the bright side.

"On the 4th day of June, 1832, Thomas F. Johnston,

Auditor, resigned, and the Commissioners appointed Joseph

C. Shannon to fill vacancy. Johnston, late Auditor, was

allowed forty dollars for extra services."

At the session of the Commissioners held in December,

1831, they sold to Rev. Peter Monfest, lot number 105,

(first lot east of Commercial House,) and lot number 148,

(now owned by John L. Downing,) for forty-three dollars

and twenty-five cents, payable on the first day of April

1832.

The Commissioners, at their December session, in 1834,

appointed Parlee Carlin, Recorder of Hancock County, un-

til the next annual election in October.

The records are silent as to the causes which made it

necessary to appoint a Recorder.

The first case of contested elections, of which we have

notice, in the records of the county, is the one indicated in

the following notice, which seems to have been served on

the Clerk of the Court

:

" To the Clerk of Hancock County. You are requested

to withhold the returns of the election of Union Township,

wherein Wenman Wade was elected Justice of the Peace,
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and the election is contested, and said contest is to be tried

on the 13th of September, 1838.

WM. ROLLER.
Associate Judge."

The Commissioners of Wood County, at their session in

December, 1820, ordered that the " Road from Ft. Meigs,

or the foot of the rapids of the Maumee of the Lake, to

Bellefontaiue, be opened."

And at their session March 4th, 1822, this order was

made :
" Ordered by the Board that the Township of

Waynesfield, within the jurisdiction of the County of Wood,

be co-extensive with the boundaries of Wood and Hancock,

and to include the same."

June 6th, 1826, the Commissioners of Wood County,

" Ordered that four hundred dollars of road fund be appor-

tioned to Hancock County, to be expended on the Urbana

road, in said county."

The first order for printing so far as the records show,

was made at the December session, 1836, of the Commis-

sioners, and reads thus :
" Ordered that Jacob Rosenberg

print sixteen hundred county orders, for sixteen dollars, in

Hancock County orders, to be issued when the orders are

struck." »

It was also ordered at the same session, " That a war-

ranty deed be made to Jacob Foster and Daniel Foster for

in-lot No. 64 ; also, to William Taylor, for in-lots numbered

8 and 156."

It appearing that no record of land entries in the county

had been kept in any of the county offices, and the County

Commissioners believing such a record a necessity, we find

in their proceedings, in 1839, this entry: " It was ordered

that some suitable person go to each of the Land Offices in
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this Land Office District, and procure a duplicate of all

lands entered in the county up to this date, with the names

of the original enterers, the date of entry, the description,

quantity, township and range, was ordered to be set up to

the lowest bidder at public outcry. Whereupon, the same

being cried in the presence of the Commissioners, it was

cried off to Jacob Rosenberg, he being the lowest bidder,

for the sum of thirty-nine dollars."

We find another order for county printing, this time, June

7th, 1842, and in this, as in the former one, the Commis-

sioners fix the price. It was " Ordered that the Auditor of

Hancock County, have the receipts and expenditures of said

county, published in the Courier, providing he can get it

done at the rate of 87^ cents per square, in a condensed

form, if not, have it posted up as the law directs."

We have about this time a recorded specimen of how

easy, and how quickly, an officer may resign, when he

makes up his mind so to do. That the officer in question

was in earnest no one doubted, and his resignation was ac-

cepted. "To Aquilla Gilbert, George Shaw and Andrew

Rickets, Commissioners of Hancock County, Gentlemen:

I hereby resign to you my office of Auditor of Hancock

County, Ohio. You will therefore now consider said office

vacant from this moment.

Yours with respect,

W. L. HENDERSON."
As soon as the Commissioners could recover from their

sudden surprise, and comprehend the full meaning of the

letter, they proceeded at once not only to receive the resig-

nation so suddenly thrust upon them, but also to fill the va-

cancy, which they did by appointing James H. Barr until the

first day of March next ensuing.
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The Commissioners, on the 3d day of March, 1846, au-

thorized Frederick Henderson to procure a suitable bell for

the Court House, the original cost of which should not ex-

ceed two hundred and fifty dollars, and have the same

placed in the cupola of the Court House.

In July, 1830, the Commissioners " Ordered the sale of

cutting out the road—Bellefontaine to Perrysburg, and Find-

ley to Defiance—thirty-two feet wide. All timber twenty

inches in circumference to cut out, and the ground to be

cleared of all timber."
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CHAPTER XVIII.

MURDERS AND MURDER TRIALS.

ALTHOUGH uo less than six meu have been indicted

and tried for the crime of murder, in some form or

other, in this county, yet no one has ever been convicted ot

or sufiered the extreme penalty of the law for murder in

the first degree. In other words, no one has ever been

legally hanged in Hancock County. Some of the cases

seemed to be of the most aggravated kind, but by some de-

fect in the law, or in the judgment of the jury, no verdict

was ever rendered, calling for capital punishment. The

county has now been organized for more than sixty years,

and but six trials have been had for murder, three of which

have occured wdthin the last eight years.

In 184G, a horse was stolen in Hardin County, and the

thief was pursued through this county, several persons here

joining in the chase. Amongst them was John Parish, who

resided in Williamstown, in this county. Parish was a pow-

erfully built man, brave as a lion, and resolute in any under-

taking. At Van Buren the thief w'as overtaken, and so

hard pressed was he, that he left his horse and took to the

fields, about a mile beyond that village. Parish at once

dismounted and pursued him. Overtaking him in the field,

he closed in with him, finally overpowering him. He then

gave the signal for the others to approach, but while doing

so, the thief pulled his revolver and shot him dead, and
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made his escape. Afterward a man who gave his name as

Benjamin F. Dulin, was arrested, charged with being the

uumlerer. After laying in jail for some months, he had a

preliminary hearing before the Associate Judges of the Com-

mon Pleas Court. A. large number of witnesses were pres

ent from Lake and Geagua Counties, in the interest of the

prisoner, and he succeeded in proving an alibi and was dis-

charged. It was, however, pretty generally believed that

Dulin was the murderer. The prosecution was conducted

bv the late Abel F. Parker, who was then Prosecuting At-

toruey, assisted by Aaron H. Bigelow. The prisoner was

defended by Judge M. C. Whiteley and Wm. M. Patterson.

The real murder, if Dulin was not, was never known.

WILLIAM FOSTER.

At the November term of court, in 1856, William Foster,

who lived in Jackson Township, was indicted for murder in

the second degree, for the killing of his son, Andrew. The

facts in the case, as related by Judge Whitely, who defend-

ed Foster at the trial, were about these: Foster was of

weak mind, irritable, and easily influenced by others. He
had married a second time, the mother of Andrew beino"

dead. The boy was about fifteen years old, and he and his

step-mother could not agree, and all misconduct, or sup-

posed misconduct of the boy, was reported to his father,

who became excited, and without inquiry, would punish the

boy severely. It seemed that the boy was possessed of a

morbid appetite, apparently, his hunger was never appeased.

He would get up in the night, even, and seek food.

On one occasion, some food, which had been prepared the

night before, was found to have been taken during the night.

Its loss was charged to Andrew, and his father in a rage,

made an assault upon him. The boy was afterwards found
9
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terribly bruised, and injured in loins and back. From these

wounds he afterwards died, and his father w^as arrested, in-

dicted and tried for the killing.

Judge Whitely says that it did not certainly appear on

the trial, just who did inflict the w'ounds, as some evidence

tended to show that the step-mother had also taken a part

in the assault. At the April term, in 1856, the following

jury were empannelled, before w'hom Foster was tried

:

Lower Walters, William Moffat, Peter Byal, Benjamin Dud-

ley, Richard Wall. Samuel Ramsey, Hugh Boyles, Samuel

Knowlen, Perry Edgington, John Boyles, Samuel Huifman,

Eli Paxon. YerfWct^ Manslaughter. Sentence, five years

in the Penitentiary at hard labor. After about two years

service, Foster died.

The trial was conducted on the part of the State by Wil-

liam Gribben, Prosecuting Attorney, assisted by W^illiam

Mungen, the defense by M. C. Whitely and Andrew Cotiin-

berry.

In 1868, there lived in Fiudley, a man by the nameof

x\dam Conkle, whose wife was not of the Mrs. Ceaser kind-

above suspicion—and it was alleged that she had been fre-

quently visited by one James Winnell, a young man employed

about the offices in the court house, as copyist. He was

almost a stranger, and but little known of him, other than

that he w^as a dissipated rough.

These visits coming to the knowledge of Conkle, he

warned Winnell not to come near his house, nor to hold any

communication whatever with his wife, on penalty of being

killed. Winnell, whilst on one"of his sprees, in April, 1S68,

visited the residence of Conkle, who then resided in the frame

building on east Main Cross street, adjoining the residence

of James Robinson. Being apprised of his visit, Conkle
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immediately hurried home, and on ascending the stairs, found

Winnell and his wife in a room together. He of course,,

highly excited, commanded Winnell to leave, who no doubt

being afraid of bodily harm, seized a cavalry saber which

chanced to be in the room, assaulted Conkle, drove him from

the room, and made his escape down the stairway. There-

upon Conkle seized a loaded shotgun standing in the hall

and gave pursuit. Winnell fled across the lot in the rear of

the house, crossed into the alley known as Hyatt's Alley,

down which he made his way towards Main street, hotly

pursued by Conkle. When about two hundred feet east of

Main street, Winnell being closely pressed, turned upon

Conkle, with the saber which he still retained, when Conkle

fired at him, the charge entering near the left temple, caus-

ing instant death.

Conkle gave himself up, and after a Coroner's inquest was

held on the body of Winnell, had a preliminary hearing

before E. T. Dunn, Esq., who held him to answer to the

Grand Jury, in a bond of $1,500.

In October, 1868, the following named Grand Jury, to-

wit : Isaac Davis, B. Finch, Job Phillips, Adam Roth, J. H.

Wilson, Robert Crawford, Washington Martin, John Henry,

L. C. Groves, John Reed, Henry Bowers, John Palmer, Eli

Paxon, Samuel Creighton, and G. W. Galloway, returned a

true bill of indictment for murder in the second degree.

The trial was had in November, 1868, before Judge James

Pillars and the following jury : x^Varon Cole, Jacob Groul,

Jacob Thompson, Frederick Ernst, Samuel Mosier, Joseph

Helms, Joseph Morrell, A. S. Beek, Henry Bayless, Jacob

H. Loehr, Washington Eaton and Jacob Harris. The de-

fense was that the prisoner, at the time of killing, was act-
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ing in self-defense, having been attacked by Winnell with a

deadly weapon. Verdict of the jury, not guilty.

The prosecution was conducted by William H. Anderson,

now of North Baltimore, who was then Prosecuting Attor-

ney, assisted by A. B. Shafer. The defense was conducted

by Henry Brown, J. F. Burket and A. Blockford, of Findley,

and W. V. Layton, Wapakonetta. A great number of wit-

nesses were examined, and the case was closely tried, but

the verdict was generally regarded as a just one. Conkle

left the county at once, and has been lost sight of The

woman in the case, also left, before the day of trial, and has

never returned.

The town was shocked on the morning of February 3d,

1873, by the report that Jacob Gartee, a young man about

twenty years of age, and whose parents resided in the town,

had deliberately and in cold blood, murdered Nicholas Ben-

sing, residing on the farm of M. D. Shafer, Esq., just east

of town, on the Tiffin road. Sheriff Henry and Coroner

Karst, accompanied by Marshal Ruhl, had already, during

the night, been informed of the murder, it having occurred

early in the evening of the 2d of February, and were on the

spot, and before daylight of the 3d, had the murderer under

arrest.

The facts, as they w^ere afterwards developed, were sub-

stantially these : Gartee had been in the employof Bensing

for some time, chopping wood, and boarded in the family.

On the night of the murder, having armed himself with a

single barreled pistol, he gave notice at the supper table,

that he was going into town. Mrs. Bensing, the wife of the

murdered man, gave him a letter to mail, and he started, but

instead of going directly to town, he concealed himself in

the log barn in which the chickens were kept, where by cans-
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ing an alarm amongst the chickens, he induced Bensing to

approach, to ascertain the cause, and when within a few feet

of him, placed the pistol between the logs and fired, striking

Bensing in the breast, who retreated a few steps, fell and

expired just as his wife, who had been alarmed by the re-

port, could reach him. Gartee then ran doAvn the lane, and

across the fields, to the Tiffin road, near the residence of

Wm. Snyder, and thence to town.

After remaining in town a short time, he started to return

to Bensing's, but was met on the road by a messenger, who

informed him of Bensing's death, and a request that he return

to town, and inform the friends of the murdered man. (rartee

returned with the friends, and the otficers having become

convinced that Gartee was the murderer, boldly charged him

with the crime, which he admitted, and pointed out the place

where the pistol was secreted. He was immediately arrest-

ed and lodged in jail.

Ugly rumors were afloat that the wife of the murdered

man, was perhaps, a party to the crime, and the fact that the

prisoner and the murdered man were good friends, and had no

quarrel, and there being no apparent cause for the commis-

sion of so cold blooded a murder, gave some color to the

truth of these rumors. At the preliminary examination

held before D. B. Beardsley,. J. P., which was a most rigid

one, so far as Mrs. Bensing was concerned, no evidence sus-

taining the theory of her guilt was found. Gartee was com-

mitted without bail, for the crime of murder.

On the 2Sth of May, 1873, the Grand Jury, to-wit: Geo.

Heck, David Lee, William How^ard, Alfred Davis, Adam
Stineman, Jackson Currie, Simon Bushong, Anthony Hunt-

ington, Joseph Fleck, Elias Wilson, J. C. Brown, Eliab Has-
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sail, A. J. Bushong and Henry D. Taylor, returned an in-

dictment of murder in the first degree,

The case came up for trial, on a plea of not guilty, before

Judge Pillars, and a jury as follows: William Hartman,

Peter Hosier, Michael Glauner, David Bish, Alexander

Phillips, J. L. Hartman, Jacob Bushong, Daniel Hoy,

Charles S. Kelley, John Boyles, Henry Shuler and L. D,

Smith. The trial began on the 29th day of July, and occu-

pied about ten days. The plea for the defense was insanity.

The prosecution was conducted by Prosecuting Attorney

George F. Pendleton, and W. H. Anderson, and the prison-

er was defended by Henry Brown and ]\I. D. Shafer. Ver-

dict of the jury, "Murder in the Second Degree." The

prisoner was sentenced to the penitentiary for life, at which

place he died in less than a year from the time of his sen-

tence.

Orange Township, and all that part of the county, was

thrown into a state of the wildest excitement, on account of

the death by poison, of Mrs. Malissa Charles, wife of John

Charles, on the 6th day of June, 1876. This excitement

was intensified when it was known that Isaac B. Charles, a

brother of the husband of the deceased, had been arrested,

charged with the crime of murder. At the preliminary ex-

amination, before W. M. McKinley, Esq., as well as on the

final trial, the circumstances connected with the case, were

about as follows:

Mrs. Charles had made bread from flour purchased shortly

before at Ada, 0., and the family partaking of it, became

suddenly sick, eleven of them in all, and Mrs. Charles died

from its effects. The prosecution had two theories regard-

ing the matter. One w^as, that the tlour, after being pur-

chased at Ada, had remained in the wagon standing in an
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alley, while the family were at dinner, and that whilst there,

the sack had been opened by the prisoner, and poison intro-

duced, which showed its jn'esence in the bread.

The other theory was that the poison—arsenic—had been

placed in the yeast crock at the house of the murdered

woman, by Isaac B. Charles, whilst on a visit to the family,

and that the poison had been obtained from a quantity pur-

chased by John Charles, husband of the woman, for the

purpose of killing rats, and left in the room where the yeast

crock stood, which was a kind of up ground cellar.

The cause for the poisoning—for there appeared no ap-

parent one—was said to be found in the fact that, Isaac

B. Charles, having formerly been Treasurer of the village of

Ada, and about to become a defaulter, made. use of a large

sum of money belonging to the estate of his father, of

which estate he was the administrator, and now that a set-

tlement was tO' be made, formed the plan of murdering, by

poison or otherwise, all who stood between himself and the

balance of his father's fortune, and that the poisoning of

this family was but the first step in the plan.

An indictment for " Murder by Poison" was found on the

2Lst of October, 1876, by William Bright, Noah Spitler, S.

]M. F. Bame, W. H. Todd, John Wyant, Augustus Hortzie,

A. S. Beck, Isaac Cooper, S. B. Leonard, G. W. Ernst, Wil-

liam Ptussell, D. D. McCahon, Henry Rudisell, David Bibler

and Hugh Fellers. After much delay, and the interposition

of a number of motions, the case was finally tried in Jan-

uary, 1877, before Jf^udge Pillars, and a Jury, on general

plea of "Not Guilty." The Jury were Thomas H. Taylor,

Hugh McConnell, Abraham Overholtz, Oliver Powell, John

Haddox, William Anderson, Isnac Davis, E. C. Palmer,

Frederick Mack, Joseph Wilson, John Reed and John
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Cusae. Verdict, " Guilty of Murder in Second Degree/'

The prosecution was ably conducted by Henry Brown,

Prosecuting Attorney assisted by Frank H. Doughert}', of

Kenton, and AV. H. Whitely, of Findley, and the defense

was stubbornly made by A. Blackford, J. F. Basket and J.

H. Smick, of xUla. Charles was sentenced to the Peniten-

tiary for life, where he is now serving his sentence.

In 1^77 there lived in the village of Benton, Henry K.

Nott and Frank H. Knapp, both physicians, and both in

practice. Unfortunately there had sprung up bad feelings

between the two, the result, no doubt, ol professional jealousy,

and the over oliicious meddling by friends of both parties,

and although a great amount of brave talk and loud boast-

ings, as to what would be done, accompanied by ugly

threats, yet no one could believe that much else than a war

of words, or at the farthest, a little round at fisticuffs

would be the result. Imagine the consternation which

spread over the village, when the astounded inhabitants real-

ized that Dr. Knap[) had in l)road day light shot Dr. Nott

to death, in one of the streets of the village.

Dr. Knapp was at once arrested, taken before John Berg-

man, Esq., who at once remanded him to the jail of the

county to await the action of the Grand Jury. Intense ex-

citement prevailed, and the friends of the two unfortunate

men took sides, and for a time society was so torn up, that

almost everybody in the village, or who came to it, were

regarded with suspicion by one side or the other. The

killing was done on the 15th day of November, 1877, and

the court being then in session, a s])ecial Grand Jury were

duly impanneled on the 5th day of December, composed of

William Anderson, D. J. Cory, Henry Byal, Moses Louthen,

J. C. Garnett, Frank Karst, sr., B. F. Kiramens, William Mc-
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Kinnis, Daniel Buck, Henry N. Cronninger, John Markel,

Samuel Mover, A. J. L. Hartman, Charles E. Jordan and

Abraham Yerger, who returned a verdict of "Murder in the

First degree."

Upon this indictment the defendant was tried on a plea

of "Not Guilty," the defense being that the shooting was

done in self-defense, claiming that the murdered man had

made an assault on the defendant, just previous to the shoot-

ing, and that he had fired two shots at the defendant,

intending to kill him, and that to save his own life the de-

fendent did the shooting which killed Dr. Nott. This the

prosecution denied, and alleged and sought to prove, that at

the time of the shooting, and just previously thereto, there

had been no quarrel, no meeting in fact between the par-

ties, but that the defendant had gone to the lower end of the

village, procured a gun, came back, sought out his victim,

whom he found on a side street, approached him unperceived,

and without notice, deliberately shot him, from the effects of

which Dr. Nott immediately expired. Upon these declara-

tions the cause was tried before a Jury, empanneled after all

the motions and objections known in criminal practice were

made and overruled. Judge Pillars presiding. The Jury

were A. J. Nunamaker, James Staflbrd, George Biggs, G. W.

Rinehart, A. C. Warden, Ephraim Leiber, William Vance,

J. P. Lee, John Adams, H. H. x\lban, David Comer and P,

H. Powell. After a trial which lasted twelve days, and

arguments covering three days more, the jury returned a

verdict of J^ot Guilty. Prosecuting Atttorney Henry

Brown and E. T. Dunn conducted the prosecution, and A.

Blackford and M. D. Shafer managed the defense.

Such is the history of murders and murder trials in this

county, and it is to be hoped that this will forever complete
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that history. In these cases, as in all others, there was of

course a diversity of opinions as to the guilt or innocence

of the parties, and the characters of the murdered men did

not pass without severe criticism in some instances.

The only regi*et of every good citizen is that the rec-

ords of our otherwise fair county should be compelled to

record such monster infractions of the law.

There were a few other indictments found for felonies of

the kind treated of in this chapter, but parties were never

put on trial under the indictments. In 1854, Philemon P.

Pool was indicted for an assault with intent to kill. Sam-

uel Ramsey was indicted for stal)bing Nicholas Oram with

intent to kill. Dr. R. J. Haggerty was indicted for the kill-

ing of Dr. Mansfield at Mt. Blanchard, and Levi Chain was

indicted for the killing of his son Jerry at Findley, by stab-

bing him with a pocket knife. All these cases were dis-

posed of on pleas for less offences.
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CHAPTER XIX.

THE DEER-LICK PLUM ORCHARD JOHNNY APPLESEEDS.

ABOUT two and a half miles west of Findley, on the

north side of the river, and on the farm now owned and

occupied by Richard M. Watson, was a " Deer Lick," or

spring, impregnated with salt, which was a favorite resort, as

well for the timid deer, as for the roaming red man. To this

spring the deer were attracted, and near it the hunter had

erected his look-out high up in the trees upon which he

would seat himself, and patiently wait for the appearance of

the unsuspecting game, and the first intimation the doomed

animal had of the presence of danger, was the crashing of a

bullet through its brain.

Eight miles down the river from Findley, and on the

north bank, is the " Plum-Orchard," or " Indian Green," and
'' Indian Burying-Ground." The timber was removed from a

considerable tract of land, and there are still to be seen the

remains of earth-works, running parallel with and a short

distance from the river. They seem to have been thrown up

as a protection against an attack by water, or by land from

the opposite side of the river. In the rear of these fortifi-

cations, was the Indian burying-ground, flanked on the north

by a heavy and dense forest.

The number of fruit trees found already growing in differ-

ent parts of the county by the first settlers, was evidence of

the visits ol "Johnny Appleseeds," as he was familiarly
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called. This ecceutric individual was regarded as a relig-

ious enthusiast, of the Swedenborgian persuasion, who acted

as a kind of missionary amongst the Indians, and who, in

his perambulations through the wilderness, planted the seeds

of the different kinds of fruits, so that in man}' places in

the counfy, there were fruit trees in great numl)ers, and some

of them already producing fruit, at its first settlement.

The writer hereof remembers having seen "Johnny" in

the year 1839 or 1840, perhaps the last time he ever visited

the county. He was at that time quite an old man, and did

not appear to have a very great ({uantity of this world's

goods. He was regarded as an intelligent, harmless, but

slightly demented man. At all times sociable, but eccen-

tric, All! of pleasant story, and good advice, after his fash-

ion, he was always made welcome by the pioneers.

A short time since I read an article in the Cleveland

Leader, by a correspondent at Mansfield, Ohio, in which

allusion was made to this man, and whilst it seems to me,

that it is a rather exaggerated account of his appearance,

and peculiarities, I am tempted to re-produce it here, for I am
sure that any incidents connected with the life and history,

of this, to us almost unknown being, until he made his ap-

pearance here—or rather until the first settlers made their

appearance, will be of interest to the older readers at least.

The writer of the article alluded to and which is entitled?

' Men of Function. The Notables who have made the city

of Mansfield a stopping place," says: "There is still an-

other character who assists in making Mansfield, and Rich-

land County of some historical consequence. Years ago,

among the forests in this neighborhood, tramped a half nude

specimen of humanity, a regular " Old ^Mortality " in some

respects, whom the straggling settlers knew as 'Johnny
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Appleseeds.' Protected from the winter blasts, and summer
storms, by nothing save a coifee sack, he traversed the whole

of Central and Eastern Ohio, time and again, planting ap-

pleseeds as he went.

" He was first seen in Ohio in 1801 , and with him an old

blind horse, drawing in an aged and infirm wagon, a quanti-

ty of appleseeds. These seeds he planted in Eastern Ohio,

along the banks of riveis snd creeks. Returning to Penn-

sylvania, Johnny disposed of his steed and equipments, and

gathering up several bushels of seeds at the cider presses in

Western Pennsylvania, he started for Ohio with them on his

back. For years he kept on in the even tenor of his way,

starting orchards all over this part of the state, but when

emigrants from other states began to pour in and take up

the land in Ohio, poor Johnny found his occupation gone,

amd taking up his coffee sack, moved into Indiana, where

he continued to plant appleseeds for some time, when death

overtook him, and he was laid away in a country church

yard, a few miles from Fort Wayne.
" His name was John Chapman, and it is thought he w^as

born in Massachusetts. He was a regularly constituted

minister in the Swedenborgian Church, and always carried

with him several books on pious subjects, which he would

leave with a settler whom he thought needed spiritual brac-

ing up. During the coldest weather, he refused to wear

shoes, and upon one occasion, when forced to accept a pair

from a kind hearted farmer, he came to Mansfield, which

was then but a small village, and gave them to a poor fami-

ly, who were going west. When he first came to Ohio, he

accepted the cast off clothing of the settlers, but afterwards

became convinced he was getting too proud and worldly,

and finally he adopted the cofiee sack suit, in which he died.
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" His head was protected from Old Sol's smiles, by a tin

pan, which was also used as a culinary utensil, when he was

overtaken by hunger in the woods. He believed it a sin to

tread upon a M'orm, or eat flesh of any kind, hence he never

took turkey on Thanksgiving, or fish during Lent. His

wounds he would sew up with a red hot iron, and then ap-

ply the juice of certain weeds to cure the burns.

" His appletrees he sold to the settlers, and if they were

too poor to pay him, he would give them a receipt in full up

to date. He was a small wiry man, with black eyes, and

long unkempt hair and whiskers. He has left several mon-

uments of his good deeds, in the shape of huge appletrees,

near this city, which still continue to bear fruit and protect

the weary and foot sore traveller from the scorching sun of

summer."

After the advent of Johnny into our county, he dressed as

other men, poor men, shoes and all, and I have never heard

of his selling, or demanding a price for his appletrees.

Of this eccentric man, Henry Howe, in his valuable work,

" Historical Collections of Ohio," says :
" At an early day

there was a very eccentric character, who frequently was in

this region. His name was Jonathan Chapman, but he was

usually known as 'Johnny Appleseeds.' He was supposed to

be originally from New England, and had imbibed an uncon-

trolable passion for rearing and cultivating apple trees from

the seed. He first made his appearance in western Penn-

sylvania, and fi-om thence niade his way into Ohio, keeping

on the outskirts of the settlements. He planted his seeds

in spots of cleared ground, and on the banks of the streams,

" When the settlers began to flock in and open up farms,

Johnny was ready for them with his trees, which he either

gave away, or sold for some trifle, as an old coat, or any
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other article of which he could make use. His personal

appearance was as singular as his character. He was a

small, chubbed man, quick and restless in his motions and

conversation. He wore his hair and beard long, and had a

sparkling black eye. He lived the roughest life, and often

slept in the woods. He went barefooted, and often travelled

miles through the snow in that way. In religious belief, he

was a follower of Sweedenborg, leading a most blameless

life. Wherever he went, he circulated Swedenborgian works.

He was careful not to injure any animal, and thought hunt-

ing morally wrong.

" This story is told of him, as illustrating his kindness of

heart. On one cool autumnal night, whilst lying by his

camp fire in the woods, he observed that the musquitoes

flew in the blaze and were burnt. Johnny thereupon

brought water and quenched the fire, afterwards saying

:

' God forbid that I should build a fire for my comfort, that

should be the means of destroying any of His creatures.'

" At another time, he made his camp fire at the end of a

hollow log, in which he intended to pass the night, but find-

ing it occupied by a bear and her cubs, he removed his fire

to the other end, and slept on the snow in the open air,

rather than disturb the bear. (I think I would have done

the same thing. Au.)

"An itinerant preacher was holding forth on the public

square in Mansfield, and exclaimed: 'Where is the bare-

footed christian travelling to heaven?' Johnny, who was

lying on his back on some timber, taking the question in its

literal sense, raised his bare feet in the air, and shouted:

'Here he is!'"
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CHAPTER XX.

PRESENT COURT HOUSE NEW JAIL INFIRMARY.

IN
a former chapter I have spoken of the old frame Court

House, and the old log Jail, which did good service in

their time, but had to give way to more suitable buildings,

and whatever of interest connected with them remains only

as a memory. The fact that the county has built three

jails and but two Court Houses, is perhaps not a very flat-

tering commentary on the morals of the county, unless we

remember that our .people failed to put up substantial jails,

a mistake which was not made in the building of a Court

House.

As early as 1837 the project of building a new Court

House was agitated, and in that year action was taken by

the County Commissioners to its speedy erection. At their

June session of that year it was " Resolved that the Com-

missioners of the county will borrow the sum of ten thou-

aud dollars for the purpose of building Public Buildings in

Fiudley." It was also at the same session " Ordered that

the Auditor shall give notice in the Findley Courier, that

proposals will be received on the 4th day of July next, at

the Auditor's office in Findley, to make L!O0,000 good brick

to build county buildings in Findley," and " Ordered that a

draft or model shall be drawn of a Court House suitable for

the county, at the expense of the county."

There is no record as to whom the contract for the build-

ing was let, or to whom let, or at what price, when to be
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finished, or bow constructed. We can only guess at the

time of the letting of the contract, and it must have been

in tiie same year, or very early in 1838, as we shall pres-

ently see by the record. All agi*ee, however, that the con-

tract was let to John McCurdy, and that he was the builder.

At the meeting of the Commissioners in April, 1888, it

was " Ordered that William Taylor receive the Surplus Rev-

enue Fund from the Treasurer of said fund, and pay over

the same to John McCurdy on the contract of the Court

House, provided the interest be allowed until the first of

June, 1 838, for the amount so advanced."

The present Court House—the building of which was

contracted for with the said John McCurdy, is of brick

—

then a wood roof—now metal—and surmounted by a

wooden cupola, with spire and lightning rod. In front are

four massive wooden columns, one either side of the rotunda

or entrance, and one at each corner. The Court Room oc-

cupies the entire first floor except the rotunda and stair

way, and the Sheriff's office, which are in front. This Court

Room was originally finished in the plainest manner, with

plain benches, plain platform for Judge's seat, and only

benches for Jurors. It is now, however, made much more

comfortable and convenient by successive additions, and

improvements in furniture and interior arrangement.

The upper story is occupied by the different county offi-

cers, whose rooms are arranged on either side of a wide

hall running the entire length of the building. The build-

ing stands in a park, which occupies an entire square on

the west side of Main street, and the location is a command-
ing one. This structure answers the purpose for which it

was built, but is sadly out of place as a representative of

the wealth and public business of the county.

10
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In December, 1838, the Commissioners "Ordered that

Jacob Barnel, Esq., be and he is hereby appointed to re-

ceive funds from the fund Commissioners of the county, tO'

pay over the same to John McCurdy, on the contract en-

tered into by the County Commissioners with John Mc-

Curdy, for building the Court House."

In December, 1839, the Auditor of the county was " Or-

dered to procure all the receipts of John McCurdy given

for monies received by him, and file the same in his office,,

and open an account with the said McCurdy in a book to be

procured by him for that purpose. Also to ascertain the

amount due him, and exhibit the same to the Board at its

next session."

At the same meeting it was " Ordered that John Mc-

Curdy put, construct, erect and finish a partition wall up

stairs, or in the upper story of the said Court House, across

the present hall with a door therein, so as to cut off any

communication with the Jury room." No tampering with

the jury was intended to be possible.

In 1841 the Auditor was ordered to employ some suita-

able person to make one dozen chairs for the use of the

Court House, and benches for the jury rooms.

It seems that there was some trouble, or at least delay in

the completion of the building, for in June, 1841, it was

" Ordered that if the Court House in Findley is not finished

by the 15th of August next, the Auditor put the bonds in

the hands of Edson Goit, Esq., to commence suit thereon."

And in July, 1842, it still being unfinished, it was " Ordered

that the Auditor will have suit brought against John Mc-

Curdy, by the first of September next, providing the con-

tract for finishing the Court House should not be completed

by that time."
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lu Jime, 1843, the Sheriff" was directed to be careful and

not have the Court House abused by public gatherings and

Justice's Courts. So great were the differences between the

Commissioners and McCurdy, and so impossible of amicable

adjustment, that the matters in dispute were submitted to

arbitration, and at an extra session in July, 1843, we find

the Commissioners directing the Auditor to enter upon the

journal the amount of arbitration in the case of John Mc-

Curdy vs. the Commissioners.

In March, 1846, it was " Ordered by the Commissioners

that Frederick Henderson be, and he is hereby authorized

to procure for said county, as soon as practicable, a suitable

bell for the Court House, the cost of which shall not exceed

two hundred and fifty dollars." The bell w^as procured and

put in place.

It is impossible to tell from the records the cost of the

buildings, and it is a matter of recollection only fo those

who remember the incidents connected with it. Elijah

Barnel, Esq., who was Auditor of the county for two terms,,

and who is perhaps as well informed in the matter as any

man now living, says that the building cost about eleven

thousand dollars.

Thus, through much contention and many disappoint-

ments, and not a few threatenings of law suits, was the

building completed, and occupied by the several county

officers, with a feeling that we had about as magnificent a

county building as could be found anywhere.

JAILS.

Feeling the necessity of a secure place for prisoners

the Commissioners in December, 1851, ordered "That

the Auditor cause a notice to be published in the two papers

published in Findley, to receive sealed proposals for build-
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ing a jail in said county. Said jail to be let on the 9th day

of January, 1852." At that date the contract was let to

Thomas McCrary for the sum of four thousand seven hun-

dred and forty-three dollars.

The contract was entered into January 15th, 3 852, and

the building completed the same year. It was built on Lot

No. 58, on the west side of the Park. The structure was

of brick and stone, so put together, that it was thought to

be impossible for any one to escape, and yet, in later years

especially, it seemed no trouble for those inside to make

their escape.

But this, too, has been superseded by the present magnifi-

cent building on corner Main, Cross street and the Park.

This edifice includes Sheriff's residence, a two story brick,

with basement, finely ornamented with stone, and tastefully

finished on the interior, in the rear of which are the cells,

entirely of stone and iron, and constructed in the most

secure manner. The whole premises are a credit to the

county, and were erected at a cost of something over twenty-

five thousand dollars. The lot on which the building stands

cost $5,000, the contract for the building was let for $17,264,

and to this must be added the cost of grading, fencing, etc.

The necessity of the county making some provision for

tlie care of the poor, other than letting each township look

after its own, and have them distributed throughout the

county at a great expense, had long been acknowledged, and

the propriety of purchasing lands and erecting thereon

suitable buildings for an Infirmary, had been pretty gener-

ally discussed, especially in those townships in which

the care of the poor had become burdensome. Accordingly

the Commissioners ordered that the question of building an

Infirmary should be submitted to the voters of the county
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at the April electiou in 1867. This was done and the fol-

lowing is the vote for and against, in each township:

Washington Township, For 151. Against, 26.

Big Lick "

Amanda "

Delaware " '

Jackson " '

Marion " '

Cass "

Allen "

Portage " '

Liberty "

Findley «

Eagle "

Madison " '

Van Buren " '

Orange " '

Union " '

Blanchard " '

Pleasant " '

The proposition having carried by a large majority, the

Commissioners thereupon caused the following notice to be

published in both the county papers for one week. " Citi-

zens living from three to eight miles from the county-seat,

and wishing to sell their lands for this purpose, will send

their proposals to the Auditor within due time."

In May, 1 867, they purchased the present farm of Geo.

Heck, paying therefor the sum of seventeen thousand, one

hundred dollars. The ftirm is in Liberty township, border-

ing on the east line of the township, and on the south side

of the river, about two and a half miles from Findley as

the road goes. It is a most beautiful location, being on

51.
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quite an eminence, overlooking the river and the splendid

farms on the opposite side. The land is very fertile and

yields most abundant crops.

In March, 1868, the Commissioners contracted with John

Shull, a builder and contractor, for the erection of a suit-

able building. The building is of brick, four stories high,

including basement, which is eight feet in heighth, the first

story eleven feet in the clear, and the other stories ten

feet each. All covered with a metal roof The contract

price for the building was $12,393.

Our county has an Infirmary which will favorably com-

pare with any in the State, and its management has always

been in the interests of the county, and the comfort of the

unfortunate inmates.



Corm H uskin^s. 143

CHAPTER XXI.

EARLY SPORTS CORN HUSKINGS HOUSE RAISINGS GRAIN

THRESHING AND CLEANING.

EVERY pioneer was of necessity a hunter. Not that he

followed the husiness for amusement alone, but for

the reason that much of his subsistence, and his safety,

and that of his property depended upon his skill and vigi-

lance with the rifle. Hence it was, that almost every man
and boy, and a great many women and girls were accom-

plished shots, and many a leisure hour did they while away

in friendly competition with their trusty ritles, and proud

was the champion of his laurels thus honorably won.

Not the least pleasant of the gatherings of these early

settlers, were the corn huskings. Sometimes the corn was

husked just as it had been cut and shocked in the field.

At other times it was all gathered at one place, either on a

fine grass plot, or on the barn floor. It was usually divided

into equal parts, and the husking party was also divided

under captains. The company who first completed the task

was declared the victor.

If these busking bees were in the barn, the women and

•children would frequently assist. These husking bees were

usually held when the moon was at its full, so that there

would be sufficient light.

In the mean time the women-folk of the party were en-

gaged in cooking and preparing supper for all. And such
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suppers ! None of your ice cream—strawberry—jelly cake

—weak tea affairs, but instead, the yellow corn cake, juicy

venison, luscious turkey, and occasionally a slice or two of

bear steak.

So popular was this sport—for in that light was it re-

garded—that not unfrequently an entire crop of corn was

husked in one night, and without any expense to the

owner, other than the furnishing supper for the workmen,,

for which he considered himself amply repaid in the amount

of fun which he would have.

Another source of pleasure, although mixed with hard

work, was the house-raisings. In this, as in log rollings

and corn huskings, the participants were divided into com-

panies, each under the lead of a captain. To each was as-

signed the raising of one side and one end of the cabin.

Each of these parties chose two of the most active and ex-

pert ax-men to carry up the corners, as the logs were raised

to the proper place.

A good deal of skill, and a mechanical eye was required

by these corner men, as a very slight mistake in making

a notch too shallow, or too deep, or out of a straight line,

might loose the whole corner. So expert became many of

these men—and they were found in every settlement—that

they were enabled to notch and place the logs almost as

rapidly as they could be raised to cheir place on the build-

ing.

The grain was not threshed by machinery driven by

steam, as now, but was either beaten out by the old fash-

ioned swingle or flail, or tramped out by horses or oxen.

When threshed it was separated from the chaff by a fanning

mill made of two men and a linen sheet, the grain being

slowly poured from a measure at an elevation, passed ia
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front of this mill, which was kept constantly in motion ; the

chaff was blown away, the grain falling to the floor. A
rather slow, but sure way of getting clean grain, and re-

sorted to by the early settlers for the reason that modern

fanning mills were then unknown.

The men did not have all the sport, no more than they

did all the work. Quilting bees were no less a source of

pleasure and enjoyment to their wives. All the good dames

in a neighborhood would assemble around the patch-work

quilt, and with stitch and gossip while away the time pleas-

antly, and around the well-laden tea table rehearse the

scenes of their girl-hood days.

Strong, active, athletic sports had a gi*eat charm for these

backwoodsmen. Running foot races, jumping, wrestling,

pitching quoits or horse shoes, lifting weights, and like

manly exercise best pleased them. Some of their feats of

jumping and racing would do credit to a troup of modern

athletes. And the ease with which they could "ring the

meg " with a horse shoe at twenty-five or thirty yards was

astonishing. With such exercises as these, their muscles

became hardened, their limbs were developed, and their en-

durance put to the test.

Horse racing was also a favorite amusement with some.

The swiftness of a race was not regarded as of much mo-

ment, the simple fact that two horses would make a race,

no matter how slow it was,' would be sufficient to draw a

crowd, and the pleasure in the amusement seemed to be

just as keen, as if they had been witnessing some of the

feats of modern high-flyers.

Because of the isolated condition of the settlements, and

the almost unceasing toil of all, any social gathering was

hailed with pleasure, and enjoyed to the fullest extent.
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CHAPTER XXII.

OUR JUDICIAL ASSOCIATE COUNTIES AN JUDDGES.

IN
1830, the Judicial Circuit to which we belonged, was

composed of the counties of Huron, Richland, Delaware?

Sandusky, Seneca, Crawford, Wood, Marion, Hancock

Henry, Williams, Putnam, Paulding and Van Wert. Eben-

ezer Lane was the Circuit Judge, but having just been

elected to the Supreme Bench of the State, was succeeded

by David Higgins.

Knapp, in his " History of the Maumee Valley," says that

Judge Higgins, in his '' Memoirs of the Maumee Valley,"

relates the incident of a voyage from Findley to Perrys-

burg. by way of Defiance, in the good " Piroque Jurispru-

dence." " A countryman," says the Judge, " agreed to take

our horses to Perrysburg by land. We purchased a canoe,

and taking with us our saddles, bridles and baggage, pro-

posed to descend the Blanchard Fork, and the Auglaize

Rivers to Defiance, and then to Perrysburg. Our company

consisted of Rudolphus Dickenson, J. C. Spink, Count Cof-

finberry, myself and a country man, whose name I forget-

The voyage was a dismal one to Defiance, through an unset-

tled wilderness of some sixty miles. Its loneliness was

only broken by the intervening Indian settlements at Otta-

wa, where we were cheered lustily by the Tohwa Indians,

as would be a foreign ship at New York."
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The General Assembly of Ohio, iu 1838-3'.), by enact-

ment, created the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit. This em-

braced ten counties, but out of that territory the counties of

Defiance, Auglaize and Fulton, have since been erected.

These ten counties were Seneca, Wood, Henry, Williams,

Paulding, Putnam, Van Wert, Allen, Hardin and Hancock.

Judge Higgins was succeeded in the old Circuit by Ozias

Bowen. But Emery D. Potter was elected Presiding Judge,

and held the office until 1844, when he resigned to take his

seat in Congress, He was succeeded as Judge by Myron

H. Tilden.

Judge Potter still resides in Toledo, and but a few years

ago represented the District of which we are a part, in the

Ohio state Senate.

On the 19th of February, 1815, the 16th Judicial Circuit

was formed, embracing the counties of Shelby, Mercer, Al-

len, Hardin, Hancock, Putnam, Paulding, Van Wert and

Williams, and Patrick G. Goode, of Sidney, was elected

Presiding Judge. This was the last of the Circuit Judges.

Under the Constitution of 1851, the counties of Wood,

Seneca, Hancock, Wyandotte and Crawford formed a sub-

division of the Second District, and Lawrence W. Hall, of

Buc}'Tus, was elected Common Pleas Judge. After one

term of five years, he was succeeded by Machias C. White-

ly, of Findley. Judge Whitely was re-elected in 1861, the

sub-di\ision then being the counties of Wood, Hancock and

Putnam. In 1856, Seneca having been placed in the sub-

division, George E. Seeney, of Tiffin, was elected an addi-

tional Judge.

In December, 1866, Hancock, Seneca and V/ood being

joined in one sub-di^dsion, Chester R. Mott, of Upper San-

dusky, was elected Judge, and served one term. In 1868,
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James Pillars, of Tiffin, was elected, and in 1871, Crawford

and Marion Counties having been added to the District,

Abner M. Jackson, of Bucyrus, was elected an additional

Judge, but after serving a short time, he resigned, and

Thomas Beer, also of Bucyrus, was elected to till vacancy.

'

At the expiration of Judge Pillars' term, Henry 11. Dodge,

of Perrysburg, (present incumbent,) succeeded him, and in

1879, Hardin County having been attached to this District,

John McCauley, of Tiffin, was elected an additional

Judge.

A brief sketch of these men, or some of them at least,

although not residents of the county, will perhaps be appro-

priate here, as they were actors in the early history of our

county.

Hon. Emery D. Potter is said to have been the first law-

yer who opened an office in Toledo, and that he is the last

of his early professional contemporaries, and is yet a citizen

of Toledo.

He was born in Providence County, Rhode Island, the

son of a farmer in limited circumstances. At the age of

two years. Judge Potter was taken by his parents to Otsego

County, New York, then a wilderness. Mr. Potter entered

the office of Hon. John A. Dix and Abner Cook, jr., at

Cooperstown. After having completed an academic educa-

tion, and there diligently pursued the study of the law, un-

til he was admitted to practice in the Supreme Court of the

State.

In the fall of 1855, he emigrated to Toledo, a place as he

then thought, opening a good field for a young practitioner.

After a successful practice of four years, he was, in Feb-

ruary, 1839, elected Presiding Judge of the Thirteenth

Judicial Circuit.
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In 1843 he was nomiuated and elected to Congress by a

handsome majority. In 1847 he was elected to a seat in

the Ohio House of Representatives. In 1848 he was again

elected to Congress. In 1875, Mr. Potter was elected to

the Ohio Senate from the Thirty-third Senatorial District.

In 1845, Patrick Gr. Goode, of Sidney, was elected Pre-

siding Judge of the Sixteenth Judicial Circuit. Judge

Goode was an honest, upright man, an impartial Judge and

a christian gentleman. He was very punctilious in the

preservation of the dignity of the court, and the courtesies

of the bar. Pettifogging and undignified conduct, and vul-

gar language were his horrors. After holding court all day,

he would not unfrequently preach at night, as he was a

minister in the Methodist Episcopal Church.

It is told of Judge Goode, that while holding court in

Mercer County, in 1847, he met a juryman who was rather

too smart for him. A case had been tried, and just a few

minutes before the regular dinner time, had been given to

the jury, and the court had adjourned until after dinner.

Within a few minutes, one of the jurymen, Cyrenius Elliott

by name, entered the room at the hotel, where the Judge

was seated. The Judge was surprised, and exclaimed

:

" What are you doing here ? Have the jury agreed ?"

^' Jury agreed," hissed Elliott, " you must be a simpleton to

ask the question. You must understand, Pat Goode, that I

don't believe much in the divine right of Kings, or in the

infallibility of courts, when run by such men as yourself

Your right way would have been to let us have our dinner

before sending us to the jury-room, knowing as you must, if

you have good sense, that jurors have stomachs and bowels

as well as judges and lawyers."

At another time. the Judge was holding court in Findley,
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when the late John H, Morrison opened an address to the

jury, with this declaration :
" May it please the court, by

the perjury of witnesses, the ignorance of the jury, and the

corruption of the court, I expect to be beaten in this case."

The Judge turned to the counsel and inquired :
" What is

that you say, Mr. Morrison ?" The latter replied: " That

is all I have to say on that point," and proceeded with his

argument.

At another time, a man of bad repute, made application

to the court for license. The court considered the proposi-

tion, and Judge Goode announced that the application was

refused. Mr. Morrison, much excited, arose and addressed

one of the Associate Judges :
" Judge Ewing, is that your

decision ?" An affirmative answer was given. " Judge

Price do you concur in this decision ?" " Yes." Morrison

was about to put the same question to the other associate,

when Judge Goode inquired :
" ]\Ir. Morrison, what are you

doing ?" Morrison replied, " Why, I am polling the court,

your honor."

I have these reminiscences from H. S. Knapp's History

of the Maumee Valley, a very valuable work.
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CHAPTER XXIII.

HANCOCK COUNTY IN THE WAR.

THE part which the gallant volunteers of Hancock

County took in the war for the suppression of the Re-

bellion, deserves a much more extensive notice than I am
able to write, or for which there would be sufficient space in

this work. I shall, therefore, have to content myself by

giving a brief account of the brave boys, assuring my
readers that no better soldiers were found, than the boys

from Hancock. They went cheerfully wherever duty called

them. They never flinched under fire. They never re-

treated unless ordered to do so. They endured all the hard-

ships of marching, fighting, and of rebel prisons, and more

than five hundred of them laid down their lives without a

murmur, that the country might live. Loyal, patriotic, they

left father, mother, wife, children, all that was dear to them

on earth, all that makes life pleasant, and went forth at the

call of danger, and for four long weary years, endured the

hardships of one of the most stupendous wars on record

:

went forth, some to die in battle, some to die in hospitals,

some to die in rebel prisons, others to come home, with a

leg or an arm missing, maimed for life, others with wounds

rendering them almost helpless, others with ruined health,

broken constitutions, to linger on for a few years, and at

last sink into a premature grave. Such is the fate of those

who engage in war. Such was the fate of many of the
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gallant boys who went from Hancock, and whose memory

is enshrined in the hearts of the people.

A whole volume might be written commemorative of

their many deeds. Such a volume should be written. In

this work, however, 1 can only speak of organizations and

aggregates. And even in this brief sketch I will no doubt

overlook some, for many of our boys went elsewhere and

enlisted, or being temporarily absent from the county at the

breaking out of the rebellion, enlisted at the first opportun-

ity, without first returning home. Of such of course I can

not speak only in general terms.

2 1st OHIO VOLUNTEERS.

In the three months service, this county furnished three

full companies of men, under Capt. Jome Wilson, Capt. Geo.

F. Walker, and Capt. K. Henry Lovell. The company

under command of Capt. Wilson was further officered by

1st Lieut. D. M. Stoughton, and 2d Lieut. Geo. Foreman.

That under command of Capt. Walker had as 1st and

2d Lieuts., M. D. Shafer and J. E. Stearns. And that under

Capt. Lovell had as Lieuts., Joshua S. Preble and J. J.

Thrap. The late Col. J. M. Neibling was Lieut. Col. This

regiment was organized at Camp Taylor, near Cleveland, on

the 27th day of April, 1861.

The service of the regiment was in West Virginia, under

Gen. J. D. Cox. They were engaged in the fight at Ripley,

and also at Scary Creek. The companies from this county

did not loose a man in any of the engagements. On the

way home to be mustered out, Eli S. Reed, Quarter Master

of the Regiment, died at Cincinnati. The Regiment was

mustered out August 12, 1861, at Columbus, Ohio.

On the 19th of September it w^as again re-organized for
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three years, and went into camp at Findley, Ohio, where it

was mustered into service. In this service J. M. Xeiblino-

was again appointed Lieut. Col., but in December, 1862, he

was promoted to the Colonelcy, which position he held until

his discharge, by reason of losing his right arm at New Hope
Church, on the 28th of May, 1864. In the three years

service, Hancock County had four Companies. Co. A,

Capt. D. M. Stoughtou, who was promoted to Major, and in

December, 1863, was promoted to Lieut. Col., which position

he held at the time of his death, in November, 1864, from

wounds received at the battle of Chickamauga. Co. B,

€apt. Geo. F. Walker, who was afterwards promoted to

Major. Co. E, Capt. Isaac Cusae, who was promoted to

Major, and mustered out with the Regiment at the close of

the war. Co. F, Capt. H. H. Alban, who was honorably

discharged at the close of the war. The Lieutenants of

Co. A were J. A. Williams and Geo. Foreman ; of Co. B,

Wm. Vance and Joseph E. Sternes; of Co. E, James Porter

and Simon B. Webber, and of Co. F, John C. Martin and

Alex. A. Monroe.

During the time this Regiment was in the field, a great

number of its members were promoted to Captains and

Lieutenants. It bore the name of "Fighting Regiment,"

having been engaged in as many, and as severe battles, as

was any other Regiment in the service. This Regiment

accompanied Sherman on his celebrated march to the sea.

and was present at the " Grand Review " in Washington

City, May 26, 1865, and was mustered out of service at

Louisville, Ky., and finally paid off and discharged at Co-

lumbus, Ohio, July 28, 1865. This Regiment made a rec-

ord during the war, for bravery, good discipline, and per-

sistent fighting, of which the members are justly proud.
11
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There were perhaps, from the organization of this Regiment

for three years service, until discharged, in the four com-

panies from this county, not less than six hundred men.

3 1st OHIO INFANTRY.

This Regiment was commanded by Col. M. B. Walker

from its organization until the muster out at the close of

the war. Col. Walker volunteered from this county, and

took with him in the service quite a number of Hancock

county boys. This Regiment made a good record, was

with Sherman to the sea, was at the Grand Review at

Washington, was mustered out at Louisville, Ky., and paid

and discharged at Columbus, Ohio. I have no means of

knowing the exact number of Hancock boys in this Regi-

ment, but there were perhaps not more than thirty.

49th OHIO INFANTRY.

This was Gen. W. H. Gibson's Regiment, he being its

first Colonel, and was organized at Tiflin, 0. In this Regi-

ment Hancock County had one Company, under command
of Capt. A. Longworthy, and Lieuts. S. F. Gray and J. W.
Davidson. Lieut. Gray was afterwards successively pro-

moted to Captain, Major, and Lieut. Colonel, and was, I be-

lieve, in command of the Regiment at muster out. This

Regiment did as much marching, was in as many engage-

ments, and suffered as many hardships, as any in the ser-

vice in the South-west. Their gallant Colonel was ever

ready by word and act to make them comfortable, and

always led in an engagement. His loyalty, patriotism and

eloquence seemed to inspire the men, and they were under

his leadership willing to undertake any expedition.

They suffered incredible hardships in their winter march,

to the relief of Burnside at Knoxville. Almost naked,,
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without shoes, and rations exhausted, the brave fellows did

not grumble. On their return from this expedition they

were called upon to re-enlist, and right nobly did they re-

spond. Many of the Hancock boys won and received pro-

motion.

On the 13th of July, 1865, this Regiment was ordered

to Texas, where they suffered the hardships of a campaign

of four months, after nearly all the other troops were dis-

charged. The Regiment was mustered out of service Nov.

30th, 1865.

The whole number of men on the rolls of this Regiment
was fifteen hundred and fifty-two. Eight oflicers were

killed in battle and twenty wounded, (six of them mor-

tally.) Of the privates one hundred and twenty-seven

were killed in battle, seventy-one were mortally wounded,

one hundred and sixty-five died from hardship and disease,^

and seven in rebel prisons. Six hundred and sixteen were

discharged on account of wounds or other disability. Of
these Hancock furnished her full proportion. There were
perhaps not less than two hundred men from this county in

the •1:9th, and every boy who survives, is proud that he was
a member of this famous Regiment.

5TtH OHIO INFANTRY.

This Regiment was organized at Camp Vance, at Find-

ley, Ohio, in September 1861. Co. B was made up of men
from Hancock and Seneca Counties. Co. F and Co. G from

Hancock, and Co. H fi-om Hancock and Seneca. Wm»
Mungen, of Findley, was first Colonel. Dr. W. D. Carlin

was Surgeon, James Wilson was Capt. of Co. F, John B.

May of Co. G, By promotions Hiram E. Henderson, John

W. Wheeler, Daniel Gilbert, Squire Johnson and George-
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Trichler became Captains, and Squire Johnson was pro-

moted to Major. The Lieutenants from this county at the

formation of the Regiment were Co. B, Daniel S. Price

;

Co. F, H. E. Henderson and John Adams ; of Co. G, Ed-

mund W. Firmiu; of Co. H, John W. Wheeler; of Co. I,

Daniel Gilbert, and of Co. C, Oliver Mungen.

This Regiment very soon after its organization, and be-

fore it had become accustomed to camp life, marching, or

military tactics, was to join the army of the Tennessee.

Going immediately into a different climate, exposed to

hardships, it suffered terribly from sickness, and on the 6th

of April, 1862, less than six months from the time it broke

•camp at Findley, only four hundred and fifty men were fit

ibr duty. From the time the Fifty-seventh shelled the rebel

works at Chickason, Alabama, in April, 1862, until they

were finally discharged, they were almost continually in the

front, and took part in the skirmishing and fighting in these

four dreadful years. At Pittsburg Landing, at Corinth, at

Hamburg, at Pea Ridge, at Camps Six and Seven, at the

Russell House, at Morning Sun, at Wolf Creek, at Chicka-

son Bayou, at xVrkansas Post, at Clay Plantation, at Haiue's

Bluff, at Raymond, at Champion Hills, at Vicksburg, at

Mission Ridge, and at numerous other engagements, it was

always in the van, and received the first fire of the rebels.

In all these places the Regiment behaved well, and did her-

;self great credit.

The boys from Hancock w'ere amongst the bravest of the

Regiment, and are proud of the achievements of the old

Fifty-Seventh. This Regiment was discharged and paid

oif at Camp Chase, 0., on the 25th of August, 1(S65. The

Fifty-Seventh travelled by railroad, steamboat, and on foot,

more than twenty-eight thousand miles, and of the one
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thousand five hundred and ninety-four men on the muster

rolls, there were only four hundred and eight-one alive at

the muster out. In all there were perhaps five hundred

men from this county in the Fifty-Seventh.

65th OHIO INFANTRY.

This Regiment was in what was called Sherman Brigade,

raised at Mansfield. Joshua S. Preble, of McComb, was

Captain of Co. H, and in his company were quite a number

of men from this county. The Hancock boys of course ac-

quitted themselves as become true soldiers, in the many en-

gagements in which they participated, from their first tight

at Pittsburg Landing, under Gen. Garfield, until the final

battle at Nashville, They were ordered to Texas in June,

1865, and did garrison duty at San i\ntonio until December

1865. They were then ordered to Columbus, 0., to be

mustered out, and paid, being perhaps the last Ohio Volun-

teers to be discharged.

87th OHIO INFANTRY.

This was one of the three months regiments, and Han-

cock had one company therein, under the command of

Capt. Sam. Huber and Lieuts. Philip Ford and Christopher

Keasy. The Rev. Geo. D. Oviatt, of Findley, was Chap-

lain. On the 12th of June, 1862, the Regiment had orders

to repair to Baltimore, at which place they were assigned

to a camp under command of Col. Banning. In July they

had orders to report to Col. Miles at Harper's Ferry. At

the siege of that place by Jackson's men, they were sur-

rendered to him, although their term of enlistment had ex-

pired. They w^ere however immediately paroled, and re-

turned home and were mustered out at Columbus, on the

20th of September, 1862.
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99th OHIO INFANTllY.

Of this Regiment, Co. C, Capt. 0. P. Capell, and Lieuts.

C. G. Barnel and Robert B. Drake, and Co. F, Capt. J. A.

Bope, and Lieuts. James Harsh and W. C. Kelley, were

from Hancock. Albert Longworthy was the 1st Colonel,

and Dr. J. T. Woods was Surgeon, This Regiment left

Camp Lima August 31st, 1862, with an aggregate of one

thousand and twenty-one men, under orders to report at

Lexington, Ky. Severe marching and hot weather occas-

sioned so much sickness, that when the Regiment moved

forward to take part in the battle of Stone River, only three

huudred and sixty-nine men, two field officers, seven line,

and three staff' officers were fit for duty. In courage and

discipline this Regiment was not found wanting, as their

acts at Rocky Face Ridge, Kenesaw Mountain, Pine Mount-

ain, Atlanta, Jonesboro, Lovejoy, and many other engage-

ments, demonstrated. During almost the entire Atlanta

campaign they were under fire daily. At Nashville it was

consolidated with the Fiftieth Ohio, forming one Regiment.

The men were mustered out at Salsbury, N. C, and dis-

charged and paid at Camp Dennison, 0., July 17th, 1865.

Hancock furnished perhaps three huudred men in all for

this Regiment.

118th OHIO INFANTRY.

This Regiment went into camp at Lima, in August 1862.

Co. H was from Hancock, and was officered by Capt. Sam-

uel Howard and Lieuts. Darius Pendleton and M. B. Pat-

terson. In September, only eight companies being then

full, it was ordered to Cincinnati to assist in repelling the

threatened invasion of Kirby Smith. Here the ninth com-

pany joined it, and the Regiment was mustered in. Their
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first engagement was at Mossy Creek, where after a des-

perate charge, the rebels under Generals Martin and Arm-

strong, were driven back with a loss to the One Hundred

and Eighteenth, of forty killed and wounded.

Whilst in East Tennessee, the Regiment subsisted for

six months on quarter and half rations, and endured great

privation. On the afternoon of the 1-1 th of May, 1864,

they participated in a charge on the enemy's works at Res-

eca, and out of three hundred men actually engaged lost

one hundred and sixteen in less than ten minutes. Such

was some^of the desperate fighting of this Regiment, and

it was continued at Dalton, Pumpkin Vine Creek, Kenesaw

Mountain, and at Atlanta. Such was the fatality in this

Hegiment, that at no time after June 1st, did it number

•over two hundred and fifty men, and at one time it was re-

duced to one hundred and twenty.

During one hundred and twenty-one days they were

within hearing of hostile firing every day but one, and for

sixty consecutive days it w'as under fire, sixty different

times. About one hundred and fifty of Hancock's brave

boys participated in the fortunes of this gallant Regiment.

iooD OHIO INFANTRY. N. G.

In this Regiment of one hundred-day men, this county

had a company under the command of Capt. James Walter-

ni're and Lieuts. Jacob Romich and Jefferson Darrah. This

Regiment did duty around Washing-ton City, and at Ber-

mudae Hundred. Whilst at work on the fortifications at

Fort Powhattan, it was so very unhealthy that over three

hundred of this Regiment were on the sick list at one time,

134th OHIO INFANTRY. N. G.

A company of men from this county belonged to this
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Regiment, and were under the command of Capt. Miles

Wilson. The Regiment was ordered to Cumberland, Va

,

May 7th, 1864, and from there proceeded to White House,

on the Pamunky, by way of AVashiugtou City, but before

dis-embarking at White House, were ordered to City Point.

On June 17th, they had an engaf^emeut with the enemy at

Fort Walthall, during the assault on Petersburg, and the

men displayed great courage under fire. For seventy days

this Regiment formed a portion of ihe advanced line oper-

ating on Richmond. The Regiment was mustered out at

Camp Chase, August 31st, 1861.
^

161ST OHIO INFANTRY. N. (1.

One company from Hancock County, under command of

Capt. Geo. Foreman and Lieut. H. B. Green, was a part of

this Regiment, which was mustered into service at Camp'

Chase, May 9, 1864, and was immediately ordered to Cum-

berland, Md. The operations of this Regiment were con-^

fined to the Shenandoah Valley. Five companies of this;

Regiment made a march from Lynchburg to Webster, in

charge of sick, prisoners, and wagon and ambulance train,,

a distance of nearly five hundred miles. At Maryland

Heights, they were engaged two days in a lively skirmish

with the enemy. On the 2d of September, 1864, the Regi-

ment was mustered out at Camp Chase.

192d OHIO INFANTRY.

This Regiment was organized at Camp Chase, and one-

company from this county, under command of Capt. Moses

Louthan, formed a part. They started for the field in

March, 1865. They marched through Charleston, Va., and

under orders on the 3d of April, they moved before day-

light to relieve a Regiment picketing the Shenandoah River.
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This was accomplished by noon of that day, without loss.

This Regiment was stationed for some time at Stevenson

Station and Jordon Springs.

This Regiment was in high favor for its very excellent

drill, and discipline. They were paid off and discharged

on the 6th of September, at Columbus.

12th OHIO CAVALRY.

This Regiment was recruited in September and October,

1863, and went into camp at Cleveland. During the win-

ter of 1863-64 one half of the Regiment did guard duty

on Johnson's Island. This county had one company in

this organization, with Capt. A. A. Monroe and Lieut. E. N.

Flaiseg. This Regiment did duty in Tennessee and North

Carolina, and aided in the capture of Jeff Davis. They

were discharged at Columbus, in November, 1865.

1st OHIO HEAVY ARTILLERY.

This Regiment was joined with the 117th Ohio Infantry,

and on the 2d day of May, J863, the Regiment (117th)

was ordered to be changed into the First Heavy Artillery.

The Artillery Regiment was then recruited up to the full

maximum of twelve companies, with an aggregate of eigh-

teen hundred and thirty nine men, including officers. The

principal field of operations of this Regiment was in East

Tennessee, and they took part in nearly all the battles in

that section. They were in almost constant action against

the guerrillas under Vaughn and Debrill. Our county had

one company in the Artillery commanded by Capt. Joshua

S. Preble and Lieuts. Ebenezer Wilson and John Foreman.

INDEPENDENT SHARP SHOOTERS.

Capt. Campbell Dougherty, and Lieuts. James Waltemire

and James Cox, joined this organization with a company of
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Hancock County boys. This company ('• H ") was in the

following engagements and skirmishs : Tuscumbia Bridge,

Danville, Miss., Blackland, Rienzi, Jumpertown, Miss.,

Hafcchie River, Booneville and Whitesides Farm. They

also took part in the Atlanta campaign, in the Sixteenth

Army Corps, of McPherson's Army.

In this campaign they were engaged in no less than

thirty encounters with the enemy, between the 8th of May
and the 5th of September, 1864. They were with Sherman

in his march to the sea, and were paid oflf and discharged

at Camp Denuison.

In addition to the several commands already named, our

county was represented in many other organizations, not

only of this, but of other States. A few of our patriotic

colored citizens went into the Fifty-Fourth and Fifty-Fifth

Mass. Colored Regiments. Every branch of the service

had representatives from Hancock. Every grade of soldier,

from the humble private in the ranks, who did the march-

ing a.nd fighting, to the Brigadier General, who did the

planning and commanding, had her full share of represen-

tation by our l)oys. It is estimated that not less than two

thousand as brave, as loyal men, as ever went forth to de-

fend their county, marched out of old Hancock at the sig-

nal of danger, and that more than one-third of that number

laid down their lives on the altar of their country—died

that their country might live. Hancock County is justly

proud of her war record, justly proud of her noble sons

who went forth to battle for right, and she jealously cher-

ishes the memory of her fallen braves, whose deeds are re-

corded in their hearts. May their example ever keep alive

a burning love of country in the hearts of the living.

I have thus briefly, and imperfectly, given a statement of
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ours in the war, a history that ought to be written, and

when written, the recital of the gallantry, the patriotism,

the sufferings, the achievements, the heroism, of our brave

men in that four dreadful years, would fill a volume. If, in

my sketch I have overlooked any who should have been

mentioned, or have did injustice to any one, my excuse is

ignorance of the matter, together with want of time and

space to do the subject justice.
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CHAPTER XXIV.

HANCOCK COUNTY AGRICULTURAL SOCIETY.

ON the 30th day of August, 1851, a number of the farm-

ers and other friends of agriculture, met at the Court

House in Findley, having lor their ohject the organization

of an Agricultural Society. Aaron Hall, Esq., now a resi-

dent of Michigan, but for many years an active member and

officer of the Society, was chosen President, and Robert

Coulter, Secretary. Little else, however, was done at this

meeting, other than to discuss the propriety of such an or-

ganization, and to adjourn until the first Saturday in Octo-

ber following.

At the meeting in October Judge Strother presided, and

Henry Brown acted as Secretary. A constitution was adopted

and officers elected as follows: President, Judge John

Cooper; Vice President, Judge R. L. Strother; Secretary,

William Taylor; Treasurer, Judge D. J. Cory, and John

Dukes, Aaron Hall, Wm. Yates, Henry Lamb, John Moore,

John Lafferty and Alex. Phillips, a Board of Managers.

Amongst the names of members recorded at that meeting,

in addition to those already named, are these of Hiram

Cox, A. P. Byal, Jesse Ford, Edson Goit, Elijah Barnel,

James Elsea, Wm. Mungen, Samuel Howard, Chas. Oester-

lin, xlbner Leonard, Samuel Kemble, Allen Wisely, S. R.

Gray, J. H. Wilson, S. Carlin and Aaron Baker.

The Society held its first Fair on the 15th day of Octo-
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ber, 1852, on rented grounds, north of the river, on what is

now known as Briiner's brick yard. Mr. Henry Brown, as

Secretary, says in his report, " That the attendance was very

large," The premiums awarded amounted to nijiety-nine

dollars and twelve cents.

In 1858 the idea of purchasing, or permanently leasing

grounds on which to hold the annual exhibitions of the So-

ciety, was broached at a meeting of the members of the

Board, and Dr. Oesterlin, I. N. Teatsorth, W. C. Cox and

R. S. Mungen were appointed a committee to " view sites,

and receive proposals for the purchase or lease of grounds

on which to hold Fairs, and to report to the Board of Offi-

cers the result of their labors, at their next meeting, for

theii- action thereon."

At that same meeting officers were elected as follows

:

Israel Green, President ; A. P. Byal, Vice President ; S. F.

Gray, Secretary; A. M. Hollabough, Treasurer; and A. W.
Strother, E. Karn, William Vance, William Martin, A. Leon-

ard, A. F. Parker, Aaron Hall, John Moore, Daniel Alspoch,

David Fox, Baker Hales and A. Hodge, Managers.

On the 9th day of February, 1868, the Board met and

accepted the proposition of J. H. Wilson for the sale of

eight acres of land adjoining East Findley, at one hundred

dollars per acre, payable in three annual payments.

The interest and attendance at the Fairs of the Society

so increased that it became necessary to look around for

more extensive grounds, to accommodate the patrons of the

Society.

Accordingly at a meeting of the Board in October, 1867,

G. W. Galloway, John Markel and C. L. Turley were ap-

pointed a committee to receive bids for the sale of the old

Fair Grounds and to report at the next meeting.
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In July, 1868, the whole matter was referred to A. W.

Frederick, John Markel and C. L. Turley, The old grounds

were sold to Samuel Hoxter, and the Society purchased of

Timothy Russell twenty and one half acres of ground just

south of town, to which was afterwards added five acres,

purchased of John Powell. Mr. Galloway was appointed to

superintend the improvements of the grounds.

The Society now owns twenty-five and one half acres of

ground, in a most beautiful location, which with the improve-

ments, are worth at least ten thousand dollars, and their

annual exhibitions are surpassed by none in the State.

The present officers are A. P. Byal, President; Ezra

Karn, Vice President; Henry Greer, Treasurer; D. B.

Beardsley, Secretary; and David Downing, Chester Cook,

Isaac N. Teatsorth, Rufus R. Hartman, James ]\I. Van Horn,

George Wilson, John Cusae, Isaac W. Marshall, John M.

Moreland and Jackson Robbins, Managers.
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CHAPTER XXV.

COUNTY OFFICERS.

NAMES of officers of the county since 1828, with the

date of election or appointment of same

:

Date. Sheriff.

1828
1829
1830
18;^2

1834
1835
1836
1838
1842lElisha Brown

Don Alonzo Hamlin.

John C. Wickham
Joseph Johnson.
Christian Barnel.

Jacob Rosenberg.

Alonzo D. Wing.
Absalom P. Byal.

1844
1846
1847
1848 Thomas Buckley
1850 James Robinson.
1853

1

Wm. M. Yates.
D. D. McCahan, (act)

J. M. Neibling

1S54

1855
1856
1859
1860
1863
1864
1865
1867
1868
1871

1872
1873
1874
1875
1876
1877
1878
1880
1881

C. B. Wilson.

D. D. McCahan.

A. Yerger. (act.)

Samuel Myers.

J. L. Henry.

Saiduel Myers.

Parlee C. Tritch.

C. B. Hall.

aerk.

Wilson Vance.

W. H. Baldwin

W. Henderson

A. P. Byal.

W. W. Siddall.

Jas. Dennison.

Peter Pifer.

S. W. Preble.

H.H.Louthon.

H.H.Louthon.

Auditor.

Mathew Reighley.
Wm. Hackney.
Thos. F. Johnson.
Jos. C. Shannon.

Edson Goit. (app.)

C. W. O'Neal.
W. L/. Henderson.
Jas. H. Barr.
Jas. S. Ballentine.
Wm. Mungen.

Elijah Barnd.

Henry Brown.

Aaron Howard.

Henry Sheets.

Solomon Shafer.

John L. Hill.

G. S. Mosher.

Jos. R. Kagey,

.Tos. R. Kagey.

Recorder.

W. Vance.

J. Barn el.

Jno. Adams

Paul Sours.

I J Baldwin

A Stiueman

L. Robinson

P. Kemerer.

J Gutzinler,

J Gutzinler,
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Date.

1828

1 830
1831
1832
1833
1834

1 835

1837
1838
mid
1841
1842
1843
1844
1 845
1846
1847
1848
1849
1850
1853
1854
1855
1857
1858
1859
18«1
1862
1863
1864
1867
1868
Ib69
1870
1871
1872
1874
1875
1876
1878
1879
1880
1881

Prosecutor.

Antlioiiy Cusad.

Edson Goit.

Jacob Barnd.

Jude Hall.
A. F. Parker.

W. M. Patterson.

A. F. Parker.

John E. Rosette.

Wm. Gribben.

Edson Goit.
J. A. Bape.
H. Brown, (app)

W. H. Anderson

G. F. Pendleton

Henry Brown.

A. B. Shafer.

A. B. Shafer.

Commissioner. Treasurer.

Pkobate Judges.
Barr, Alfred W. Frederick,

Sylvester J. Siddall.

John Long.
J. P. Hamilton.
C. McKinuis.
M. Hammond.
R. L. Strother.

John Rose.
John Byal.
Jno. L. Carson.
Wm. Taylor.
Darius Smith.
Aquilla Gilbert.
Dan'l Fairchild.
George Shaw.
Andrew Rickets.

Peter George.
John Lafferty.
Wm. Taylor.

W. W. Hughes.
Thomas Kelly.
Elias Cole.

Jacob Bu.shong.
Wm. Davis.
John EcKinley.

John Graham.
Isaac Cusac.
J Bushong.(app)
John Coojjer.
Wm. Taylor.
D. W. Eugle.

W. M. Marshall.
Sam'l Creighton
Jos. Saltzman.

J. D. Bishop.
Jno. Edgiugton.

R. W. Moore.
Louis Luneack.
R. W. Moore.
B. B. Powell.
A. S. Beck.

James H. Barr,

Edwin S. Jones

Squire Carlin.

Edson Goit.

Levi Taylor.

Wilson Vance.

Mahlon Morris.

L. Taylor, (app.)
Sam'l Howard

Beuj. Huber.

Wm. "Vanlue.

Benj. Huber.

Sam'l Spitler.

H. B. Wall.

H. Sheets, (app.)
Benj. Huber.
Peter Hosier.

Sam'l Howard.

Surveyor.

Wm. Taylor.

W L Henderson

Joel Pendleton.

G. W. Powell.

Joel Pendleton.

Edwin Phifer.

Nathaniel E. Childs, James H.
Gamaliel C. Barnel, Samuel B. Huflman,
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STATISTICAL TABLES.

TABLE showing the number of school houses in each

township, and their value, together with the value of

school house sites, as far as could be ascertained.

Townships.
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Table showing the No. of acres <
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Table showing uumber and value of churches in the

county, with the value of lands thereto belonging so far as

could be ascertained.

Township.
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HISTORV OF TOWNSHIPS AND TOWNS.

HAVING completed a brief history of the county, I pro-

pose to briefly notice the individual organization of

the several townships, and characteristics of the several

towns. Of course these sketches are incomplete as a full

history, and convey only a faint idea of the beginnings of

each. But they will serve to somewhat enlighten the at-

tentive reader as to the time and manner, and by whom
these several organizations were effected, and of their pres-

ent condition. All, I presume are interested in any and

every thing which pertains to the history of each township,

as well as of the general history of the county, and the

rise and progress of the several towns, will help to form a

correct opinion of our present status. The younger portion

of my readers are perhaps in ignorance as to who were the

real pioneers of the several parts of the county, and also as

to the location even, of the different townships. In these

sketches, I have endeavored to give them information on

both these subjects. The extent, population and statistics

of each is given, and of the towns the different business in-

terests are noted, as well as the churches and schools.

This part of the history of the county will then be of

peculiar interest, to the several localities described, as they

speak of matters which have come under the personal ob-

servation of many who are still living.
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LAND SURVEVS.

Land descriptions, as recited in deeds of conveyance, are

"but imperfectly understood by many, and to some are simply

riddles, not easily guessed. In order that they may be

•comprehended by all, and easily understood, wherever found,

I venture a brief explanation.

In order to make correct surveys and locate lands prior

to the settlement of the State, or of the formation of

bounties, or townships, or of the sub-division of townships

into sections, the General Government found it necessary to

liave a certain and fixed point from which townships and

ranges should be counted.

The Ohio Survey, to which we belong, was made in 1819

and 1820, after the fixing by the Government oi iho^ first

prmcipal Meridian, as it was called, which meridian com-

menced at the mouth of the Great Miami River, and run-

ning thence north on the line between the States of Ohio

and Indiana, to the Michigan line. A line was also estab-

lished, running east and west on the 49th Parallel of Lati-

tude, and called the base line. This base line runs directly

through the center of this county, dividing it into two equal

parts, north and south.

Townships were numbered north and south from this base

line ; those bordering on the line were called township num-

ber one—north or south—number two coming next, and so

on. The Ranges, which included a township in width, or

-exactly six miles, were numbered from the principal merid-

ian east, beginning with number one, at the Indiana line,

and numbering east. Hancock County is in Ranges nine,

ten, eleven and twelve.
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You will remember that the act organizing the county of

Hancock, provided that it should comprise "townships one

and two north, and one and two south, in ranges nine, ten,,

eleven and twelve, east of the first principal meridian."

That is to say, that townships one and two north, and one^

and two south of the base line, and in range nine, ten,,

eleven and twelve east of the Indiana line should consti-

tute the county. As these ranges are just six miles wide,

the number of the range being given, it is easy to determine

the exact distance from the Indiana line east. For exam-

ple, the first range in Hancock County is number nine, then

to the west line of the county there would l)e eight full

ranges, or exactly forty-eight miles from the Indiana line to

the west line of the county. The townships being just six

miles long north and soutli, their nujnber determines their

distance from the base line.

These townships, in their original I'orm, are just six miles^

square, and any change in the boundary of an original

township, does not effect the range, hence we have in this,

county some townships which include parts of two ranges.

Nor would a change in the boundary of an original town-

ship change its number either north or south from the base

line. To repeat then, the first row' of townships running

north and south along the first meridian, or Indiana line, is

called Range one east, the second row. Range two, etc., and

the first row of the townships on the w est side of this county

is in Range nine, the second in Range ten, the third in

Range eleven, and the fourth in Range twelve. The iirst

row of townships north of the base line, running east and

west, are numbered one north, the second row number twO'

north. The first row of townships south of base line is

numbered one south, and the second row number two south-
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These townships are divided into sections of one mile

square, and numbered from one to thirty-six. The numbers

always beginning with number one in the north-east corner

of the township, thence west to the line, and then back on

the next row of sections, and so on. These sections were

divided into halves and quarters. A section comprises six

hundred and forty acres, a half section, three hundred and

twenty, and a quarter, one hundred and sixty acres. Bear-

ing in mind what has been said, there would be no difficulty

in determining the location of the surveys, even though the

name of the township was not given.

The rule of the Land Department of the General Govern-

ment prohibited the Deputy Surveyor, who fixed the bound-

aries of the townships, from sub-dividing the same into sec-

tions. This was done in order that any errors might be

detected in the surveys, and to prevent fraud in measure-

ments. The following exhibit will give the dates of the

surveys of the townships, and also of the sub-divisions, and

by whom made. These surveys are given as they are re-

corded in the Secretary of State's Office at Columbus, 0.

Township one (1) south, Range nine (9) east.—Union.

Survey commenced May 23, 1819, by Sylvanus Bourne, D,

S. Sub-divided into sections June 4, 18J9, by John Collett,

D. S.

Township two, (2) south, Range nine (9) east.—Orange.

Survey commenced May 27, 1819, by Sylvanus Bourne Sub-

divided into sections June 5, 1819, by John Collett.

Township one (1) south. Range ten (10) east.—Eagle.

Survey commenced May 8, 1819, by James Holmes, per

Alex. Holmes. Sub-divided into sections Aug. 14, 1819, by

John Collett.

Township two (2) south, Range ten (10) east—Van Bureu
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and west, half of Madisou. Survey commenced May 29,

18 1 9, by Alex. Holmes. Sub-divided into sections July 3,

1.S19, by John Collett.

Township one (I) south, Range eleven (11) east.—Jack-

son and west one mile of Amanda. Survey commenced

May 31, 1819. by Alex. Holmes. Sub-divided into sections

Aug. 17, 1819, by John Collett.

Township two (2) south, Range eleven (11) east.—East

epd of Madison and a portion of Delaware. Survey com-

menced June I, 1819, by Alex. Holmes. Sub-division com-

pleted July, 1819, by John Collett.

Township one (1) south. Range twelve (12) east.—Aman-

da. Survey commenced June 2, .1819, by Alex. Holmes.

Sub-division completed Dec. 5, 1819, by Sylvanus Bourne.

This sub-division did not include the Reserve, which was

sub-divided in Sept., 1832, by C. W. Christmas.

Township two (2) south, Range twelve (12) east.—Dela-

ware. Survey commenced June 2, 1819, by Alex. Holmes.

Sub-division completed Aug. 14, 1819, by Sylvanus Bourne.

Township one (1) north, Range nine (9) east.—Blanch-

ard. Survey commenced May 22, 1819, ])y Sylvanus

Bourne. Sub-division completed Dec. 29, 1820, by J. Wam-
pler.

Township two (2) north, Range nine (9) east.—Pleasant.

Survey commenced Oct. 17, 1819, by Samuel Holmes. Sub-

division completed Dec. 7, 1820, by J. Wampler.

Township one (1) north. Range ten (10) east.—Liberty

and west half of Findley. Survey commenced May, 22,

1819, by Sylvanus Bourne. Subdivision completed Nov.

1820, by J. Wampler.

Township two (2) north. Range ten (10) east.—Portage

and west half of Allen. Survey commenced Oct. 15, 1819,
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by Samuel Holmes. Sub-divisiou completed Dec. 15, 1820,

by J, Wampler.

Township one (1) north, Range eleven (11) east.—Mar-

ion and east half of Findley. Survey commenced May 24,

1819, by Sylvanus Bourne. Sub-division completed Nov. 6,

1820, by J. Wampler.

Township two (2) north. Range eleven (11) east.—Cass

and east half of Allen. Survey commenced Oct. 14, 1819,

by Samuel Holmes. Sub-division completed Dec. 23, 1820,

by J. Wampler.

Township one (1) north, Range twelve (12) east.—Big

Lick. Survey commenced May 24, 1819, by Sylvanus

Bourne. Sub-division completed—except Big Spring Res-

ervation—Sept. 21, 1820, by John Glasgow^ Big Spring

Reservation completed Sept. 22, 1832, by C. W. Christmas.

Township two (2) north. Range twelve (12) east.—Wash-

ington. Survey commenced Oct. 28, 1819, by Alex,

Holmes. Sub-division completed Oct., 1820, by John Glas-

gow.
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ALLEN TOWNSHIP.

T. 2, N. R. 10 E. T. 2, N. R. J I E.

Area 15,360 acres. Population 1,025.

This township is on the northern line of the county, and

was the last township organized in the county. It was

formed of territory taken from the townships of Cass and

Portage.

On the 3d day of June, 1850, the Commissioners of the

county, " Ordered that a new township be erected of the

following territory, and called Allen Township. Said terri-

tory of Allen to be composed of Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, 17, 18

19, 20, 29, 30, 31, 32, of township two (Cass) north, Range

eleven east, and Sections 1, 2, 11, 12, 13, 14, 23, 24, 25,

26, 35 and 36 in township two (Portage) north, Range ten

east.

" Ordered that there be legal notice posted up in the new

township of Allen, for the election of the following named

officers for said township, to-wit : Three Trustees, one

Clerk, one Treasurer and one Assessor."

This township was named in honor of Ethan Allen, of

Revolutionary fame, and is bounded north by Wood County,

east by Cass Township, south by Findley, and west by Por-

tage Township. The Bellefontaine and Perrysburg State

Road runs directly through its centre, north and south.

The first entry of land, in this township, was made on the

25th day of August, 1826, by John Gardner, and was the
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west half of the north east quarter of section i 3. On the

1st day of June, 1829, Nathan Frakes entered the west half

of the south-east quarter of section 12, the farm now

owned by Sam'l Spitler.

In December, 1828, Major Bright entered the east half of

the south-west quarter section 36, and a year later, George

C. Collins, of Hamilton County, entered the east half of

north-east quarter of section 36.

These entries were followed in 1832 by others, made by

Henry Barnel, George Ensminger, Elias Bryan, Wm. Wilkes,

Christian Ensperger and others.

The first settlement was made in 1826 or 1827 by Nathan

Frakes and one JNIiller, west of Van Buren, on the farm now

owned by S. Spitler, and by Miller on the farm now owned

by J. Kempher. In 1827, John Trout, Elias S. Bryan and

John Burman came, and they were followed by Christian

Barnel, (father of John, Adna, G. C. and Elijah,) who came

from Perry County, and located on the Spitler farm, Frakes

having purchased and removed to what is now the Infirmary

Farm. John Barnel, son of Christian, came in the following

year, and is still a resident of the township. He too, moved

to the Spitler farm, and his father, with his family, moved to

Findley. Then came Charles Baker, of Fairfield, the En-

sminger's, of Wayne, Hugh and John Gilchrist, Jos. How-

ard and others. All of these families settled around and

near the site of the present town of Van Buren.

The timber in this township was poplar, walnut, oak, ash,

sugar, beech, hickory, &c. Poplar was very plentiful in the

south part of the township, but it has nearly all disappeared,

as a few years ago it was considered more valuable than any

other kind of wood, and was used very largely for building

purposes.
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The soil in the south part of the township is in part what

might be termed a sandy clay. In parts, however, it

is almost all clay, whilst elsewhere it is entirely sand. On

the north side of the township, between the ridge and Wood

County line, it is a black loam, mostly vegetable matter.

But all parts of the township are easily tilled and very pro-

ductive.

The middle branch of the Portage River passes through

this township, and is the most considerable stream in that

part of the county, and which has water the year around.

It passes out of the township at the north-west corner.

There are no other runs or creeks in the township, yet there

are natural drains in sufficient number, to make all surface

drainage necessary.

The first election held within the bounds of the township,

was in 1833, at which time both of the townships of Cass

and Portage voted. There were then but eleven votes cast.

The following are the names of the voters: John Burman,

John Trout, Elias S. Bryan, James Wiley, Hugh Gilchrist,

John Barnel, Charles Baker, George Ensminger, Michael

Ensminger and Peter Hockenberry. Of these eleven, John

Barnel is the only one now living. The first election in the

present township was held in 1850, in accordance with the

order before recited.

The first school house was built in 1836, on the farm now

owned by Peter Whetstone. It was of the round log, clap-

board roof, huge chimney kind, of course. There are now

nine school houses in the township, all brick but one, which

is a frame. The enumeration of youth of school age amounts

to three hundred and thirty-three.

The first church was built at Van Buren by the Presbyte-

rians, Rev. George Van Emon Pastor. Amongst the first



First Marriage—First Mill. 1^3

members were Samuel Huntington, John Leader, some Of

the Mooreheads, of Portage Township, and the Campbells,

of Wood County. This organization still exists. There are

now four church buildings in the township. One Presbyte-

rian, one Baptist, one German Lutheran, one United Breth-

ren, and all located in the town of Van Buren.

The Baptist churc^li was organized in 1855, and Henry

Roder and wife, Samuel Kagry, E. Smith were some of the

first members. Previous to the building of the church, ser-

vices were held at the house of Henry Roder, and as a

branch of the Findley church.

The first marriages were those of a Mr. Beeson and Miss

Trout; and Francis Rumor and Miss Ensminger. The first

death was that of a child of John Trout.

John Burman built a mill on the creek east of Van Bu-

ren, at an early day, which was the first built in the town-

ship. But as it was propelled by water, and during a great

portion of the year the water was so low in the creek, as

not to furnish power, the mill was of not much benefit to the

early settlers, who had to patronize the Teatserth Horse mill

at Findley, or go to Perrysburg, or Sandusky City for flour

and meal.

John Barnd, Esq., to whom I am indebted for much val-

uable information, relates the following incidents:

A very distressing accident occurred at a very early day,

in the settlement of this township, by which two persons

lost their lives. John Gilchrist and his little son,' d boy

about twelve years of age, and his brother, Hugh Gilchrist,

were out in the night season hunting coon. When about

one and a half miles north-west of Van Buren, on the farm

now owned by Hugh McMurray, a coon was treed, and it be-

came necessary to cut the tree down in order to get it.
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Thiji they did, but before it fell, John and his son took the

dog, who was restless, and, to keep him from getting under

the tree as it fell, went in the direction the tree was to fall,

and at a distance they thought out of reach of the falling

tree. When the tree fell, it struck another, which in falling

killed the boy outright, and broke the thigh of his father.

When Hugh found them, it being in ^the night season, he

could not move them without help, and this was some dis-

tance away. Having procured it they took his brother to

his home, where he died two days after. John left a wife

and five children, all young. They were very poor, and

were assisted by the neighbors.

In October, 1833, Mr. Barnd, with a neighbor, went into

what was known as the " Wild Cat Thicket," to cut a bee

tree, which had been found by Mr. Barnd, At that date

wild bees were very abundant, and every pioneer, were he

so minded, could always keep his table well supplied with

honey. It so happened that in this instance, the bees were

in a very large poplar tree, perhaps five feet in diameter.

Others besides Mr. Barnd and his friend knew of the tree,

for attempts had been made to chop it down, but its great

size had been discouraging, and it had been abandoned

Mr. Barnd himself had, after examining it, about concluded

that there was too much labor in the cutting, for the pay he

.was likely to get, and had concluded to spare the tree, and lose

the honey. Whilst looking up at the bees, busy at work in

the body of the tree, he discovered another swarm at work in

a large limb still higher up. This, he says, gave him courage

for the undertaking, and they two worked with a will until

the tree fell. The limb broke off at a distance of about

twelve feet from the body of the tree, and at that place

honey could be seen. On cutting into the limb at several
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places, it seemed to be tilled with honey. He and his friend

took the buckets they had with them, and filled them from

the body of the tree, went home, got their wives, and with

them took buckets and tubs, and returned to the tree, where

they procured the honey from the limb, which amounted te

sixteen gallons.

Mr. Barnd says that when he came to the county, th(

•'' Wild Cat Thicket," which extends through this township,

was so densely covered with an undergrowth, as to be hard-

ly passable, and although game was plenty elsewhere, it

could not get through this thicket. The timber or brush

was then quite small. A few large trees only were stand-

ing.

Game was very abundant, and the second year that Mr.

Barnd was in the township, he killed forty-five deer, be-

sides large quantities of smaller game, yet he did not con-

sider himself a hunter, as he had his farm to attend to.

The first frame building erected in the township, was the

Presbyterian church, which was built by John Kelley. The

first brick building was that of John Trout, on the south

the town of Van Buren. Old Johnny Appleseeds wa^^

through this part of the county, and there are still standing

several appletrees of his planting, some of which are on the

farm of Mr. Barnd.

At a meeting of the Pioneer Association of Hancock

County, held a few years ago, Mr. George W. Trout, read a

paper, giving an account of the emigration of his father's

family to the county, and of some of his recollections of

frontier life. I take the liberty of making some extracts

from that paper.

Mr. Trout commences by saying that " On November 12,

1828, my father, John Trout, with his family, left Somerset,

13
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Perry County, Ohio, for the regions of Hancock. We
passed through Thoruville, Newark, Johnstown, Sunbury,

Delaware and Marion, thence into the Wyandotte Reserve^

where we remained one night, at the house of a widow

Walker, a half-breed Indian, formerly the wife of an Indian.

Here we had sight of the first Indians we ever beheld. We
took dinner and fed our teams the next day, at a tavern in

Upper Sandusky, kept by one x\rmstrong. Mrs.*Armstron^

was an Indian. We crossed the Tymochtee Creek near the

dwelling of John James. From this place we sent back our

four horse team, and father and my brother Ephraim pro-

ceeded to Van Buren, or rather to the settlement near there^

as at that time and for many years thereafter, there was no

town, to procure teams to take us the balance of the jour-

ney. After procuring the necessary teams, on their return,

taking the Indian trail, they cut their way back, by w-ay of

the Big Springs. We w'ere eleven days, anxiously awaiting

their return. We again took up our line of march, and on

the following night, stopped with Peter George, in what was

then known as the ' Swamp Settlement.' On leaving Mr.

George's, we were told to strike the river as far up as possi-

ble on account of high water. This we did, and came to the

river at a point called * Ashery Ford,' but even here the wa-

ter was so high, that in crossing, it ran into the wagon

box. That night we camped in the woods, having failed

to reach any settlement.

'^The next day, by dint of hard traveling, by a road we

had to make as we went, we, at sunset, arrived at the house

of a Mr. Powell, about three miles above Findley. On the

next day, al)out noon, we reached the old ' Fort,' passing on

the wav, a school house, which was a very insignificant log-
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cabin. There were then but sixteen buildings in the place,,

and these seemed to have been built in mud and water,

'.'Though the town was then in its infancy, its people

showed, by the generous assistance afforded us in crossing

the river, they at least possesed noble hearts. We crossed the

river in a ' Pirogue,' and passed the night in a shanty near

where Carlin's mill now stands. We still had seven miles to-

go. ^Mother, brother John and myself started on foot, and

so continued our journey as long as the logs in the w^y fur-

nished a passage over the water. But presently we reached

the end of this natural bridge. Here, luckily for us, a Mr.

Foster came to our relief. He took mother on the horse he'

had brought with him. All that was left for John and I

w^as to wade, and we did wade until we reached Mr, Fos-

ter's house. We had by this time become quite cold, for it

had snowed the night before.

Having been refreshed by the kindness of Mr. Foster and
~

his family, we continued our journey, urging our cattle

through the mud and over the logs, and at last, about the

middle of the afternoon, tired out, we arrived at the house-

of Mr. Miller, on the farm on which Samuel Spitler now re-

sides. In the evening, the balance of our party arrived

with the horses, but no wagon. The wagons had got stuck

in the mud about three miles back, and the horses were un-

able to extricate them. It required all the next day to se-

cure the wagons and bring them in, for it was sunset on

December 15, w^hen they arrived at the cabin on the hill.

These cabins were of the rudest build, and plainest sur-

roundings. On the morning after the first night in our

cabin, our first inquiry w^as, who are our neighbors, and how
iarare we from any place. We were on the eastern frontier

of our immediate neighborhood. Miller, Bryan and Frakes.
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living about one ball" mile to tbe west of us. Our nearest

neigbbor on tbe east, was a Mr. Wade, who lived about

eighteen miles distant. On the south, Mr. Foster lived at a

distance of about six miles. On the west the nearest

settlement was at Fort Defiance, about forty-eight miles

away. Twelve miles to the north lived Mr. Haskins.

" Soon after our arrival, the Mr. Miller of whom I have

spoken, died, and Mr. Frakes moved to his new^ home on

the river, now the Infirmary farm, w-hich left but two men in

the settlement."

Mr. Trout has resided in tbe township ever since he came

to tbe county, and has witnessed the vast improvements,

made here, and the almost unparalleled increase in wealth

and population. Tbe wilderness has disappeared, and been

replaced by beautiful farms, pleasant homes, comfortable

churches and school houses.

WASHINGTON TAYLOR

Was the son of William Taylor, and was born in Bedford

County, Pa., July 4th, 1818. Mr. Taylor came to Ohio

with his parents in 1824, and located in Richland county,

about four miles from Mansfield. Ten years later, Mr. T.'s

father died, and in 1836 the family came to this county,

settleing first in Portage township. After living in the town

of Van Buren a few years, Mr. Taylor, in 1843, moved to

the farm on which he now resides. In 1838 he was mar-

ried to Martha Moorehead, who is still living.

The farm w hich is owned by Mr. T. is a very valuable one,

and beautifully located, with a good brick residence, and

commodious farm buildings. His five living children are all

near him, and are honest, industrious citizens. After a long

life of toil and privations as a frontiersman, Mr. T. is now
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enjoying the fruits of his labors, in the peaceful companion-

ship of his family, and respect of his neighbors.

JOHN HARDY.

John Hardy was the oldest of a family of five childrenr

and was born in the city of Philadelphia, on the i 5th day

of July, 1797, and came with his parents to Ohio in 1822,

and settled in Stark county. He was married in August

1822, to Martha Orr. In 18o2 he came to this county, and

took up his residence on the farm now owned by Ezra Karn

in Cass township. Mr. H. had entered six hundred acres of

land in the county, previous to his removal here. In 1835

he removed to his farm in this township, it being then a

part of Portage township, where he resided up to the time

of his death, in November, J 860.

Mr. Hardy was a man of strong common sense, and a fair

common school education, He was one of the first school

teachers in the county, and taught school in the winter sea-

sons, for more than twenty-five years. He was a man of

decided opinions, and always had the courage to defend

them. With his neighbors, he was noted for his honesty,

intelligence and industry, and his counsel and advice were

sought by his acquaintances.

Mr. H. w^as one of the pioneer Methodists of the county,

having been a member of that church before his coming to

the county, and remained so until his death. His member-

ship in the church covered a period of more than forty

years. His house was one of the early preaching places,,

and the itinerant minister always found a warm welcome at

his table and fireside.

He was the father of five children, three boys and two

girls, four of whom are living. His eldest daughter, now
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the widow of John McConuell. resides in Findley. Han-

nah, the youngest daughter, married the Rev. B. A. Desney,

a minister of the Methodist church, has lately taken up her

residence in Findley. Joseph 0., the oldest son, is now and

has been for the past twenty-six years a resident of Pendle-

ton, Ind., at which place he has been engaged in mercantile

pursuits. Oliver P. is <ine of the substantial farmers of

Eagle township. Addison, the youngest son, died about

ifive years ago, leaving to his young family, a fine home in

'Cass township.

JOHN BARND

Came to this county in 18.33 from Perry county, his fath-

er's family having preceded him the year before. Mr. Barnd

had married just ])revious to his coming here, and being

determined to make for his family and wife a home, engaged

in the serious business of clearing up the forests with a will,

and by his untiring industry, his economy, and intelligent use

of the means at hand, he succeeded in surrounding himself

with all the comforts of life, and after assisting his children,

•of which he had a large family, to start in life, has an

abundance left for himself and aged wife, who still lives to

share the fruits of their united toils, and early deprivations.

No man in the township commands a greater respect from

all classes of people, than does Mr. Barnd. Throughout

his long life, he has been noted for his honesty and hospital-

ity. Coming to this new^ country, when neighbors were few

and far between, when social enjoyments were almost un-

known, and w^hen strangei*s as well as friends were welcome,

Mr. B. always, and on all occasions, displayed the natural

goodness of his heart, in extending to all that generous hos-

pitality, for w hich the genuine frontiersman was noted. He
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was present and one of the voters at the organization of

Portage township, of which this township was a part.

Mr. Barncl was the lirst Justice of the Peace elected in

the new township of Allen, and held the office ten consecu-

tive terms. His discharge of the duties of the office was

satisfactory to his constituents, and liis decisions were

marked with such candor and fairness, that appeals were

very seldom made to the higher courts. Mr. Barnd is still

living on his old home place, spending his time peacefully

and quietly in the company of his family, who are near

him. Mr. Barnd has always followed the occupation of a

farmer.

GEORGE ENSMINGER

Entered the land on which a part of the town of Van
Buren now stands, in 1832, and in 1833 he, with John

Trout, laid out the town of Van Buren. Mr. Ensminger

followed farming for a livelihood, and was the owner of

much valuable land in this township. His descendants

iiave all left the township.

JUSTICES OF THE PEACE.

We here give the names of those who have been elected

to this office in the township

:

John Barnd—1850, 1853, 1856, 1859, 1862, 1865, 1868,

1871, 1871, 1877.

W. L. Heller—1852.

J. W. McCaughey—1855.
Philip Burnian—1861, 1864.

Robert Thornberg—1867, 1870, 1873, 1876, 1879.

O. W. Barnd—1880.

U
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GRAIN CROP AND VALUE OF DOMESTIC ANIMALS IN 1881.

An exhibit of the acreage and products of the grain crop

and the number and value of domestic animals, as reported

by the Assessor of the township in 1881 :

Wheat, 2r21 acres.
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In June, 18(56, upon the petition of thirty of its citizens,

this town was incorporated. Daniel Frick was first Mayor,

and C. S. Wilkinson, J. H. Loehr, Dr. E. C. Wells, Dr. E.

George, A. Mumert and L. P. McCune have succeeded him.

A post oiiice was established here as early, perhaps, as

1836, and the following persons have been Post masters

:

Dr. Geo. Springer, John Zarbaugh, S. M. Heller, C. S. Wil-

kinson, L. Michaels, Dr. E. C. Wells, D. Frick, L. J. Hisso-

ny, Sol. Zarbaugh, H. C. llartman, John Lee, Mrs. E. Wells.

The business of the place is transacted by one dry goods

store ; otie grocery ; one saloon ; ofie steam saw mill ; three

blacksmith shops; one wagon shop. There are also one

Baptist, one German Reformed, and one United Brethren

Church, and one Physician. There were one hundred and

thirty inhabitants here in 1880.



li^4 History of Hancock County.

AMANDA TOWNSHIP.

T. 1,S. il. il E. T. 1, S. R. 12 E.

Arka 17,380 ACRES. Population 1,1:76.

Amanda township borders on the east line of the county,

and is bounded north by Marion and Big Lick townships, on

the east by Wyandotte county, on the south by Wyandotte

county and Delaware township, and on the west by Jackson.

This township was organized in 1828, and beside Eiudley

and Delaware was the only one organized in the first year

of our county existence. In the year 1830, at the time of

the organization of Marion and Liberty townships, we have

mention of Amanda township, for the territory included in

this and Findley township was so divided up as to form the

four townships of Amanda, Marion, Liberty and Findley.

In December, 1831, it was ordered by the Commissioners

that " the township of Amanda shall hereafter consist of the

original towuship one south, in Range 12, and sections 34

and 35 in the original surveyed township one north, in the

twelfth Range.

This township at the present time, and ever since the

formation of Wyandotte county, sections 34: and 35 having

been restored to township one north (Big Lick) by act of

the County Commissioners, comprises Sections 1, 12, 13, 24,

25 and 36 in township one south, Range eleven east, and
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Sections 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 15. Ifi, 17, 18, 10. 20, 21,

28, 29, 30, 31, 32 and 33 in township one south, Range

twelve east.

Thomas Thompson made the first entry of land in this

township, on the 25th day of February, 1822, being the

east half of the north-west quarter of Section three, and on

the 27th day of the same month, the west half of the north

east quarter of the same section was entered by Henry Mc-

Whorter. In October, 1823, John Brundige entered the

north-west quarter of Section thirty-six. and John Smith

entered the west half of the south-east quarter of the same

section in December of the same year. In the month of

March, 1825, Isaac Gifford, of the State of New York, made

entry of the east half of the north-west quarter of Section

twelve. In 1826, Ira Baker and John Shoemaker made en-

tries. These were followed in 18li7 by John Beard, Peter

George, Henry George, Abraham Cole and others, and in

1828 by Jesse Gill>ert, John J. Hendricks, Andrew Beck

and others.

The first settlement in this township was made by Thomas
Thompson, in 1824, near the Big Springs, about one mile

from the present town of Vanlue, and in 1825 John Huff

and William Hackney came. They were followed soon after

by James Beard, John Shoemaker, Henry George and

Thomas Cole. Very soon after these Peter George, James

Gibson, John Hewitt and Aquilla Gilbert settled here.

Judge Abraham Huff was also one of the pioneers of this

township.

Thomas Thompson was a resident of this township for

more than a half century, and was highly esteemed by his

neighbors. He was a farmer, an occupation which he fol-

lowed to within a few vears of his death, when old age and
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infirmities compelled him to desist. He then moved to the

village of Vanlue, where he spent his last days in quiet and

died regi'etted.

Peter George, who was known as the " Pioneer land

hunter," he having entertained, and guided through the for-

est of Hancock County, more land hunters and emigrants

than any other men in the county perhaps, is still living

;

And though bent by age and hard labor, is yet cheerful and

happy, and loves to recount the experiences of a backwoods-

man. Mr. George was County Commissioner for six years.

William Hackney was one of the first officers of the

county, and is spoken of elsewhere.

Aquilla Gilbert, one of the first settlers of Jackson, as

well as of this township, and who taught the first school in

this township, still lives here. Mr. (jilbert has been promi-

nently connected with the affairs of the county almost from

its first organization, and has held office in both county and

township. He was six years one of the Commissioners of

the county, having been elected in 1837. He served as

Justice of the Peace for five consecutive terms in Jackson

township, and for three terms in Amanda township.

Abraham Huff, as one of the Associate Judges of the

county, has been mentioned heretofore.

The first election was held in the township in 1828. The

first school house, as stated by Aquilla Gilbert, was built in

the Messmore neighborhood, and the first school was taught

by Mr. Gilbert. Another opinion, that of J. M. Von Horn,

is that the first school house was built near the center of

the township, and that the first school in the township was

kept in a house on the farm of Uriah Egbert, in about the

year 1831, and that one George Smith was teacher. It is

not very material which of these gentlemen is correct, for
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all agree that these two schools \Yere almost, if not quite,

cotemperaneous.

There are now eight sub-districts in the township, each

one of which has a comfortable school-room. The enumer-

ation of youth is 180 males, and 176 females; total 356 in

township, and in the village of Vanlue, special school dis-

trict, the enumeration is 170.

The first church was built in 1831, in the south part of

township, and known as the " Swamp Church," The Luth-

eran denomination owned it, and amongst the first member-

ship we find the names of Fred. Brenner and wife, Adam
Alspoch and wife, John Fenstenmaker and wife, and several

members of the Beck family. The first sermon preached in

the township was by a Rev. Thompson, an Indian Mission-

ary. There are now" in this township eight church buildings,

owned as follows : One Methodist Episcopal, one Methodist

Protestant, two United Brethren, one Baptist, one German
Reformed, one Lutheran and one Disciples.

The timber is principally walnut, ash, oak, elm, hickory,

beech, sugar. There were a few places in the township

that were but sparsely wooded ; notably so a tract in the

north-east part know^n as the fallen timber region, and a

portion of the south part known as the swamp.

In the eastern part of the township the soil is clay, mixed

wdth sand and gi-avel, and when once properly cultivated is

very productive. As before remarked, in the south part is

what the people here call the " swamp," a strip of land not

many rods w ide, but extending almost across the township,

from east to west, the soil of which is a deep rich vegetable

loam, mixed with sand. This tract at the early settlement

of this section, was thought to be almost, if not quite

wholly worthless. But as agricultural science developed
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the means by which it might be brought into use, it was

found not only possible to reclaim it, but that when so re-

claimed, it was unusually productive. The river bottoms of

a sandy, gravelly nature, plentifully mixed with the rich de-

posits of vegetable matter, made by the overflows of the

water, of course are easily tilled, and yield most abund-

antly. In the northern part, as we have before observed, is

a tract of about eight hundred acres, known as the " fallen

timber," the soil of which is a muck, mixed with portions of

clay and sand. This tract was originally very wet, and it

is owing to this fact, perhaps, that so much of the timber,

especially the larger, had fallen.

The Blanchard River enters this township near the south

west corner of Section twenty-five, runs east to about the

center of the section, and then almost directly north through

sections twenty-four, thirteen, twelve, and into section one,

when it takes a north-westerly direction, leaving the town-

ship near the north-west corner. This river furnishes an

abundance of water, as well as drainage, for the most part

of the township, and is of immense value.

Buck Run, a small and unimportant stream, is the only

tributary of the Blanchard, and is important only as a

source of drainage. The Big Spring on the land of David

Smith, in the north-east part of the township, is most valu-

able on account of the great volume of water discharged,

as well as the excellent quality of the same. This is un-

doubtedly the largest spring in the county. Such is the

amount of water discharged that an abundance is furnished

for the watering of stock in all this part of the township.

This is one of the most populous townships in the county,

and it is fast becoming one of the wealthiest. Each year

sees the better improvement of the older farms, and the re-
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claiming of new lauds ; the erection of a better class of

farm buildings, and the introduction of the latest improved

farming implements. The early settlers came principally

from the eastern counties in the State, and their descend-

ants are an active, energetic, and progressive people.

There are two flouring mills, and very good ones too, in

this township; one a steam, and the other a water mill..

There have been three Post Offices in this township, but

two of them were long since discontinued. The first estab-

lished w as the " Blanchard Bridge," at the house of Aquilla

Gilbert, on the Blanchard River. Mr. Gilbert was the first

and only Post Master. The office was in existence for

many years, and was a great accommodation to the citizens.

But villages sprung up in the vicinity, and travel took an-

other route, and the office was discontinued. Shortly after

the establishment of "Blanchard Bridge," another office

was established near the Richard Hall farm and called

" Ashery." Joseph Twining w'as the first and only Post

Master here. This office was long since discontinued for

the reason that the necessity for its existence had passed

away. The third office was established at Vanlue, of which

we will speak in the proper place.

The following named persons have held the office of Jus-

tice of the Peace. The date of their election is given.

Thomas Thompson—1829.

John J. Hendricks—1829.

Samuel Gordon-1831, 1834, 1837, 1840, 1843, \M{].

Abraham Karn—1836.

John Thompson—1840, 1843.

William Yaulue—1845, 1848, 1851, 1854.

Aquilla Gilbert—1849, 1852, 1855.

IB.
A. Etherton—1857, 1860, 1863, 1866.
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John Crawford—1857, 1860, 186:3, J8G5, 1868, 1871.

1874, 1877, 1880.

T. B. Gilbert—1866.

Ira Plotts—18(59, 1872, 1875.

B. F. Burnap— 1878, 1881.

CAPERNAUM.

The town of Capernaum, w'hich n^as in this township,

was laid out by x\braham Huff in March, 1831, on the west

half of the north-east quarter of section three, and com-

prised in all sixteen lots. The land on which the town was

located, now belongs to John L. Sheridan, and aside from

the fact that it was platted and recorded, the town has no

record. The site was probably abandoned before any lots

were sold. At least its history is less brief than is that of

the city of the plain, for which it was named. It is exceed-

ingly doubtful if any one in the vicinity is able to even

point out the site.

VANLUE.

Tliis town was laid out by William Vanlue, Esq., in

whose honor it was named, and is on the north-west part of

the north-east quarter, and the north-east part of the north-

west quarter of section nine. It is located on the line of

the Findley branch of the Cleveland, Sandusky and Cincin-

nati R.ailroad, ten miles a little south of east of Findley.

The town was laid out in May, 1847, and at that time consist-

ed of forty-four lots. In November of the same year the pro-

prietor laid out an addition of fifty lots more.

In October, 1853, S. N. Beach made an addition of fifty-

seven lots, and in 1858, he, with others, laid out Beach's

second addition of forty-nine lots. Charles Cross laid out

an addition of ten lots in 1870.
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From the sale of the rirst lots the town steadily improved,

and was a very considerable grain market I'or a number of

years after the completion of the railroad, but of no great

importance otherwise.

There are many tasteful and comfortable dwellings, neat

fences, shady streets, all giving the place a home-like appear-

ance. The streets have never received that attention from

the town authorities which they deserve, and consequently

they are frequently in a bad condition. After a few years

•of great prosperity, the town, as new towns do, slacked up,

and stopped progress, came to a stand still, went through a

sweat as it were. Business seemed for a time to have for-

;saken the place. Enterprise too, seemed to have taken its

leave. Progress had got stuck somewhere, and everything

seemed going to the dogs. But this state of affairs could

not last long. The town could not stand still. It must go

forward, or must retreat.

In 1866, upon the petition of fifty of the inhabitants, the

village was incorporated under the laws of the State. Pur-

;suant to the Act of Incorporation, the first election for vil-

lage officers was held on the loth day of April, 1867; Peter

•Shuck, C. H. Hatch and Jason Lee as Judges, and Ira

Plotts and John Dresbach, Clerks. There were thirty votes

cast The following officers were elected : Mayor, Elisha

Brown; Recorder, A. Brown; Councilmen, H. Pratt, Ira

Plotts, B. A. Etherton, Charles Hatch and A. S. Roberts

;

Marshal, W. L. Plotts. The following persons have held

the offices of Mayor : Elisha Brown, Aquilla Gilbert, Fred

.Shuler, J. H. Brown, B. F. Burnap, T. B. Gilbert, H. L. Lee.

The population of the village is three hundred and sixty-

four, and at present is in a flourishing condition, and prom-

ises much improvement.

14
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There is quite a considerable business done in the village,,

as a list of its business houses will show.

There is one dry goods store, of considerable capital, and

in which is kept a supply of the staple articles of merchan-

dise, which are sold at very fair prices. This branch of

trade has always been reasonably well represented, some-

times by three or four rival establishments, at the same

time.

A gi'ocery and provision store has been lately opened,,

and is meeting with fair encouragement, and promises not

only to be one of the fixtures of the town, but to fill a want

long felt in its line.

Daniel Gilbert has for a number of years been engaged

in the drug business here, and has an establishment, which

for completeness, in everything except extent of stock, is

not surpassed by any similar establishment in the county.

Here you may find anything necessary to be kept in a coun-

try drug store. The building is of frame, and was built ex-

pressly for this business.

There are also three saloons, one hotel, one harness shop,

one hardware store, with a general stock of goods in that

line. This establishment was owned and managed by the

late Hon. John Wescott & Son, and had by a course of fair

dealing, reasonable prices, and by keeping an assortment of

goods, built up a flourishing trade. There is one furniture

store, one tin shop, three boot and shoe shops, two barber

shops, three dress makers and milliner shops, two black-

smith shops.

The steam grist and merchant mill of Fred Shuler, has

no superior in the county as a good flour-maker. This mill

was first built about fifteen years ago, and was fi-om the first

noted for the fine brand of flour it turned out. Mr. Shuler



Vanlue. 203

conducted the business for a number of years, when he sold

to a Mr. Vansant, who alter running the mill for a short

time, had the misfortune to have it burned down, destroying

everything of building and machinery. Not being able to

rebuild, Mr. Vansant left the place, when Mr. Shuler again

came to the front, and built the present building, completing

it with the latest, best and most improved machinery, and

now can boast of as good a flouring mill as there is in the

county, at least.

There are two steam saw mills, two handle factories, and

two planing mills, none of them very large, but all doing a

good business.

The English Lutherans have quite a comfortable frame

church building, and a good congregation. Some three

years ago the United Brethren, who had long had a society

here, and a church building, erected a neat frame church,,

well furnished and comfortable, and have quite a large con-

gregation.

The Methodist Episcopal, the oldest church organization

in the town, not to be outdone by her sister churches, re-

cently completed one of the handsomest frame church build"

ings in the county, furnished with bell, organ, beautiful pul"

pit, and comfortable seats. They, too, have a large and

interested congregation. All of these societies have flour-

ishing Sabbath Schools attached.

The' village has a frame school building of three rooms,

and boasts of one of the best schools in the county. The

enumeration of youth in the district is one hundred and

seventy.

A Post Office was established here in 1849, with Dr. W.
P. Wilson as Post Master. The succes'sive Post Masters
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have beeu as follows; John Wescott, W. P. Wilson, Ira

Plotts, W. A. Sponsler and Daniel Gilbert.

The Findley branch of the C, S. & C. Railroad passes

through this place, and the town being surrounded as it is

by a rich agricultural district, there is quite an amount of

freighting business done.

Table exhibiting the number and value of live stock, and

the acreage and product of grain, as shown by the return

of the Township Assessor in 1881.

Horses, 693 number. $26,400, value.

13,110, "

4,670, "

5,740, "

71,162 bushels.

13,122

133,320 ''

705 tons.

496 bushels.

Cattle, 1,221
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BLANCHARD TOWNSHIP.

T. 1, N. R. 9 E.

Area 23,040 acres. Population 1,286.

The act of the Commissioners organizing this township^

was passed in 1833, in these words: "That original surveyed

township num])er one north, range nine east, shall be known

and organized by the name of Blanchard."

In March, 1834, the Commissioners " Ordered that town-

ship two north, raDge nine (Pleasant Tp.) be attached to

Blanchard township," but a year later this township was

detached from Blanchard and organized into a separate

township.

Blanchard is on the west border of the county, bounded

north by Pleasant township, east by Liberty, south by Union,

and west by Putnam county line. It derives its name from

the river of the same name, which passes through it from

east to west, dividing it into two almost equal parts.

The first entries of land made in the township were the

north half of north-west quarter of north-east quarter of

section thirteen, by David Stinson, and the north-east quar-

ter of north-east quarter of same section, by John Veal,

both entries being made on the 12th day of August, 1822.

On the 19th day of the same month and year, W. A. John-

son entered the south-east quarter of the north-west quarter

of section fifteen. On September, 1825, John Hunter took.
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up the south half of south-west quarter of section fifteen,

James McClish entered the east half of north-east quarter

of section twenty. In 1827, Orlando Moffitt entered west

part of south-east fractional quarter of section seventeen,

and John Dukes the east half of the north-west quarter of

section fifteen, and Henry Epley the east part of the

south-east quarter of section eighteen. These entries were

followed by others, and a settlement of the township followed

close on the entries.

The first settlers in this township were John Hunter and

John Chandler, both of Fairfield County, who came here in

1826, and located on the south side of the river, on the

farm now owned by Alfred Davis, and known as the old

Geo. Shaw farm. The first settlers of this part of the

county were in the main from the interior and eastern coun-

ties of the State, with a few families from Pennsylvania

and New York. These two first families were not long

without neighbors, for in 1828, Richard, John and Lewis

Dukes, of Franklin County, and Thomas Grove, of Picka-

way County, settled on the opposite side of the river, and

opened up extensive fiirms, and erected comfortable build-

ings. Thomas Groves still lives and occupies the old farm,

and in his declining years, is surrounded by broad acres of

the richest agricultural lands in the whole county.

Richard Dukes, who but recently deceased, occupied the

old homestead, to within a few years of his death, when he

removed to Findley, and so situated himself as to enjoy the

society of his friends, and obtain the rest from toil, which

he so much needed. His last years were peaceful and

quiet, in the enjoyment of home and its comforts.

Lewis Dukes, sr., came to this township in 1826, when

only about nineteen years of age, and hired out as a farm
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liand. Id a few years, by his indnstry and frugality, he was

able, at the low wages even then paid, to accumulate enough

money to enter a tract of eighty acres of land. This he

improved, and was enabled as the country improved, to add

many acres of valuable lands to it, until he has become one

of the wealthiest men in the township. Mr. Dukes has been

twice married, but was never blessed with children. He
(united with the Methodist Church in early life, and has

ever since been a consistent member, ever living up to his

profession.

Mr. Dukes is of an unassuming nature, never seeking

notoriety, and never urging his opinions on others. His in-

dustry, tact and economy are proverbial, and his opinions

on business matters are clear and forcible. His life has been

devoted to agricultural pursuits, in which he been unusually

successful.

David M. Baldwin was one of the earliest settlers of the

south part of the township, having come from Fairfield

County, and settled on lands adjoining the town of Benton.

All was a wilderness when he came, and he lived long

enough to see one of the finest neighborhoods in the county.

Mr. B. was a genial, whole-souled man, ever ready to ac-

commodate to the extent of his ability, and ever ready to

resent an insult. For years he kept a tavern, where the

weary traveller always found a well laden table. His large

family are living near their old home, which is occupied by

his aged widow.

John Dukes remained in this township until he became

quite well advanced in years, and had witnessed the many
•changes w^hich occurred, when he disposed of his property

and removed to Wood County, where after a residence of

several years, he too was gathered to his fathers.
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Thomas Moffitt. who with his brothers, William and John^

had made their residence here about the time the Dukes'

came, after making for himself a home and its comforts,

was attacked with the "Western Fever," sold his farm and

emigrated to Iowa, or the " Black Hawk Country," as it

was called, where he still lives. John and William Moffitt,

and McClish, still reside in the township, and are amongst

its most substantial men.

Michael Fishel, one of the early residents, only a few

years ago sold his farm on the south side of the river, and

now resides in the village of McComb. Alfred Davis, an-

other frontiersman, and one of the solid men of the county,

owns and occupies a magnificent tract of land on both sides

of the river, and takes life calmly. George Shaw, one of

the early commissioners of the county, owned a splendid

farm here, on which he spent the greater part of his life,

and here died and was buried. About the same time came

Jeremiah Code, David Millham, Sol Foglesong and the Ep-

leys.

These early settlers all chose the independent and honor-

able occupation of farmers, and well was their choice made,

for no richer agi-icultural lands are to be found in the State,,

than those which they occupy and cultivate.

These pioneers were hardy, temperate, frugal, energetic

and industrious, and deserve their past and present prosper-

ity.

The Dukes' brothers were early and consistent members

of the Methodist Church, and friends to, and workers in the

Sabbath Schools. The first church building in the county

was put up in this immediate neighborhood, and they con-

tributed largely, not only to its erection, but also to sustain-

ing the ministers sent among them. This old log church.
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still stands on the farm owned by Eli Dukes. Since its

day, however, a frame building was erected a little further

west, which was used by the same society for a number of

years, when about two years ago, it in its turn, made room

for a more comfortable and pretentious brick building—in-

deed one of the finest church edifices in the county. There

are now two Methodist Episcopal, two United Brethren, and

one Evangelical Church in the township, all good sub-

stantial buildings.

The first school house was a log cabin affair, and stood

near where the present residence of 'ihomas Groves stands,

and was built in 1830. The first school was taught by John

C. Wickham. There are now ten school buildings in the

township, and the enumeration of youth is three hundred

and eighty-four.

The first marriage was that of John Dukes and Hannah
Houchings, the Rev. Thomas Thompson officiating. Two
little children of George Shaw were the first deaths.

The soil of this township varies with the locality. Along

the river it is a rich sandy loam, mixed with vegetable de-

posits, made by the overflow of the river. On the south

ridge it is a fertile, sftndy soil, and between the ridge and

the river bottoms, the land is flat and rather wet, but cov-

ered by a rich, deep soil of vegetable loam, mixed in places

with sand or clay. On the north side of the river, after

getting back fi-om the bottoms, the soil is almost invariably

clay; good wheat and grazing lands, whilst for the produc-

tion of corn, the bottom lands are not excelled anywhere.

Oak, ash, hickory, sugar, beech, walnut and poplar, are

the principal timbers. Of the latter kind, there were im-

mense amounts, and of the finest quality, but such has been

the demand for it, that it has almost entirely disappeared-
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This township is well watered by the Blanchard River

and Ottowa Creek. The river passes through the township,

and furnishes water the whole year around, and also the

best of drainage. It is subject to occasional overflows, but

does no material damage.

Ottowa Creek rises in section thirty-six, in Uniou town-

ship, runs in a northerly direction, enters Blanchard township

in section thirty-six, runs north, thence west, thence in a

north-easterly direction, and empties into the Blanchard

River in section fourteen. Its distance in the towu ship is

about four miles. It is quite a considerable stream, and

there have been quite a number of saw-mills along its

course, at different times. It furnishes the means of drain-

age for almost the entire south part of the township.

Shortly after the settlement made on the north side of the

river, l)y the Dukes and others, the Powells, Foglesong,

John L. and Richard Carson, Engle, Baldwin, Fishel,

Hughes, the Downings, Knepper, and some other families

settled in and near the present town of Benton. Solomon

Foglesong, and his brother-in-law, Knepper, came there

perhaps as early as 1830, and settled on the banks of the

"Tawa," as it is generally called. Foglesong, almost the

only survivor of the first residents, still lives on the old

homestead, but the weight of years is heavy on him, and he

may soon be called to follow his early companions. Daniel,

William and John Powell still reside in the neighborhood of

their first settlement. All have good farms, comfortable

homes, and a competency of this world's goods. Jacob,

another of the Powell brothers, died a few years ago, from

the effects of a cancer, and after years of gi-eat suffering.

The Rev. John Powell, who has devoted his life to the

ministry of the United Brethren Church, and who not only
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acquired a good farm by bis industry and economy, but

within a few years bas found a wide reputation as the

founder of the Powell Association, and the successful mana-

ger of two re-unions of the family, as well as the author of

a memorial history of the Powell family, still liyes in the

quiet enjoyment of bis farm, in the south part of the town-

ship.

Jacob Engle, the kind, generous, large-hearted Dutch-

man, as he was called, cleared up and occupied a splendid

farm adjoining the present site of Benton, where be liyed

for yeais amongst bis many friends, until about 1860, when

he was called away to meet his reward. Honest, generous

to a fault, be was a good neighbor, and a social, genial com-

panion. He left a wife and large family of children, who

haye since all emigrated to the West, the widow and most

of the children being residents of Iowa.

Owen Hughes was one of those honest, up right, cheerful

men, that one would expect to find in a new settlement.

He lived to a good old age, and died as be had long liyed, a

consistent member of the church, and a christian man.

Most of his children are residents of the county. Mr.

Hughes was twice married, but both wiyes died before he

did.

All of my older readers, perhaps, will call to mind Dick

Carson, at the bare mention of bis name. He was one of

the champion fighters of the county. Not that be was

quarrelsome, or sought to proyoke a fight, but he was one

of these powerfully built, muscular men, courageous, sensi-

tive to an insult, and whilst not ill-tempered, especially

when sober, he was quick to resent an indignity, or an im-

putation of his courage or veracity. He was just such a

man as every township or county wanted to defend its hon-
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or, as it was then the fashion, at a general training, or a

country horse race. Dick was just the man for that, as

many an unlucky braggart found to his utter discomfiture.

But the reader must not suppose from this that Mr. Carson

was a rough, a bruiser, or bully. On the contrary he was a

good neighbor, a firm friend, and a peaceable citizen. His

brother, John L., was at one time Surveyor of the county.

The two Carsons and their families emigrated to the west

many years ago.

The Downings were of the first settlers, and were a

hardy, industrious family, and all became quite well off in

course of time. George, David and William were carried

off in 1849 by the California Gold Fever, but after a few

years toil in that El Dorado, they all returned to Blanchard

township, applied themselves to agricultural pursuits, and by

industry and economy made gi-eat additions to their western

earnings.

In after years William moved to Kansas, where he still

resides, and has had the honor of representing his county in

the State Legislature. He was followed to his new home

by his father, old Johnny Downing, as he was familiarly, but

respectfully called, and his brother Isaac and family. The

old gentleman and Isaac have both died since. George re-

sided in this township until about ten years ago, when he

went to Iowa, where he now resides. David still lives in

the township, and is not only one of its wealthiest, but one

of its most respected citizens. He has a model farm, with

one of the finest dwelling houses, not only in the township,

but in the county, and commodious and convenient out-

buildings. His pecuniary circumstances enable him to de-

vote much time to the breeding and introduction of fine

cattle in the county. He has some of the best herds in
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this part of the State. Pie deals largely in stock cattle,

being quite an extensive feeder. He has been a member of

the Board of Managers of the Hancock County Agricultural

Society for a number of years, and has devoted much time

in making the Society one of the best in the State, and his

efforts, and those of his associates, have not been unsuccess-

ful. Mr. Downing has, as he deserves, the confidence of

the entire commnuity.

His sons and daughters, of which there are several, are

all married, and I believe without an exception, all reside in

this and adjoining townships.

This locality, on account of the abundance of fish and

game, was one of the resorts of the Indians on their hunt-

ing expeditions. And indeed hunting and fishing were not

•only among the amusements of the whites, but they were

works of necessity with them, in order to support them-

selves. The fish-net and the rifle was a part of the furni-

ture of every well regulated log cabin, and by the skillful

use of these, the tables of the pioneer were spread with

fish, johnny cake and venison, to which the neighboi and

stranger alike were always welcome.

In 1848 a Post Office was established in this township

called Oak Ridge, It was first located at the house of

William Downing, on the Findley and Defiance State road,

north side of the river, and Mr. Downing was the first Post

Master. It was an office of no importance, only as it gave

to the community in which it was located, mail facilities,

and this accommodation has been such as to warrant the

continuance of the office to the present time. Mr. Downing
has been succeeded by the following persons as Post Mast-

ers, viz.: Robert Marshall, Mr. Morris, Mrs. Wm. Downing,

\
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Rezin Cook, David Downing, Eli Dukes and L. C. Groves,

present incumbent.

BENTON.

This town situated on the ridge running east and west

through the county, and nine miles west of Findley, was

laid out in November, 1835, by William Mires, on the east

half of the north-west quarter of section thirty-five, and

originally composed but thirty-six lots. In 1855, William

Powell made an addition of five lots, and in 1867 he made

a further addition of eleven lots, and in ] 868 he made a.

third addition of ten lots.

The town was named in honor of the sturdy old Missouri

Senator, Thomas H. Benton. The location is a beautiful

and healthy one, and is surrounded by a rich and productive

agricultural country. The immediate vicinity of the town

was settled at a very early day by the Powells—William,

Jacob, John and Daniel,—David M. Baldwin, Jacob Engle,

Solomon Foglesong, Knepper, Michael Fishel, Owen Hughes

and other like enterprising frontiersmen.

The business of the town has never been large, and con-

fined principally to supplying the surrounding country with

some of the most necessary articles of trade. Not having

as yet any railroad facilities, the town has made but little

real advancement.

A Post Office was established here in about 1840, called

Benton Ridge, and D. M. Baldwin, William Miller, Philip

Ballard, Isaac Sperow, M. Merchant, T. J. Saunders, J. G.

Saunders, J. H. Saunders, and H. W. Hughes have held the

office of Post Master.

In March, 1875, the town was incorporated for special

purposes.
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There is now a special school district, owning a comfort-

able brick school house, and with an enumeration of seventy

children.

The Methodist denomination have a fine brick church

building, a good congregation, and a flourishing Sabbath

School. The Evangelical Association have a frame church

building, and an interesting Sabbath School in connection

with their congregation.

The business of the town is conducted by two dry goods

stores, fu'O groceries, one drug store, one saloon, one wagon

shop, one blacksmith shop, one plow factory, one cabinet

shop, one hotel. There are two physicians located here. A
flouring mill and a saw mill are also in operation. The

population of the village in 1880 was one hundred and

eighty-nine.

LOUISVIILE.

This town was laid out in 1851, by William H. Powell,

Daniel Millham and Michael Shearer. The two last named

have been dead for many years. The town plat was in the

north-west corner of the east half of the north-west quar-

ter of section fourteen, and the north-east corner of the

west half of the north-east quarter of section fourteen in

township one north, range nine east, and covered forty lots,

but I think they were not all sold. The principal streets

were Defiance (Main), running east and west, and East,

Lima and West streets, ruuning north and south.

The town, however, after a sickly existence of a few

years, was finally vacated, and remanded to the several

original owners. In its palmiest days, it could boabt of a

country dry goods store, a school house, and three dwellings.

For a year or more John Boylan, an old resident of the
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township, kept a country store, where the staple articles of

the market were on sale in small quantities, but the trade

not being profitable, he abandoned the business. Such is

the history of the birth, life, and decay of this town of

great expectations, and it does not now exist even in name,

and scarcely in the memory of the neighborhood. How
many hopes were blasted, and how many expectations came

to naught in the early decay of this prospective city?

JUSTICES OF THE PEACE.

Thomas Moffitt^l831, 1841, 1844.

John C. Wickham—1835.
John L. Carson—1836.

John M. Radabaugh—1837.

Charles Frost—1838.

Henry Cook—1S40, 1843.

Eli Dunning—1846, 1849.

John Boylan—1847, 1856.

Mathew E. Hopkins—1851.

Philip Ballard—1854, 1857.

W. H. Kilpatrick—1857.

George Downing—1857, 1860, 1863, 1866.

Robert Marshall—1860.

Jonn Wortman—1862, 1870, 1878.

Ephriam Mathius—1866, 1869.

Hiram W. Hughes—1869, 1872.

Joseph Thompson—J 873.

A. Wittemyer—1875.

W. P. Dukes— 1876.

John Bergman—1877.

J. C. Wickham—1880.
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ijig lick township,

Tp. I,N. R. 12, E.

Area 23,040 acres. Population 1,261.

The Commissioners of the county, at their session of

March 7, J 831, after defining the boundaries and extent of

Amanda Township. " Ordered that the original survey of

township one north, in range twelve east, except sections

thirty-four and thirty-five, shall hereafter be known and

organized by the name of Big Lick."

At the session of the Commissioners held June 3. 1833,

Robert L. Strother and John Rose, Commissioners, being

present, the following order was passed: "Ordered that Big

Lick Township shall include the whole of the original sur-

veyed township No. one north, in range twelve." Since the

passage of that order, the township been has known as an

original township of thirty-six sections.

In September, 1821, Henry McWhorter made entry of

the west half of the south-east quarter of section thirty-

four. This was the first entry of land in the township. In

May, 1825, the east half of the south-east quarter of sec-

tion twenty-seven was entered by John G. iVlspach, and

September 5, of the same year, Eliza Huflf entered the east

half of the north-west quarter of section thirty-four. In

December, 1828, John Shoemaker made entry of the east

half of the south-east quarter of section seventeen. These

entries were followed in 1829 by those of John Huff, of the

15
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west half of the south-east quarter of section seventeen, of

the west half of the north-east quarter of section twenty-

ne by John Long. In 1830, Henry Hinebaugh, of Fair-

field County, entered the north-east quarter of section one,

and in the same year, Uriah Egbert took up the west half of

the north-west quarter of section nineteen, and about the

same time an entry of the west half of the north-west

quarter was made by Philip Essex.

William Hackett, of Stark County, William Roller, of

Richland, Elijah Brayton, of Crawford, Mary Graham, of

Madison, John Graham, William Wiseley and others made

entries of land, and became residents of the township.

This township is on the east line of the county, and is

bounded on the north by Washington township, on the east

by Seneca County, on the south by Wyandotte County and

Amanda township, and on the west by Marion township.

The lirst settler in the township was Samuel Sargent, who

made an improvement on the limestone ridge, in the south-

eastern part of the township, sometime in 1826. The

second person who made a permanent settlement was John

Long, who located near the centre of the township the fol-

lowing year. In February, 1829, John vShoemaker settled

about three-fourths of a mile west from Mr. Long's. Mr.

Shoemaker still lives to recount the hardships and incidents

of frontier life. Sargent came from Ross county, and Long

and Shoemaker from Fairfield County, this State.

The first township election was held in 1831. at the resi-

dence of John Long. The electors present were John Shoe-

maker, Robert Long, Levi Poulson and Cornelius Poulson.

AVhilst these men were holdijig an election and organizing

the township, the good Mrs. Long prepared them a dinner

of the best in her larder.
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Amongst the early settlers here, were the Thomas's the

Moore's, the Rollers, the Graham's, the Poulsou's, Wiseley

and others, some of whom are still living in the township.

The general surface of the land is level, although some

parts are undulating. The prevailing soil is clay loam. In

the south-eastern part of the township is a sand ridge, and

is underlaid with limestone. In that portion of the town-

ship is also a marsh or prairie, some fifteen hundred acres

in extent, which is entirely a vegetable soil, and largely un-

reclaimed, except for grazing purposes. It will no doubt all

be brought under cultivation in the near future, by the help

of drainage. That so much of it has been reclaimed, is

largely due to the enterprise and well directed exertious of

Judge Cory, of Findley, who owns most of the entire tract.

The timber embraces numerous varieties, among which

are white, red and burr oak, blue, black and white ash,

beech, elm, hard and soft maple, sycamore, black and white-

walnut, hickory, basswood and buckeye. A ridge of white

oak traverses the township, of such excellence, that ship-

ment of logs have been extensively made to foreign coun-

tries.

No streams of water traverse the township of sufficient

size to furnishj water power. The only stream that main-

tains a current during the entire year, is the outlet to the

marsh or prairie. This sluggish stream takes its size in

Seneca County, runs in a westerly direction, and empties

into the Blanchard River near Mr. Allen Wiseley's, in Ma-
rion Township. There a number of smaller streams, which
however, are^ouly water courses in wet weather.

Numerous Sulphur Springs on the farm of Robert Long,
near the center of the township,comprise what used to be a

famous deer lick, called "Big Lick," from which the town-
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ship derives its name. Large numbers of deer were killed

here by the present owner, and by others, Mr. Long, on

one occasion, had secured his seat in a tree convenient to

the lick, when a colored man, who had been assisting in

•driving some cattle from some point farther w^est, was on

his return trip from the east, and night overtaking him, he

•concluded to camp near the springs. Mr. Long not know-

ing who he was, and supposing him to be a rival at watch-

ing for deer, concluded to frighten him away. Whereupon

he made such an unearthly noise, that the poor fellow took

to his heels and never stopped until he brought up in the

Blanchard River, near Allen Wiseley's. He had so over-

heated himself as to cause his death soon afterwards. Mr.

Long's efforts to have a little fun, turned out quite se-

riously.

These early settlers were greatly annoyed by gangs of

Indian hunters and trappers, who made the neighborhood

their rendezvous. Especially was this the case with Mr-

Shoemaker, who, more progressive than his neighbors, had

secured a grind-stone. The Indians charged upon that

grind-stone with their dull tomahawks and knives, until it

w^as literally worn out. They also had a way of trading ven-

ison for pork and potatoes with Mrs. John Moore, in whic

h

she invariable came out second best. Knowing that the

w ife w^as afraid of them, they would make their visits in the

abssence of the husband, hence she, in order to get rid of

them, would send them to the patch to help themselves. It

being the first crop, and not a very large one, Mr. Moore

soon discovered that the entire crop had disappeared. Ver-

min were also destructive upon the corn. The settlers could

only protect themselves by the use of the rifle, and if one

chanced to be poor shot, he employed some one by the day.
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who was an expert with the gun. At night, too, it demand-

ed watching, to save the corn from the raccoons.

The surroundings and discomforts of the early settlers

here, and the scarcity of even the commonest necessities of

life, may be shown in the pioneer life of Mr. John ^loore,

now an old and much respected citizen of the township, and

by the way, one of its most prosperous farmers. Mr. Moore

at that time owned one hundred and sixty acres of land, and

was perhaps as well fixed as any of his neighbors. He was

however, compelled to manufacture all his own furniture.

His first child (A. J. Moore, a resident of this township),

was rocked in a sugar trough, made by " Big River," a AVy-

andotte Chief, and which had been used before the arrival of

Mr. Moore in the country, as a sap trough by the Indians.

Mr. Moore's first bedstead was made by himself, of iron-

wood poles. The cords were of bass-wood bark, w^ell inter-

laced together. No straw was to be had with which to fill

the ticks, i\Ir. Moore thereupon gathered forest leaves suffi-

cient to make a mattress.

Mr. Moore was elected first Supervisor of roads in the

township, and had for a district, the north half of the town-

ship, eighteen square miles. He superintended the opening

of the New Haven road, from the east township line, west-

ward to near the center of the township.

In those days, stock of every description was allowed to

run at large in the forest, as all the inclosed land had to be

cultivated in order to produce food for man and beast. The

damage done to crops by stock running at large, made trou-

ble amongst the people, and a board of fence viewers be-

came necessary. This board were to determine, when

called upon, whether or not the enclosure was a sufficient or

legal fence.
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Accordingly, William Roller, who Avas noted for his avor-

dupoise, William Moore, who was noted for his diminutive-

ness, and Richard Bayless, noted for his activity, were

chosen as the Board of Fence Viewers. It was then agreed,

that any fence which would bear Mr. Roller, and through

which Mr. Moore could not creep, nor Mr. Bayless jump

over, should be declared a lawful fence.

The first school house in the township was built in 1836

—

exclusively by voluntary labor—upon the farm now owned

by the heirs of James Graham. It was located in the forest

a full half mile from any public highway. There were but

two sub-districts in the township, at the time. Sometime

subsequent to the above date, there was another school

house built, about two miles west of the first—on the lands

now owned by the heirs of Moses McAnnelly. A. fair in-

terest is now taken in the cause of education by the citizens

of this township. There are now 413 youth in this town-

ship of school age, for the accommodation of whom there

are ten school houses.

The first church erected in the township was a hewed log

structure, thirty-six feet square, and located on the present

site of Enon Valley Church, on the Findley and Tiffin road.

It was built in 1844 by the citizens in the neighborhood,

mainly, however, by the combined efibrts of the Presbyte-

riahs, Covenanters and Seceders. The first site selected for

the building, was upon Robert Leonard's farm, some two

miles south-east from the one subsequently built upon.

Rev. R. II, Hollyday, still of Findley, superintended the

building of the church.

There are now eight churches in this township. Two
owned by the Evangelical denomination, two by the United

Brethren, two Methodist Episcopal, one Presbyterian and
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one Christian Tniou. Amongst the tirst chnrch members

were Henry Thomas and wife, James Thomas and wife and

Andrew Poulson.

The township has heen so developed in its resources, as

to be one of the richest in the county, In 1880 over

75,000 bushels of wheat was raised; corn, oats and grass are

also produced in large quantities.

The Findley and Carey Branch of the Cleveland, Sandus-

ky and Cincinnati Rail Road is the only road of that kind

which touches the township, and that runs but a short dis-

tance in it.

JOHN MOORE.

Mr. Moore was amongst the first settlers in this town-

ship, and came here with his young wife, when all was new,

and when energy, industry and good health were the requi-

sites to success. These qualities were combined in Mr.

Moore and his brave wife. His strong arm soon opened up

a farm, and his house was the stopping place of the strang-

er emigrant, and at his table was ever found welcome hospi-

tality.

Mr. Moore endured all the hardships of frontier life, and

now in his old age, surrounded by his children and grand

children, he, in the midst of plenty, the fruits of his own
toil, is enjoying life peacefully and quietly. He is one of

the largest land owners, as well as one of the wealthiest

men in the township. He has always followed the inde-

pendent life of a farmer, and I believe his children are all

engaged in the same business.

Mr. Moore has always been a friend of public schools.

His own opportunities for obtaining an education when

young has always made him seriously feel his loss, hence

k
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he appreciates the blessings of such schools to the rising

generations.

MOSES m'aNNELLY

Was one of the prominent men of the county, as well as

of this township, coming here at an early day, and being

a man of more than ordinary intelligence, he took the

lead in the new settlements. He represented this county

in both branches of the Ohio Legislature, and was re-

garded as an honest, upright man. He too was an agricul-

turalist, and made for himself and family, a pleasant and

valuable home. Mr. McAunelly has been dead a number

of years.

JOHN SHOEMAKER

Came from Fairfield County to this township, in Februa-

ry, 1829, having the year previous entered lands in section

seventeen. There were but a very few families in the town-

ship at that time, among whom were Samuel Sargeant, on

the limestone ridge, and John Long in the immediate neigh-

borhood of Mr. S.'s settlement. Mr. Shoemaker was pres-

ent and assisted at the organization of the township in

183L
He is still a resident of the township, and is of the very

few who came here at that early day. The cultivation of

the soil has always been his occupation. Honest, industri-

ous and hospitable he has always commanded the respect of

the community. His sterling good sense has always made

his advice valuable. He is reaping the fruits of his long

years of toil and privation, happy in the consciousness of the

unvaried rectitude of his life.
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WILLIAM ROLLER,

One of the Associate Judges of the Common Pleas Court

of the county, was also a resident of this township. As a

Judge, his good common sense, and honesty of action, gave

him his very flattering reputation. Honest in his convic-

tions, sympathetic in his feelings, he could hardly err in his

decisions, as he was a man of average intelligence and fair

common school education. He never abandoned the occu-

pation of a farmer, but succeeded in amassing a competen-

cy, and leaving a considerable inheritance to his children.

He was respected by his neighbors, and was always a friend

to those in need. Unostentatious in his private lifie, and

courteous in public, he could not but have hosts of friends.

FREEDOM.

Uriah E. Drake laid out forty-eight lots on the east half

of the south-west quarter of section nineteen, on the 26th

day of October, 1836, and called them the town of Free-

dom. So far as I can learn, the above is a complete history

of the place.

WEST INDEPENDENCE.

George Wyant, Peter Wyant and Henry M. Grose were

the proprietors of this town. It is located on the east part

of the east half of the north-east quarter of section two,

and at present has a population of one hundred and thir-

ty-four. The Evangelical Association have a church build-

ing, and there is a good, comfortable school house m the

village. The business of the place consists of one hotel,

one grocery and provision store, one saw mill, two slioe

shops, one physician and one blacksmith and v/agon shop.
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The United Bretliren have a neat house of worship, and a

prosperous society,

A post office was esttablished herein 1856, with Frederick

Reamer as Post Master. Mr. Reamer was succeeded by J.

L. Kenower, Jacob Ruth, John Peters, and Wm. Blinu, the

present incumbent.

This vilhige had a population of one hundred and thirty-

four, in 1880.

Table showing the number and value of live stock, and

the number of bushels and acreage of grain in this town-

ship, as returned by the Township Assessor, in 1881

:

Horses, 573 number.
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John Graham—1845, 1848, 1851, 1854, 1857, 1860,

1863, 1866.

Charles Henderson—1842.

Jerry Rickets—1850.

James Ruckman—1856.

Fred. Ramer—1859, 1862.

J. P. Edwards—1863, 1866, 1869.

Abraham Mumma—1864, 1867.

Wm. K. Leonard—1867.
Geo. W. Graham—1869, 1872, 1875, 1878, 1881.

J. W. Gibson—1870.
John Newhouse—1873.

Geo. W. Brown, 1877.
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CASS TOWNSHIP.

Tp. 2, N. R. 11, E.

Area 15,360 acres, Population, 823.

On the 1st day of March, 1833, the Commissioners " Or-

dered that the original surveyed township number two, in

range eleven, be set off into a separate township, politic and

corporate, and to be called Cass." Ordered that an order

be issued to the voters of Cass, to meet on the first Monday
of April, and elect Township Officers.

At the formation of Allen Township in 1850, Sections 5,

6, 7, 8, 17, 18, 19, 20, 29, 30, 31 and 32 of this township

were taken to assist in the forming of that township. Hence

there are but twenty-four sections in this township at pros-.

ent.

This township was named in honor of Gen. Lewis Cass,

of Michigan, and is located on the north border of the

county. Bounded on the north by Wood County, on the

east by Washington township, on the south by Marion, and

on the west by Allen Township.

David P. Day, of Wayne County, 0., made the first entry

of land in this township, on the 10th day of March 1832,

at which time he took up the north-east quarter of section

eleven. Two days afterwards, John Franks entered the

south-west quarter of section one, and the north half of

section ten. Mr. Franks was also from Wayne County.
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Mayo, 1832, Elam Day entered the east half of the

north-west quarter of section twelve^ and on the 31st day

•of the same month, Eleazer C. Fairchild, of Trumbull

County, entered the south-west quarter of the south-east

quarter of section two, and the w-est half of the north-west

quarter of section twelve. In the same year, entries were

made by Andrew W. Page, of Green County, D. Shippy, of

Seneca, C. W. Colebaugh, Alpheus Eldridge, James Wood,

Samuel McClellan, of Wayne, William Eckles, of Holmes,

James Beeson, of Fayette.

The timber of this township is of the varieties'know^n in

other parts of the county, such as oak, "ash, hickory, sugar,

beech, elm, walnut, and poplar. And these several kinds of

timber were very plenty.

The soil is of several kinds. On the ridge in the north

part of the township, it is a sandy and gravelly soil. Be-

tween the ridge and the Wood County line, it is a loam of

vegetable formation, whilst south of the ridge there is a

mixture of clay with other soils.

The Portage river has its source in this part of Hancock

County, and is the only stream of water in this township.

Good drinking water, however, is obtained by sinking wells

to a no very great depth.

The first school house was built in 1835, and there are

now six school houses in the township, and the enumeration

of youth of school age in 1880, was 278.

The first church w^as built in 1843, by the Methodist

Episcopal denomination, and was known as the Vickers

Church on the ridge. There are now but two church build-

ings in the township, and they both belong to the Methodist

Episcopal.
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The first settlements were made in 1833, on sections one,

two and three, by E. C. Fairchild, Daniel Fairchild, David

P. and Elam Day, James Vickers, John Franks, James

Brown, Samuel Harry, and on section twelve, by Charles

Eckles, John Welch, George Elliot. On section eleven

by John Hardy, Hiram Hulbert, James Woods.
,

The early settlers here were mostly from the eastern part

of this state.

There was a post office established is this township in

1837, and discontinued in 1867. Daniel Fairchild and Jas.

Vickers were the only post masters.

The people of this township have always been noted for

their steady habits and peaceable disposition. There is

much very valuable land in this part of the county, and the

farms and farm buildings, for style and comfort, will com-

pare favorably with that of any other township in the

county.

The Lake Erie and Western Railroad runs across the

south-east corner of the township, and the New York,

Chicago and St. Louis road, now in course of construction,

passes through the township from east to west.

FRANKFORD.

John Franks laid out the town of Frankford, on the north-

west quarter of section ten. The town of seventy-two lots

were regularly laid out, with a public square or plaza, in the

center. The prospective city, however, only existed in name,

and no doubt would long since have been forgotten, had it

not been a matter of record. There were, perhaps no lots

sold, and the town returned to its original state, that is,

cornfield.
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The following named persons were elected Justices of the

Peace in this township:

John Payne— 1834.

Daniel Fairchild—1835.

David Dorsey—1835, 1838.

John Chaffin—1838.

Andrew R. Brandeberry—1841, 1844.

Alonzo H.Cobb—1841, 1844, 1847.

Joseph Wineland— 1847.

Joseph Lash—1850.

Abner Crawford— 1853, 1856.

Gideon Smith—1850.

Addison Hardy—1859, 18(52, 1865, 1868, 1871, 1874.

Enoch Ross—1862, 1865.

Jacob Steeker—1868, 1871, 1871, 1877.

John L. McKee—1876, 1879.

Samuel Creighton—1847, 1850, 1853, 1859.

Henry Stough—1880.

JOHN BURMAN.

John Burman was born in Luzerne County, Pa., in Feb-

ruary, 1783, and came to Fairfield County, Ohio, where he

was married to Catharine Fisher. Mr. B. was of Dutch de-

scent. He was a gun-smith by trade, and worke d at that

business until he came to this county, in 1828, after which

time he was a farmer. Mr. B., his father and two brothers

were in the service of the United States in the war of 1812,

and had head-quartees at Franklinton, opposite Columbus,

Ohio. When Mr. B. came to this county with his family

he took up his residence in a lo^ cabin on the laud on Mliich

he occupied up to the time of his death.

Mr. B. was of medium height, and weighed about one
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hundred and seveuty-five pounds, ef strong constitution

and robust health, he was well calculated to do battle with

the hardships of pioneer life.

In religious belief; Mr. B. was a Lutheran, and was a

member of that church many years. He built the first mill

in the township. During the first year of his residence

here, his was the only family residing in the township. He
has four sons and two daughters living. Two of his sons

were in the army during the rebellion. Mr. B. died in

18(>3, and his aged wife survived him about five years.

EZRA KARN

Was one of a family of eight boys and four girls, all of

whom attained full age except one, and was born in Wash-

ington County, Md., September I6th, 1815. The family re-

moved to Ohio in 1817, and settled in Holmes County, then

on the frontier, with only a few log cabins, and plenty of

wild beasts. In 1836 Mr. Karn came to Hancock County

with his family, and settled in this township, on the farm

now owned by P. C. Redfern.

Again the family became frontiersmen, the country being

new, and but sparsely settled, and without roads or mark-

ets. Here the Karn's had as neighbors, John Hardy, Hiram

Hulbert, Daniel Fairchild, John Franks, John Eckles and

James Vickers.

In 1839 Mr. Karn married Miss Elizabeth Albertson, and

commenced at once to make for himself a home. He
cleared up t*vo farms, and by his industry and perseverance,

succeeded in surrounding himself and family with the com-

forts of a beautiful home. Mr. K. had a family of eight

children, all now living but one. Mrs. Karn died in May,

1880, after a long and useful life. Mr. Karn has the confi-
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dence of his neighbors and acquaintances, for his sterling

honesty and good common sense. He has been a member of

"the Lutheran Church for about forty years, and his life has

been consistent with his profession.

Mr. Karn has always been a farmer, a progessive farmer,

one whose experience and advice have been of advantage to

his neighbors. For many years he has been an officer of

1;he Hancock County Agricultural Society. He was one of

the very first members of this society at its organization in

1852, and has ever since lent his influence and aid to its

building up, and its present success is largely due to his

continual labors in its behalf He is now and has been for

ibur years Vice President of the Society.

JAMES VICKERS

Was born in England, and came to this country in abont

1825, and settled in Wayne County, Ohio. In 1833, he

made his way to this county, and commenced his labors on

the farm now owned by his son James h.. No man in the

township was more generally respected, than was Mr. Vick-

ers. Conscientious, honest, temperate and hospitable,

kind to all, a friend to the poor, and always ready to ren-

der assistance to the weary emigant. His house was the

home of the Methodist itinerant, and here were held the

services of the church, until a suitable building for the pur-

pose was erected on his land. To the building of this house

and the sustaining of the minister of the church, he was a

liberal contributor. Mr. Vickers was a farmer, and by the

aid of his good wife and his family, which was a large one,

be always had an abundance. He died in 1867, lamented

by the entire community. His wife survived him until

1881.

16
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JOHN ECKLES.

The subject of this sketch was born in Westmoreland

County, Penn., on the 25th day of April, 1795, and resided

in that State until 1836. In 1819 Mr. Eckles married

Esther Booth, with whom he lived up to the time of her

decease in 186'2. His ancestors were from Ireland. He,

during his whole active life, followed the occupation of a

farmer. He is a man of strong will and of very decided

opinions, and is not easily swerved from his purposes.

In 1836, with his wife and four sons, he emigrated to this

township. He purchased two hundred and twenty acres of

land on the ridge, between Fostoria and Van Buren, princi-

pally of John Franks, sr., and went boldly to work clearing

up a farm, and he succeeded in making one of the very best

on the ridge. The country was new, no markets, no roads,

no neighbors scarcely, and the family endured all the hard-

ships incident to new settlements. Mr. E. united with the

Presbyterian Church in early life, and was one of the first

members of that church at Van Buren. He is quite active

for a man of his age, yet the weight of years is sensibly felt

by him, but his former habits, and his early industry, ena-

able him to now live a quiet, peaceful life, free from toil or

privations.
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Statistical table showiDg the acreage and bushels of graia

and the number and value of live stock, as returned by tbe

Township Assessor, to the County Auditor in 1861.

Wheat, 2,502 Acres. 52,668 Bushels.

Oats, 489 " 15,416 *'

Corn, 1,674 '' 57,675 "

Flax, 16 " 137 "

Hay, 628 " 740 Tons.

Horses, 439 number. $18,565, Value.

Cattle, 1,019 " 10,735, "

Sheep, 2,295 " 4,343, "

Swine, 1,551 " 3,764, "
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DELAWARE TOWNSHIP.

Ti>. 2, S., R. 11, E. Tp. 2, S., R. 12, B.

Area 19,200 acres. Population 1,456.

In the year 1828, the territory now included in this town-

ship was organized and named Welfare. We find this rec-

ord of the proceedings of the County Commissioners, under

date of June 1st, 1829; "Agreeable to the petition of sun-

dry citizens of Welfare township, in Hancock County, the

name of Welfare is changed to that of Delaware, and to be

known as such."

I have not been able to ascertain why the township was

originally called Welfare, nor do the records disclose the

reason for changing to Delaware. The township no doubt

owes its present name to the fact that the Delaware tribe of

Indians made this part of the county a favorite resort.

This township now includes sections 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11,

12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 33, 34,

35, 36, in township 2 south, range 11 east, and sections, 6,

7, 18, 19, 30 and 31 in township 2 south, range 12 east.

It is located in the south-east .corner of the county, and

bounded on the north by Amanda and Jackson townships,

on the east by Wyandotte County, on the south by Hardin

County, on the west by Madison township. It contains

"thirty sections of land.

Asa M. Lake made the first entry of lands in this town-
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ship on the 12th day of December, 1822. The tract entered

was the west half of the north-west quarter of section 1.

In 1823 entries were made in the following order as to

dates; Michael Buck, west half of the north-east quarter of

section 2, Curtis Berry, east half of north-east quarter of

section 2, John Brundige, the south-west quarter of section

1, W. J. Greer, east half of north-west quarter of section 1,

John Rose, east half of south-west quarter of section 11,

William Da\is, east half of north-west quarter of section 14.

Then followed entries by David Augustus, Marquis Lafayette

Plumb, Levi Edgington and others in 1826, and by Josiab

Elder, Godfrey Wolford and others in 1827.

The first settlement made in this township was by Asa

M. Lake in the year 1822. Mr. Lake built a log cabin on

a parcel of ground now owned by Michael Treece, and in the

limits of the village of Mt. Blanchard. The parcel of land

had been used by the Indians as a burying ground. Many
skeletons and relics have been dug up, and even to the

present day they are to be found. Mr. Lake was one of the

very earliest settlers of the county. He entered and set-

tled on the west half of the north-west quarter of section

1. This tract was on the east side of the Blanchard River,

and is now occupied in part by the village of Mt. Blanch-

ard.

Amongst the first settlers of this township were Asa M.

Lake, Josiah Elder, the Hamlins, one of whom—Don

Alonzo—was one of the first county officers, the Wolfords,

of whom Godfrey was one of the first Commissioners of the

county, and the Greers.

The settlement here was perhaps the very earliest in the

county, next to that at Findley. Don Alonzo Hamlin was

the first Sheriff of the county, and was also County Assess-
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or. Godfrey Wolford was Coroner of the county, and was

also County Commissioner I believe, and Asa M. Lake was

one of the first Justices of the Peace in the county.

The lands in this township were mostly purchased by

emigrants from the south-eastern counties of Ohio. A few,

however, were from Pennsylvania and Virginia. This was

a full township of thirty-six sections until the formation of

Wyandotte County in 1845, when one tier of sections on

the east side were taken to help form that county.

Asa M. Lake, who first came to the county in 1822, re-

sided here to the time of his death, lie was a fair speci-

men of the class of men who first emigrate to a new coun-

try, hardy, industrious and honest. He succeeded in build-

ing up for himself and children a home in one of the rich-

est sections of our county, and lived long enough to see a

thriving village built up on the very lands he had redeemed

from the wilderness, and peopled with an intelligent and

energetic population, supplied with schools and churches

and other appliances of civilization.

The red-man, who had been his early companion, had

long since been removed westward, and herds of domestic

animals taken the place of the wild.

Josiah Elder, whose parents came to this part of the

county almost simultaneously with the Lakes, after spend-

ing an honest, active lifetime, almost, in the township, died

a few years ago, on the old homestead. Mrs. Henry Helms,

a sister of Mr. Elder, related to me, a few years ago, the in-

cidents connected with her wedding day, in that long ago.

She was first married to William J. Greer, of this township.

She relates that her intended husband, and herself, travelled

from Delaware tow^nship to Findley on horse-back—both on

one horse—through the almost trackless wilderness, where
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they obtained a license, and then in the same manner went

to the residence of Joshua Hedges, a Justice of the Peace,

three miles west of Findley, where they were married, and

returned to their homes. The trip occupied three days.

What do my fair readers think of that style of wedding-

tour ?

The soil of this township is generally a black sandy

loam, intermixed with clay in some parts. The Blanchard

Kiver traverses the township from south to north, and with

its fertile bottom lands, and numerous creek bottoms, makes

it one of the best agricultural districts in the county. Many
of the most beautiful farms in the county are to be found

here. The lands—as in all parts of the county—were

ieavily wooded, and the improvements we see here are the

result of the most arduous toil. The fruitful fields have

teen redeemed from the wilderness, only by the most patient

industry and economy.

The timber here found is of the usual kinds, indigenous

to the country, such as sugar, beech, elm, white and black

ash, the different varieties of the oak, walnut, hickory, hack-

berry, buckeye, etc.

The township is well watered by the Blanchard River,,

which crosses it, and by the creeks and runs tributary to

it. The most considerable creek is in the eastern part of

the township, and called Potatoe Creek. Good drinking

water can be had in all portions of the township, by sinking

wells from ten to thirty feet.

The first school house was built in 1830, near the center

of the township, on the farm now owned by J. A. Rose.

The first school was taught by John Wolford. The school

population was not large at that time, and were easily ac-

commodated in the log school house. The enumeration of
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school age in this township, in 1880 was 355, outside the

town of Mt. Blanchard. There are now eight school houses-

in the township, one graded and seven common or ungraded.

The first church was built in 1838 by the Methodist

Episcopal denomination, in the town of Mt. Blanchard.

But it must not be supposed that the people were without

religious services up to that time. The school houses and

private houses had been the churches. There are now

seven churches in the township, three Methodist Protestant,,

two Methodist Episcopal, one Baptist and one Presbyterian.

Godfrey Wolford built a flouring mill on the Blanchard

River in 1830, near the center of the township. The mill

is now known as " Fahl's Mill." And Felix Miller built a

saw mill—the first in the township—on the Blanchard

River, near the south line of the township.

The only still-house ever in the township was built in

1833, by Abner Bell. It was run but a short time, and

was then sold to Samuel Thornton, and removed to Jackson

township, where it was operated for several years.

The first white child born in this township, was John B.

Elder, and it is believed to be the first white child born in

the county. Marian Greer was the first white female born

in the township. Nancy Williams, wife of Nathan Williams,,

was the first white person who died in this township.

The first election for township officers was held in 1832.

R. W. Hamlin, Harvey Smith and John Rose were elected

Trustees, Godfrey Wolford, Clerk, and D. 0. Hamlin, Treas-

urer.

The first couple married were Asa M. Lake and Charlotte-

M. Greer, and the second couple, William J. Greer and Ros-

anna Elder. Both couples were married by Joshua Hedges,.

J. P. of Findley.
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Mr. Simpson Harris, long a resident of the township, and

to whom I am indebted for much valuable information, re-

lates the following incidents

:

"In 1«28, or 1829, as John H. Greer, M. S. Hamlin, J.

Greer and D. 0. Hamlin were out at play, they came to

where a tree had been blown out by the roots, and in fall-

ing had left bare the skeleton of an Indian. Upon exami-

nation they found a large amount of jewelry, consisting of

finger rings, ear and nose rings, wristlets, breast plate,

necklace, and quite a large nugget, which they supposed to

be copper, all engraved with some French characters.

They, supposing the rings to be nothing but tin, and of no

particular value, divided them equally between themselves,

as near as they could.

"There was a trading post established in what is now

Wyandotte County, the agent of which, hearing of their

finding, sent word that if they would bring them to him he

would pay them all they were worth. M. S. Hamlin sent

his portion of the rings, etc., for which he received seven

dollars in money. The nugget laid around for a long time,

pieces being frequently hacked off, and it was finally lost.

This was afterwards supposed by some to have been gold."

"In 1830, John Greer and M. S. Hamlin, two lads, con-

cluded they would take a hunt, and with their guns and

ammunition, on a beautiful morning, they started on their

way. After spending some time in the sport, and securing

what game they wanted, they started on their way home-

ward. After travelling sometime, and not reaching home,

it became e\ddent that they had lost their way.

" After a few moments of consultation they agi*eed on the

direction they would take, when travelling until late in the

afternoon, they came to an opening or clearing. At this
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they rejoiced to think they would soou rest their weary

limbs. But their hopes w^ere doomed to disappointment, for

they had landed at Upper Sandusdy.

" But they did not allow this discovery to entirely discour-

age them. They concluded to try it again, but by a surer

road this time. They struck oif on the old Indian trail-

To reach home that night they knew w'as impossible, but

determined to go as far as they could. The afternoon being

well spent, some preparation must be made for the night.

Just as the sun was setting they came to an Indian wigwam.

The old Indian and his squaw kindly took them in, admin-

istered to their wants, and they had a good night's rest.

The next morning the old Indian pointed out the old trail

to them, bade them God speed on their road home, where

they arrived the same day."

MT. BLANCHARD.

In October, 1830, Asa M. Lake, one of the very earliest

settlers of the county, laid out a town of fifty-three lots on

a part of the west half of the north-west quarter of section

1, and the east half of the north-east quarter of section

2, and called it Mt. Blanchard. It is situated on the blufis,

or high grounds on the east bank of the Blanchard River.

The location is a good one, surrounded by beautiful and rich

farming lands. The tow^n is regularly laid out in squares,

the streets and alleys crossing at right angles. The build-

ings are mostly of wood, and the dwellings are commodious

and respectable. The town w^as incorporated in 1865. Dr.

John Foster was the first Mayor, since which time the fol-

lowing persons have held the office : H. C. Pickett, J. W.
Turnpaugh, J. W. Wingate, W. W. Hughes, A. F. Naus, J.
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W. Pickett, Jacob Harris aud R. W. McVary, present in-

cumbent.

A Post Office was established here in 1834, with John P.

Gordon as first Post Master, since which time Elijah Strad-

ley, Chester Cook, W. W. Smith, J. Lafferty, J. Patterson,

L. A. Baldwin and Henry Greer, who now holds the office,

have been Post Masters.

The Methodist Episcopal denomination built the first

church in the town. It was a frame building and built in

1838. The Rev. Thomas Thompson and Rev. Gavit, then

Missionaries at Upper Sandusky, were the first Methodist

preachers. They organized a Society at the residence of

Father Greer, one half a mile east of Mt. Blanchard, on

the banks of Potatoe Creek, where they continued to wor-

ship until a hewed log school house was built on a corner

of the Greer land, in 1833 late in the fall, worshipped there

until they built their frame house in town in 1838, where

they met about twenty years, then moved into their present

house, south part of town.

The first school house in the town was of the then pre-

vailing style, built of round logs, with huge fire place, clap-

board roof and other peculiarities not now known to builders.

The Union School of Mt. Blanchard was organized in 1868,

and their present building was erected in 1873, It is a

commodious, two story brick structure, the style and finish

of which gives it a commanding appearance. There are

three large school rooms, besides smaller ones for recitations,

and other purposes. The building and grounds cost §8,000.

In 1880, there were 151 children of school age in the dis-

trict.

The business of the village is quite extensive for an in-

land town, with no railroad, or other transportation facilities.
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There are two large dry ^oods stores, one by J. H. Biddle,

and the other by W, S. Shoemaker & Co. These stores

keep a full line of goods, and are doing a large and lucrative

business. By keeping an assortment of standard articles,

they are able to control the trade of the surrounding coun-

try for many miles.

The drug business is successfully carried on by Dr. W. M»

Yost, and Henry Greer, Both of these gentlemen carry a

full line in trade, and by fair dealing, and attention to busi-

ness have been enabled to command a very fair trade. Both

being experienced druggists, they have and deserve the con-

fidence of the entire community.

Two family groceries supply the inhabitants with such

articles as are needed in that line. One saloon supplies

that want. The hotel " entertains man and beast," as the

old signs used to read. This hotel is kept and conducted

in such a manner as places it above the average of country

hotels. Three blacksmiths are kept busy at their work, and

two wagon shops supply the town and surrounding country

with work in their line, built of the best materials, and in

the best style of workmanship. There are two boot and

shoe stores well stocked and well patronized. One butcher

shop supplies the people with fresh meats. Such is the

business of this thriving village.

The Odd Fellows organized a lodge here in 1858, and

have a healthy membership of fifty. A Masonic lodge was

organized here in 1878, and now numbers twenty.

The population of this village in 1880 was two hundred

and eighty-six.

The following is a list of persons who have held the office

of Justice of Peace, with the date of their election.

Asa M. Lake—1828, 1831, 1834.
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Godfrey Wolford—1831, 1837, IS 10, 1843, 1846, 1849.

John Lafiferty—1835, 1838, 1841, 1844, 1847, 1850,

1853, 1856, 1859, 1862, 1865.

Benjamin Corbin—1847.

Robert Taylor—1855.

John Rose—1856.

Thomas Miller—1859.

Harvey Smith—1841.
Robert Park—1862, 1865, 1868.

E. A. Sheffield—1868.

Jacob Bridinger—1870.

Jacob Harris—1870, 1873, 1876, 1879.

Geo. W. Beard—1871, 1874.

Josiah Fahl— 1877, 1880.

Balser Hauman—1880.

An exhibit of the number of acres, and number of bush-

els of gi-ain, and number and value of live stock in this

township, as returned to the Auditor in 1881.

Wheat, 3,771 acres.
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EAGLE TOWNSHIP

Tp. 1, S. R. 10, E.

Area 23,040 acres. Population 1,309.

The Commissioners' records of the 3d of December, 1832,

read :
" A petition was presented by sundry citizens of the

original township No 1, south, in range 10 east, prayiug to

be organized. Township 1 south in range ten east was ac-

cordingly set off, and formed into a body politic and corpo-

rate, and the said township shall be called Eagle."

This township is bounded on the north by Liberty and

Findley townships, on the east by Jackson, on the south by

Madison and Van Buren, and on the west by Union, and

takes its name from the creek of the same name which

runs through it. It is situated in the first range of town-

ships south of the base line.

The records of the Land Office show that the first land

entered in this township was the west half of the north-

east quarter of section 35, by John Woodruff, on the first

day of June, 1827. On the 6th day of June, 1829, Elijah

Woodrufi" entered the north-west quarter of section 13.

This land is now owned by William Yates and J. Alspach.

On the 7th day of August of the same year, Philip Heakes

entered the lands now owned by the heirs of George Arnold

in section twelve, and in November of the same year, Geo.

Bishop entered the north-west quarter of section 24, now

owned by John D. Bishop. The north-west quarter of sec-
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tion 9 was entered by Joshua Hedges, of Pickaway County,

on the 28th of September, 1830, and on the 27th of Novem-

ber, in the same year. Shun Sager entered the west half of

the south-west quarter of section 31. This land is now

owned by I. Heldman. In the later part of the year 1831,

entries were made in sections 5, 6 and 8 by Jacob Powell,

Peter Powell and John Powell, all of Fairfield County, 0.,

and by John Bright in section 21. Other entries followed,

and much of the land in the township was speedily taken

up.

The soil of this locality is much of it a sandy loam. In

some parts a clay soil predominates. The bottom lands

along Eagle Creek are exceedingly fertile, and many very

valuable farms may be found here. The surface of the

land is generally level, except along the creek, where it is

somewhat broken, but not enough to prevent easy cultiva-

tion. Some parts of the township have been, and indeed

are yet, occasionally subject to a disease known as "Milk
Sickness." The cause of this disease has never yet been

discovered, and is attributed to the character of the soil, to

the water, to vegetation, either living or decaying, but each

and all of these theories have been discarded as not giving

a satisfactory solution of the cause. Certain it is, however,

the cause of the disease, no matter what it may be, is found

only in the uncultivated or unreclaimed lands. It is not

known on cleared or cultivated fields. Hence, perhaps the

most rational conclusion is that the cause is some species of

vegetation, that disappears when lands are once cultivated.

The timber is of the prevalent varieties found elsewhere

in the county, such as walnut, beech, ash, oak, maple and
buckeye. The timber and vegetation thoughout the town-

ship was of a very rank growth.
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P^agle Creek and Tiderashy, with their tributaries, furuish

an abundance of stock water, and sufficient drainage in all

parts of the township. Eagle Creek crosses the township

from south to north, in the east part, and Tiderashy Creek

follows the same course in the western part, thus pretty

thoroughly watering and draining the entire surface. These

streams of course are small, and yet Eagle Creek has fur-

nished water power for mill purposes ever since the early

settlement of the township.

The first settlement made in this township was by John

Woodruff in the latter part of 1829, and by John Decker

Benjamin Whitman, Conrad Line, Jacob Zoll, and R. W.

McClellon in 1830. These pioneers were followed in 1831

by John D. Bishop, Elias Decker, Amos Crum and others.

These first settlers were for the most part from Fairfield and

Franklin counties. Whitman was from New York, and Mc-

Clellon from Pennsylvania. The first settlements were

made on or near Eagle Creek, on the east side of the town-

ship. The Nunamakers, Heldmans, and others very soon

after made settlements in the west part, and the Powells

and others located on Tiderashy Creek.

At the first election in 1833, when the township was or-

ganized, there were barely electors enough to fill the differ-

ent offices. Benjamin Whitman, Conrad Line, George

Bishop, John Woodruff and John Decker were voters at

that election.

The first school house built within the limits of the town-

ship was in the Bishop district, in 1834 Mr. John D.

Bishop informs me that himself and Benjamin Whitman

were the only taxpayers in the district at the time. Rach-

ael McBride taught the first school in this building. There

are now nine school districts, each one supplied with a com-
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fortable school building, and an enumeration in tiie town-

ship of four hundred and fifty-eight children of school age.

There were no church buildings in the township until

1840, although religious services had been held, and socie-

ties formed before that time. These societies met for wor-

ship in private families, or in the different school houses.

In 1840 the United Brethren Church erected a building on

the farm of John Woodruff, on the east side of the creek.

It was of hewed logs, small in' dimensions, but sufficiently

large to accommodate the religiously inclined of the young-

settlement. Of the first members of this church we have

the names of Mrs. Woodruff', Conrad Line and wife, and

some of the Deckers.

The first mill was known as Decker's hand mill, and here

by a great deal of muscular power, corn could be ground

fine enough for mush making. It was, however, a slow,

laborious process. In 1 830 George Bishop erected a saw-

mill, and in 1833, a flouring mill, still known as Bishop's

Mill. In 1854 John D, Bishop, the present ow-ner of the

mill, attached steam power, as the mill previous to that time

had been propelled by water. But after a few years trial

he became dissatisfied with this, and removed it, since which

time water has again been used as the motive power. Per-

haps no mill in the county has been of more real benefit,

when mills were most needed, than has this one. Not onlv

did the immediate neighborhood patronize it, but people from

a distance came here.

This township is being rapidly developed. xVlready it can

boast of some of the richest farms in the county. There

are a large number of very fine residences, and some of the

very best farm buildings in the county. The soil is rich and

when the timber is removed, is easily cultivated. The peo-

17
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pie are engaged in agriculture and stock raising. The num-

ber and character of the church and school buildings found

here, speaks of its intelligence and morals. One in trav-

elling over the township cannot fail to observe the steady^

permanent improvements being made in all parts, and is

struck with the air of thrift and contentment which seem to

pervade.

MARTINSTOWN

Was laid out on the south-east corner of section 36, by

Martin IloUobaugh, in September, 1836. There were, per-

haps, never any lots sold, or streets laid out, as the site was

at the cross-roads, and the record of the platting of the

town closed up its existence, if indeed it ever had one.

CLEMENT POST OFFICE.

A Post Office of this name was established in 1850, with

Amos Crum as Post Master. The office was located on the

Bellefontaine road about six miles south of Findley. Mr.

Crum was succeeded as Post Master by John Swank, who

held the office until it was discontinued in 1864.

GEORGE W. ALSPACH.

In the latter part of April, iSS-i, Mr. Alspach, to use his

own language, "landed in Hancock County, in Eagle town-

ship, at the house of John Powell." He at once engaged to

work for Mr. Powell at $13 per month. In the fall of the

same year he went back to his home in Fairfield County,

but soon returned, and went to work for Jacob Zoll. He

says however, "that he took time to select a lot of land,

and go to the land office to enter it but was too late, as it had

already been taken up." After returning to the township,

he selected and entered the south-west quarter of section
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22. Mr. Alspach is now living on this same tract of land,

which b}^ his industry has been converted into a beautiful

and valuable farm.

Mr. Alspach says he was married in March, 3835, built a

cabin on his land, moved into it in May, without a door or

window in place. A blanket served to close the door. This

cabin stood in the woods, with wolves howling them to sleep

at night. His nearest neighbor was Benj. 0. Whitman,

who lived one mile and a half distant.

The first settlers in this part of the township, as Mr
Alspach remembers them, were the Woodruffs, Whitman
John Decker, Ebright, William Tanner and Jacob Powell

previous to 1834, then came Jacob Zoll, Peter Oman, Moses

Elsea, Henry Keel, John Powell, Daniel and Peter Fellers,

and J. Alspach. Mr. Alspach said that at one time he was

at a log rolling, or house raising, every day for three weeks.

All the township offices have been filled by Mr. Alspach, in-

cluding Overseer of the Poor, and Fence Viewer, and yet

he never became wealthy holding office. Mr. Alspach is

and always has been an honest, upright man and good citi-

zen.

JOHN WALTERS

Was born in Rockingham County, Va., June 22d, 1814,,

and in his infancy his parents removed to Kentucky. His

father died in Shelby County, Ky., in 1824, and the widow,

and children, of whom there were six, removed to Fairfield

County, Ohio, two years later. Here Mr. Walters, having

received such an education only as could be had in a com-

mon school of that day, followed the occupation of a farm

hand until 1841, having by his industry and economy saved

money enough, he made entry of the land on which he now
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resides, and came to this township, his mother, and other

members of the family having preceded him.

In 18 i2, Mr. Walters was married to Miss Penelope

Woodruff, and at once moved into a cabin on his land, and

commenced life in earnest, clearing up and cultivating a fine

tract of land. Mr. W. was the father of seven children, six

of whom are now living. His health is none of the best,

but he seems to enjoy life in his old days. Mr. Walters

united with the United Brethren Church in 1842, and has

ever since been a consistent member, and was for twenty-

five years a class leader, and for the past nineteen years has

held a license to exhort. He enjoys the respect and friend-

ship of all his neighbors, and is a good citizen.

The following named persons have held the office of Jus-

tice of the Peace, having been elected at the dates men-

tioned.

Benjamin Whitman—1833.

Jacob Powell—1836, 1839, 1850, 1853, 1860, 1863,

1866, 1869.

William Williamson—1839.

Jacob Miller—1812, 1815.

W. W. Hughes—1842, 1845, 1848, 1858.

John Miller—1848, 1851.

Henry Bishop—1853.

John Swonk—1853.

Peter Bender—1857.

John Wise—1857.
. John Croft—1857, 1866, 1869, 1872, 1875, 1878.

Abraham Keel—1863.

Peter H. Powell—1872, 1875, 1878.

L. W. Scothorn—1879.

Jacob B. Smith—1881.
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An exhibit of the number of acres of grain sown, and the

number of bushels produced, and the number and value of

live stock in Eagle township, as returned by the Township

Assessor in 1881.

Wheat, 3,905 acres.
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FINDLEY TOWNSHIP.

Tp. 1, N. R. 10, E. • Tp. 1, N. R. 11 E.

Area 15,360 acres. Population 5,556.

From the preliminary organization of the County of

Hancock in 1820, until 1823 the counties of Hancock and

Wood formed one township, called Waynesfield. The Com-

missioners of Wood County passed the following order at

their session, May 28, 1823; "Ordered further that so

much of the township of Waynesfield as is included in the

unorganized county of Hancock be set off and organized

into a township by the name of Findley, and that the elec-

tion for township officers be held on the first day of July,

A. D. 1823, at the house of Wilson Vance, in said town-

ship."

The township so remained until after the permanent or-

ganization of the county, when in 1828, the townships of

Amanda and Welfare—now Delaware—were organized from

territory in the south-eastern portion of the township. In

1829 the township of Jackson was organized out of terri-

tory then belonging to Findley township.

At the session of the Commissioners held on the 6th day

of December, 1830, we find this entry in connection with

the division of the townships of Findley and Amanda, and

the formation of Marion township j
" * * * * and

likewise in the next place commencing at the south-east

corner of section 32, thence north to the north-east corner
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of section 5, in township 1 north, range 11, thence west to

the north-west corner of section 2, in range 10, thence

south to the south-west corner of section 35, in township

1 nortla, thence east to the south-east corner of section 32, to

the phice of beginning, which shall be a body corporate and

politic, and retaining the name of Findley." Thus by suc-

cessive acts of the County Commissioners was the bound-

aries of this township, once co-extensive with those of the

county, reduced to less than those of an original township.

The first entry of land in this township was that of the

•east part of the south-east quarter of section 13, by Vance,

Neil and Cory. In September of the same year John Brown

Wintered the north-west quarter of section 19. The first

mentioned tract is now that part of the town of Findley

lying on the west side Main street, between the river and

Sandusky street. The Brown entry is that part of the town

south of Sandusky and east of Main, known as Byal's addi-

tion. On the -ith of October, 1821, John P. Hamilton made
entry of the west part of the south-west quarter of section

17, now owned by Aaron Baker. The south-west quarter of

section 30 was entered by Job Chamberlain, on the 4th of

October, 1821. This land has been known in connection with

that adjoining it as Chamberlain's Hill. In the same month

John Simpson entered the east half of the north-east quar-

ter of section 25. This is now the Ross Bennett farm, ad-

joining the County Fair Grounds. On the 14th of Novem-
ber of the same year the east half of the north-east quarter

of section 24 was entered by Mcllvain and Neil. This is

now included in the town of Findley. Thomas Slight en-

tered the land known as the old Johnny Patterson farm on

the south side of the river. In 1822 Joshua Hedges en-

tered about one half of the north-east quarter of section 11,
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and which has ever since been i^nown as the Hedges' farm^

It lies along the north bank of the Blanchard, from the late

Judge Strother's farm, to the Liberty township line. George

Hollenbeck in the same year took up the south-east quarter

of section 12, the farm now owned by Samuel Howard, and

Asa M. Lake entered the lands on which Maple Grove

Cemetery is now located. Entries of the Didway farm by

Rev. James Gilruth, and of the John Heck form by Joseph

Westenhaver, and of the ^'ance farm by Judge Strother,

and of the Campbell Byal farm by his father, John Byal,

and of the A. W. Strother farm, and of the lands on which

.

North Findley in now located, and the Jacob Foster farm

and the Jesse Whitnev farm, and manv others were made

prior to the premanent organization of the county.

This township takes it name from the town, and is com-

posed of sections 1, 2, IJ, 12, 13, 14, 23, 24, 25, 26, 35 and

36 in township 1 north, range 10 east, and sections 5, 6, 7,-

8, 17, 18, 19, 20, 29, 30, 31 and 32 in township 1 north,

range 11 east. This township is situated almost in the cen-

ter of the county, and divided almost in the center east and

west by the Blanchard River. It is bounded on the north

by Allen township, on the east by Marion, on the south by

Jackson and Eagle, and on the west by Liberty.

The soil of this township is generally of a rich quality,

and varied in kind. Along the north line the soil is gener-

ally clay, underlined with what is called a hard pan, and is

adapted to growing of grass, and for grazing purposes..

Along the river and creek bottoms it is of the usual rich

quality, sandy loam. On the south side of the river the

entire body of land is underlaid with limestone, and as a

consequence the soil is of the most productive quality. As

an agricultural region this township is not surpassed: by any

r
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in the county. Being around the county seat, the improve-

ments are perhaps more marked and more elaborate than in

more distant portions of the county, and give to the sur-

roundings of the town a most comfortable and cheerful look.

This whole township—except the water courses—was

very heavily timbered with walnut of the very best quality,

oak, ash, hickory, elm, beech, and a great abundance of the

sugar maple. But at the time this timber had to be removed

it was of no value, and it took no little amount of labor to

remove it.

The Blauchard River passes through this township, fur-

nishing an abundance of stock water, and also sufficient, a

portion of the year, to run the mills on its banks within the

boundary of the township ; the Carlin Mill at Findley, and

Byal's Mill, jnst over the line in Liberty township.

Besides the Blanchard River, we have its tributaries.

Eagle Creek, Lye Creek, and Whitney's Run, all of them

quite considerable streams, entering the river from the south.

All of these creeks in common with the river, have lime-

stone beds. The stone is abundant, easily quarried, and

suitable for building foundations for buildings, the stone

work for bridges, and for making lime. On the north,

Strother's Run and Hedges' Run, both moderately sized

water courses, enter the river. These creeks and water

courses, in connection with the river, furnish excellent

drainage in abundance. There are no springs of any con-

sequence in the township, but an excellent quality of water

can be obtained easily by digging, in any part of the town-

ship. In its primeval state, although sitfiiated so near the

river, much of the land was very wet, not swampy, but low,

deep vegetable soil," and in many places underlaid with a

hard pan of clay, the water was prevented from sinking, and



258 History of Hancock County.

having no channels opened, the surface was necessarily

wet. But this has all disappeared under an intelligent sys-

tem of drainage.

The town of Findley occupies so much of the township,

and so much of the history of the two is inseparably con-

nected, that not much can be said of the township, which

may not as well be said of the town.

Of course the first settlement in the township was made

within the limits of the town, and yet settlements were

made at a very early day—almost as early as in town—by
John P. Hamilton, only a short distance up the river from

the town. Job Chamberlain, sr., began opening up a farm

on Chamberlain Hill, almost at \\ie same time that improve-

ments began in the village. At almost as early a date, John

Byal commenced on the river bank two miles west of town,

to open up what is now one of the most beautiful and valu-

able farms in the county, and even before this time Joshua

Hedges had located on his lands on the north side of the

river, next to the Liberty townshij) line. Judge Strother

began the making of his splendid farm just outside the cor-

poration line. George llollenbach, Jacob Foster, Benjamin

Strother, Wm. Taylor, Robert Benham, Aaron Huff, and

quite a number of others came into the township prior to

1830.

The first school house, and the first church in the town-

ship were both inside the limits of the present town of

Findley. There are now seven school houses in the town-

ship—outside of the town—with an enumeration of four

hundred and forty-four youth. There are two churches, one

Methodist Episcopal, one Evangelical, one a brick, the other

frame.

The first election, in 1823, was held by order of the Com-
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missioners of Wood County for the purpose of electing two

Justices of the Peace, and only tliiiteen votes were cast.

Job Chamberlain, sr., William Moreland and Benjamin

Chandler were the Judges, Wilson Vance and Mathew
Reighly, Clerks, and Robert McKiunis and Wilson Vance

were elected Justices of the Peace.

Of the men who were otiicers of that election, Job Cham-

berlain, sr., and Wilson Vance were citizens of the county

up to the time of their decease. Of Mr. Chamberlain, I

have the following facts from his son Job, who is yet a resi-

dent of Findley.

Mr. Chamberlain was born in the State of Connecticut,

and was married there to a Miss Deborah Root, and with

her removed to Cayuga Co., N. Y., where they lived for

twenty-eight years. They then emigrated to the west, and

settled at Lawrenceburg, Ind., where after a residence at

that place of t\% years, they came to Urbana, Ohio, and

after a year's residence, they in 1822, removed to this

township, and settled on what is known as Chamberlain's

Hill. At that time there were but six white families in the

county, Benjamin Cox, Wilson Vance, William Moreland,

Smith, John Simpson and George Lake, who lived at

what is now Mt. Blanchard.

When Mr. Chamberlain arrived in the township, there

were no buildings on his land, and he was compelled to un-

load his goods on the ground, but what few settlers were

here, assisted him in building a cabin, and such was their

expedition that Mr. Chamberlain occupied his new house on

the third day from the time the building was commenced.

Mrs, Chamberlain died on the 8th day of January, 1829,

and about a year afterwards Mr. Chamberlain married a

Miss Sarah Criuer, and removed about six miles west of
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Findley, in Liberty township, dividing his old farm between

his two sons, Norman and Job. Mr. Chamberlain died in

1848, and his wife in 1854.

William Moreland came to the county in 1822, and set-

tled on the north side of the river, on what was afterwards

known as the Taylor farm, and now a part of North Find-

ley. Mr. Moreland entered eighty acres of this land^ which

he afterwards sold to William Taylor for $375, and removed

to Van Buren township, and served as a Justice of the Peace

for several years, when he sold out, and came back to Find-

ley.

Mathew Riley—or Reighly—was long a resident of the

county, and held several important otiices in both township

and county. He eventually removed to the west.

Of the earliest settlers in this township, we may be per-

mitted to speak of Joshua Hedges, who was the first Treas-

urer of the county, and who lived on the *orth-east quarter

of section 11, about two miles west of the town of Findley,

and on the north side of the river. Mr. Hedges was a tall,

muscular man, a little stooped, of good constitution, ener-

getic and of strict integrity. He was a native of Virginia
;

hospitable in his feelings, he never allowed either white man
or Indian to leave his house in want. Politically, he was a

Democrat of the strictest sort. He was for many years a

member of the Methodist Church, and was in his acts con-

sistent with his profession. He died in 1845. He had a

large family, only two of whom are now living—Mrs. Rachael

Dulin, of Portage township, and Mrs. Elizabeth Hunlwork,

of Kansas.

John P. Hamilton was also one of the early settlers of

the township. He entered and cleared up the farm just east

of Lye Creek, now owned by Aaron Baker. Mr. Hamilton
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was a man of strong will, and determined in any matter he

took in hand. He was one of the first Commissioners of

the county, and in his otficial capacity took an active part

in the public improvements of the county, in developing its

resources, and in inaugurating those measures which have

led to our present greatness. Mr. Hamilton died about the

year 1860.

Robert Bonham came to the township at a very early

day, and commenced clearing up a farm a little north-west

of Findley, and upon which he resided up to the time of his

death in May, 1877.

Mr. Bonham was an industrious, economical, and unas-

suming man. As a neighbor, he was kind and accommdat-

ing, as a citizen, he was true to the best interests of the

people, as he understood them, as a Christian he was con-

sistent. Purely domestic in his habits, he very seldom

went farther from home than the village, and was never in

a railroad car until less than a year before his death. He
was a man of peculiar habits, but respected by all^who

knew him. Mr. Bonham was a native of Virginia, and was

three times married.

The first election held in the township, as it is now con-

stituted, was on the 4th day of April, 1831, when the fol-

lowing officers were elected: Isaac Jameson, Thomas Slight,

and Isaac Baker, Trustees ; William L. Henderson, Clerk

;

Squire Carlin, Treasurer; Supervisors, Bass Rawson and

Jacob Foster, sr.; Fence Viewers, John Boyd and Leonard

Tritch ; Overseers of the Poor, James B. Moore and John

Smith ; Constable, John Bashore. The important offices ot

Fence Viewers and Overseers of the Poor, with all their

honors and emoluments, have long since been abolished.

John Byal, one of the pioneers of the township, was born
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in the city of Baltimore, Md., on the 25th day of July, 1791,

and was the second son of William Byal, who died in Find-

ley, in 1840. The Byal family removed from Maryland to

Pennsylvania, first to Huntington, and afterwards to West-

moreland County. In 1809, the family came to Ohio, set-

tling in Stark County, and here in 1816 Mr. Byal was mar-

ried to Elizabeth Newstutter, and commenced life on a tract

of land purchased of the General Government^ in Sugar

Creek township, in that county. In March, 1832, Mr. Byal

sold his Stark County farm, and came to Hancock County,

and settled on the Byal farm, just east of the Infirmary.

At that time it was all woods, and only by the hardest of

labor, and the most rigid economy, was it reclaimed, and

converted into one of the handsomest and most desirable

farms in the county.

In the same year—1832—Mr. Byal built a saw mill on

the Blanchard, just east of the present bridge across the

river at that place. In 1834 he built M'hat is now known

as tke Teatsorth Mill, being the first frame building in the

county for mill purposes. It was an old fashioned water

mill, with monster water wheel, which went splashing in a

lazy, continuous round, but with force and life enough to

supply the neighborhood with flour and meal during the sea-

son in which it was or could run.

Mr. Byal was the father of nine children, five of whom
are living—Henry, the oMest, resides in Findley, and is

quite wealthy, and for his honesty and business qualities

commands the respect of his fellow citizens. He has filled

a number of offices, having been Justice of the Peace for

three terms. Catherine resides at Kalida, Ohio, William in

Iowa, and Nancy and Rachael in Kansas.

Mr. Byal was elected County Commissioner in 1834, and
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served two terms. He was one of the principal movers in

the building of the present Court House. He also served

as Justice of the Peace.

Mr. Byal died July 13th, 1853, and his widow survived

him about six years.
,

BARNA BEARDSLEY

Was the oldest of seven sons of Daniel Beardsley, and

was born in Delaware County, New York, on the 9th day

of March, 1797. His parents were from the State of Con-

necticut, and of course were Yankees. In 1803 his fjither

came to Ohio and settled near Newark, in Licking County.

When about fifteen years of age, Mr. B. left his home and

went to Columbus. 0., or rather to Franklinton—as there

was no Columbus then—and during the war of 1812-15, he

served part of the time as a wagon-boy, and part of the

time as clerk in the office of the Paymaster. He was sev-

eral times sent out as the bearer of important dispatches, to

the officers in command of the different posts in northern

Ohio. Dispatches were sent by him to Gen. Cass at Zaues-

ville, to Gen. Harrison at Fort Meigs, and to the commander

at Fort Croghan at Fremont.

After the close of the war, he went to the mouth of the

River Basin, and engaged in the carpenter trade. He also

assisted in the erection of the first frame buildings in San-

dusky City. After several years absence he returned to

Licking County, where on the 9th day of April, 1820, he

married Mary Boylan,the eldest child of Aaron and Beulah

Boylan. From that time until 1834, he followed his trade

as carpenter, and operated Hollister's Distillery until Sep-

tember, 1834, when he came to Hancock County, his father-

in-law and one sister having preceded him, and took up his



264 History of Hancock County.

residence with lais wife and seven children in a cabin on the

present Infirmary farm. The country was then very new,

and being almost without means, a struggle commenced for

the support of himself and his young family.

Fortunately his services as a carpenter were in demand

in the new settlement, and steady employment was had, at

what was then deemed good wages. But as all materials

for building had to be,wrought out by hand, not many build-

ings could be erected in a year, and the work w^as of the

most laborious kind.

In 1840, Mr. 13. and his sons having farmed quite exten-

sively in addition to his work as a mechanic, he purchased

of Aaron Hough thirty acres of land in Findley township,

and he and his family at once went to work clearing it up,

and in the fall of 1 84 1 had so far succeeded as to be able

to move on it, in a cabin which had been erected.

Here his four sons, the eldest having obtained his major-

ity, and went out to do for himself, carried on what farming

was possible on so new a tract of land, and the father

worked industriously at his trade, building many of the first

frame buildings in the town, as well as in the country.

In September, 1847, the the wife of Mr. B. died, and soon

after the family were dispersed, the oldest son going to Cal-

ifornia in 1849, and dying there in 1850, the others begin-

ning life for themselves at different places.

In 1856 he sold his farm, and went to Iowa, where he re-

mained for about fifteen years, engaged most of the time in

mercantile pursuits. He then returned to Ohio, and made

his home with his children, in this and Putnam Counties,

until the 4th day of April, 1881, when he died at Columbus

Grove, 0., in his eighty-fifth year,

Mr. Beardsley was a man below medium size, but pos-
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sessed of uncommon physical endurance, and the most ro-

bust health. No one perhaps in the whole settlement could

perform so much hard labor with as little fiitigue as he. An
almost iron constitution enabled him to endure the greatest

hardships and perform the greatest labor. Scarcely ever

needing the assistance of medicine, he hardly knew what it

was to be sick. Having been a frontiersman all his life, he

was inured to all the privations incident thereto. His last

years were years of great suffering, being afflicted with an

incurable malady, yet they were endured without complaint.

Mr. Beardsley united with the ^lethodist Church w^hen

young, and was a member for more than sixty years. His

house, in the early days of his residence here, was the home
of the Methodist ministers, Conway, Hill, Allen. Heustiss,

Wilson, Biggs, Tibballs, Seelay, Runnells, Breckenridge,

Pope, and a host of other preachers have partaken of his

hospitality.

He was the father of ten children, five boys and five girls,

«even of whom are living. He lived long enough to see all

his children married, and at his death had ten children,

forty-five grand-children, and twenty great gTand-children.

The citizens of this township had long felt the need of

better roads. The roads were no worse than elsewhere, only

to the extent that there was more travel over them, and of

oourse they were more worn. An effort had been made to

provide for the building of free turpikes throughout the en-

tire county, and to this end an act had been passed by the

Ohio Legislature, submitting to a vote of the electors of the

<;ounty the proposition to levy a tax for that purpose. But

the proposition was rejected by a large majority. This

township thereupon petitioned the Legislature for the pass-

age of a special act allowing a tax to be levied for the pur-

18



266 History of Hancock County.

pose of macadamizing the roads within its limits. The act

was passed with two provisions, one that the qnestion should

be first submitted to a vote of the people, the other that

none of the money so raised for macadamizing should be

expended within the corporate limits of the village of Find-

ley.

The question was duly submitted, voted on, and agreed'

to by a large and almost unanimous vote. The township

trustees, under whose direction the work was to be done,

went to work at once, to build roads. In the absence of

gravel, stone had to be used. The matter was vigorously

pvished, and inside of the five years in which the levies

were to be made, many miles of road were constructed. At

the expiration of the operation of the law, there yet being

many roads not completed, another petition was sent up to

the Legislature asking for a re-enactment of the law, to be

in Ibrce for ^\\q years more. The prayer was granted and

the trustees are collecting and expending the money so

raised by taxation, and hope to be able to complete the

macadamizins: of all the principal roads fi-om the corpora-

tion line of the village to the township line.

There are many very fine farm residences in this town-

ship. The residence of Campbell Byal, on the old John

Byal farm, near the Infirmary, is a fine two-story brick

structure, pleasantly located on the south bank of the river,

and overlooking the rich bottom lands on the opposite side.

The residence of Edwin R. Hay, a short distance south-

east of the town is one of the finest dwelling houses in the

county. It, too, is a brick structure, tin roof and of modern

architecture.

A. P. Byal, on the Lima road, has built a very commodius
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two-story brick, tastefully finished, with grounds well ar-

ranged, and good substantial stone walks.

W. R. McKee, on the Tiffin road, just east of town, has

quite an imposing brick dwelliug, surrounded by ample

grounds, and accommodated with fine farm buildings ta

match.

Just north of town, we have the fine frame residences of

Samuel Howard on the west side, and that of Ancel E.

Morvin on the east side of the road, both beautifully located

and surrounded with fine orchards and ample out-buildings

The persons named below were elected Justices of the

Peace at the dates given, all of which are subsequent to the

permanent organization of the county, and all resided with-

in the present limits of the township.

Joshua Hedges—1829.

William L. Henderson—1831, 1834.

Elias S. Bryan—1832.
John Byal—1833.

John Campbell—1836.

Price Blackford—1837, 1840, 1843, 1846, 1849.

A Daughenbaugh—1839.

Hugh Newell—1840.
John Patterson—1843.

Paul Sours—1846, 1851.

Geo. W. Galloway—1849.

Jesse Wheeler—1852, 1855.

Henry Byal—1854, 1857, 1860.

D. B. Beardsley— 1858, 1861, 1864, 1867, 1870, 1873,

1876, 1879.

John H. Burket—1863.
Elijah T. Dunn—1866.

Ezra Brown—1869.
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A. P. Byal—1872.
Oren A. Ballard—1874, 1877, 1880.

Exhibit of the acreage and production of grain, and the

number and value of domestic animals, as reported in 1881.

Wheat, 2,0G7 acres.
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FINDLEY.

The town of Findley was first laid out in the year 1821^

by Joseph Vance and Elnathau Cory, and in the autumn of

the same year, Wilson Vance and family removed to the^

place. Mr. Vance was soon joined by Squire Carlin,

William Taylor, John Patterson, W. L. Henderson, John

Boyd, Reuben Hales and Parlee Carlin, with others, so that

in a few years quite a village had sprung up.

In 1829 the town w'as replatted, and on the 26th day of

September of that year, Joseph Vance and Elnathan Cory

appeared before Judge McKinnis, one of the Associate

Judges of the county, and acknowledged the platting of

the town of Findley, consisting of one hundred and fifty-six

lots. The town plat was located on section thirteen, in

township one north, range ten east. The lands in this sec-

tion—five hundred and ninety-eight acres in all—were en-

tered in parcels of fifty-five acres by Vance, Neil and Cory,

seventy-six acres by Mcllvain and Neil, seventy-five acres

by Asa M. Lake, eighty-eight acres by John Gardner, one

hundred and twenty-seven acres by Elnathan Cory, seventy-

nine acres by James Gilruth and eighty acres by Joseph

Westenhover.

John Gardner received a patent for his, dated June ^->d,

1822, signed by President James Monroe. He afterwards

sold to Thomas and John Simpson, and they to Wilson

Vance, March 1 4, 1828. This tract w as the west part of the

south-east quarter of section thirteen, and contained eighty-
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eight acres. The consideration hy Vance to the Simpsons

was three hundred dollars.

The east part of the south-east quarter, was owned by-

Vance, Neil and Cory, and was that part of the section on

which the town was laid out.

The lots numbered on Main street, from north to south.

The lot on which the residence of Squire Carlin now stands

being numbered one, and the business room of J. S. Patter-

son, corner of Main and Sandusky streets, number sixteen,

the then southern boundary of the town. ,Jn these num-

bers, from one to sixteen, the Public Square was not count-

ed. There were seventy-six lots on the west side of Main

street, the lot on the corner of Front and West streets,

owned by Rev. M. Burkle, being the last numbered on that

side. '

Crossing over to the east side of Main street, the lot now

occupied by the Sherman House, is numbered seventy-seven,

^nd south on Main street to the lot on north east corner of

Main and Sandusky streets, now occupied by S. D. Fray's

Drug Store, numbered ninety-six. There were eighty lots

on the east side of Main street, ending with number one

hundred and fifty-six, owned by Mrs. W. C. Cox, and on the

corner of Front and East streets. No part of the land be-

tween Front street and the river was laid out into lots at

that time.

Attached to the town plat we find the following certificate

of Wilson Vance, surveyor:

" 1st. All streets and alleys cross at right angles due

north and south."

" 2d. Main street is one hundred feet wide."

" 3d. Broadway (now Monument Park,) is one hundred

iind fifteen and one-half feet wide."
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''ith. Main Cross street is eighty-two aud one-half feet

wide."

*' -oth. Crawford, Putnam, Front, Back, East and West

streets are each sixty-six feet wide."

" 6th. Farmers and Mechanics alleys are each thirty-

three feet wide, and all other alleys are sixteen and one-half

feet wide."

In the acknowledgement attached to the plat, the proprie-

tors, Vance and Cory, use this language, which is now a

part of the record

:

"• The Public grounds, streets and alleys, are to the best

of our knowledge, correctly designated by the notes at-

tached to said plat, and are appropriated as public ways for

the benefit of said town, and to no other use whatever."

Certain lots—thirty-nine in all—were donated to the

County Commissioners, in trust, to be sold, and the proceeds

arising from such sale to be used in the construction of

county buildings. The ground known as the Public Square

was not named as one of the lots donated for county pur-

poses, and by the terms of the acknowledgement above al-

luded to, was appropriated for public use for the benefit of

the town, and it so remains, unless a subsequent contract

with the proprietors, or the town authorities, placed it in the

hands of the County Commissioners. I have not been able

to find such a contract on record.

The records say, however, that "on the 10th day of Octo-

ber, 1829, the Commissioners of Hancock County, met for

the purpose of taking into their care the proportion of the

town lots of Findley, which were deeded to said Commis-

•ers, by Joseph Vance and Elnathan Cory, and said Charles

McKinnis and John P. Hamilton, present, ordered that the

aforesaid lots be offered at Public Sale, on the ninth day of
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November next. It is further ordered, that the County Au-

ditor advertise said sale."

November 9th, 1829, the Commissioners, Charles McKin-

nis and John P. Hamilton, present, and proceeded to sell the

above mentioned lots, and the following sales were made: Lots

2. 8, 9, 18, 17, 20, 29, 32, 43, -46, 5 ] , 61, 79, U, 89, 92, 95, 98

104, 105, JOS, 111, 116, 142, 146, 148 and 156 sold for

prices ranging from five dollars for No. 148, to two hundred

dollars for No. 8 (the lot on the corner of Main and Main

Cross street, now owned by Frank Karst, sr.). The aggre-

gate received was §1,025.40.

The first frame house in the town, was built by Squire

Carlin, and stood on the same lot on W'hich his present

dwelling is located. The same building was afterwards re-

moved to the upper end of Main street, between Hardin and

Lincoln streets, and is known as the Frank Klaber prop-

erty.

William Taylor built the second frame 1)uilding, which he

occupied as a dwelling, hotel and dry goods store. This

building stood on the lot immediately adjoining the Davis

Opera House, on the south. A few years ago it was re-

moved to west end of Sandusky street, and was burned

down. The building was not more than twenty-five feet

square, and one and one-half stories in height. A building

no larger than that at the present day would be a rather

close place for a dwelling, hotel and dry goods store all at

the same time. Yet it seemed to be abundantly roomy for

all at that early day.

Squire Carlin also built the first brick house in the vil-

lage, which took the place of the fiame. This was used by

Mr. Carlin as dwelling- and store room. In time this too, had
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to give way to a better structure, the present large and com-

fortable residence.

The first tavern was kept by Benj. Cox, in a log house,

near where the dwelling house of the late Wilson Vance

now stands, just south of the bridge. The town was a

straggling village of log huts, without streets or alleys

which were passable, and with no business, except trallic

with the Indians. ,

As the population increased, and buildings multiplied,

more room was wanted, and additions were demanded, laud

holders adjoining the old town, platted and offered for sale

numbers of lots.

In February, 1830, William Byal's addition of twenty

lots was laid out. This addition was on south side Sandus-

ky street, east of Main.

In 1837 Joseph Vance and Elnathan Cory laid out an ad-

dition of forty lots.

In 1840, John C. Howard laid out eleven lots, Jonathan

Parker eight lots. Cory's addition of thirteen lots was laid

out, and Baldwin's addition of twelve lots, and Vance and

Cory's addition of seventy-eight lots were laid out in 1848.

S. & P. Carlin's addition, on south side of East Sandusky

street was made in 1848, and consisted of thirty-nine lots;

and in 1852, they made another addition of twenty-eight

lots.

An addition of fourteen lots was made in 1854 by Nathan

Miller. A sub-division of out lots was made by J. M. Cof-

finberry, and Wilson Vance made an addition of one hun-

dred and thirteen lots in 1854. Kurd's addition of four

lots, and the Western Addition were laid out in 1855-

Byal's second addition was made in 1860, and Vance's
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second addition of one hundred and eleven lots was made

the same year. Cory's addition to Vance and Cory's addi-

tion was laid out in 1863. The continuation of Vance and

Cory's of forty-four lots was made in 1866. E. Barnd

made an addition in 1868. Another continuation of Vance

and Cory's was made in 1869. Jones and Adam's addition

was laid out in 1873, and in 1875 P. Carlin made an addi-

tion of seventeen lots.

These several additions were soon sold, and are now im-

proved, many of them by beautiful residences or fine busi-

ness houses. Pleasant streets, substantial sidewalks, beau-

tiful grounds, all tell of the energy and industry of the

owners. This tract of land so occupied by these additions,

was at the early settlement of the place scarcely more

than a swamp or swail, worth at most no more than govern-

ment price, is now worth hundreds of thousands of dollars,

covered as they are by the happy homes of so many of our

citizens. But the old town, and these many additions, do

not comprise the whole of the town of Findley.

East Findley—an addition to Findley—was laid out by

James H. Wilson, in August, 1847, on the north part of the

west half of the north-east (piarter of section nineteen, and

comprised but forty lots. In 1861^ the proprietor laid out

an addition of thirty-five lots, and thirteen out-lots, which

he designated as the continuation of East P'indley. In Oc-

tober of the same year, Cory's addition to East Findley,

consisting of eleven lots, was laid out, and in 1866 Cory

laid out nine lots more, and in 1873 he added nineteen ad-

ditional lots.

This addition, or suburb of Findley, comprises all that

part of the town east of Eagle Creek. It is pleasantly

ilocated, and the principal streets running east and west,
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correspond with like streets of tlie main town. There are a

number of comfortable residences here. The streets are

wide and bordered with shade trees. There are several

manufacturing establishments, here, which are noticed else-

where in this work. The children of this part of town at-

tend school at the Central Building, only about two squares

distant from the creek at west side. Eagle Creek, which

divides this from the main town, is spanned by three

bridges, one at Main Cross street, one at Sandusky street,

and one at Lincoln street.

Along the creek are numerous stone quarries, from which

a very large portion of the stone used for building and

other purposes is taken. There are also several lime-kilns

located along the creek.

In this part of the town are located the " Eagle Mills,"

"Findley Woolen Mills," "Findley Flax Mill," and Moore's

Saw Mill, all of which are noticed elsewhere. East Lawn,

the beautiful residence of M. B. Patterson, Esq., is also lo-

cated on east end of Sandusky street. It is a most charm-

ing place. The building, a two story frame, with basement,

built in the latest style of architecture, surrounded by am-

ple grounds,' highly ornamented with shrubbery. The

grounds also contain a large green-house, filled with the

rarest plants and flowers, also a beautiful island, surround-

ed by an ample fish pond. The whole is being surrounded

by a nicely trimmed hedge.

Just across the street is the magnificent home of Capt.

H. H. Albon, a fine three story structure, with basement,

situated as it is on an eminence, it commands an extensive

view of the town and surrounding country. The grounds

are new, but when entirely completed, it will be one of the

handsomest homes in the county.

k
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There are a number of well arranged and comfortable

private residences in this part of town The ground on

which the town is located is high, slightly rolling, with a

warm sandy soil. A great many of the business men of the-

town reside here, amongst whom are Uncle Ben. Huber, J.

M. Huber, the Druggist, D. C. Fisher, of the Findley Plan-

ing Mill, John Altman, Builder and Contractor. Here are

also located the extensive Nurseries of Robinson and Mey-

er, and M. B. Patterson, also the Foundry and Machine

Shops of Yocum and Hallowell, as well as the Pottery Es-

tablishment of Martin Hiersher.

Eagle Mills, the extensive llouring establishment under

the management of McCouuell & Kirk, are located here,.

and do a very large business, in the way of merchant and

custom work. These mills have long been one of the indus-

tries of the town, and under whatever management they

have been, their work has always ])een satisfactory.

Immense amounts of wheat is here floured, and shipped

to eastern markets, and has always been considered of the

best brands.

The town also has a fire engine house here, in which is kept

one of the engines of the town, under the management of an

eflScient volunteer company.

NORTH FINDLEY.

Wiliam Taylor, one of the first settlers of the county,

and for more than forty years a resident of Findley, laid out

the town of North Findley in 1854. It is on the north side

ofthe river, and is a part of the town of Findley, and known as

the First Ward. It never had a separate existence as a

town. The plat of the original town of North Findley is in

the south-west corner of the west half of the north-west
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quarter of fractional section eighteen, and consists of forty-

seven lots.

Lot number cue is on the north-east corner of Main and

Center streets (or Tifiin road), and the plat from thence ex-

tends north and east. The lots in the original town are

nearly all occupied by good substantial dwelling houses, and

public buildings,

In July, 1857, iV. F. and D. M. Vance, of Urbana, Ohio,

laid out an addition of sixty lots on the west side of Main
street. This plat had some very desirable building lots,

and although at that time, considered a good distance from

the main town, yet lots sold readily, and were soon occupied

as dwelling places. Just south of this addition was quite a

body of land used at that time foi farming and pasturage

purposes, which was the property of William Vance, of Ur-

bana. Mr. Vance, yielding to the demands for platting and

selling this tract, in September, 1859, divided this ground

into sixty-two lots, with the necessary streets and alleys.

At the sale, lots sold readily, and at very good prices.

Judge D. J. Cory owned the land on the east side of

Main street, between the river and the Tiffin Road, and as

this tract separated the new town of North Findley from

the old town, he, in March, 1861, laid out nineteen lots, one

tier facing on Main street and one on Center street. These

lots were in immediate demand, sold readily, and almost

every one now boasts of a good dwelling house. Such is the

beauty of the location of these lots, and the character of

the improvements thereon, that Main and Center streets in

North Findley, have long been acknowledged as one of the

very pleasantest promenades in the town.

Edson Goit having purchase d the lands adjoining on the

north of A. F. and D. M. Vance's addition, laid out twenty-
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seveu lots in October, 1860, and in June, 1864, he added

thirty lots more. William B. Taylor and Aaron Hall be-

came the owners of a parcel of land directly west of Goit's

addition, and laid out fifteen lots in 1866. In November,

1874, Judge Cory laid out sixteen lots fronting on Center

street, and east of his first addition. About the same time

P. and M. Taylor laid out an addition on east side Main

street, north of the original plat, and Gray and Patterson

laid out lots fronting on Center street, and on the north

side of that street.

Thus by successive additions, each addition to satisfy

purchasers, has North Findley become quite an important

part of the town of Findley.

The town is regularly laid out, the streets and alleys

crossing at right angles. The streets east of Main, com-

mencing at the south, are Center, Cherry and Walnut.

Those on the west are Fair, High, Donelson, Corwin, Fill-

more and Howard. Running parallel with Main, are Cory

and Center.

Lake Erie and Western Railway passes through this

part of the town. North Findley is connected with the

main town by two iron bridges, one across the mill race and

the magnificent river bridge on Main street. The town,

with one exception—that of Bacherer's Bottling Works, is

occupied exclusively as residences. The Union School Dis-

trict of which this is a part, have erected a fine school

building, forty-four by sixty-four feet in size, two stories and

a basement in heighth, surmounted by Mansard roof and

tower. The building has four rooms, and is in every way

comfortable and convenient.

The city authorities built an engine room near the railroad

on Main street, and also a cistern. A very efficient volun-
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teer fire company have charge of the hand engine, one of

L. Button's Second Class, and are prepared to do good ser-

vice. E. Bacherer's Bottling Works and Carlin's flouring

mill are both in this part of town, but are noticed else-

where.

Whilst there are no pretentions to gTandeur in achitec-

tural design, or magnificence in finish, yet there are very

many tasty and comfortable dwellings in this part of town.

E. Bacherer, Dr. Waltman, Mrs. J. C. Powell, W. P.

Dukes, Carter Heck and James Seeds, each occupy neat

and commodious brick residences, with ample grounds sur-

rounding. Whilst Wm. Edwards, John Poe, Frank Rey-

nolds, E. C. Palmer, Jacob Foster, Samuel Howard and

others have equally neat and tasty frames, with as beauti-

ful grounds.

The streets are beautified by hundreds of shade trees,.

principally maple, and when in leaf, they present a cool and

inviting appearance. Main street is supplied with gas

lamps, and nearly all the streets have either brick or plank

sidewalks.

The population of this suburb is about one thousand

souls.

E. Becherer has quite extensive Bottling Works on Main

street, and his bottled small beer and cider are known and

appreciated all over the country. He is also the owner of

two ice houses, and has for years supplied the town with

ice. He is an enterprising citizen, and live business man.

Carlin's Mill, on the site of the first mill ever built in the

county, is located here. It is a first class flouring mill in

the quality of its work. When water power is not sufficient

it is run by steam. It is kept in good repair, and has al-

ways had a fair share of custom.



280 Hiatory of Hancock Countij.

The streets of Findley, as certified in the plat, are laid

out north and south, and east and west, crossing each other

at right angles. The streets running north and south be-

ginning on the east, are named respectively, East, Mechan-

ics Alley, Main, Farmers Alley, West, Liberty and Western

Avenue. Those running east and west, commencing on the

north, are Findley, Washington, Front, Main Cross, Craw^-

ford, Sandusky, Hardin. Lincoln, Lima and Hancock. Main

street is one hundred feet wide, including sidewalks on eith-

er side, of twelve feet each. The walks in the business

part of the street, are of Berea stone, and others are of

brick. The street is nicely graded, with a sewer at either

side, and is substantially McAdamized with stone. It is

acknowledged to be one of the finest streets in Ohio.

Nearly ail the commercial business of the town is trans-

acted on this street. Its sides are lined with comfortable

business rooms, the buildings being mostly two stories in

heighth. The street presents a busy sight, with its immense

trade in every department of commerce. There are very

many very fine buildings on the street, and the inferior ones

are fast disappearing, and being replaced by those of mod-

ern architecture and modern conveniences.

We find on this street, the Sherman House, Davis Opera

House, Commercial House, Court House, Masonic Hall,

Wheeler's Hall, Odd Fellow's Building, Joy House, First

Presbyterian Church, and the new Lutheran Church.

Near the First Presbyterian Church, we have the celebra-

ted wells of " natural gas." The old Court House, now the

residence of Ex-Mayor Carr, has been lighted by this gas

for years, and produces a light of excellent quality. The

supply seems to be unlimited. From a small reservoir, Mr.
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€arr uses the gas iu the mechanical part of his business

—

dentistry—also to light the building, and for cooking pur-

j)Oses in the summer season. There is a portion of the town

through which this vein of gas passes, in Avhich the water

is almost entirely unlit for use, on account of its presence.

The first settlements made in the town, and the first build-

ings erected, were on this street between Main Cross street

and the river, and that part of the town for many years was

the business center, but of late years business has gradually

moved up street, until now very much of it is done between

Sandusky and Main Cross streets.

Main street is now built up almost solidly from the north

corporation line, to the south line of the town, a distance of

nearly two miles.

Front street, running east and west, has no business

houses, but has some very tasty residences and beautiful

grounds. The sides of the street are lined with shade trees,

and is a cool and inviting promenade in a warm day. Mon-

ument Park extends from this street to Main Cross street,

and the church buildings of the German Lutherans, and the

Church of God are situated on the west end of the street,

as also the passenger depot of the L. E. & W. Railway.

Main Cross street is the second principal street in the vil-

lage. The Public Square, on which is situate the Court

House, is on the south-west corner of this and Main street.

Monument Park faces on this street, and directly west of it

is the new- jail. On the west side of the Public Square

and about one hundred feet south of this street, is the Con-

gregational Church. On this street west of Main, are the

large Carriage and Wagon shops of A. W. Ray and Buck,

Reymond and Seyfang, the furniture establishment of A.

Deitsch & Co., the Findley Foundry and Machine Works.
19
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the Steam Elevators on the L. E. & W. Railway, and the Cath-

olic Church. There are also numerous fine residences. On
the east of Main street, and on the south-east corner of the

two streets, iit the Commercial House, on the site of the old

" Caravansary by John Reed," of ye olden time. An iron

bridge spans Eagle Creek on this street, beyond which are

the Fiudley Woolen Mill, Findley Flax ]\Iill, and Moore's

Saw mill. The German Reformed Church is also on this

street.

Crawford street comes next in order. On the east of

Main street, we have the large Livery Stables of W. J. Ed-

wards and William Messenger, the Carriage Factory of A,

R. Kridler, the Undertaking Establishment of J. R. Clark,,

the Furniture Establishment of D. Rummel, the Findley Oil

mill, Findley Rake factory, and depot of the C. S. k C. Rail

Road.

On the west of Main street, is the Carriage Works of

May, Kuntz & Bryant, Fire Engine House and City Pris-

on, Findley Bent Works, Lutheran Church, Findley Planing

mill, and the new west end school building, and United

Brethren Church.

After leaving Main street on Sandusky street, there are

no business buildings or manufacturing establishments,

except the Handle Factory, on the west end, and

the foundry of Yocum & Ilallowell, on east end. The

Creek—Eagle—is also spanned by an iron bridge, just ba-

youd which is the East Findley Fire Engine House, and the

Eagle Flouring mill. Between Main street and the creek,

we have the Evangelical Church, the Central School Build-

ing and the Findley Gas W^orks. On the west of Main

street we have the First Methodist Episcopal Church.

Many of the finest residences and most beautiful gi-ounds
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in the city are on this street. The sides of the street are

lined with a continuous row of maple shade trees, which give

a most charming effect to the view. On the east we have the

splendid residences of Dr. L. Firrain, Henry Byal, Ezra

Brown. Mrs. Harsh, W. R. Carnahan, the heirs of H. P.

Gage, E. P. Jones, S. D. Prey, Wm. Anderson and Mrs.

Judge Palmer, whilst on the north side of the street is Isaac

Davis' fine residence, also those of Hon. W. H. Wheeler and

Moses Bullock. On the west are the residences of T. Car-

nahan, J. H. Wilson, Mrs. Glessner, John Ruthrauf, J. G.

Hull, L. Fitzpatrick, Hawkins, Geo. Hall, J. W. Zeller, J. F.

Burket, G. W. Kimmill, Henry Brown, W, E. Snyder, Peter

Hosier, H. F. Winders, A. Kimmons and Mrs. Neibling.

At the north-west corner of Main and Hardin streets, we
find the marble works of M. Louthan & Co., and on the

north-east corner of the same streets stands the First Pres-

byterian Church. There are no business houses or manufac-

turing establishments on this street. It is built up almost

solidly however, with comfortable dwellings. On the east end-

are the dwellings of Col. Bope, Rev. Meeks, Dr. F. W. Fir-

min, S. D, Houpt, Jos. Gutzwiler andL A. Baldwin, and on

the west, Dr, Ruhl, Henry Swartz, D. Cline, C. Chadwick,.

L. McManness, J. W. Davis, and others.

Lincoln street is one of the best paved streets in the town.

On this we find the Number 9 School Building, and Park-

er's flouring mill. On the south-east corner of Main and
Lincoln is the new Lutheran Church. This street is occu-

pied as residences. There is an iron bridge across Eagle
Creek on this street.

Lima street is comparatively a new street, and occupied ex-

clusively by residences. At the corner ofthis and Main street

is the residence ofJudge Whiteley, one of the finest in the city,,
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surroimded by the most beautii'iil grounds. Soiilii of Lima

on Main street, are fine residences of Judge Huffman, A. R.

Belden, H. B, Green, G. W. Myas, J. S. Patterson, M. Gray

and B. F. Kimmons.

All these streets are well shaded with maple trees, and

have good, substantial brick wallas, and present a home-

like appearance, which adds much to the beauty of the

town.

A post office was established at this place in 1821, and

named Finley, which name it retained until within the last

few years, when by order of the Postmaster General, it was

changed to Findley, tliat the orthography might correspond

with that of the name of the town. Wilson Vance was ap-

pointed Postmaster. The mail arrived once a week, the

roads and streams permitting. Many of the old settlers re-

member Old iSammy Gordon, as he was called, the mail car-

rier from Urbana to Perrysburg, by way of Bellefontaine and

Findley. This was the only mail route to Findley, and was

travelled by the carrier, often-tinies on foot, frequently com-

pelled to swim rivers, and sleep in the woods at night.

Father Gordon, afcer a long and active life, full of privation

and adventure, was reduced to such extremity in his old

age, that he died in the Logan County Infirmary.

Mr. Vance was succeeded as Postmaster, by Juo. C. Wick-

ham, who, after a few months, gave way to Squire Carlin,

who held the position for about nineteen years. It cer-

tainly could not have been a very lucrative office at that

time, for it is said that upon the arrival of the mail, the post

master would put the papers and letters received for delivery

in his hat, and as he met those to whom they belonged, he

would deliver them. Mr. Carlin imforms me that at the

time he took the office, there were but four newspapers re-
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oeived by subscribers, and as letters were received in the-

same proportion the above story does not seem improbable.

In 1849 Mr. Carlin, having made arrangements to go to

California, resigned, and was succeeded by his brother, Par-

lee Carlin, who held the office for a short time, when he was

succeeded by Robert Coulter, who was at the same time-

publishing a newspaper in the town. Mr. Coulter held the

office a few years, when he was succeeded by William Tay-

lor, and shortly returned to Urbana, where he died. Mr.

Taylor removed the office to the corner of Main and Main

Cross streets in the building now occupied by Frank Karst,.

sr. Abel F. Parker followed Mr. Taylor, and he in turn

gave way to Oliver Munger, who held the office two or three

years, and was succeeded by James Robinson.

Upon Mr. Lincoln assuming the Presidency in 1862, the

Republican patrons of the office decided by vote,-who should

be recommended as Mr. Robinson's successor. The choice

fell on Joseph B. Rothchild, and he was appointed. On the

1st of July, 1865, this office was made a money order ofiice.

When Andrew Johnson assumed control of the Government^

after the assassination of President Lincoln, he removed Mr.

Rothchild, and as the Senate would not confirm a successor,

he appointed the late Col. J. M. Neibling Special Agent of

the Post Office Department, and placed him in charge of

the Findley Post Office. Upon the election of Gen. Grant,.

Amariah Ballon was appointed Postmaster, who after hold-

ing the office about two years, died, and was succeeded by

Thomas E. Adams.

Mr. Adams held the office for a term of four years, and

was then succeeded by Eli G. DeWolfe, the present incum-

bent. During Mr. Rothchild's term of office, Isaac Davis

built a one story brick building on the north side of Sandus-
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ky street, just in the rear of his business house, and into

this the post office was moved, and remained until Mr. De-

Wolfe took possession, ^Yheu he removed it to the Jeff'erso-

nian Building, south side Public Square, where it yet re-

mains.

The money order business has been rapidly increasing,

and there has been a greater number of orders issued in the

past five years than there was in the first ten years after its

establishment. The money order business now transacted

through this office amounts to $50,000 annually. There

have been 28,500 orders issued. The other business done

at this office amounts to about seven thousand dollars annu-

iilly.

On the 17th day of March, 1838, the Legislature of Ohio

passed " An Act to incorporate the town of Findley, in Han-

cock County." The first section of that act provided that

" So much of the township of Findley, in the County of

Hancock, as herein described, to-wit: The S. E. part of the

S. E. quarter of fractional section number thirteen, township

one north, of range ten, also the S. W. part of the S. W.
quarter of section eighteen, township one north, of range

eleven, so far east as the bank of Eagle Creek ; also the

east half of the X. E, quarter of section twenty-four, town-

ship one north, of range ten, and also what territory of the

N. W. quarter of section nineteen, as is situated south-west

of Carlin's mill race, be and the same is hereby created a

town corporate, and shall be hereafter known by the name

of the town of Findley."

Section 2 provides for an election at the Court House, on

the first Saturday in April next, to elect a Mayor, Recorder

^nd five Councilmen.

" An Act to repeal the charter of the town of Findley,"
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was passed March 13, 1843. Why, or by what iiitlueuce

this hist act was passed, we are uuable to say.

The Legislature, on the 4th of March, 1845, passed an-

other act, entitled " An Act to repeal the act entitled 'An

Act to repeal the charter of the town of Fiudley, passed

March 13, 1843, and to declare in force the act incorporat-

ing said town, passed March 7th, 1838.' " Then follows the

sections ot the act, in accordance with the title.

It will be impossible, on account of the loss of the records

to give the names of those who held the office of Mayor,

•consecutively prior to 1858. The business of laying out

opening up and improving streets, was carried on through

the different administrations, and economy in expenditures,

and a freedom from indebtedness, has always characterized

the conduct of our municipal affairs. Whilst we may not

have made as rapid improvement as some neighboring towns

liave done, we have never incurred a debt that was not

promptly paid, and we are now, as we always have been,

almost entirely free from debt.

The following persons held the office of Mayor previous

to 1858, but as before remarked, we cannot give the exact

order in which they were elected. John Adams, W. L. Hen-

derson, Abraham Youukin, U,;A. Ogden, N. Y. Mefferd, Jo-

siah S. Powell, Jacob Carr, and perhaps others.

In 1858 Charles Carroll Pomeroy, late of Kentucky, and

a most eccentric young man, was elected, but resigned be-

fore the end of his term, and was succeeded by Ezra

Brown.
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In 1859

—

Vi7A-di Brown, Miiyor. S. F. (xray, Recorder.

1860— Israel Green, " Wni. Klaniroth, "

18()1—G. W. Twining, " II. S. Shannon, "

J 862— " " J.P.Dennis, "

1863-- •' '' Sam. Hnber, "

1864—Jacob Carr. " B. F. Kiminons, "

1865—
18(30— " " " "

1867—N. W. Filivin, " J. C. Martin. "

1868—.1. A. Hope, ^' I), li. Puoh,

E. G. DeWoire, "

1870—(J.F.Pendleton, "
Leni. McManness,

"

1872—1). B. Beardsley, " J. \V. Davidson, ''

1874—Wni. (irihl)on, " JesseWheeler, jr.
"

1876—Jacob Carr. '' J. A. Meeks, "

1878—Wni. Vance, " W. T. Piatt,
"

1880—
The city owns as yet but a small iiiiioiint ol' real estate,

but sufllcient for jjresent purposes, wlieti completed. Hav-

ing accommodations for the F'ire Api)aratus, and an oltice

for Mayor, Mayor's court room, police heacbiuarters and city

prison.

In 1880 the city was dividt^ into four Wards. The first

ward includes all of North Findley, and so much territory

on the south side of the river and east of Main street, as

lies between the river and Crawford street and west of Ea-

gle Creek.

The second ward includes all the territory lying between,

the river and Putnam street, and west of Main street.

The third ward includes all the territory west of Main:

street and south of the second ward.

The fourth w^ard comprises all the territory on the east
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side of Main street, and south of the first ward, and all of

East Findley.

These wards are very nearly equal in population.

In addition to the Central Fire Engine House, the city-

has an engine house in North Findley^ and one in East

Findley. The town supply of water for fire perpose, is tak-

en from public cisterns, of which there are now about fif-

teen, all of large capacity.

The town was located on a flat piece of laud, and conse-

quently was subject to much inconvenience fi'om rains and

wet weather, and no doubt but it was rendered unhealthy

from this almost continual dampness. No cellars could be

built, and streets, and even lots in some places, had to be

filled up, to make them at all comfortable. The surface

drainage did not suffice to relieve the gi'ound of surplus

water, and it became a serious matter as to what should be

done.

At last the city authorities inaugurated a system of sew-

erage. The town was divided into sewer districts, and Main

street was at once thoroughly drained, by putting in a sew^er

of twenty inch pipe on either side, just outside the gutter

line. Throughout the length of West street a large open

ditch had been dug for carrying otf the water. This for a

time answered the purpose, but as the street become more of

a thoroughfare, and buildings were erected along the line of

the ditch, from the many obstructions continually occurring,

the ditch became a nuisance, and the residents of the sewer

district petitioned Council to deepen and sewer it, which

was done.

Sewers have been constructed in Hardin, Lincoln and

Lima streets, in North and East Findley, in the west part of

the town, emptying into the river near the cemetery road-
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And now by this system of drainage, cellars can be con-

structed in almost any part of the town.

The health of the town has been greatly improved, and

the comfort of the citizens has been immeasurably increased.

In 1865 the city authorities arranged for the lighting of

the streets by gas. They had for a number of years pre-

viously been lighted by coal oil lamps. There are now about

one hundred and twenty-five street lamps in place, sur-

mounted by large and beautiful globes, and lighted by gas,

to the great convenience and comfort of the citizens.
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PROFESSIONAL MEX OF FINDLEY.

The following named persons are located in and practice

their profession in Fiudley

:

Ballard, 0. A.

Beardsley, D. B.

Bitler, J. C.

Blackford, Aaron

Blackford, Jason

Bope, J. A.

Brown, Ezra

Brown, Henry

Burket, J. P.

Carlin, W. L.

Dunn, E. T.

Graber, Alfred

Barnhill, T. G.

Carlin, C. R.

Firmin, L.

Firmin, F. W.
Hurd, Anson

Kimmel, J. X.

Knapp, F. H.

ATTORNEYS.

Gribben, Wm.
Hamlin, J. M.

Johnston, J. H.

Muugen, Wm.
Pifer, Peter

Poe, John

Pendleton, Geo. F.

Shafer, M. D.

Shafer, A. B,

Strickler, J. C.

Totten, Theo.

Whiteley, W. H.

Whiteley, M. C.

PHYSICIANS.

Minuti, J.

Oesterlin, C.

Pierson, J. W.

Rawson, Bass

Ray, Miss E. J.

Tritch, J. C.

Waltmau, Wm.
Woodworth, T. F.
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BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

WILSON VANCE

Was the son of Joseph Colville Vance, and Sarah, his

wife, whose maiden name was Wilson. Mr. Vance's father

was born Marcli '24th, 1759, and was married April 10th,

1781, in Loudon County, Virginia. He emigrated to Penn-

sylvania in 1783. Mr. Vance's parents were both what was

called Scotch Irish Presbyterians. They emigrated to Ken-

tucky in 1788, where Wilson Vance was born January 19,

179G, in Mason County. The family came to Ohio in 1800,

and settled in Old Town, Greene County. In 1804 they re-

moved to Urbana. In 1816 Mr. Vance and his brother

William went to Fort Meigs, on the Maumee River, where

lor a time they clerked for their brother Joseph, who was

afterwards Governor of Ohio.

On the 14th of March, 1820, he was married to Sarah

W^ilson, by Rev. John Thompson, in Champaign County, and

returned with his wife to Fort Meigs, where they remained

until the fall of 1821, when with his wife and one child,

and all their earthly possessions on an Indian pony, he

came to Findley, himself walking the distance. He moved

into the old fort until his log cabin was completed. The

next season he erected a two-story log house, and kept a

tavern. These buildings were situated on the south bank

of the river, on the east side of Main street. Mr. V. also
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farmed the bottom lands along the river, and hy industry

and economy laid the foundation of his future prosperity.

In 1830 he built a one-story frame house with five rooms,

and in 1831, he in company with John W. Baldwin opened

up a dry goods store, using the south room of the house as

a business room. This is the same building now occupied

by G. C. Barnd, in rear of the Sherman house. In 1837

Mr, V. bought out the interest of Baldwin, who went to

New York City. Vance was engaged actively in mercantile

pursuits up to 1852, when he sold out his stock at auction.

He however did not wholly retire from business, but was

a partner with his sons, Miles W. and William, at Blufftou,

Ohio, up to the date of his death.

Mr. Vance was one of the first Justices in the county,

and officiated at the first marriage in the county. He was

the first Clerk of the Court of Common Pleas, and the first

Recorder of the county. He was Surveyor of Wood
County, Treasurer of Hancock County, and the second Post

Master at Findley. He superintended the building of the

first flouring mill in the county. The structure was put up

in 1825, and belonged to Elnathan Cory, and was on the

site of the present Carlin Mill. His wife did all her own
work, and that which was necessary in the boarding of the

sixteen men employed in putting up the building, digging

the race, and building the dam, although at that time she

had three little children to look after and care for.

Mr. Vance and his wife were of the first membership of

the Presbyterian Church, and I believe both were still mem-
bers at their decease. The Church was organized at his

house in December, 1831. He was always ready to do his

part in sustaining the church, and contributed liberally to

its various objects.
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Mr. Vance was a good neighbor, an upright citizen and

an honest man. He was a man of stoug convictions, not

easily swerved, and whilst honest in his opinions, and de-

termined in his actions, he of course made some enemies

for the time being, but no one questioned his motives. Mr.

Vance was the father of twelve children, eight sons and

four daughters, all of whom are dead but three, William,

Horace M., and Bridget. Wilson Vance died March 1st,

1866. His children were all born in this county except

Joseph, who was born at Ft. Meigs, and Miles W., who was

born in Urbana. William was the second male child born

in the county.

JONATHAN PARKER.

From an address delivered before the Pioneer Association

by ]\lr. Parker, we learn that he was born in Louden County,

Virginia, and that his grandfather was a soldier in the Rev-

olutionary war. His father, with a wife and six small chil-

dren, emigrated to Ohio in 1813, and settled in what Mr.

Parker says he thinks is the poorest county in Ohio—Mor-

gan. At the age of fifteen years, Mr. Parker was appren-

ticed to the trade of carpenter and joiner, at which he served

for six years.

At the age of twenty-one, with one suit of clothes and

seventy-five cents in money, Mr. P. says he started out on

a tramp to hunt work. After two years time, and having

saved $200, he became acquainted with the late Frederich

Henderson, who had been to Findley, and purchased prop-

erty, and intended to remove there in the fall. Mr. P. at

once made arrangements to accompany him.

On the 18th of October, 1831, they started from Blue

Rock township, Muskingum County, Ohio. Mr. Parker

I
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says: "We had four horses, and an old wagon, which latter

broke down before we had gone ten miles. We then, after

procuring another w^agon, got along very well until we ar-

rived at Upper Sandusky. There having been rain for sev-

eral days the roads were in a terrible condition. When not

far from where Carey now' stands, the bottom fell out of the

roads, and we were fast. Mr. Henderson made his way to

Capt. Brown's for help, and I made my way to a cornfield

to purchase some corn for our horses, which I did of a man
by the name of Ogg. Mr. Henderson returned with a yoke

of cattle, by the aid of which we were soon placed on firmer

ground, and that night we lodged with Judge Smith.

"The next day a young Mr. Smith was hired to accom-

pany them with a yoke of cattle, by the help of which they

reached the residence of Peter George, at what was know^n

as the old Ashery. The rains having so swollen the river

that it could not be crossed with teams, the party hired a

canoe from a Mr. Gipson, and Mr. George, and a Mr. Hew-
itt, piloted them dow^n the Blanchard. There were in the

canoe four men, one woman and one child. In this manner
we made the voyage to Findley, where we arrived on the

28th of October, 1831.

"On our arrival in Findley, Mr. Henderson took lodgings

in a log cabin near where the old jail on the Park stands.

At that time there were but twelve families in the town,

these w-ere Wilson Vance, Allen Wiseley, Squire Carlin,

Parlee Carlin, William Taylor, Thomas F. Johnston, Barna-

bus DeWitt, Bass Rawson, Laquina Rawson, George Flen-

ner, John Basehore, William L. Henderson, being about fifty

persons in all."

Mr. Parker says that when he came to the town, "the

water"—for it had rained nearly all the season—" covered
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the ground from Main Cross street to Chamberlain's Hill."

That when they landed, "they wanted to go to the residence

of William L. Henderson, which stood on the ground now

occupied by the store of Kurz & Morrison, and could only

get there by cooning it on logs across the public square, and

on through that part of town." Mr. Parker did much, very

much, during his long residence here, to make Findley

what it is to-day. Public spirited, industrious, honest and

trusted, he helped to give tone and character to the place.

In his death, which occurred but a few years ago, the town

lost one of its most enterprising citizens, and the commu-

nity a most valuable member. The close of his long chris-

tian life was peaceful and serene.

DR. BASS RAWSON

Was born April 1 7th, 1799, in the town of Orange,

Franklin County, Massachusetts, and was one of the five

sons of Lemuel Rawson, a tanner of Warwick, Massachu-

setts. In 1836, he removed to Bath, in Summit County, 0.,

but died at the residence of his son. Dr. L. Q. Rawson, at

Fremont, Ohio. Dr. Rawson—the subject of this sketch

—

and his four brothers left Massachusetts at an early day,

and settled in Ohio. Four of the five brothers were phy-

sicians. The Doctor is of the sixth generation of the Raw-

son family, in direct descent from Edward Rawson, who

was Secretary of the Massachusetts colony from 1630 to

1636. His mother's maiden name was Sarah Barrows. In

his boyhood, Dr. Rawson worked on a farm, and attended a

country school. lie afterwards learned the trade of a hat-

ter, at which he worked until he was about twenty years

old. His health then failing, he quit farming to engage in

the study of medicine. He attended the Academy at New



JJr. Bass Rawsoji. 297

Salem for several terms, teaching school to defray the ex-

penses of his education.

At the age of twenty-five, he married Amanda Blackraer,

iind removed to Ravenna, 0., but after a few months he

went to Otsego, N. Y., and located at Richfield. Here he

taught school, and pursued the study of medicine with Dr.

Thomas. In the winter of 1826-27 he attended medical

lectures at Dartmouth College, N. II., and at the close of

the term went to New Salem, and pursued his studies under

Dr. Brook, of Oswego. In June, 1828, he emigrated to

Ohio again, and practiced his profession with his brother in

Medina County for about a year.

In September, 1829, he came to Findley, where he settled

permanently in the practice of his profession. He w^as the

first practicing physician in the town. When he came here

there were but twelve white families in the place, the

Indians were more numerous than were the whites. Here

he has practiced for fifty years, and has always been able

to command a large practice, and his successful treatment

of cases has given him a wide reputation. The Doctor is a

large land owner, and one of the wealthiest men of the

county. He has always been economical in his style of

living, having always all the comforts, and many of the

luxuries, without the extravagancies. He is now, and has

been a member and supporter of the Presbyterian Church

for more than forty years.

The Doctor and Mrs. Rawson had but one child, Harriet

E. xA., who married Dr. W. D. Carlin. As Surgeon of the

57th 0. V. I., Dr. Carlin died at Vicksburg, Miss.

CHARLES W. o'nEAL.

Mr. O'Neal was born in Middletown, Frederick County,

20
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Maryland, January 19th, 1811. In 1833, he came io

Zanesville, Ohio, where in 1834 he married Miss Amy J.

Baldwin. In July of the following year he came to Findley^

and studied law with Edson Goit and A. F. Merriam. He
was admitted to the bar in 1838, and from that time ta

within a few years of his death he practiced his profession.

Mr. O'Neal was a practical surveyor, and as such located

many of the roads in the county. He also taught school a

number of terms, and there are men and women residing

here now who were his pupils.

Mr. O'Neal, by his industry and intelligence impressed

upon the early settlers his worth as a citizen, and he was-

many times intrusted with responsible positions. He was

Auditor of the county one term, and in 1844 was elected to

the State Senate. In his profession he took high rank. A&

an advocate, although neither fluent or eloquent, he was terse,

forcible and convincing. As a counselor, he was thorough

and always safe. He was cautious, dilligent and methodi-

cal in his practice, and in his business transactions. In his

profession he was dignified, truthful, and a despiser of petty

fogging tricks, courteous and gentlemanly in all his relations

to the court and bar, considerate towards witnesses, and pur-

suasive before a jury.

At the age of sixteen he united with the Methodist

Church, and remained an acceptable member until his de-

cease. His attachment to the church of his choice was

very strong, and he watched her interests with a jealous

care. He died at Findley, Ohio, December 20th, 1879.

DR. W. H. BALDWIN.

Doctor Baldwin was born in Champaign County, Ohio,

January 16, 1810, and came to Findley in 1832. Having
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studied medicine and attended lectures before he came to

Findley, he at once commenced the practice, and rose to a

high rank in his profession, and his practice became very-

large, extending into adjoining counties. An extensive

practice at that day meant hard labor, long rides through a

country in which there were but few roads, and no bridges..

But none of these discouraged the faithful physician in his

untiring efforts to relieve the afflicted.

But all these could not be endured without producing

their legitimate effects. The strong and healthy constitution

of Dr. Baldwin became impaired, and he became premature-

ly old and feeble. His last years were years of sujEfering,

borne however, without complaint.

In April, 1835, Dr. Baldwin was married to Miss Mary
Jane Patterson, who survived him some ten or twelve years.

Four of the Doctor's children yet survive. He left to his

widow a comfortable home, and to his children an unsullied

name. In all the relations of life he was considerate, re-

respectful and just, and enjoyed the highest esteem of the

community. In 1842 he united with the Methodist Church,

and retained his membership until his death.

In 1836 Dr. Baldwin was appointed Clerk of the Court

of Common Pleas, for this county, which position he held

for seven years, discharging all the duties with promptness

and intelligence.

PRICE BLACKFORD.

Mr. Blackford was born in Pennsylvania, in 1803, and'

came to Ohio when but a boy, and with his parents located

in Wayne County, but the family afterwards removed to

Stark County. In 1834 Mr. Blackford, with his family,

came to Findley, and he at once commenced the manufact-
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ure of fur bats, a trade which he had learned of his father.

No professional man, and scarcely any young man consid-

ered himself dressed properly unless he was crowned with

one of Blackford's hats.

Perhaps no man ever lived in Findley who enjoyed a

greater share of tlie respect and confidence of the people

than did Mr. B. Ilis honesty was proverbial, and his deal-

ings were all characterized by courtesy and fairness. He
held the office of Justice of the Peace for fifteen years, and
^' Blackford's Decisions " were regarded as almost infalli-

able. lie was a member of the Baptist Church for more

than thirty years,

lie had a family of six children, three of whom are liv-

ing. Aaron and Jason are both practicing attorneys in

Findley, and Albert is in business in Clinton, Mo. Mr.

Blackford died in 1851, at the age of forty-eight years, and

universally lamented.

SQUIRE CARLIN.

Mr. Carlin was the second of eight children, and was

born in Cayuga Co., N. Y., December 25th, 1801. His

.parents came to Ohio when he was about six years old, and

located at the mouth of Huron River, in Huron County,

there being but one other white family in the county. Here

his father commenced farming, but after a residence of

about a year at this place, he removed to Michigan, near

the site of the present tow^n of Monroe. Here he remained

but a few months, when he returned to Ohio, and located on

the Maumee River, at the present tow^n of Maumee City.

Mr. Carlin's father being a blacksmith, he was employed by

.the Government to work for the Indians.

Mr. Carlin's family remained here. Squire working on a
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farm, until the war of 1812 broke out. After Hull's sur-

render, the family went to Urbana for safety. They trav-

elled through the wilderness country of Wood, Hancock^

Hardin and Logan Counties. All the goods that Mr. Car-

lin was able to save in his flight, were packed on two>

horses, and with these, and his wife and four children, he^

made the perilous journey. When the family passed Fiud-

ley, the Fort was occupied by soldiers.

After about two years, and before the close of the war,

the elder Mr. Carlin and Squire returned to the Maumee.

When the war closed the family returned to their old home.

Mr. C. was employed about the farm, and in 1821 was mar-

ried to Sarah Wolcott. He had made numerous trips to

Findley, buying furs and stock, or whatever was for sale,

and in 1826, with his wife and oldest child, William D,,.

who was about four years old, he took up his residence here

permanently. When Mr. C. first came, there was but one

white family in the place.

Mr. Carlin's ancestors were Welsh, and were always,

noted for strong constitutions, and great powers of endur-

ance, and Mr. C. himself has been a man of iron constitu-

tion, and has endured innumerable hardships and priva-

tions.

He followed trading with Indians, and made many ex-

cursions to their camps in the wilderness, sleeping on the

ground, travelling in all kinds of weather, laying under the

trees in winter, obliged to shake the snow from his blankets

to prevent being entirely snowed under. Mr. Carlin built

the first frame house, and also the first brick house in Find-

ley, both on the lot on which he now resides. In 182o he
opened a dry goods store, and in 18:^8 his brother, Parlee,,

became connected with him. This partnership existed be-



302 History of Hancock County.

tween these two brothers until 1852. The firm of " S. & P.

Carlin " was known all over the country.

In 1849 Mr. Carlin was carried oflf by the California

fever, and was one of the first who crossed the plains to

that El Dorado, and endured the hardships of that long and

severe trip equally well with the younger members of the

company. The journey occupied about six mouths. After

a residence of three years in California, without a day's

sickness, he returned and continued in the dry goods trade

until 1852. Mr. C.'s wife died in 1850, whilst he was yet

in California.

Mr. Carlin was elected Treasurer of the county in 1830,

and by successive elections served eight years. He was a

voter at the first election held in the county for county of-

ficers. Mr. Carlin was also Post Master for nineteen years.

Of an active energetic disposition he delighted to be out

doors. The brothers w'ere for years the proprietors of a

flouring and saw mill. Mr. C. united with the Methodist

Church in 1814:, and has been a member ever since.

He has been extensively engaged in farming and rail-

roading since he quit the mercantile business. He has

lived here long enough to witness the rise and fall of many
business firms. He has outlived nearly all his cotempo-

raries, and is about the sole link between the past and

present. In 1854 Mr. C. married Mrs. D. B. Gardner, with

whom he still lives. He was the father of thirteen children,

ten by his first, and three by his last wife. Of the first

there are but two, Elliott and Mrs. G. W. Myers, and of his

second, Fred, who lives in Fiudley. Dr. W. D. Carlin, son

of Mr. C, died at Vicksburg as Surgeon of the 57th Regi-

ment.
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HKNllV LAMB.

Mr. Lamb's ancestors were of German descent, and he

was born in Fairfield Co., O., August IGtii, 1807, and re-

mained in that county until 1830. He was the oldest of

nine children, and was occupied as farm hand. In 1830 he

•came to Findley, then but a very small village, and com-

menced clearing up the farm now owned by William Steven-

;son, just north of the Strother farm, in this township. Just

previous to his emigration to this town, and in the same

year, he was married to Mary Petler, who still lives to cheer

his old age. During the first seven years of Mr. Lamb's

residence in the county, he lived north of town in the coun-

try.

In J 837 he moved into the village, and engaged in the

dry goods business, in which he continued for about five

years. In 1840 he bought of John McCurdy the frame

hotel building on the south-west corner of Main and San-

dusky streets, known as " White Hall," and kept '' tavern
"

there until 1849, when the building was burned down. Mr.

Lamb then returned to farming, but subsequently engaged

for a number of years wuth his son, Jacob, in the grocery

business.

Mr. Lamb is the father of six children, five of whom are

yet living, and all reside here except one. No man in the

town, perhaps, has experienced so many changes in busi-

ness life, as has Mr. Lamb. He has passed through all the

ups and downs of pioneer life, and has seen many and great

changes wrought in our county. Nearly all his early asso-

vciates are gone.

JOHN H. MORRISON

Was born in Uniontown, Pa., and came to Perry Co., 0.,
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with his parents whilst quite young. At the age of fifteen

years he lost his right arm by an accident. Mr. M. had a

good common school education. He was a lawyer by pro-

fession, having studied with Philemon Beecher, at Lancas-

ter, Ohio. He first commenced the practice in Bucyrus..

Ohio.

In 183G he moved to Findley, and at once offered his

professional services to those of the new' settlements who

were so unfortunate as to have serious disagreements with:

their neighbors. Mr. Morrison soon gained a wide reputa-

tion as an active and fearless practitioner, and had his full

share of clients. He was indefatigable in the interests of

his clients, and left nothing undone to gain success. He
was aggressive in his conduct of a case, and showed nO'

mercy to opposing counsel. Fluent of speech, often elo-

quent, always sarcastic in his criticisms of counsel and wit-

nesses, he had a powerful influence with juries.

Many of his professional acts were marked with an ec-

centricity that would scarcely be tolerated by courts of this

day. His presentations of a case to a jury, and his com-

ments on the evidence of witnesses was presented with a

bluntness which often bordered on rudeness, and his treat-

ment of courts was sometimes of an impetuous kind.

Yet Mr. Morrison was a kind-hearted man, social in his:

feelings, warm in his friendships, and honest in all his deal-

ings. He was a man of more than ordinary ability, and in

his day stood high as a lawyer, never deserting a client,,

never refusing to aid any one who appealed to him for coun-

sel or advice. He had as compeers in his profession at the

bar here, such men as J. H. Godman, C. W. O'Neal. Edsoa

Goit, A. F. Parker, Jude Hall, W. M. Patterson, A. H. Big-
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elow, M. C. AVhitely, E. Brown, J. E. Rosette, Count Coffin-

berry, Win. Gribben and some others.

Mr. Morrison died in April, 1854, leaving a wife and five

children, who still survive him.

JAMES H. W^ILSON

Was the son of James Wilson, and the third son of five

children, and was born in York Co., Pa., where he resided

until August, 1832, when he came to Findley. On the

next day after his arrival here he bought the lots on which

the Commercial House now stands, together with an unfin-

ished two-story frame building thereon, for the sum of seven

hundred dollars. This same frame building afterwards be-

came the celebrated " Western Caravansary " tavern, and

was the immediate predecessor of the Commercial House.

For about a year after Mr. W. came here he worked at

the carpenter trade; he then engaged as clerk in the dry

goods store of S. & P. Carlin. After an experience of

eighteen months in this line, he put up a frame building on

the present site of the Carnahan Block, having exchanged

his first purchase for these corner lots, and went into the

mercantile business on his own account, in which he re-

mained for eighteen years. In the meantime, in 1848, he

put up a large three story brick building—the largest build-

ing then in the town, except the Court House—and known
as the Melodeon Building, which has just been torn down
and removed, to give place to the magnificent block of T. &
W. R. Carnahan. In this building were two store rooms on

first floor, offices on second floor, and a public hall on third

floor. In this building Mr. Wilson had his business room

until he retired from the trade.

After retiring from mercantile business, Mr. W. was for
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many years engaged iu rarniiug, and looking al'ter his real

estate interests, owning quite an amount of valuable lands.

In 1847 Mr. Wilson laid out into lots, an eighty acre tract

of land on the east side of Eagle Creek, which he called

East Findley. The entire plat of the eighty acres, except

five lots, has been sold, and nearly all the lots built upon.

Mr. Wilson, whilst engaged in the dry goods business

made many trips to New York City for goods. The travel

was made iu wagons to the lake at Sandusky City; thence

to Buffalo by lake, by stage to Lockport, by canal to Albany,

and by the Hudson to New York City, occupying from nine

to twelve days each way. Goods shipped at New York

would arrive in Findley in from two to four weeks, if there

was no delay en route.

When Mr. Wilson came to Findley, there were about a

dozen white families here, amongst whom were Squire and

Parlee Carlin, Dr. llawson, Frederick Henderson, Jonathan

Parker, William Taylor, W. L. Henderson, Mathew Reighly,

Wilson Vance, Christian Barnd and John W. Baldwin. In

1840, Mr. W. married Susan E. Hutchison, who deceased

July 8, 1880.

Mr. Wilson has for the past sixteen years been connected

with the First National Bank, of Findley, as a stock-holder

and director, and has practically retired from business. For

many yea.is after he came to the county, his business was

such as to extend his acquaintance, and he perhaps knew

every grown person iu the county.

Mr. Wilson united with the Seceder Church when about

fifteen years of age, and is still a member of that organiza-

tion, which is now known as the United Presbyterians.

After his removal to Findley. there being no society of his

church here, he united with the church at Cannonsburg, of
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which he is still a member. Mr. Wilson, by industry and

•economy, has amassed a fortune, and is quietly enjoying it.

HENRY BYAL

Is the oldest son of John Byal, and was born in Stark

County, Ohio, on the 23d of March, 1817, His father's

family were of French descent, and his maternal grand-

father, Conrad Newstetter, was a Hessian, and was one of

Oen. Burgoyne's life guards. Mr. Byal came to this county

in 1832, his father was a miller and farmer, and on his emi-

gration to this county, settled on lands adjoining the pres-

ent Infirmary Farm. Mr. B.'s father erected a saw mill on

the Blanchard in 1832, and in this mill Henry worked for

seven years. When not water enough to run the mill, he

worked on the farm. He had only a common school educa-

tion, and taught school one term.

In 1842 Mr. Byal was married to Doratha Comer, daugh-

ter of the late Isaac Comer, and immediately removed to

the farm now owned by Conrad Renninger, and commenced

life in the woods. In a few years, by the untiring industry

of himself and wife, he had cleared up a large tract of

land, and had an elegant new farm. After five years resi-

dence here he rented his farm, and in company with the late

Edson Goit, he removed to Ottowa, in Putnam County, and

engaged in the dry goods business. In this business he re-

mained seven years, in the towns of Ottowa, Gilboa, and

Pendleton, all in Putnam Co., He returned to Findley

in 1853, and went into the store of the late Edson Goit,

In the spring of 1854 he was elected a Justice of the

Peace in Findley township, and held the office for three

consecutive terms. Mr. B., although still living in Findley,

claims to be a farmer. He is dealing quite extensively in
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lands in this, Wood, and Henry Counties, owning now about

one thousand acres, the care of which occupies nearly all

his time.

Mrs. Doratha Byal having died in 1860, Mr. Byal mar-

ried Miss Mary Lamb in 1862, w^ho is still living.

In 1866 Mr. Byal united with the Presbyterian Church

in Findley, of which he has ever since been a member, and

is at present a ruling elder. lie is the father of four chil-

dren, only one of whom—Mrs. S. D. Houpt—is now living.

WILLIAM L. HENDERSON.

Mr. Henderson was born in County Donegal, Ireland, in

1797, and with his parents came to this country, and settled

at Mt. Eaton, Ohio. He had the advantages of a good ed-

ucation for his day. He came to Findley in 1829, and at

once assumed a prominent place amongst the early settlers.

In 1838 he was elected Auditor of the county, which office

he held for four years, and then resigned. In 1842 he was

appointed Clerk of the Common Pleas Court, which office

he held for six years. In 1830 he was appointed Surveyor

of the County, which office he held for eight years. Thus

for eighteen consecutive years he filled a county office, and

always acceptably to the people.

He was a man of strong constitution, and robust health.

He had most decided convictions, and was not slow in de-

fending any opinion he may have formed. He was not

easily swerved from any course hs had marked out. After

a long and active residence here, he went to Kansas, where

he died in 1861, at the age of sixty-four years.

DR. DAVID PATTON

Was born at Steubenville, Ohio, in 1800, and when about
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?twenty-oue years of age, began the study of medicine. He
was a man of more than average ability, and had in addi-

tion a very fair English education, all of which enabled him

to direct Ms energies to the best advantage.

After finishing his medical course, he practiced in Car-

rolltown, Carroll Co., 0., for several years. In 1837 he

came to Findley, and at once opened up an office, and an-

nounced himself as ready to render his professional services

to any who might need them. Dr. Patton was a man well

read in his profession, and soon succeeded to a fair practice,

which increased as time went on. After a number of years

practice here, he removed to Tiffin, but remained there only

a short time, when he returned to Findley. and again went

into practice.

Some years later he went to Iowa, where he remained,

however, but a few years, when he returned to Ohio, and

located near Cleveland, where he died in 1878. The Dr.

was of Irish descent, a whole-souled, brusque sort of a

man. Social, good-natured and jovial, he always had hosts

of friends. He was somewhat literary in his tastes, and for

a time was editor and proprietor of the Western Herald.

In religious belief he was a Presbyterian.

HUGH NEWELL

Was the youngest of thirteen children, of Hugh and

Margaret Newell, and was born in Washington Co., Pa,,

April the 8th, 1801. His father was a farmer, in which

business young Hugh was reared. The elder Mr. Newell

was a soldier in the Revolutionary war. Such was his

hatred of the tories, that he would not permit his children

to associate with their children. No wonder then that

with the teachings of such a 'father, that his son Hugh was
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in all his life, the firm friend of freedom, and always loyal

to the government, and a lover of his country. In 1814^

Mr. Newell came to Ohio and located at Mt. Vernon, in

Knox County. He was engaged in selling goods, and in

manufacturing fanning mills. In December, ] 826, he was

married to Sallie Thrift, and came to Findley ten years

later.

Upon his arrival in Findley, he went into the store of

Green & Reed, and remained with them for about a year.

He and Frederick Henderson then were engaged in the

manufacture of bedsteads. In 1838 he went into the mer-

cantile business on his own account, and was engaged in

that occupation for about eighteen years, a portion of that

time in partnership with the late Frederick Henderson. By

industry, economy and fair dealing, he always controlled a

large trade, and was enabled to accumulate quite a large

property.

Mr. Newell made quite a number of trips to New York

for goods in that early day. Such a trip meant hard travel

for two or three weeks, by wagon, lake, canal and river; no

palace cars, no restaurants, no comfortable hotel rooms.

When goods were shipped at New York they were expected

at Findley in about three weeks.

Mr. N. has been a member of the Methodist Episcopal

Church for about forty-six years, and his life has always

been consistent, and his example has been worthy of imita-

tion. He has always been a leading member in the

church. He is the father of three children, all living.

Hannah is the wife of Henry Brown, Esq., of Findley, and

Margaret is the wife of Rev. Samuel Mower, a travelling

Methodist minister, and his son Starling resides in Indian-

apolis, Indiana.
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FREDERICK HENDERSON

Was a native of Muskingum County, 0., and came to

this town with his wife and Jonathan Parker, in Octpber,

1831. Mr. H. was a tall fine looking man, very courteous

in his manner, and affable in conversation, and considerate

of the feelings and opinions of others.

He was a cabinet maker by trade, and carried on that

business for a number of years. In 1840 he and Mr. New-
ell formed a co-partnership in the dry goods trade, and oc-

cupied the room on the corner of Main and Main Cross

streets, now occupied by Frank Karst. Jhis partnership

lasted for six years. Mr. Henderson then withdrew from

the firm, and went into business alone. He occupied a frame

building on the site of the present room of W. S. Hall, on

Main street.

Mr. H. was one amongst the earliest members of the

Presbyterian Church in Findley, and in 1837 he was

chosen one of the elders. He remained a member until his

death. He was a very successful business man, and accum-

ulated a large property. Dying he left a wife and four chil-

dren.

JUDGE DAVID J. CORY

Is a native of Warren County, Ohio, and was born April

17, 1801. His parents were of Dutch descent, and came
to Ohio, the JS'ortli-West Territory, in 1796, and settled

eight miles above Cincinnati, Mr. Cory's father was a

farmer and stock raiser, and also a large land dealer. In-

deed the Judge says that his father invested all his money
in lands, for the reason as he said, that water would not

drown it, and fire would not burn it, hence it was safer than
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any other kiud of property. The Judge himself has been a

farmer and dealer in real estate ever since his boyhood.

In 1803 the family moved to Honey Creek, in the vicinity

of Dayton, in which locality they remained until 1834.

The Judge was married in April, 1827, to Mrs. Martha

Meek, and with her he removed to Williams County, in what

is now a part of Henry County, on the Maumee River,

about eighteen miles above Perrysburg. Here he remained

until November, 1848, when he came to Findley. He had

passed through this county in ISIG, with a drove of cattle,

and had slept in the old Fort. When the Judge's family

removed from Dayton to the Maumee, they did so with

teams, passing through on Hull's Trail, au<l were fifteen

days on the road, or rather in the woods, as there was not

much that could be called a road on the entire route.

When Mr. C. came to Findley, he engaged in farming

and real estate transactions, his father having been one of

the proprietors of the town, left a valuable landed estate to

look after. The Judge was also a large stockholder in, and

President of the Baiik of F'indley, the first institution of

the kind organized here. He was also one of the leading

spirits in the projection, location, and building of what is

now the Lake Erie & Western Railroad, and was for many

3^ears a Director in that organization. Indeed there were

but few public enterprises that he was not prominently

identified with, and took the lead in. Liberal, just, honor-

able and far-seeing, he was always a safe leader.

He signed the petition to the Legislature praying for the

formation of the new county of Henry, and helped to or-

ganize the same, and was appointed one of the first Judges

of the Common Pleas Court of that county. His associates

were Pierre Evans and Waite, a brother of the pres-
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ent Chief Justice of the United States. On his emigration

to the Maumee, he found but very few families in the pres-

ent bounds of Henry County, but during his fourteen years

residence there, much of the county was improved, roads

opened and numerous settlements made all over the county,

and especially along the river.

He had only the advantages of a common school educa-

tion, but being a man of more than ordinary natural ability

and good judgment, he has been a most successful business

man, and has added largely to the fortune left him by his

father. He is, perhaps, the largest laud owner in the county,

holding twenty-three hundred acres of land in this and

Wood County, together with quite a considerable valuable

town property. The Judge's public benefactions to churches

and schools and charitable objects, amounts to thousands of

dollars. His liberality in gifts to all worthy objects is

proverbial.

He is now and has been ever since 1842, a member of

the Methodist Church, to the support of which he has con-

tributed more than any other man in the county.

Mrs. Martha Cory died February 26th, 1868, and in Sep-

tember 1869, the Judge married Miss x\nn M. Wright, of

Urbana. He is now in his declining years, quietly looking

after his business interests, and enjoying life pleasantly.

WILLIAM TAYLOR

Was born in Mifflin County, Pa., May 12th, 1798. His

early life was spent on a farm, and his chances for obtain-

ing an education w^ere very limited, and his want of educa-

tion was a defect which he deplored, and in after life, by a

patient application, he to some extent overcome. On the

25th day of April, 1826, he was married to Margaret Pat-
21
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terson, in Bedford County, Pa., and in the same year came

to Richland County, Ohio, and located about eight miles

from Mansfield, and followed farming. In 1828 he came to

Findley, the county having just been organized, and the

town having been designated as the seat of Justice.

Here he at once entered into mercantile pursuits, keep-

ing on hand a general assortment of such goods as were

the most in demand in a new settlement. He was also

quite extensively engaged in the fur trade with the Indians

and trappers, who were numerous. This trade was a i)rofitable

one. Many of my readers will remember the small frame

building which stood just south of and adjoining Davis'

Opera House, long known as Mefferd's Shop, and afterwards

occupied by Dr. Detwiler as a residence. That building Mr.

Taylor put up, and occupied as a dry goods store, tavern

and family residence.

Mr. Taylor was naturally energetic and industrious, with

good judgment and great discernment, of pleasing manner,

and with these qualities, he soon commanded a good busi-

ness, and accumulated quite a fortune, becoming the owner

of much valuable property in both town and country. He

took an active part in the early life of the county, being

called upon to fill the important offices of County Surveyor,

School Examiner, Commissioner and Postmaster of Findley;

also Bank Director. In all tliese positions he ever acquit-

ted himself with honor, discharging every duty with

fidelity.

He united with the Presbyterian church at Perrysville,

0., before his emigration to this county, and in December,

1831, assisted in the organization of the society in this

place, and soon after was elected a ruling elder, which office

he held at the time of his death.
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Mr. Taylor was the father of five children, four of whom
are living. Patterson makes his home in Missouri, Char-

lotte, wife of Milton Gray, and Minerva, wife of J. S. Pat-

terson, reside in Findley, and Milton is in business in Tole-

do, Ohio.

EDSON GOIT, SR.,

Was born in Oswego County, State of New York, in 1808,

and whilst yet in his infancy, lost his father, and during his

boyhood he had but little time or opportunity to improve his

mind, but such as he had he made the best possible use of,

and by the time he was twenty years old, he taught a dis-

trict school, and soon thereafter started for the western

country. Ohio then, without railroads or canals, and

but few wagon roads, was a long journey from New
York, and the first appearance of young Goit after

he left his native state with his bundle of raiment tied up in

a handkerchief, was at Tiffin, in Seneca County.

He taught school in Tiffin and Fremont, then unpreten-

tious villages, and in the mean time pursued the study of

law with Abel T. Rawson. In due time, he was admitted to

practice, and in looking around for a location, selected Find-

ley, then but a village, but a new county seat, as the scene

of his future efforts. Mr. Goit made the journey from Tiffin

to Findley on foot, staying the first night with a farmer near

the present town of Fostoria, and on the second night at the

present site of Van Buren, and on the third day reached

Findley. He made his home in the family of the late L. Q,

Rawson, and waited patiently for six months for a client, but

none came.

There was no other Attorney in the place. Mr. Goit was

the pioneer of the profession in Findley. Being discouraged
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and disheartened at his lack of business, he announced at

the breakfast table, that he would leave the place. But

while yet at the table, a rap was heard at the door, and the

inquiry was made : " Does a young lawyer board here?
"

The visitor was a man from the east, desiring to collect a

claim held against one who was teaching school not far away,

and who was the owner of forty acres of land.

Mr. Goit drew up the necessary papers, the man collected

his claim by taking the land, the teacher left the place,

and Goit was employed to teach the remainder of his term of

school.

Business brightened up, clients came, and he abandoned

the idea of leaving the place, and went to board with Wm.
Taylor, who was keeping tavern.

Mrs. Taylor's sister, Miss Jane Patterson, and her brother

had come from Pennsylvania, making the trip on horseback,

and took up their residence with Mr. Taylor. Mr. Goit and

Miss Patterson were married in 1835.

No man in the county did more to develop its resources, •

and to assist the struggling community in its efforts towards

wealth and prosperty. He engaged extensively in mercan-

tile business in Findley, Bluffton, Gilboa and Ottowa. He

was engaged in almost every public enterprise in town ai;d

country.

He was a man of unbounded generosity, and had great

confidence in his fellow men. He was seldom appealed to

in vain. But like all men of his kind, he became the vic-

tim of misplaced confidence. He indorsed notes, and went

bail for almost every one who requested him to do so, and

the usual result followed—embarrassment, importunity of

creditors—and failure. But he neither made an assignment

or went into bankruptcy, but took off his coat, went to work
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and assured his creditors that they should not loose a penny

by him, but that if life was spared him, he would pay every

dollar he owed. Life was spared, and he nobly redeemed

his promise.

As an Attorney, Mr. Goit was a successful practitioner.

He was Treasurer of the County, and also Prosecuting At-

torney. Whetever faults Mr. Goit may have had, and he no

doubt had some—for who has not—dishonesty was not one

of them. His reputation for honesty was never questioned,

even in his darkest hour. One of the great comforts to

him in his last sickness, was the fact that he should die

square with the world, as he expressed it,

Mr. Goit's social qualities always insured him a ready

welcome in society. He died in October, 1880, at Bowling

Green, Ohio, of which place he had been a resident for sev-

eral years.

I
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INDUSTRIES OF FINDLEY.

FINDLEY LINSEED OIL MILL.

In August 1865, James T. Adams, William xlnderson and

Calvin A. Cronninger purchased the frame building on the

north side of Crawford street, originally the Presbyterian

Church, but recently the Findley Woolen Mills, and placed

in it the necessary machinery for the manufacture of Lin-

seed Oil. The first year in which it was in operation, not

more than three thousand bushels of seed were used. The

proprietors loaned to farmers for sowing, about three hun-

dred bushels.

In February 1868, Mr. Cronninger sold his interest to his

partners, and retired from the business.

In 1873, the proprietors built a fine two story brick fire

proof warehouse, or seed house in front of the frame build-

ing, and flush with the street. In this building, in addition

to storage, is the oflice of the company, consisting of two

rooms, paved with flagging, heated by a gi-ate, and supplied

with desks, safes and other office conveniences.

In August, 1877, Mr. Anderson sold his interest to Mr.

Adams and Milton Taylor, of Toledo, and he, too, retired

from the business.

In 1880 the old frame part was torn down and a fine

brick structure took its place. This new building is occu-

pied by machinery, and storage in second story, and it is

fitted up with all the latest conveniences. The building and
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machinery are valued at $24,000. The annual consumption

of seed is thirty-five thousand bushels. About three-fourths of

this seed is produced in Hancock County, and the balance

is brought from the west.

The oil is marketed at home and in Boston. The oil cake

is sold in Philadelphia, for Pennsylvania. For the last

twelve years C. H. Cummings, of Philadelphia, has pur-

chased all the oil cake made at this mill.

FINDLEY WOOLEN MILL.

William Anderson and John D. McKibben purchased the

old Presbyterian Church building on Crawford street in

1858, and after remodeling and fitting it up, put in four

looms and two hundred spindles, together with the other

necessary machinery, and commenced the manufacture of

woolen goods.

In 1862 Mr. McKibben sold his interest to Mr. xiuder-

son.

In 1865 Mr. Anderson sold the old building, and erected

the present large buildings on Main Cross slreet, east of

Eagle Creek. The building is of brick, forty feet wide by

eighty feet long, and three stories in heighth. The rooms are

large and well lighted. There is a one story brick addition

or wing, twenty by forty-five feet, occupied as an office and

sales-room. There is also a large Dye House and other

necessary buildings, all of brick. The buildings cost about

nine thousand dollars, and the machinery about sixteen

thousand dollars.

There are eight looms, four hundred spindles, twe setts

cards, and such other of the most approved machinery as

belongs to an establishment of this kind. The capacity of

the mill is 50,000 pounds of wool per annum. Cassimeres
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Sattinetts, Blankets, Flannels and yarns are manufactured.

The market for the goods is in the county.

FINDLEY FOUNDRY AND MACHINE WORKS.

In 1857 Augustus Sheffield erected a brick building,

thirty by one hundred feet, on the south side of west Main

Cross street, into which he put the necessary machinery for

carrying on a foundry and repair of machinery.

In 1859 Jesse Wolf and Simon Willhelm purchased the

entire property, having previously carried on the old Jack-

son Foundry, and operated under the name of Wolf & Will-

helm until 1864. In 1863 William France took an interest

in the business, which he retained until 1864.

In the latter year, R. S. Mungen became a partner by the

retirement of Mr. Willhelm, and the firm name was changed

to R. S. Mungen & Co.

In 1865 Louis purchased on interest, and the firm name

became Adams, Mungen & Wolf

Jesse Wolf sold out to Mungen and Adams in 1866, but

after being out about a year returned. During this time

the business was carried on under the name of Adams &
Mungen.

Mr. Wolf retired finally from the establishment in 1868,

by disposing of his interest to Vincent H. Coons, and

Adams sold his interest to Cyrus Vail. The firm name was

now Mungen, Coons & Vail.

In 1868 Vail resold his interest to Adams, and Mungen

also sold to Adams, and Adams & Coons carried on the

business until 1872, when iVdams retired and John W-
Davis, Wm. L. Davis, Jas. T. Adams, and Newton M. Adams
became interested, since which time the firm name has

been Coons, xA.dams & Co.



Findley Flax Mill. 321

In 1880 William L. Davis having died, the others partners

bought of the heirs his interest.

In 1873 an addition of brick, forty by one hundred feet,

two stories high, was built, facing on Main Cross street, also

an engine house.

This company have buildings valued at ten thousand dol-

lars, and machinery valued at eight thousand dollars. They

manufacture stationary and portable engines, saw mills, and

mill machinery, and all kinds of castings. They employ

twenty hands.

Vincent H. Coons, John W. Davis, James T. Adams and

Newton M. Adams now compose the company.

FINDLEV FLAX MILL.

In 1870 the Delaware Bagging Company put up a frame

building on east Main Cross street, east of Eagle Creek,

into which they put machinery for the purpose of manufac-

turing tow from flax straw. The linseed oil mill having

created a market for flax-seed, the cultivation of flax had

become quite general.

In June 1872, J. T. Adams and William Anderson pur-

chased the mill, and in 1877 Mr. Anderson, by the purchase

of the interest of Adams, became sole owner.

The buildings are valued at three thousand dollars, and

the machinery at two thousand dollars. About seven hun-

dred tons of straw is worked up annually. Until the last

year, the market for the tow, has been at St. Louis, Mo., and

Louisville, Ky. The entire product of last year was sold in

Lima, 0.
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A. W. RAY CARRIAGE SHOP.

In 1860 KaiT & Spraii came to the place and at once

commenced wagon making and blacksmithing on a small

scale, on the south side of Main Cross street, west of the

Court House. After remaining here about two yeais, they

disposed of the business to John M. Fergeson. Not long

afterwards P. B. Morrison purchased an interest, and the

business was carried on in the name of Fergeson & Morri-

son.

In 1866 Morrison disposed of his interest to S. C. Moore,

and he after a year sold to George Heck. This firm of

Fergeson k Heck put up a two story frame building thirty

by sixty feet, fronting on Main Cross street, which was and

is now used as a sales room below, and paint shop above.

In 1870 Mr. Fergeson retired, and was succeeded by J.

L. Linnville, and the business was carried on by Heck &
Linnville, until Mr. Heck sold to William Biggs, who in

turn sold to Charles Fritcher, and he shortly after disposed

of his interest to A. W. & J. K. Ray, and L. Fitzpatrick,

and the new firm assumed the name of Linnville, Ray & Co.

Two years later, Mr. Linnville retired, and Ray, Fitzpatrick

& Ray become the firm.

In 1877 J. K, Ray died, and a few months afterwards A.

W. Ray bought the entire establishment, and the business

has ever since been conducted in his name.

Carriages and wagons of all styles are manufactured and

are unsurpassed in material and workmanship. The busi-

ness amounts to not less than $12,000 annually. Twelve

hands are employed in the different shops, and the business

of Mr. Ray is steadily increasing.
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FINDLEY RAKE FACTORY.

lu May, 1873, Andrew Bushon, Horace M, Vance and

C, E. Seymour built a frame building, thirty by fifty i^ei,

and two stories high, on the west side of Main street, in

North Findley. This was the first Rake Factory, and all

kinds of handles were also made. The firm was Bushon &
Seymour. In December, 1873, an addition of fifteen by

fifty feet was built.

Mr. Bushon retired from the firm in 1874, and the busi-

ness was carried on under the name of Vance & Seymour

until 1876, when Vance sold out to P. J. Sours, the firm

then being Sours ^^ Seymour until July, 1878, at which time

Mr. Seymour became sole proprietor by the purchase of the

interest of Mr. Sours.

On the 21st of May, 1880, the building was burned, to-

gether with the machinery and stock, at a loss of about nine

thousand dollars.

In June, 1880, Mr. Seymour commenced the erection of a

brick building, on the north side of Crawford street, on the

site of the old Jackson Foundry, and completed it in

November. The building is two stories in heighth, fifty by

sixty-eight feet. It is supplied with the latest and most

approved machinery, valued at six thousand dollars, the

building being worth three thousand.

This establishment manufactures nothing but hand rakes.

It gives employment to twenty-five hands, and make 15,000

dozen of rakes annually.

CARRIAGE SHOP BUCK, REIMUND & SEYEANG.

In 1859 Daniel Buck built a small frame building on the

north side of west Main Cross street, which he occupied as

a wagon and blacksmith shop. About two years later, he
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took in a partner, Stephen Seyfang, a practical blacksmith.

The business was carried on by the two, until 1866, when

Adam Reimund, a wood worker purchased an interest, and

the business was carried on undei the name of D. Buck &
Co. This firm in ] 868 erected a frame building on the

same ground, which was used as a wood and paint shop.

In 1875, having previously purchased ground on the south

side of Main Cross street, running south to Putnam street^

the old buildings were removed to the new location, and a

fine two story brick building, thirty-five feet wide and

eighty-five feet long, facing the street, was erected. The

first floor was finished up for and is used as an office and

sales room, and the second floor as a paint shop. The

building presents an imposing appearance, and is commodi-

ous in its arrangements.

The company manufacture wagons and carriages of the

most approved styles, and all of first class materials. They

employ twenty-five hands in the various departments, and

their annual sales amount to not less than $25,000. The

buildings and machinery is valued at $10,000. The mem-

bers of the firm are Daniel Buck, Adam Reimund and

Stephen Seyfang.

FINDLEV CARRIAGE BENT WORKS.

In November, 1879, Y. Bickham and Charles Wright

leased the large two story brick building on west Crawford

street, known as the Novelty Works^ and with a capital of

$10,000, under the management of Mr. Wright, commenced

the manufacture of Carriage Bent Goods, such as shafts^

poles, bows, felloes and sawed stock for carriages and wag-

ons, under "Wright's Hot Form Process." The business

was conducted tor about one year in this way, when in Jan-
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uary, ]881, Mr. Bickham retired from the firm, Mr. Wright

purchasing his interest.

The concern is now known as the Findley Carriage Bent
Works, C. Wright, Proprietor. The timber used is ash, oak

and hickory, of which about two hundred thousand feet are

used annually. The buildings occupied by the works are

valued at $7,000, and machinery at $6,000. Twenty-five

employees are required to operate the premises.

dietsch's furniture establishment.

The firm of A. Dietsch & Co. in 1860 erected a frame

building on west Main Cross street, one and a half stories

high, and commenced the manufacture of furniture. In 1875

and 1876 they put up a two story brick building thirty feet

wide and one hundred and thirty long. Such has been

their increase in business, that during the last year it ex-

ceeded $16,000, more than half of which was of their own
make.

All kinds of furniture is made, and all sales are by retail

only. The firm consists of Charles Dietsch and his two

sons, Edward and Anthony.

FINDLEY STAVE AND HANDLE FACTORV.

in 1872 D. C. Fisher, John K. Wise, A. Bushon, H. F.

Winders, John M. Hamlin and Samuel C. Moore formed a

partnership for the purpose of manufacturing barrel staves

and farm tool handles, and at once commenced operations

near the railroad, on west Sandusky street. In December

ol the same year, Mr. Fisher disposed of his interest to the

remaining members of the firm and retired. Mr. Wise died

in 1873, and his interest was purchased by the firm.

Mr. Bushon sold his interest to Messrs. Hamlin & Win-
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ders of the firm, in February, 1873. Soon after ttiis, tiie

establisliment was destroyed by fire, at a great loss to the

owners, but with commendable pluck and energy, and the

assistance of friends, they immediately rebuilt, and enlarged

the capacity of their establishment.

In J 875 Mr. Moore disposed of his interest to Henry

Hellenkamp, and in 1878 Mr. H. sold to Hamlin & Winders

who have since been the sole owners.

The machinery and grounds are worth $8,000, and oak

staves, headings and all kinds of farm tool handles are made,

for which a market is four.d throughout the United States,

Canada and Europe. The business is constantly increasing,

and now the demands for their work exceeds the capacity of

the establishment. The present proprietors are John M.

Hamlin and Henry F. Winders.

FINDLEY GAS LIGHT COMPANY.

This company was incorporated July 7th, 1871, by virtue

of the laws of the State. The incorporators were William

Anderson, William L. Davis, Samuel D. Frey, J. J. Wheeler

and Chas. E. Niles. On the 26th day of August, 1874, the

village council passed an ordinance granting the Gas Light

Company the privilege of using streets and alleys, and of

erecting suitable works.

In September of the same year, the company assigned all

their privileges, benefits and franchises to R. T. Coverdale,

who at once erected works, laid down mains, and in Decem-

ber the town was lighted.

In 1865 Mr. Coverdale sold to the Findley Gas Light

Company, composed mainly of resident stockholders, who

elected S. D. Frey, President, J. J. Childs, Secretary, Geo.

W. Myers, Charles E. Niles and R. T. Coverdale, Directors.
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The works were sold to the new organization for $28,000,

and were under the management of R. T. Coverdale until

January, 1877, when they passed into the control of Y.

Bickham. thence into the hands of the present company,

composed of J. G. Hull, C. E. Niles, S. D. Frey, W. Ander-

son, G. W. Myers, Jennie E. Bickham and Y. Bickham.

The officers are J. G. Hull, President and Treasurer, Y.

Bickham, Secretary, E. B. Phillips, Superintendent.

The company have laid over seven miles of pipe, and one

hundred and twelve street lamps, and about three hundred

private consumers are supplied with gas. The business ol'

the company is generally increasing, and a good article of

gas is produced.

ruhl's saddlery establishment.

In 1876 John S. and George W. Ruhl purchased the two

story brick building on the east side of Main and north of

Sandusky street, and removed the saddlery shop of George

W. Ruhl into the same. They at once commenced business

in their line on a large scale, manufacturing all kinds of

harness, and especially collars.

In 1880 they patented and improved a pad, called the

" Ohio Team Pad," a very valuable improvraent in the con-

struction of harness.

The Messrs. Ruhl are now doing an extensive wholesale

business in all kinds of saddlery goods, and are manufac-

turing largely. They have already sold over two thousand

pairs of their team pad. One of the firm is on the road

nearly all the time, making sales and looking after the inter-

est of their establishment.

They employ twenty-four workmen, and they estimate

their business at $50,000 a year. They have a building
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worth $5,000, and a large stock on hands, with a steadily

increasing business.

EAGLE FOUNDRY AND MACHINE SHOP.

In 1871 W. K. Marvin removed the two story frame

building, corner of Main Cross street and Mechanics alley,

to the south side of east front street, and fitted it up for a

foundry. The business was carried on for ten years, when

the old building was torn down, and there is now in process

of erection on the site, a brick l)uilding one hundred feet

long and thirty feet wide, with an eight foot basement, and

a eleven foot story above, with a large moulding room.

Into this Mr. Marvin is placing all the necessary machinery

for carrying on his business. He is largely engaged in the

manufacture of portable engines, and all kinds of mill gear-

ing, as well as making all kinds of castings.

His building and machinery are worth not less than

$10,000. The members of the firm are W. K. Marvin and

his sons, Russell and Demy.

RUMMEL's CABINET AND CHAIR FACTORY.

This establishment is situated on the south side of east

Crawford street. The building, which is a large two story

fi-ame, was built by Moses Bullock, in 1855, and occupied

by him as a furniture manufactory, until September, 1856,

when the business of Porch & Wheeler, in the same line, was

consolidated with Mr. Bullock's, and carried on under the

firm name of Porch, Bullock tfe Co., until the spring of 1858.

Mr. Wheeler then retired, and David Rummell became a

partner.

The new firm of Bullock & Co. continued until the fall of

1859, when Mr. Porch withdrew, and Bullock & Rummell
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carried on the business, until the latter part of the year

I<S6"J, when Rummell sold his interest to Mr. Bullock, and

retired.

In the fall of 1875 Mr. Rummell purchased the entire

stock of furniture from Mr. Bullock, and since that time has

been sole proprietor.

The business of this establishment has steadily increased

year by year, and notably so since Mr. Rummell's owner-

ship, until it is now a first class institution. All work done

is of the best quality. Mr. R. being a practical and intelli-

gent workman himself, uses the knowledge gained by his

long experience in the business, in the selection of all ma-
terials used by him, and all finished work which he handles.

He keeps his sales-rooms filled with an assortment of goods

in his line, from the cheapest to the very finest and richest

•of articles in his trade. His workmen are skilled mechan-

ics, and this establishment is now regarded as one of the

permanent and valuable industries of the town.

FINDLEY PLANING MILL:

la 1864 D. C. Fisher and W. H. Wheeler purchased the

four lots on west Crawford streets, known as the old ashery

lots, and put up a two story frame building, and completed

it for the purpose of manufacturing sash, blinds and doors,

and dressing lumber, and removed to it the business of D.

C. Fisher from East Findley. The building cost about three

thousand dollars. The firm was Fisher & Wheeler.

Whilst this firm was in existence, C. E. Seymour pur-

chased a third interest and became a partner, the firm name
was D. C. Fisher & Co. Wheeler soon afterwards sold his

interest to John Shull, and without change in name, this

firm existed until 1867, when Fisher disposed of his inter-

22
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est to William Andersou, and retired from the business.

Under the new arrangement, the firm was John Shull &
Co.

In 1869 Anderson and Seymour sold to G. W. Myers and

S. D. Frey the John Shull raanufactnring company was in-

corpated.

This company carried on the business until 1877, when

D. C. Fisher and John Shull purchased the interest of My-

ers and Frey, since which time the tirm is known as Shull &

Fisher.

During all these years, and amid all these changes, the

property has been greatly improved, and the business con-

stantly increasing. The building now has an iron roof, a

brick shaving room, and the most improved machinery has

been introduced. The building is worth $4,000, and the

machinery about $10,000. There is also quite an extensive

lumber yard connected with the establishment, and the

amount of lumber handled will amount to 2,000,000 feet

annually. The manufacture of sash, doors and blinds, and

finishing of all kinds of wood building materials exceeds

$60,000 in value. Twenty men are employed in the differ-

ent departments. The members of the firm are John Shull

and D. C. Fisher.
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CHUECHES.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL.

The Rev. Elam Day formed the first class in Findley

in January, 1833. The first members were Catharine

Swapp—now Mrs. H. M. Hosier—Sarah Carlin, wife of

Parlee Carlin, Sarah Carlin, wife of Squire Carlin,

William Dewitt and others.

The Rev, Thomas Thompson and Rev. Elanthan Gavitt

were the first regular preachers. When Findley was

made a mission circuit Elam Day was preacher in charge

and B. Allen, assistant, and were appointed by the Ohio

Conference. In 1833 they reported three hundred and

eight members. The meetings were held in the school

house and court house.

The first church building was erected in 1835 on the

east end of Main Cross street, Whitman and Brecken-

ridge then being the pastors. The building was a frame,

and cost Fourteen Hundred Dollars. The membership

was only Fifty.

This house was used continually until 1851 when a

brick building, much larger and more substantial than

the old frame, and at a cost of seven thousand dollars, wa&
erected. The Sabbath school numbered one hundred

and eighty-five, and the membership one hundred and

eighty. The Rev. W. S. Lunt, pastor. The next year
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Fiiidley was luade a btatiuu aud Rev. Luut was retuiued.

The present church edifice on west Sandusky street

Avas erected in 18(»7-68 at a cost of $38000, including par-

sonage. It is a fine brick building with stained windows,

slate roof, and a spire one hundred and eighty feet in

height. The first story, or basement, more properly

speaking, is used as lecture room, Sunday school and

class rooms. The audience room on second floor, has a

seating capacity of about seven hwidred^ with a galleiy

at one end The desks, seats for choir and organ room

are at the north end of the room. The organ is a good

one, purchased at a cost of $2,000. The Rev. Isaac New-

ton was in chai'ge of the station at the time of the build-

ing of the church, and was very active and efficient in his

woi-k. The Rev. Francis Davies is now in charge, with

a membership of three hundred, and a Sabbath school of

two hundred and eighty-five, under the superintendeucy

of II. F. Winders.

Those pioneers of Methodism, Bigelow, Gurley, Run-

nells, Allen, Breckenridge, Heustis, Biggs, Wilson, Pope,

Gavitt, Hill, Whiteman aud otliers equally eminent, have

traveled the wilds of this and adjoining counties pro-

claiming the truths of the gospel, with eloquence and

zeal.

THE ENGLISH LUTHERN CHURCH.

In the fall of 1838 the Rev. M. Cortex, a German, was

sent as a missionary to Hancock County and preached in

Findley for about two years. In 184:0 the Rev. Charles

Wisler came, and remained until the latter part of 1841.

He was followed in 1812 by the Rev. Barney Huffman,

who labored here for three or four years, holding services

•.in the court house.
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In August, 18-16, a meeting was held and preliminary

steps taken to organize a society. On the 19th of Sep-

tember, 1846, another meeting was held at which Isaac

Teatsorth j)resided, and the organization was perfected

by choosing Samuel Snyder, George Welker and Samuel

Reber trustees, and the organization was named "The
English Lutheran Church of Findley, Ohio."

The Rev. J. Livengood was present when the society

was organized, and soon thereafter the Rev. George Ham-
mer became pastor of the Church.

The church building on Putnam street was erected in

1847. The pastor, Rev. Hammer, with his own hands,

made and carried much of the mortar used in plastering

the building. The North Ohio Conference of the Meth-

odist Episcopal Church held its session in this building

in 1849, it being then the best church building in the

town.

In 1871 the congregation purchased two lots on the

south-east corner of Main and Lincoln streets, and soon

after built thereon a frame parsonage building. There

is now in course of construction on these two lots a fine

brick building for church purposes, which, when com-

pleted, will cost not less than $15,000, and will be a hand-

some structure, with a seating capacity of five hundreds

The successiv^e pastors of this church were the Revs.

Geo. Hammer, J, Livengood, Thomas Officer, A. J. Im-^

Lofif, S. A. Ort, H. B. Belmer, Rev. Kinsel, P. S. Hooper,

G. W. Miller, C. S. Sprecher, and J. W. Goodlin, the

present one.

FIRST PRESBYTERIAlSr CHURCH.

The following historical sketch of this church has



334 History of Hancock County.

been kindly furnished by Milton Gray, Esq., \on<^ an

influential member:

*'The Presbyterian Church of Findley was organized

December 21,1831, by Rev. P. Monfort, at that time

acting as a missionary in North Western Ohio. The

first meeting was held at the residence of Wilson Vance.

The names of the members as they appear on the records

are : William Taylor, Margaret Taylor, Phebe Hender-

son, Asa Lake, Chloe Lake, Ebenezer Wilson, William

Coen, Sarah Coen, Mary Gibson, Wilson Vance and

Saiah Vance. Ebenezer Wilson and William Coen were

elected and ordained ruling elders.

During the first year or two after the organization

services were occasionally held at the residences of some

of tlie members, but afterwards were held quite regular-

ly in the court house until the year 1830, when the first

house of woi-ship was erected.

The old church building, the first erected, was but re-

cently toi'n down, it having been used for some years by

J. T. Adams Sz Co. as a linseed oil mill.

The present church edifice was erected in 1857, and

was dedicated December 27, 1857, the Rev. W. T. Fin-

ley, of Springfield, Ohio, preaching the sermon. The cost

of the building was $8,888.88, as reported by the build-

ing committee.

The several ministers who have been pastors of this

<^'hurch are as follows: Revs. P. Monfort, T. B. Clark,

Bellville, George Van Emon, R. H. Hollyday, J.

A. Meeks, J. M. Cross, A. B. Fields, Eben Muse and R.

R. Sutherland. The congregation is now without a

pastor.
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FIRST CONG REGATIOXAL CIURCH.

On the 21st day of October, 1865, a number of per-

sons met in Gage's Hall in Findley for the purpose of

oraanizino; a Conorre2:ational Church. Rev. Robert

McCune, of Kelly's Island, presided, and J, A. Bope

acted as clerk. A society was organized and officers

elected as follows: Deacons, Paul Sours, John Eckles,

James Davidson, Aaron Hall. Treasurer, James S. Bal-

lentine. Clerk, James A. Bope. And Rev. J. A. Meeks

was elected pastor.

In March, 1866, ground was purchased on the west

side of the Public Square, on which to erect a Church

building, and in June, 1867, the building was com-

menced, and under the superintendency of Paul Sours,

assisted by J. P. Kerr, Jessie Guise and J. C. Powell,

was completed in the Dec^ember following. The build-

ing is of brick, covered with slate and surmounted by

a tower. The size is forty-five by ninety feet, with ])ro-

jection in front for tower, and a recess in rear for organ.

The cost of the building and furnishing was $18,000.

Of those who were members at the organization are

the names of John Eckles and wife, Aaron Hall and wife,

G. W. Neeley and wife, Paul Sours and wife, J. S. Ballen-

tine and wife, C. J. Eckles and wife, J. A. Bope and wife,

Rev. J. A. Meeks and wife.

The pastors liave been Rev. J. A. Meeks, W. S. Peter-

son, Kutz, Thomas Gordon and D. T. Davies.

GERMAN LUTHERAN.

In 1858 Charles Deitsch, Ernst Kempf, Charles Hahn,

Peter Roszman, Henry Lannert, Henry Hahn, Philip
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Grouse, Valentine Wagner, and a few other members of

this denomination met at the court house, and under the

direction of Rev. M. During, organized a society and a

Sunday school. The congregation met once in two weeks

at the court house, and were under the ministrations of

Rev. During.

The society feeling the want of a house of worship

of their own, bought a lot on West Front street for

three hundred dollars, and in 1862 erected thereon a

brick building thirty-five feet wide and sixty feet long,

at a cost of twenty-five hundred dollars. The building

committee was Charles Deitsch, Charles Ilahn and Henry

Lannert. The church building w^as dedicated on Whit-

Sunday in 1863, by Revs. During, Lang and Crownen-

witt. The building has been greatly improved since by

the putting up of a fine tjell, the purchase of an organ

and the laying down of carpets. The congregation has

also purchased parsonage property for which they paid

nineteen hundred dollars, so that the property belonging

to the church is worth not less than six thousand dollars.

The present membership is one hundred and forty.

There is a flourishing Sunday school of about eighty-five

scholars connected with the church. The ministers em-

ployed since the organization of the church were Rev.

M. During, Rev. M. Buerkle, Rev. J. T Groath and Rev.

J. B. Webber, the present incumbent. The present offi-

cers are Wm. Tribolet, Christian Schmidt and Daniel

Buck, Trustees; C. Ritter and Fred Groath, Elders. C.

Ritter is also superintendent of the Sunday school.

EVANGELICAL ASS0CL\TIOX.

At the annual Conference of this association held in
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May, 1870, in the town of Findley and vicinity was ta-

ken up as an English mission and consisted of the fol-

lowing appointments: Findley, Fellers, Porters and

Union Chapel on the Tiffin road, and the Rev. E. B.

Grouse was appointed to the mission, with Rev. E. Peer

as colleague, but the health of the latter failing the

whole charge of the mission was left to Rev. Ciouse.

The sei-vices at this time were held in the United Bi-eth-

ren and Church of God buildings.

On the 11th of July, 1870, the society in Findley met

to consult together on the propriety of building a house

of worship. It was decided to build. A lot was ])ur-

chased on east Sandusky street, extending back to Ci-aw-

ford street, and a brick building 38 feet by 62 feet was

erected at a cost of about six thousand five hundred dol-

lars. The building is neatly finished and furnished. It

is surmounted l)y a tower, in which a good bell has been

placed. The congregation deserves much credit for pio-

viding themselves with so comfortable a house. It was

indeed a great undertaking for so weak a society, but the

untiring energy and industry of the Rev. E. B. Crouse

made it a success.

Amongst the eai-ly membership we find the names of

John Powell and wife, John Crites and wife, George

Jacobs and wife, Elizabeth Bolauder, Rev. L. W. Hankey,

Rebecca Miller, Sarah Miller, Paul Kornorer and wife.

The ministers have been Rev. E. B. Crouse, Rev. W.
Whitington, Rev. W. A. Shesler, Rev. S. Cocklin, Rev.

James Hensel,Rev. C. L. Crowthei's and Rev. C. E. Di-cs-

bach. There is a flourishing Sabbath school conned ed

with the church.
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CirURCH OF GOD.

This society was first organized iu January, 1858, by

Elder G. M. Harn. The meeting was held in the old

Presbyterian church. Tlie first members were J. C. Sher-

rick and wife, George M. Graul and wife, Jacob Grose

and wife, John T. Grose and wife, Amanda Geyer and

Elizabeth Cunningham, now Mrs. H. Shuler. Prayer

meetings were held at private houses, with occa-

sionally a sermon, until 1861, R. H. Bolton was ap-

pointed to Findley circuit. The meetings were then

held in the North Findley school house until 1863. W.
P. Small was appointea to succeed Rev. Bolton, and in

1863 to 1866 the meetings were held in the United Breth-

ren church.

The society resolved to build a house of worship, and

commenced work in April, 1866, and finished and dedi-

cated the same in December of the same year. It is a

brick structui-e forty feet by fifty feet, and cost about

four thousand dollars. The building is conveniently lo-

cated on the south side of west Front street. It is plain-

ly but comfortably finished. The number of members

is one hundred and thirty. From the first organization

to the present time one hundred and forty-five persons

have been l)aptized.

In 1879 tlie congregation bought a lot on Main street

in Nortlt Findley, and built on the same a parsonage at

a cost of ahout twelve himdred dollars. A Sabbath

School was organized in 1867, and it is in a flourishing

condition. The sev^eral ministei's appointed hei-e were

R. H. Bolton, W. P. Small, G. W. Wilson, I. H. Deshirie,

J. M. Cassell, J. W. Auckerman, S. Kline, J. V. Updyke,

W. P. Burchard and S. Dicker hofl^".
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UNITED . BRETHREN.
•

This society was organized in 1854. Amongst tlie first

members we find the names of Joel Pendleton, Jacob

Powell, Robert Owens, John Hibbitt, Solomon Moore,

and Nicholas Weaver. Prior to the erection of a church

building the society met in the brick school house on

Front street. In 1854 the society purchased a lot on

west Crawford, and erected thereon a house of worship.

The house is of brick and neatly finished.

The society is in a flourishing condition and its pres-

ent membership is one hundred and six. The Sabbath
school numbers sixty, and much interest is manifested by
teachers and jAipils.

The following named ministers have supplied the

church since the organization : Chester Briggs, M. Long,

William Mathers, J. French, L. Moore, R. French, Wm.
Glancey, T. J. Harbaugh, James Long, T. D. Ingle, Alvin

Rose, A. W. Holden, I. Crouse, G. P. Macklin and E. A.

Starkey.

ST. Michael's catholic church.

The first Catholic society oi-ganized here was in 1845'

and met at the residence of John S. Julian. In 1850 the

congregation erected a frame church building on west
Hardin street, in which they worshipped until the win-

ter of 1855-56, when it was burned down. They sold

the lot and bought property on the west end of Main
Cross street, and immediately commenced the erection of

another house. The building is of brick, plainly fur-

nished and cost $6,000. The present membership is

about ^ve hundred souls. At the first organization of

the society the meetings were held but once a month,
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now they are held regularly in accordance with the

usages of the church.

This society numbers among its members some of our

best business men and most esteemed citizens. The fol-

lowing named persons have officiated in the capacity of

priests to this congregation : Father Raetzer, Father

Burns, Father Vattman, Father Deachan, Father Flem-

ming, Father Pitts, Father Young, Father Rudolph and

Father Doesner.
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SCHOOLS OF FINDLEY.

UNION SCHOOL.

Until as late as 1854, the village of Findley was divided

into four sub-districts for school purposes. In 1840 the

four districts conjointly built a large two story frame build-

ing, with four rooms—one for each district—on the corner

of Crawford and East streets. This same building is now .

known as the west end school building. In addition to this,

each district had a smaller building for the use of the young-

er pupils.

In 1854 the Legislature passed what is generally known

as the Union School Law, which authorized villages or

separate school districts to organize as independent or

special school districts. The matter of the formation of

such special districts was considered by the people of

the village, and three of the village districts availed them-

selves of its provisions, but the fourth refused, and subse-

quently was organized under the amendment to the Akron

School Law, and has ever since been known as District No.

Nine. The school building, by agreement became the prop-

erty of the Union District, and schools were taught there

for years.

In 1865 it was removed to the west end of Crawford

street, on grounds purchased for school purposes, and has

been so used to the present time.
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August 10th, 1865, the Board of Education decided "that

in their opinion it is necessary to purchase a site and erect

a school building thereon." A meeting of the citizens of the

district was called for September 2d, 1865, to whom was

submitted the question of levying a tax of $18,000 for

building. At that election, there were two hundred and
nineteen votes cast, of which one hundred andfifty-six

were for the tax. At a meeting of the Board May 4thy

1866, H. P. Gage, Isaac Davis and E. P. Jones proposed to

sell to them the tract of land lying between the C. S. & C.

Depot grounds and Sandusky street, lor the sum of $2,000,

which proposition was accepted by the Board.

In September of the same year, the Board made contracts

for material and labor in the erection of the building. The

building was originally intended to be two stories in

heighth, but in August, 1867, it was changed to a three

story building.

The building being completed, September 7th, 1868, was

fixed upon as the time for its formal opening, at which time

the patrons of the school assembled in Columbia Hall, as

the hall in the building was named, and quite an interesting

programme was carried out with much ceremony.

The wants of the town increased with its growth, and

more school room was needed, and the Board of Education

in January, 1877, ordered that the Clerk advertise accord-

in to law, for a meeting of the qualified voters on Monday,

February 12th, 1877, to vote upon the proposition to author-

ize a levy of $5,000, for the purpose of building a school

house in North^Findley. At that election there were three

hundred and fiv;e votes cast, all of which were in favor of

the tax except thirty-nine.
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On the 16th of March, 1877, bids were opened, and the

contract for the building let to S. H. Kramer, for $5,547.41.

This building is forty-four feet wide and sixty-five feet long,

two stories in height, with basement and mansard roof, sur-

mounted by a tower. There are two rooms on each iloor,

separated by a wide airy hall. The rooms are completed in

the latest style, and will accommodate about fifty pupils

each.

The Board have now under contract, the erection of a

new building at the west end of Crawford street. The struc-

ture will be sixty-five feet wide, and eighty-fiiie feet long,

two stories in height, with a basement, and when finished,

will be an imposing building, and add much to the beauty

of the town. The contract has been awarded to Joseph

Fleming, of Toledo, 0., at the price of $13,012, and to be

completed by the 1st of January, 1882.

Although organized under the Union School Law, the

system of graded schools was not introduced until 1808,

under Superintendency of Ephriam Miller, and not perfected

until W. S. Wood had succeeded him. Prof Wood was suc-

ceeded by C. E. Palmer, of Columbus, and he by the pres-

ent Superintendent, J. W. Zeller.

The enumeration of youth in this district, is 1,216, and

twenty teachers are employed.

DISTRICT NO. NINE.

This District includes the territory included within the

boundary, commencing at the Old White Corner on Main
street, running thence west to West street, thence south to

the old corporation line, thence east to Main street, and has

an enumeration of about two hundred children. It includes
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witliiu its boundiiiy many business houses, and the resi-

dences of some of the wealthiest citizens of the town.

For many years they occupied the Jonathan Parker build-

ing on Sandusky street, on lot now known as Patterson's

corner. A lot was afterwards bought on west Hardin street,

on which was erected a comfortable brick school building.

In 1865 the Directors purchased an acre of ground on

west Lincoln street, then almost out of town, upon which

they erected a building, the construction, re-modeling and

furnishing of which cost about twenty thousand dollars.

The district has a line two story building above the base-

ment, surmonted by towers and mansard roof Their

grounds are ornamented with numerous shade trees, which

give them an inviting appearance, and the whole is sur-

rounded by a neat fenee.

The schools, four in number, are graded, and the higher

branches are taught, and diplomas awarded to graduates

from the High School Department. The schools are well

conducted by an ellicient corps of teachers, and pupils make

such progress, and become possessed of such an education

as is acquired at other graded schools. This Dirtrict was

one of the four districts into which the town was originally

divided, and at the formation of the Union School District,

it refused to join the other three, and has ever since, wheth-

er wisely or unwisely, been an independent district.
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BENEVOLENT SOCIETIES.

ODD FELLOWS.

Hancock Lodge, No. 73 I. 0. 0. F., was instituted August

17, 1846, with Abraham Younkiu, Jacob Carr, Edson Goit,

Abel F. Parker and James H. Barr as charter members.

The Lodge has always been in a flourishing condition, and

its finances have been well managed. Its relief fund has

been liberally, but judiciously expended.

In 1872 the Lodge erected a fine three story brick, metal

roof, building, on their lot, on east side of Main, between

Sandusky and Crawford streets. The building was put up

under the direction of a committee of five members of the

Lodge, to-wit : William M. Detwiler, James T. Adams, G. C.

Barud, Charier E. Niles and Jacob C. Powell. The cost of

the ground on which it stands was $1,600, and of the

building $9,000. The first floor is occupied as a book store

by D. C. Connell, the second floor by the Public Library,

and the third floor as a Lodge room. The present member-

ship is one hundred and fifty-nine.

On the 21st day of June, 1866, Golden Rule Encamp-
ment was instituted under a charter granted to L. G. Thrall,

Charles E. Niles, Sylvester M. Geyer, William McKinnis,

Charles J. Krause, William L. Glessner, Henry B. Green

and George W. Neeley. The Encampment hold their meet-

ings in the Lodge room, and now have a membership of

ninety-nine.

23
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FINDLEV LODGE, XO. 227 F. & A. M.

In the mouth of January, 1852, a Dispensation \Yas

granted by the Grand Master of the State, for the organiz-

ing of a Lodge of Masons at Findley, and on the 16th day

oi the same mouth the organization took place, and contin-

ued under Dispensation until October of same year.

On the 22d day of October, 1852, the Grand Lodge of

Ohio, then in session at Chillicothe, granted a charter to

Abraham Younkin, Abel F. Parker, Edwin Parker, David

Patton, J. M. Cofiinberry, George Arnold, Adolphus Morse,

E. S. Reed and 0. B. Wilson as charter members, with

Abraham Younkin as \V. M.; J. M. Coffinberry, S. W.; and

Geo. Arnold, J. W. On the 29th day of November, 1852,

James A. Kellum, as Proxy of the Grand Master of the

State, duly instituted the Lodge and installed the first offi-

cers as follows: Abraham Younkiu, W. M.; George W.
Springer, S. W.; W. L. Henderson, J. W., E. S. Reed, Treas-

urer; David Patton, Secretary; Thomas McKee, S. D.; J.

E. Rosette, J. D., George Arnold, Tyler.

The meetings were for a number of years held in the sec-

ond story of a frame bnilding on the north side of Sandus-

ky street, now occupied by Patterson's dry goods house.

The Lodge subsequently removed to the third story of the

building now known as " Old White Corner," just south of

the Public Square, where the raeeetings were held until

1863, at which time removal w^as made to a room in third

story of the present "Joy House Block," on Sandusky street,

which was prepared and occupied by the Lodge until 1878,

at which time an arrangement was made with G. W. Kim-

mell, who was remodelling his building on Main street, by



Masonic Chapter and Council. 347

which the third story was to be so arranged as to fit it for

use as a Lodge Room.

In this building the fraternity have a Lodge room, and

four other smaller rooms—the Lodge room being twenty-

seven feet wide and fifty-two feet long—all finished and fur-

nished at a cost of more than sixteen hiindred dollars,

making one of the most beautiful and convenient Lodge

rooms in northern Ohio. The present membership is about

one hundred and thirty.

FINDLEY CHAPTER, NO. 58 R. A. M.

Abraham Younkin, James A. Kellum, William L. Hen-

derson, Ben Metcalf, S. T. Heffner and George Arnold ob-

tained a charter from the Grand Chapter of the State, at

their session in Chillicothe, October 16th, 1854, empowering

them to open a Chapter of Royal Arch Masons, in the town

of Findley, which was done with James A. Kellum as High

Priest; Abraham Younkin, King; and W, L. Henderson,

Scribe. The Chapter has always held its meetings in same

room with the Lodge. Its membership is now about forty.

FINDLEY COUNCIL, NO. 50 R. & S. M.

A charter was granted October 12th, 1862, by the Grand

Council of Ohio, in session at Cincinnati, to James Wilson,,

H. D. Ballard, B. F. Kimmons, W. E. Snyder, D. B. Beards-

ley, J. M. Muber, William Anderson, M. B. Patterson and

Isaac Bonham authorizing them to form a Council of Royal

and Select Masters. The late Dr. B. S. Brown,, with R. T..

Cook, C. M. Isichols and J. A. Aull, all of Bellefontaine, by

direction of Grand Council, instituted the new Council un-

der the name of Findley Council ; James Wilson, Firbt Illus-

trious Master; H. D. Ballard, Dep'ty Master; and B. F..
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Kimmons, Priucipal Conductor of Work. The Coimcil

meets in the Lodge room, and the membership is about

twenty.

KNIGHTS OF HONOR.

On the 11th day of September, 1878, the Supreme Coun-

cil of Knights of Honor, in session at Wooster, Ohio,

granted a charter to D. C. Connell, H. B. Green, F. W. En-

trekin, Ernst Bacherer, W. H. Shuler, H. W. Bleecher, J.

M. Beelman, G. II. Wheeler, E. G. DeWolfe, Wm. Edwards,

J. C. Bushan and Tim Fellers to open a Lodge at Findley

The Lodge was instituted accordingly. The meetings are

held on the second and fourth Fridays of each month, in

their hall on the south-east corner of Main and Crawford

streets. The membership is twenty-one, and one death,

that of Geo. H. Wheeler, has occurred since their organiza-

tion.

ROYAL ARCANUM.

P. L. Teeple, as Deputy Supreme Regent, instituted a

Council of this order in November, 1878, with thirty-four

charter members. Hancock Council, Xo. 187, hold their

meetings in Knights of Honor Hall, on the second and

fourth Wednesdays of each month. Two members have

died, Capt. John Wescott and Dr. T. C. Ballard. The pres-

ent membership is forty, and the numbers are increasing.

The present officers are D. B. Beardsley, Regent; B. F.

Kimmons, Vice Regent; J. W. Zeller, Orator; F. B. Lay,

Secretary; X. A. Dillinger, Treasurer; and Wm. Edwards,

Collector.
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AMERICAN LEGION OF HONOR.

A Council of this order was organized in May, 1881, by

T. C. Garrison, Deputy Supreme Commander, with a mem-
bership of twenty-two. Present membership about thirty.

The Council holds its meeting on the second and fourth

Mondays of each month, at Knights of Honor Hall, There

have been no deaths since its orsianization. The otticers

are J. M. Huber, Commander; Dr. T. G. Barnhill, Vice

Commander; D. B. Beardsley, Past Commander; Dr. T. F.

Woodworth, Orator; C. E. Seymour, Secretary; B. F. Kim-

mons, Treasurer; and C. M. Ilumasou, Collector.

ST. Michael's benevolent society.

This society was organized in , and has now twenty-

eight members. It is connected with St. Michael's Catho-

lic Church, and its members must be members of that

church, males between the ages of twenty-one and sixty

years only being eligible. Members are entitled to care,

attention and assistance when sick or disabled, and also a

stated sum of money as weekly benefits. The society,

though small in numbers, has expended quite a sum in sick

benefits, and is in a prosperous condition. Frank Karst, sr,,

has been President of the society ever since its organiza-

tion.
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NEWSPAPERS.

HANCOCK COURIER.

The Democratic Courier was established November 10th

183(), by Jacob Rosenberg, and edited and published by him

wntil January 17th, 1839. The paper was then 18x26

inches in size.

Mr. Rosenberg was born in Bedford County, Pennsyl-

vania, October 13th, 1811, and was raised and reiceved a

good common school education at that place. At an early

age he went to Millersburg, Ohio, where he learned the

printing business in the office of the Farmer. He came

to Findley on the 29th day of September, 1836, and started

the paper shortly afterwards. He was a very strict party

man, and very popular with tiie masses, and was at one

time elected Sheriff.

A discussion arose in the Democratic party in 1810, as to

the best method of making nominations of candidates, one

faction in favor of the delegate system, and the other in

favor of nominating by popular vote. Mr. Rosenberg

started a paper in the interest of the delegate system, which

he called the Hancock Farmer. So great was the feeling

that in 1841 there were two Democratic tickets put in the

field, and by this division, the Whigs were enabled to elect

some of the officers.

Mr. Rosenberg was a plain, terse, and forcible writer.

He was a man of strong impulses, and nothing could swevre
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him from what he believed to be right. He died iu Fiiidley

in 1844, and was buried iu the old grave yard, but his re-

mains have since been removed to Maple Grove Cemetery.

On the 24th of January, 1839, Mr. Henry Bishop pur-

chased the Courier 'Aw^ published it until July 1st, 1845.

We can ascertain but little about the private life of Mr.

Bishop. He was born and raised in Franklin County, Ohio.

He received a good English education, and was a man of

sound practical common sense. He was rather an eccen-

tric character, and when he went to take his seat as a mem-

ber of the Ohio Legislature, to which he was elected in

1851, he wore a hunting shirt and leggins. He was not a

remarkable writer, his productions being rather illogical.

After disposing of the office in 1845, he removed to his

farm in Eagle township, and was drowned in Eagle Creek,

June 18th, 1855.

On the 1st of July, 1845, Mr. William Mungen pur-

chased the Courier^ and conducted it until November,

1849, when he rented it to W. M. Case, (better known as

*'Mood Case,") for one year. But as Mr. Case was one of

those good-natured, worthless fellows, Mr. Mungen was

obliged to do most of the writing during that time. Mr.

Mungen, then after control of the paper for a short time,

rented it to B. F. Rosenberg, and in the spring of 1851,

sold one half to Henry Brown, »nd shortly after sold the

remaining half to A. Blackford.

Mr. Mungen was born in Baltimore, Md., May 12th, 1821,

came to Ohio in 1830, received a common school education,

and studied Latin and German and physical sciences to

some extent at home. Studied and practiced law, was

elected Auditor of Hancock County for two terms, and to

the Senate of Ohio in 1851. Entered the Union Army in
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1861 as Colonel of the Fifty-Seventh Regiment of Ohio

Volunteers. During the time he has resided in Ohio he^

has held several local offices. He was elected to the 40th

and 41st Congresses of the United States. Mr. Mungen

was a clear, forcible, logical writer. He is at present prac-

ticing law in Findley.

Henry Brown entered into partnership with Mr. Mungen

in the publication of the Courier in the spring of 1851.

On the 1st day of January, 1851, Aaron Blackford pur-

chased Mungen's interest, and continued until the fall of

1854, when Mr, Brown sold to Blackford, and at the end of

one year Mr. Brown assumed the entire control of the paper,

and edited it until January 1857.

Henry Brown was born in Albion, Orleans County, N. Y.,

and was educated at the Albion Seminary. He came to

Ohio when about seventeen years of age, and taught school

for several years. He then read law with W. P. Noble, at

Tiffin, 0. He was elected Auditor of Hancock County in

1851. He is a nervous, excitable man, and a hard worker.

He was a prolific writer, and carried conviction at his pen's

point. He has held the office of Prosecuting Attorney sev-

eral terms, and is now practicing law in Findley.

In January, 1857, Benjamin Franklin Rosenberg pur-

chased the Courier, and conducted it successfully until

July 18th, 1861. Mr. Rdfeenberg was born in Bedford, Pa.,

and at the age of two years came with his parents to this

place, where his father, Jacob Rosenberg, established the

Courier m l'$)r>Q. In 1847 "Frank" commenced an ap-

prenticeship to the art of printing with H. K. Knapp, in the

office of the Kalida Venture, in Putnam County. Mr.

Knapp sold the Yenture. and established the Standard at

Ashland. "Frank" went with him. From there he went
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into the office of the Seneca Advertiser, published by John

G. Breslin, in Tiffin, 0. In the same office was W. W.

Armstrong, now one of the editors of the Cleveland

Plain Dealer. Finishing his trade he returned to Findley

and was engaged with Mr. S. A. Spear, on the Home Com-
panion, in the capacity of foreman. In 1854 when A. M.

Hollabaugh started the JS^orth- West at Napoleon, Ohio,

"Frank" went with him. Sometime afterwards he estab-

lished the Sentinel at Ottakee, the pioneer paper of Fulton

County. He then went into the office of the Shelby Coun-

ty Democrat, which Mr. Hollabaugh had just purchased.

He succeeded Mr. Brown in the ownership and management

of the Courier, which he sold to Mr. Hollabaugh in 1857.

Mr. Rosenberg died in Findley, October 4th, 1869.

On the 25th day of July, 1857, the Courier passed into

the hands of Mr. Hollabaugh, who edited it until March,

1861.

xA.lpheus M. Hollabaugh was born in Frederick County,

Md., October 16th, 1832, and came to Findley in 1837,

where he received a good common school education. He
learned his trade as printer with John G. Breslin. Tiffin, 0.

Before his connection with the Courier, he had edited and

published the JSTorth- West, at Napoleon, and the Shelby

County Democrat at Sidney, Ohio, and in 18()5 was con-

nected with a paper in Galli polls, Ohio, and also at Van
Wert. He was a good printer, and possessed some ability

as an editor, but wss more windv than logical. He died in

Findley of consumption on the 4th day of February, 1871.

In March^ 1861, Messrs. L. Glessner & Son assumed

charge of the Courier, and continued until January 1 st.

1865.

Lewis Glessner was born in Somerset County, Pa., Sep-
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tember 1st, 1811, aud when six years old moved to Colum-

biana County, Ohio, aud settled in the woods, where he re-

mained at farm work. He learned his trade in New Lisbon,

and removed to Delaw^are, 0., in 1833. He came to Findley in

the spring of 1861. He in connection with his son, W. L.

Glessner, published the Courier until January 1st, 1863,

when he sold out, and removed to Newark, 0., where he

took charge of the Newark Advocate^ w^hich he pur-

chased. In May, 1866, he again took control of the

Courier.

W. L. Glessner was born at Delaware, 0., September

27th, 1840, and at the age of eighteen entered the office of

the Shield and Banner at Mansfield, Ohio. In 1861, in

company with his father, L. Glessner, he entered into the

business of editing and publishing the Courier. In 1865,

he took entire control of the paper, which he held until

May 1866. Shortly after disposing of the Courier, he pur-

chased the Toledo Record, but failing in this, he went to

the Wheeling ( Va.) Register, and finally to New York

City. In 1868, in company with C. C. Stone, he purchased

the Clinton {III.) Register, and is yet publishing that

paper.

In May, 1866, Mr. L. Glessner again took charge of the

Courier, which he continued until his death, March 13th,

1869, since M'hich time the Courier has been published

by his widow, Mrs. Georgiana Glessner, under the editorial

control of F. H. Glessner.

Mr. L. Glessner was a strong partisan, a most estimable

and genial gentleman, a fine writer, a correct business man,

and scrupulously honest in all his dealings.

When the Courier came into his hands in 1866 it was a

thirty-two column paper printed on a hand press. In 1868
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the paper was enlarged to a thirty-six column, a Campbell

Power Press put in the office, to which, in a short time,

steam was added. Just previous to his death, Mr. G. had

finished a fine block on east Sandusky street, into a part of

w^hich he had removed the office, and the paper has now in

connection with the newspaper press, ample job rooms,

w^here all kinds of plain and fancy job work is done neatly.

The present circulation of the Courier is about seventeen

hundred copies weekly.

(The foregoing facts are extracts from an article by F. H.

Glessner, at their anniversary, ten years ago, with the addi-

tion of more recent facts by the Author.)

WESTERN HERALD.

On the 1st day of January, 1845, John T. Ford issued

the first number of this journal, of which he was editor and

proprietor. In politics the Herald was devoted to the in-

terests of the Whig party. The office of the Herald was

in the second story of the frame building on the south-east

corner of Main and Sandusky streets, now occupied by L.

A. Baldwin, as a produce store. Under Mr. Ford's man-

agement the Herald obtained a circulation of four hundred.

This was doing pretty well in a county where the Democ-

racy had a majority of more than a thousand votes in a

voting population of not much exceeding three thousand

voters. The Herald was a weekly journal, and was a

rather spicy sheet.

The paper was under Mr. Ford's control until November,

1845, at which time he sold one half interest to James M.

Coffinberry, of Maumee City, under the condition that Mr.

Ford should be the publisher, and Mr. Coffinberry should

take editorial charge. In the spring of 1846 Mr. Ford dis-
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posed of his entire interest in the Herald to Mr. Coffin-

berry. Whilst Mr. Ford was connected with the paper,

William F. Gilkeson and Gideon R. Nio^htingale did the

composition and press-work, and William L. Howell and

Pat G. Duncan, son of Gen. Andrew Duncan, were the

first boys employed in the office.

Mr. Ford was long a resident of Hancock County, but

never engaged in the newspaper business after he disposed

of the Herald. Mr. Ford assisted Engineer Weedeu in

locating the Branch Railroad; he also assisted the Con-

tractor Beach in its construction. A track-layer from the

main line by the name of French, ironed seven miles of the

road, and under the direction of Engineer Swigart, Mr.

Ford completed that part of the work, and drove the last

spike on its completion. He was five years clerk in the

depot at Findley, and eleven years conductor on the road,

succeeding N. E. Childs, who was the first who held that

position. The travelling public remember Mr. Ford as the

patient, good-natured, accommodating conductor on the old

" strap iron " road. He is now residing on a farm near

Chillicothe, Mo., enjoying the peaceful life of a farmer.

In November, 1845, J. M. Colfinberry became part owner

of the Herald, and the name was changed to Findley

Herald about a year later. Mr. Coffinberry purchased the

interest of Mr. Ford, and conducted the paper for about

three years, when he in turn sold to Dr. David Patton.

The circulation at this time was about five hundred copies.

Judge Coffinberry says that at the time he purchased the

paper, and whilst Mr. Ford was connected with it, it was

printed on an old wooden Ramage press, but that he subse-

quently purchased a second hand press of John C. Gilke-

son, of Mansfield.
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Judge Cotiiuberry was borii at Mansfield, Ohio, iu 1818.

He studied law with his father, the old " Count," who at the

time was located at Perrysburg, and on his admission to the

bar, practiced law with his father in Maumee City. He was

elected and served as Prosecuting Attorney of Lucas

County. After he severed his connection with the Herald,

Jae resumed the practice of law in Findley.

In 1855 he took up his residence in Cleveland, where he

at once took a front rank at the bar, and such was his rep-

utation for legal ability, that in 1861 he was elected one of

the Common Pleas Judges of that city, which office he filled

with credit to himself, and to the entire satisfaction of his

constituency.

As a writer and editor, he was clear, comprehensive, and

incisive, as a lawyer, he was learned, eloquent and logical,

as a Judge, he was upright, clear and forcible in his rulings

and decisions. As a citizen, he is held in the highest es-

teem, and as a business man, he has been entirely success-

ful.

This paper changed proprietors and name very often, and

we are only enabled to give the names, without vouching

for the accuracy of the order in which they are given. Dr.

Patton was succeeded in his proprietorship by W. P. Resz-

ner ; then came Robert Coulter, who changed the name of

the paper to the Journal. A man by the name of Lyon

—his initials I do not remember—became owner, and the

paper was then called the HoTue Companion, and was a

literary newspaper. Mr. Samuel A. Spear became proprie-

tor, and during his ownership the name was changed to the

Jeffersonian.

Mr. Spear was a thoroughly educated gentlemen, a fine

"writer, firm in his convictions of right, and bold to defend
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them. D. R. Locke became proprietor, and whilst conduct-

ing the paper here, commenced writing the "Nasby Let-

ters," which have made him so famous. The paper passed

into the hands of L. G. Thrall, who disposed of it to Locke's

—C. N. & 0. T.—and L S. Chamberlain. Chamberlain re-

tired and W. G. Blymire succeeded him. This firm sold out

to W. P. Miller & Co.—the Company being E. G. DeWolfe,

present Post Master and one of the publishers of the Re-

publican. During the time that the Lockes' published the

paper it was called the Hancock Jeffersonian, but Mr.

DeWolfe changed it to the Findley Jefersonian. Mr,

Miller sold out to 0. J. DeWolfe, and the paper was con-

ducted by DeWolfe Bro.'s, until they in 1877 sold out to A.

H. Balsley, the present publisher.

THK DAILY JEFFERSONIAN.

On November loth, 1880, the initial number of the

^^ Findley Dally Jeffersonian'" was issued by the propri-

etor of the Weekly Jeffersonian, without however any

fixed idea of making it a permanent publication, but rather

as an experiment. The interest with which it was received

and the success with which it was met, determined the pro-

prietor to continue it, and it has now completed its first

year, with a promise of long continuance.

Its present circulation is six hundred copies, about four

hundred of which are circulated in the city, and nearly all

of the balance at the various Post Offices in the county.

The paper is a spirited little sheet, and gives a large amount

of local news, as well as a synopsis of the latest telegraphic

dispatches.

A. H. Balsly, the proprietor, was born in the city of Pitts-

burg, Pa., December 15th, 1828, and whilst a resident of
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that city, acquired a thorough knowledge of the art of

printing, and his first practical experience as an editor was

in a subordinate position. His first venture for himself was

as editor and proprietor of the Grand Rivei^ Record., at

Painesville, 0. He then became editor of the St. Clairs-

ville Independent. Afterwards for thirteen years he pub-

lished the Plymouth Advertiser.

After disposing of this, he in 1868 went to Fremont, 0.,

and became proprietor of the Fremont Journal. This

paper he sold in the fall of 1875, and in May 1876, he pur-

chased and took charge of the Findley Jeffersonian^ to

w^hich he added the Daily Jejfersonian. Besides these

tW'O papers Mr. Balsley is interested in the publication of

the Milan Advertiser, and the Carey Times.

Mr. Balsley is a practical printer, a good business man,

and a ready and forcible writer.

THE FINDLEY REPUBLICAN.

The first copy of the Rejnihlican was issued as a seven

column folio, February 5th, 1879, by J. M. Beelmon and J

E. Griswold, editors and proprietors. On the 18th of July,

1879, Griswold retired from the firm, disposing of his inter-

est to J. M. Beelmon, who enlarged the paper to an eight

column folio. On the 1st of January, 1881, a partnership

was formed by and between J. M. Beelmon, E. G. DeWolfe,

formerly of the t/eJfei'sonio7i, and Jason Blackford, and an

improved 32x50 inch Campbell Press, and other material

purchased, making it one of the best equipped newspaper

and job offices in the county, and the paper was issued as a

nine column folio.

On the 17th of October, 1881, Mr. Blackford wishing to

devote his entire time to the profession of the law, disposed
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of his interest to his partners, who are the present proprie-

tors. The paper is Republican in politics, and is fast win-

ning its way to public lavor, by its fearless independence in

local, as well as in State and National politics. As an ad-

vertising medium it is already recognized. Its circulation

is increasing, and it bids fair to prove a successful news-

paper venture.

Eli G. DeWolfe, editor of the Republican, was born in

Centerville, Butler Co., Pa. In 1850, he commenced to

learn the printing business in the office of the Butler

Whig., and completed his trade in the office of the Pros-

pect Record, at Prospect, in the same county. Owing to

poor health he was compelled to relinquish the business

until 1862, when he became editor of the Pilce County

Republican, published at Waverly, Ohio. He, however,

sold that office to accept the position of foreman in the

Ohio State Journal office at Columbus, 0., in 1866, and

in September, 1868, he assumed editorial control of the

Findley Jeffersonian.

He disposed of the Jeffersonian office in 1868, and was

appointed Post Master at Findley by President Grant, and

was re-appointed by President Hayes in 1880. In 1881 he

assumed the editorship of the Findley Rejnihlican. As a

political writer Mr. DeWolfe is bold and aggressive, freely

criticising the acts of officials, and pointing out any defects

in their conduct of public afiairs. His articles on all sub-

jects are fairly written, and in ability compare with the best

efforts of the average newspaper man.

There were several other newspaper ventures in the town,

amongst which was a German paper by Zwanzie, but it only

lived about a year, and was then removed to Lima. The

Barnd Bros, engaged in the newspaper business, independent
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at first, but afterwards espoused the cause of the Granger

movement. This however failed, and the paper became an

advertising medium, under different names, such as Re-
porter^ Property Journal, etc., and has finally been re-

moved to Fostoria,

24
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HOTELS.

JOY HOUSE.

This hotel occupies the two south first floor rooms, and

the entire second and third stories of the building on the

south-west corner of Main and Sandusky streets. The

building was built by a joint stock company, and when fin-

ished, two rooms on first floor, and a part of the second and

third stories was opened up by the late S. T. Heffner, as a

hotel, called the "Dixon House." Indeed the entire block

covering a square, of two hundred feet each way was called

the " Dixon House Block."

There were four business rooms on the first floor facing

on Main street, which with the two occupied as hotel, made

six ground floor rooms. Heffner was succeeded as landlord

by Dick Ellis, and he by John Fisher. Stewart Sprague

leased the house and conducted it for many years. Finally

A. & D. Joy, of the Gault House, at Carey, purchased the

two south rooms of H. P. Gage, in whose hands it was,

and opened up the " Joy House." They have very mate-

rially enlarged its capacity as a hotel, by the addition of

quite a number of parlors and sleeping apartments. It is a

first class hotel in every sense of the word, and merits and

receives a full share of patronage.

This building stands on the site of the old While Hall

Tavern, kept by Henry Lamb, and which was burned down

many years ago.
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COMMERCIAL HOUSE.

This is a three story brick building, fifty feet wide, and two-

hundred feet long, situated on the south-east corner of Main

and Main Cross streets, on the site of the old " Findley

Caravansary, by John Reed," and the present building was

formerly the " Reed House."

This hotel is in one of the most eligible and convenient

locations in the city, being directly opposite the Court

House, and in the immediate vicinity of many business

houses. With the additions lately made to it, it has become

one of the largest and most imposing buildings in the town.

After the death of Eli S. Reed, the builder, the property

passed into the hands of Samuel Renninger, who, after con-

ducting it for some years, leased it to Henry Guntner and

Truman Wood worth, who were succeeded by E. B. Belding^

and he by Jasper Constable. Mr. Renninger then sold the

premises to Henry C. Deitsch, the present proprietor.

Mr. Deitsch has made many valuable improvements, the-

most considerable one being an addition on the east alons:

Main Cross street, one hundred feet long, and thirty feet

wide. The first floor, facing on Main Cross street, will be

occupied as business rooms, and sleeping apartments will be

arranged in the second and third stories. When entirely

completed, it will be one of the best arranged and conve-

nient hotels in the country. Mr. D. is getting a full share

of the traveling public.

SHERMAN HOUSE.

This is the building known as the " Schwab House," in

ye olden ti7n.es. It is a three story brick, situate at south-

east corner of Main and Front streets. It has chanaed

k
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hands several times since the death of Mr. Schwab, and is

now owned by T. J. Stackhouse, who, after occupying it for

several years, leased it to a Mr. Edmunds, the present land-

lord.

The hotel has always had the reputation of being a good

stopping place for the hungry, who desired a good square

meal. It is very extensively patronized by the country peo-

ple, and is a good stopping place for any class of people.
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BANKS.

THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF FINDLEY.

This Bank was organized in the spring of i860, and it

capital stock—fifty thousand dollars—was all subscribed for

and invested in bonds of the United States. This was prior

to the decisive battles of Gettysburg and Vicksburg were

fought, and at a time when many of the shrewd and care-

ful capitalists of the State were timid, fearing the final re-

sults of the war, and hesitated in taking National Bank

Stock, knowing that the same would be invested in United

States securites.

E. P. Jones, the President, and Chas. E. Niles, the Cash-

ier of the Bank, were original subscribers to the stock, and

have held the offices named, ever since its organization.

During, and for several years succeeding the war, this bank

was the designated depository, and Commercial Agent of the

United States, for the Fifth Congressional District of Ohio,

and as such received and disbursed millions of dollars of

government money, without the loss of a cent to the govern-

ment or the bank.

The bank has ever enjoyed the reputation of strength and

solidity, having never in all its career suspended for one

moment the payment of its deposits, not even in the pan-

icky times of 1873. It has loaned hundreds of thousands

of dollars, to our stock dealers, grain merchants, business

men and farmers, and has thus aided materially in the great

commercial interests of our town and countv.
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The present Directors of the bauk, are E. P. Jones, C. E.

Niles, J. H. Wilson, J. F. Burket and G. W. Kimrael, names

which should be a sufficient guarantee that the business of

the bank will continue to be carefully and safely managed.

FARMERS BANK.

This Banking institution was organized by G. W. Hull,

Peter Hosier and J. G. Hull, and commenced business in

the room lately occupied by the defunct Hancock Savings

Bank, on the first day of January, 1880. Peter Hosier is

President, G. W. Hull, Vice President, J. G. Hull, Cashier,

J. C. l\ Hull, Assistant Cashier, and Will. Hosier, Teller.

It is a bank of deposit and discount, with a capital of

S60,000.

The President, Peter Hosier, was for four years Treasurer

of tlie county, has l)een a most successful farmer, and is the

owner of a very large tract of valuable lands in the county

and town. G. W. Hull, the Vice President, is also Prsident

of the Crawford County Bank, at Bucyrus, 0. The Cashier

was a farmer until he entered the bank here.

The well known character of these men, gives the bank

a reputation for solidity and fair business transactions,

which commends it to public favor.
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FINDLEY FIRE DEPARTMENT.

The Village Council passed an Ordinance, April 2Tth,

1856, for the establishment of a Fire Department, section

one of which ordinance provided that " The Fire Depart-

ment shall consist of one Chief Engineer and two Assist-

ant Engineers, and one Captain for each regularly organ-

ized company, or engine house."

The first engine was a small affair, called the " Tom
Thumb," and was, from its diminutiveness, of but little con-

sequence at a fire. The village authority disposed of this

and bought a second hand engine, called "Jenny Liud,"

which from its awkard construction and mammoth size, was so

imwieldy as to be of but little more use than was " Tom
Thumb'" It was known as a double decker, the men who

worked being placed on top of the engine, and working in a

row boat fashion.

In 1856 a new second hand engine of the then monderu

style was purchased, with the necessary hose and reels. This

was one of the most approved patern of hand engines, and

lias done most efficient service on more than one occasion.

In 1 859 another hand engine was purchased of the L. But-

ton manufacture, and named after the maker. About this

time the " Jenny Lind " was dismantled, and the running

gears were converted into a hook and ladder truck, and a

company formed to operate it. The L. Button is a second

class machine, and proved to be a valuable addition to the

fire apparatus of the town.
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In 1871 the town authorities purchased a Silsby Rotary

Steam Fire Engine, at a cost of seven thousand three hun-

dred dollars, including two hose reels and one thousand feet

of hose. A volunteer company was at once formed and

took charge of the apparatus.

]n 1877 another steamer of the Silsby patern w^as pur-

chased, which, including two hose reels and one thousand

feet of hose, cost three thousand seven hundred and forty

dollars. The whole force of the department is volunteer,

and is composed of five companies, two steamers, two hand

engines and one hook and ladder. After the purchase of

the second steamer, the city authorities built an engine

house in the first ward. North Findley, in which they placed

the L. Button engine, in charge of a company, and also one

in the fourth ward. East Findley, in which they placed the

" Citizen's Gift " hand engine, also in charge of a volunteer

company.

The entire department is volunteer, and now consists of

not less than two hundred active, ellicient members. The

value of the fire apparatus is about $20,000. There are

thirteen public cisterns, in different parts of the town, which

have cost the tax payers about $8,000. Fortunately, the

department is not called out very often on duty, as the town

for the past thirty years has been singularly free from fires..
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MAPLE GROVE CEMETERY.

Ou the 25th day of December, 1854, the following named

persons filed papers for the incorporation of a company to

be called "The Maple Grove Cemetery Association," to-wit:

D. J. Cory, William Taylor, Hugh Newell, Jesse Wheeler,

A. H. Bigelow, Benj. Iluber, J. B. Hull, Parlee Carlin, G.

H. Crook, Henry Porch, Dr. W. H. Baldwin, H. P. Gage,

John Ewing, F. Henderson, M. C. Whitely, Dr. D. Goucher,

G. W. Galloway and J. H. Wilson. The first election for

officers was held at the office of M. C. Whiteley, on the Jl2d

of June, 1855, at which time John Ewing, H. P. Gage and

Parlee Carlin were elected Trustees, and William Taylor,

Clerk.

About twenty acres of land on the west bank of the river

just outside the west corporation line, was bought of George

Biggs, and laid out into lots. A main avenue extends

through the center of the grounds from east to west, and on

either side of this avenue, there were two hundred and fifty-

two lots laid out, making in all, five hundred and four lots,

through which passed two other avenues, one on either side

of the main one, and parallel with it. The lots are laid out

in rows, and are eight feet wide and twenty-four feet long.

August 3d, 1860, after many of these lots had been sold,

the association proposed to the town and township, that if

they would avail themselves of the provisions of an act of

the Legislature, providing for the joint ownership, by Incor-

porated Villages and Townships, of cemeteries, and assume

the amount still due upon the purchase of the lands, they
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would transfer the grounds to them. This was accordingly

done, and Dixon Stansberry, William Mungen and William

Church, as Trustees, deeded the lands to the town of Find-

ley and Findley Township, and the name of " Maple Grove

Cemetery " was adopted.

In 1872 the authorities purchased of Jasper Lytle, for

83,200, a tract of 22 acres adjoining their grounds on the

south. In 1865 a further addition of two hundred and

eighty-six lots, was laid out in the rear of the first platting

ol' lots.

In 1878, under the direction of L. A. Baldwin, C. B.

Hall and Henry Brown, Cemetery Trustees, a very fine and

imposing Mortuary Chapel was built, at a cost of two thous-

and dollars. This chapel is used for the reception and re-

tention of bodies before burial, at the request of the friends

of the deceased. The trustees deserve much credit for the

erection of so tasteful a l)uilding, in this city of the dead.

The entire occupied part of the grounds, is profusely

l)lanted with evergreen and shade trees, whose beautiful

foliage, and inviting shade, dispel much of the gloom natur-

ally surrounding such a place. A wide shady driveway ex-

tends the length of the grounds on both sides. There are

many very beautiful and costly monuments, marking the

resting place of friends.

The lauiilies of Jesse Wolf, W. C. Cox, Wm. Taylor and

F. Henderson have very pretty vaults erected for the recep-

tion of their dead.

The grounds are situated on the high banks of the Blanch-

ard, and are thoroughly underdrained. iV public highway

passes along the river bank, in front of and between the

cemetery grounds and the river. A beautiful iron fence is

built along the entire front. The whole is in charge of three
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trustees, elected by the village, but who are uuder the con-

trol and direction of the council of the village. The village

council and the trustees of the town meet in joint session

in May of each year, and determine on the amount of mon-

key to be raised, and the rate of taxation.

Maple Grove Cemetery is fast becoming one of the most

beautiful burial places in the country. The present Board

of Trustees is L. A. Baldwin, J. R. Clark and J. L.

Kenower.
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JACKSON TOWNSHIP

Tp. 1, S. R. 11, E.

Area 19,200 acres. Population 1,338.

The Commissioner's Record of December 7th, 1829,

Charles McKinnis, John P. Hamilton and Mordica Ham-
mond, Commissioners, reads: "A petition presented by

sundry citizens of Amanda and Delaware Townships, pray-

ing for a new township, to be set off as follows, to-wit:

Number one, range eleven, south of the base line, into a

body politic and corporate, and to be named Jackson, which

was agreed to by said Board."

At the December session of the Commissioners in 183(3,

it was " ordered that an election be held in Jackson town-

ship, to elect a Treasurer and three Trustees for section six-

teen, on the 20th day of December, 1836, and that notices

thereof be set up in three of the most public places in the

township, after having been satisfied by the inhabitants of

said township, that there are twenty electors in said town-

ship, at the usual place of holding elections." It was also

ordered " that sections 3, 4, 5 and 6 in township one south,

range twelve, (now Ridge township) and sections 1, 12, 13,

24, 25 and 36, in range number eleven, township one south,

(now Jackson township) be attached to Amanda township.""

Jackson township now comprises sections 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7,

8, 9, 10, 11, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 26, 27,

28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34 and 35, in township one south.

Peter George made the first entry of land in the town-

ship on the 21st day of November, 1823, which entry was
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the east half of the north-east quarter of section thirty-five,

(now owned by G^- W. Krout).

December 10th, 1823, Wm. Greer entered the east half

•of the south-east quarter section thirty-five, (now owned by

lieirs of T. G. Hammond),

On the 18th of May, 1827, Mordica Hammond entered

the west half of north-east quarter of section thirty-five. *

David Egbert entered the east half of north-east quar-

ter of section two, and in September of the same year Al-

pheus Ralston entered the south-west quarter of section

seven, upon which he soon after settled, and upon which he

still resides. In November of the same year George Bish-

op, of Franklin Couuty, took up the south-east quarter of

.section seven. These entries were followed by others made
by Levi Williamson, William Newell, John Swank and

others.

This township was named in honor of Gen. Andrew
Jackson, who was then President of the United States. Its

boundaries are, on the north, Findley and Marion town-

ships, east by Amanda, south by Delaware and Madison and

west by Eagle.

The first white man who settled in the township, was

Judge Mordica Hammond, whose widow, Mrs. Tillie Ham-
mond, is, I believe, still living. Judge Hammond came here

in 1827, and settled on the Blanchard River, in section

thirty-five, there being no neighbors ^nearer than Mt,

Blanchard. Indeed but a very small portion of the lands

in the township had been entered at that time. The Judge

resided upon the same tract of land at the time of his

death, which he had reclaimedj from the wilderness, and

converted into a beautiful farm.
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But Judge Hammond was not long without neighbors.

Peter George, Wm. Greer, the Egbert's, Ralston, William-

son, Newell, the Missraores, the Treeces, and others quickly

followed.

The timber of this part of the county is oak, elm, wal-

nut, beech, maple, buckeye, &c., and heavily wooded the

^^hole face of the township.

The soil is rich and productive, especially so along the

water courses. The population is a purely agricultural one,

there being no manufacturing establishments of any moment

in the township. There are many valuable farms and beau-

tiful farm buildings here, and the township is one of consid-

erable wealth, and its people are industrious and energetic

The township is well watered by the Blanchard River

—

which passes through from south to north—and its tributary

creeks and runs. Wells, which are easily dug in any part

of the township, furnish a supply of good wholesome water.

This part of the county never having had the advantage

of railroads, is comparatively new, but when once improved^

will be a beautiful part of the country.

The first school house was built in 1832, and the first

school was taught by the now venerable Aquilla Gilbert,.

Esq., of Vanlue. At the time Mr. Gilbert taught the school

there were no i)ublic school funds, and the compensation

was one dollar and fifty cents per scholar, paid by voluntary

subscriptions. The district included all of Jackson and

Amanda townships, and if the " school-master boarded

around," as was then the fashion, he certainly had to spread

himself over a good deal of territory.

The first church was built in 1833.

A hand mill owned by Godfi-ey Wolford, was the first in

the township, and Mr. Gilbert says that he and Judge-
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Hammond with whom he resided during the winter of

1828-29, used to go to mill every other day to grind enough

meal to support the Judge's family. The first flouring mill

was built in 1835 by Michael Missmore, but as it was pro-

pelled by water, it was rather uncertain as a means of pro-

curing bread. This mill was the first frame building erected

in the township.

The market for the first settlers was Portland and San-

dusky City. But as was said by one of the old pioneers, it

made but little difference to them where the market was, as

they had but little to sell.

Aquilla Gilbert and L. P. Hamblin were the first couple

married in the township, Asa M. Lake Esq., of Mt. Blanch-

ard, officiating. Capt. Dan. Gilbert, their son, and now of

Vanlue, was the first white child born here. Capt. Dan.

has grown up with the county, and doubtless remembers

with pleasure his boyhood days, spent in clearing, and the

old log school house, long since replaced by the neat brick

or frame.

The first death was that of Mrs Margaret Williams, wife

of an old hunter and pioneer. Her remains were interred

in what is now the Mt. Blanchard Cemetery.

There are many fine farms and farm buildings in this

township, and it is fast becoming a wealthy locality. The

fine residences of John Doty, Rev. Asa Ellis, Thompson

Myers, David Bibler, Geo. Treece, Moses Elsea, jr., Henry

Bowers, Alpheus Ralston and Peter Struble, are as modern

in construction and comfortable in finish, as any in the

county. The out-buildings on these farms are of the most

convenient, ample kind.

This township is peopled by a quiet pastoral population.

Thrifty, neighborly and hospitable. Much attention is paid
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to the commou schools, aud the necessary school buildings,

and school apparatus is provided, and competent teachers

employed, to the end that all the youth may have an oppor-

tunity of acquiring a good common school education.

LEVI SAMPSON

Was one of the early settlers of this township. He was

a man of limited education, but possessed a large stock of

good common sense, sterling integrity, and a perseverance

that overcame all obstacles. His life, whilst it was one of

labor and toil, and in the early years of his residence here,

one of privations, was so good naturedly enjoyed by him,

and so cheerfully did he meet all the hardships and disap-

poinments of pioneer life, that he was known amongst his

neighbors as "Sunny Sampson." He became quite wealthy,

and had a well improved ftirm and good buildings.

In 1851, just previous to the adoption of the present

State Constitution, he was appointed Associate Judge, in

place of Michael Price, resigned. Judge Sampson died a

number of years ago, regreted by his neighbors.

ALPHEUS RALSTON

Was the son of William Ralston, and was born in Rock-

ingham County, Va., in June, 1801. Whilst quite young,

his parents removed to Wood County, in the same State, but

now West Virginia, where he remained until his twenty-

fourth year.

In 1826 he came to Ohio, settling in Picakway County,

and in the same year was married. After a residence here

of about four years, he sold out his possessions and came to

Hancock County in 1830, and took up his residence in this
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township, on the same tract of land on which he now re-

sides.

At that time his nearest neighbor on the north, w^as Mr.

•Chamberlain, three miles distant, and Mr. Woodruff, on the

«outh, about the same distance. No neighbors on the east

nearer than the river, six miles away, and Philip Cramer on

'Tawa Creek, seven miles distant, was the nearest family

west.

The Perrysburg and Bellefontaine road was not yet loca-

ted or opened vup, only a wagon track led to Findley. Mr.

It. was at the first election in the township, and with Aquilla

CrQbert, Mordica Hammond, the Beards, and others effected

the organization of Jackson Township. His first neighbors

were the Williamsons

Mr. R. is the father of eight children, four of whom are

living. The farm upon which he resides is one of the most

Yaluable in the township, and he is enjoying his declin-

mg years, surrounded by kind neighbors and friends, and

with a sufficiency of this w^orlds goods. He has always re-

tained the good will of his acquaintances, and has been

noted for his industry, honesty and fair dealing. He speaks

with pleasure of his early associates in the settlement of the

township.

JOSEPH NEWELL

Was born July 6th, 1808, in Shenandoah County, Va.

and when six years old, came with his parents to what is

now Fairfield County, Ohio. Here he remained until 1836,

and where he married. In that year he came to this town-

ship and took up his residence on lands entered by him a

few years previously. Mr. N. was one of the pioneer Meth-

odists of the township. The year preceeding his emigration

25
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here, a society had been organized by a Methodist itinerant,

of which Mr. Newell's brother James, and two sisters and a

Mrs. Bond were members. His wife became a member of

the same society the year after they came here, and Mr. N.

a few years later. '

The first church in the township was built on Mr. N.'s

land, and there has been a church building here ever since,,

and a regular preaching place.

Mr. Newell has raised a large family, and provided liber-

ally for them. He has won and retained the friendship of

his neighbors, and been an honest citizen, a warm friend

and a consistent christian. The early ministers, no matter

to what denomination they belonged, always found a wel-

come at his house, and a cordial invitation to its hospitality.

GEORGE TREECE

Was born in Pickaway County, Ohio, January 9th, 1S27»

and in November of the same year came to this county, his

father's family locating in this township.

Mr. Treece is one of the largest farmers and land owners

in the township. He has always followed the occupation of

a farmer, and by his industry and intelligence, has made it

a success, and he in now the owner of many of the best

cultivated acres in the township.

At an election held in this township in October, 1833,

there were ten votes cast.

The first company muster was held at the house of Aquil-

la Gilbert, and the company—about fifty men in all—was

composed of men from Amanda, Delaware, Richland and

Jackson Townships, under the command of Capt. Godfrey

Wolford and Lieutenants R. W. Hamblin and Josiah Elder.

Capt. Wolford having been promoted to Major, the com-
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maiul of the company devolved upon the Lieutenants, and

one who was there, has suggested that had they been at the

first Bull Run fight, the fortunes of the day would have

been very different.

Wild game was plenty in all parts of the township, and the

hunting of it was a source of profit as well as pleasure, and

the table of the backwoodsman was scarcely ever without a

supply of venison or bear steak, or a squirrel pot pie.

There are now eight school buildings in the township,

nearly all of which are brick, and the enumeration of youth

of school age, amounts to four hundred and seventy-one.

In 1863 a post office was established on the road from

Findley to Mt. Blauchard, about six miles from Findley,

and called Ewing's Corners, with Jesse Ewing as post-

master. The office was, however, discontinued after about

eight years. Mr. Ewing was the only postmaster.

NORTH LIBERTY.

This village was laid out in April, 1S53, by J. F. Houk,

on the north-west part of the west half of the north-west

quarter of section 27. Fifteen lots were platted.

In 1867 John Douty and A. M. Houk made an addition

of twenty-eight lots, and in 1859 six more lots were added

by Jacob Hoy.

The place never assumed very large proportions or very

much importance. It never advanced beyond a cross roads

village, and its business was entirely local, being confined to

the trade of the immediate neighborhood. Its location is in

the midst of a rich agricultural district, but remote from

railroads.

Its business was confined to one gTOcery store, one wagon

shop, one blacksmith shop, one shoe shop, one saw and
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shingle mill. There is one church and one school building,

and one physician. The town, so far as improvements in

the way of new buildings are concerned, is at a stand still.

Population in 1880 was one hundred and eighteen.

In 1855 or 56, a post office was established here, under

the name of Houcktown, and the postmasters have been as

follows: Robert Davidson, J. R. Babcock, John Garst,

Israel Sampson, Eli Gorsuch, John Ebaugh and David

Beagle.

The following named persons have been elected Justices,

at the dates mentioned

:

Aquilla Gilbert, 1830, 1833, 1836, 1839, 1842.

George Henry, 1835.

Joseph Tromney, 1839, 1812, 1845, 1851, 1854.

Arthur Russell, 1844, 1847, 1850.

Charles 0. Mann, 1845, 1848, 1851, 1854.

Andrew W. Ilouk, 1856.

John Teems, 1855.

D. W. Engle, 1857, 1863, 1866.

Joseph S. Struble, 1857.

James Waltemire, 1859.

Henry Bowers, 1859, 1863, 1866, 1869, 1872, 1875,

1878, 1881.

Thomas Waltemire, 1862.

Eli J. Shelden, 1869, 1872, 1875, 1878.

Israel Sampson, 1880.

John C. Hayes, 1881.
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Statistics of the number and value of live stock and acres

and bushels of grain produced, as reported to the Auditor of

the County, in 1881.

Horses, 547 number.

Cattle, 1,205 "

Sheep, 3,023 "

Hogs, 2,137 "

Wheat, 3,41G acres.

Oats, 416 "

Corn, 2,655 '.'

Flax, 67 "

Hay, 879 "

$75,140, value.

14,150, "

5,995, "

5,050,. "

59,820 bushels.

13,270

106,055

600 bushels.

979 tons.
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LIBERTY TOWNSHIP.

Tp. 1, N. * R. 10, E.

Area 15,360 acres, PopulatiOxN, 1,101.

From the organization of the county in 1828, until De-

cember, 1830, this township was a part of Findley town-

ship. At the session of the County Commissioners held in

that month, present, Mordica Hammond, John P. Hamilton,

and Charles McKinnis, it was determined that it was ne-

cessary to divide the townships of Findley and Amanda into

three townships, after the following manner : Then follow

the boundaries of Findley and Marion, and this order in re-

lation to Liberty township, " and in the next place commenc-

ing at the south-east corner of section 31, in township 2

south, range 10, thence north to the north-east corner of

section 3, in township 2 north, thence w'est to the north-

west corner of section 6 in range 9, thence south to the

south-west corner of section 31, in tow-nship 2 south, thence

east to the place of beginning, in which bounds shall be

made a separate township, and become a body corporate

and politic, and be known and designated by the name of

Liberty."

This township comprises sections 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10,

15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33,

and 34 in township 1 north, and range 10 east, and is

bounded north by Portage township, east by Findley, south

l)y Eagle, and west by Blauchard. It is situated in the cen-



First Entry of Lands and Settlement. ^83

ter of the county north and south, and just west of the east

and west center, which location gives it some advantages

over its neighbors.

The first entry of lands in this township was made July

3d, 1821, by Vance, Neil and Cory, of the south-west quar-

ter of the south-east quarter of section 8.

On the 20th of December of the same year, Robert Mc-

Kiunis entered the east part of the north-west quarter of

section 7, and Charles McKinnis entered the west half (if

the north-west quarter of section 7. John Gardner entered

the north half of the north-east quarter of section 10, and

on the 27th day of the same month Jacob Poe entered the

west half of the south-west quarter of section 8. Septem-

ber 5th, 1825, Thomas Wilson entered the east half of the

south-east quarter of section 9, and in August 1828, R. L.

Strother entered the north-east quarter of section 21, and

these were followed by entries made by Alfred Hampton,

John Hobbs, Richard Watson, Isaac Comer and others.

The first settlement was made in 1821, in the spring, by

Jacob Poe, and in the fall by Robert McKinnis and his

sons, Charles, James, Philip and John. Judge McKinnis

settled on the farm now owned by Oliver P. Sliaw, James on

the farm owned by Solomon Swarts, and Poe on the farm

now owned by his son Nelson. The sons of Charles Mc-

Kinnis now reside ou the lauds on which he first located.

These men were followed by Fishel and his sons John,

Michael and Daniel, and some grown up daughters, John-

son Bonham, John Boylan, Judge Ebenezer Wilson, Rich-

ard, William and George Watson, Barna Beardsley, William

Fountain, Isaac Strother, Nathan Frakes, Isaac Comer,

Povenmire, John Price, the Radabaughs, Solomon Lee,

Abraham Bails, and others.
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This township was heavily timbered with walnut, ash''

beech, sugar, oak, cottonwood, sycamore, and the inevitable

buckeye. No part of the land was clear of timber, and the

immense forests of walnut which were destroyed, burned up

to make way for the plow, would now be of incalculable

value.

The soil of this locality is variable. Along the river it is

warm and sandy, and on the ridges, sandy with a mixture

of gravel. Between the ridge and the river it is a rich

vegetable loam, in places partially mixed with clay. On the

north of the river the prevailing soil is clay. The rich bot-

tom lands are adapted to corn, the sandy gravelly soil to

wheat, and the clay or up lands are used for grazing pur-

poses. The principal crops are wheat, corn, oats, flax and

grass.

The Blanchard River crosses this township from east to

west, furnishing an abundance of water not only for stock

purposes, but during a good portion of the year enough tO'

propel the two flouring mills located upon it. The river

bottom lands are exceedingly rich and productive, but are

subject to occasional overflows, by which crops and fences

are damaged more or less.

On the north side we have Watson's, Wilson's, Grassy

and Worden's runs, small wet weather streams, whose chan-

nels furnish good drainage for the adjacent lands. There-

are several springs along Watson's and Wilson's runs, which

keep them supplied with water the year round.

On the south side Comer's run enters^ the river on the'

Dye farm, and is the only creek of any importance on that

side. None of these creeks furnish water power now..

There was for a number of years a saw mill on Comer's

run. on the old Povenmire farm, just south of the Findiey
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and Kalida State road, but that has long since been aban-

doned. On the farm of Nelson Poe, and some forty or fifty

feet from the river is what the people in the neighborhood

call a sink hole, that is the water dissappears in the ground,

and is not seen again until it is emptied into the river.

Blanchard Church, on the Ewing farm, on Defiance road,

built by the Presbyterians in 1850, was the first church build-

ing in the township. The congregation, however, previous to

that time, held services in private houses, and in the school

house in the neighborhood. The society was organized in

1832 by Rev. Peter Monfort. The first stated minister, the

late Rev. Geo. YanEmon, was at the same time pastor of

the church in Findley. Of the first membership we fiud the

names of Judge Wilson and wife, William Coeu, wife and

two daughters, Jacob Poe and wife, and Mrs. Judge Mc-

Kinnis.

As a proof of the strictness of church rules, and their

enforcement, in years gone by, it is related to me by a friend

that the late William Taylor, of Findley, was once reported

to the congregation that met at the house of Jacob Poe, as

having been guilty of violating the rules regarding the keep-

ing of the Sabbath day, which violation occurred in this

wise

:

At that day the means of transportation of produce and

other barter to a market, was by floating it down the

Blanchard, Auglaize and Maumee, to Perrysburg or Toledo.

Mr. Taylor was in trade at Findley, and desiring to make a

trip, had his fleet of canoes loaded, waiting for a rise in the

river, and a favorable time to set out on his voyage. After

waiting a few days, the favorable time to start came on Sun-

day, and Mr. Taylor being impatient by delays, shoved off

his canoes, and silently, perhaps, floated down the peaceful
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Blanchard, never inteudiug any disrespect to the day or the

church. But the church dignitaries could not overlook so

flagrant a breach of church regulations, and Bible com-

mands, and Mr. Taylor was cited to appear and answer, and

to show cause why he should not be visited with the penal-

ties of his disobedience. My friend says he came, an-

swered, confessed, and was forgiven.

In 1832 iihe first school house was built in the township,

on the farm now owned by John Reed, Esq. Richard

Wade was the first teacher. • There are now eight school

houses in the township, the most of which are commodius

buildings. The youth of school age number three hundred

and seventeen.

There are one Evangelical, one United Brethren, one

Christian Union, and one Presbyterian Church building, in

the township. Each of these churches has a flourishing

Sunday School attached, under the charge of efficient and

zealous superintendents.

The first mill, or rather mills—for there were a flour, and

lumber mill both—was l)utilt by John Byal, and is near the

Infirmary. The flour mill was run by water. The machin-

ery was moved by a large overshot wooden wheel, which

kept plashing and creaking all day, and about which there

was to us boys always a charming atmosphere of coolness?

and a capital place for fishing. The water pouring over the

dam, not in a rush, but slowly and at times almost noise-

lessly, the slow but continued movement of the old wooden

wheel, the long drawn-out screech of the wooden machinery

of the mill, the quiet movements of the miller, all had a

lazy feeling inseparably connected with them, which I guess

was contagious, for when we boys got sprawled out on the

grassy bank of the river, near the old mill, we were sure to
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be infected with sucli feelings, and it required something

tolerably exciting to fully arouse us.

In about 1844 Miller Johnson built a saw mill at the site

of the Holden Mill, and in about 1853 Amos Hartman, now
of Iowa, built a flouring mill at the same place, both of

which mills are now standing.

When the township was first settled wolves were very

plenty, and also very destructive, killing the sheep, hogs,

and even young cattle of the settlers. Near where the

Blanchard Church now stands Mr. Poe had some young

cattle killed by the wolves. Numbers of wolves were killed

for their scalps, for which the State paid a bounty.

In this township is the Indian Green, Plum orchard, and

Indian burying gi-ound. Of the Indian Green, as it was

called, is said by the early settlers, that quite a considerable

tract of land on the north bank of the river, had been par-

tially cleared up, on which the Indians had a burying

ground, and perhaps a village, and certainly some kind of

fortifications or earth works, of w-hich I have heretofore

spoken. In addition to this there w^ere several acres of

lands along the river bottoms wdiich had not only been

cleared, but cultivated as every indicat^n plainly showed.

Whether the presence of so many plum trees was the work

of the Indians, or of that eccentric person already alluded

to—Johnny Appleseed—will perhaps never be known. The

fact however remains that they were here, and among them

were also a number of apple trees.

The Indian burying ground was frequently visited by

members of their tribe—the Ottowas—and at one time a

white man by the name of Ellison, with his family, settled

on this ground. Ellison dug up quite a number of skele-

tons, and opened graves for such trinkets as were buried
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with the dead. This coming to the ears of the Indians^

they visited the place, and were so emphatic in their denun-

ciation of the vandalism, that Ellison thought it prudent tO'

quit the premises, which he did. This plum orchard and

burying ground covered some twelve acres or more.

Of the earliest settlers of this township, I have already

spoken of the McKinnis family. Nelson Poe, a descendant

of that family, resides upon the old farm of his father, Jacob

Poe, who came to this part of the county with the McKin-

nis.' Jacob Poe was a hardy specimen of the backwoods-

man. He was a relative of the celebrated Indian fighters^

Adam and Andrew Poe, and was possessed of the physical

strength and courage attributed to the celebrated brothers^

He lived to a good old age, respected and honored.

John Boylan, for more than forty years a resident here^

came from near Newark, Licking County, Ohio, in 1832.

He was one of the first school teachers in the county, and

for many years taught "the young ideas how to shoot," and

how to shout too, for that matter, for I have a very vivid

recollection of the energetic manner in which he swung the

birch.

Mr. Boylan was a local preacher of the Methodist

Church, and one of its earliest members in the county. As

a minister he was fervent and touching in his appeals, and

powerful in his exhortations. After his long residence here

he went west, and is now a resident of Iowa.

Richard Watson and wife are both dead, and all their

living children but one are now residents of the county.

Mr. Watson was a good neighbor, an enterprising citizen*

and honest in all his dealings. He died, leaving to his

children a fine farm, which he had reclaimed from the

wilderness. Mr. Watson, though a strong partisan of the
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Democratic school of politics, did not attempt to imperti-

nently intrude his opinions on others. He held the office

•of Coroner of the County for one or two terms.

Isaac Comer came to this township from Fairfield County,

and located on the farm now owned by J. B. Wagner, about

four miles west of Findley, on the Benton road. Mr. Comer

was one of those large, jolly, good-natured men that we oc-

casionally meet. Frank in all his sayings, kind and gen-

-erous in his acts, honest and prompt in his dealings, he was

iuniversally liked, aud his death was sincerely regretted.

The Rev. Geo. Van Emon, one of the purest men who

ever lived, may well be claimed by this township, as nearly

all his life in this county was spent here. As a minister

he w^as sincere, and his words carried conviction with them.

As a christian he was blameless. As a neighbor he was

ikind and hospitable. As a citizen he w^as one w^hose exam-

ple might be safely followed.

William Fountain, or the old man Fountain^ as he was

familiarly called, came to the county in 1830, and settled in

this township, on lands on which he resided for nearly fifty

years, and up to the time of his death. Of an unassuming

and retired disposition, attentive to his own affairs, taking

little part in public matters, his acquaintance was never very

extensive. But no man in his neighborhood was more high-

ly respected, or considered more trustworthy. Mr. Fount-

ain came from Franklin County, and lived to be almost a

centenarian.

Mr. F. was born in Caroline Co., Md., January 6th, 1784.

He was of Irish descent, and was the second of three

brothers. In 1824 he came to Franklin Co., Ohio, and set-

tled in Plain township. In 1809 Mr. F. w^as married to

Sarah Barton, by whom he had five children. Mrs. F. died
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in 1821, and Mr. F. married Mrs. Rebecca Smith, with

whom he lived until the time of her death, a period of more

than forty years. Mr. F. sold his farm in Franklin, and

came to Hancock, taking up his residence on the farm on

which he died. At the time of his death he was the oldest

person in the county.

DANIEL CUSAC

Was born in Mifflin County, Pa., in January, 1790. His

parents were natives of Ireland, and were married before

leaving that country. Mr. Cusac came to Perry County,.

Ohio, when quite a young man, and there married ijarah

Sellers, who died in October, 1881, at the advanced age of

eighty-eight years, having survived her husband about four-

teen years. Mr. Cusac came to this county in 1838, and

took up his residence in this township, on the farm on which

he died. He had ten children, nine of whom are still liv-

ing. John and Mrs. Judge Cooper, two of the children, re-

side in Portage township. Two of them, Capt. Isaac Cusac

and Mrs. Mulford. are in Pleasant township. The others,

William, James, Mrs. John Reed, Mrs. James Cooper and

Mrs. Robert Poe reside in Liberty township. Mr. C. had a

limited common school education, but was a man of good

strong common sense. He was a consistent member of the

Presbyterian Church for fifty years, and led an upright,

honest life, respected by all who knew him.

Unassuming and domestic in his habits, he made no figure

in public, and although his counsel and advice was sought

for, it was'given with modesty and fairness, and for the best

interests of those desiring it. He died at a good old age,

loved and respected, and left to his children a good name,,

and to his wife a good home.
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PHILIP MCKINNIS

Was the second son of Judge Robert McKinnis, one of

the very earliest settlers of the county, and was born in

Butler Co., Pa., January 9th, 1801. He came with his

father's family to Ross Co., 0., when young. In 1822 the

family came to this township, and settled on the river, near

the present site of Cronninger Mills.

In 1827 he married Susan Dukes, and commenced life on

the farm now owned by Conrad Renninger. He was a man
of strong constitution, scarcely knowing what it was to be

sick. He had a limited common school education, but was

a man of good hard common sense. • He had a family of

eleven children, nine of whom are living. Mr. McK., after

a long residence in the county, sold out and removed to

Putnam County in 1855, near Grilboa, and finally to near

Leipsic, where he died in 1868, his wife surviving him some

two years. Their remains now rest in Maple Grove Ceme-

tery.

Mr. McKinnis was a fair specimen of the frontiersman.

Possessed of great endurance, courage and industry, backed

by the strictest honesty, he won and held the respect of all

who knew him. His word was as good as his bond ; he

punctually fulfilled all his engagements, redeemed all his

promises, and faithfully discharged every duty. He was a

member of the old School Baptist Church for over thirty

years. His son William, who resides in Findley, is the only

one of the family now living in the county.

NELSON POE

Came to this township when he was but three months
old, having been born in Ross Co., 0., September 4th, 1822.

He was the third son of Jacob Poe. His mother was a
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daughter of Judge McKinnis. His paternal ancestors were

of German extraction, whilst his mother's people were

Scotch Irish. The father of Mr. Poe settled on the farm

now owned and occupied hy the subject of this sketch.

At the time of his coming here there were bnt a very few

families in the county, but the Poe family was possessed of

that kind of pluck which never gave way before difficulties,

or became discouraged at privations.

On his father's side, Mr. Poe is distantly related to the

celebrated historical fighting brothers, i\.dam and Andrew

Poe, and also to the eminent divine, Rev. Adam Poe. Farm-

ing has always been the leading occupation of Mr. Poe, al-

though during the winter seasons of thirty years, he taught

a country school, lie is a man of fair education, and has

always been regarded as a successful educator. He may

well be termed a self-educated man, for his school privileges

were very limited. He is a member of the Presbyterian

Church at present, and has been a church member for the

past sixteen years.

In 1846 he was married to Mary Lytle, who still lives to

add to his enjoyment. They are the parents of three chil-

dren. The eldest son was killed during the late war. The

second son—Luther—resides in Fostoria, and the youngest,

a daughter^ is at home with her parents. Mr. P.'s school

days were passed in the old log school house, under the in-

struction of such primitive teachers as Richard Wade, Benj.

Cummins and others.

Mr. Poe has resided in the county longer than any other

person, with the single exception of Job Chamberlain, of

Findley. He has witnessed the steady but great transfor-

mation of a wilderness into truitful fields; has seen the

dense forests disappear, and in their places spring to life,
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J)eauti{ul fertile fields; has lived to see an uninhabited

country settled by an industrious, thrifty, wealthy, happy

people, with school houses and churches in every neighbor-

hood; to see railroads built, traversed by the iron horse

•drawing the trains well laden with the pioducts of this rich

•county; to see telegraph wires stretched all over the land.

And in this great work he has been no idle spectator.

This township contains some of the finest farm buildino-s

in the county, iimongst them is the fine brick residences

of W. C. Watson, R. W. Boyd, Elijah Gowdy, Cornelius

Ewing, John Hart and Samuel Mosier, and the very sub-

stantial frame dwellings of Joseph Wilson, Jacob Grubb,

Wm. Renninger, C. C. Harris, all on the north side of the

xiver, whilst on the south side, Crondall Watson, Henry
Sherrick, Henry Rudisill, John Radabaugh, Joseph Barn-

iiill, David Bish, J. M. Moorehead and others living on the

south side have equally tasteful dwelling places. The farms

are well improved, and supplied with the best of out-buildino-s.

JUSTICES OF THE PEACE.

Below we give the names, with the dates of their elec-

tion of those who have held this office.

Benjamin Cummins—1831, 1834.

Johnson Bonham—1834, 1843.

Merriman Price—1836.

James H. Barr—1841.
Yan Burton—1841, 1844.

John Smith—1842.
William S. Burkhead—1844.

Aaron Hall—1845, 1848, 1851.

Levi Taylor—1837, 1840, 1853.

John Radabaugh—1847, 1880.

26
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Thomas II. Taylor—1853, 1856, 1859, 1862.

Alexander Philips—1850, 1868, 1872, 1875.

John Hall—1853, 1856, 1859.

W. H. Fountain—1860, 1863, 1866.

J. E. Dresbach—1865.

Joseph Wilson—1872.

John Reed—1873.
Henry Rudisill—1877, 1880.

R. W. Boyd— 1877.

Table showing the number and value of live stock, and

the number of acres of grain sown, and bushels produced^

as returned by township Assessor in 1881.

Horses, 472 number. $24,470, value.

Cattle, 1,120 " 14,070, ''

Sheep, 2,310 " 4,980, "

Swine, 1,675 " 4,580, "

Wheat, 2,709 acres. 52,884 bushels.

Oats, 225 " 7,325

Corn, 2,539 " 112,030 "

Flax, 31 •' 235 "

Hay, 509 " 613 tons.
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MADISON TOWNSHIP.

Tp. 2, S., R. 10, E. Tp. 2, S., R. 11, E..

Area 15,360 acres. Population 1,235.

At the June session, 1840, of the County Commissioners,

it was "Ordered that sections No. 1, 2, 11, 12, 13, 14, 23,

24, 25, 26, 35 and 36 in township 2 south, range 10 east,,

and sections 5, 6, 7, 8, 17, 18, 19, 20, 29, 30, 31 and 32 in

township 2 south, range 11 east, be set off and constituted

as a new township, called Madison." Those sections in

range 10 were a portion of Van Buren township, and those

in range II were a part of Delaware township.

This township was named in honor of James Madison,

fourth President of the United States. It lies on the south

side of the county, and is bounded on the north by Eagle

and Jackson townships, on the east by Delaware, on the

south by Hardin County, and on the west by Van Buren

township.

On the lirst day of June, 1829, Abel Tanner made entry

of the west half of the north-west quarter of section 23,

and on the same day William Y. Woodruff entered the

north-east quarter of section 2. These were the first entries

of lands in the township.

Squire Carlin on the 9th day of July, 1829, entered the

west half of the south-west quarter of section 11. John

Longwith, of Pickaway County, entered the east half of

the north-east quarter of section 5, on the 5th of May,
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1830, and in September of the same year, Chaney Rickets

entered the east half of the south-west quarter of section 2.

In November, 1832, the north-east quarter of the south-east

quarter of section 5, was entered by Alexander Grant, of

i^Vanklin County.

In October, 1884, Robert Hurd and Robert Shaw, both of

Portage County, made entries of lands in section 7, and

Henry Imhoff, of Stark County, entered the west half of

the north-west quarter of section 6. Other entries speedily

followed, and settlements were made in many portions of

the township.

The timber in this part of the county is maple—sugar and

soft—beech, hickory, ash. The different varieties of oak

was abundant in all parts of the township. Black walnut,

blue ash, and red elm is found along the streams. On the

wet lands are black ash and sycamore. This part of the

county was very heavily timbered.

The soil for the most part consists of a compact yellow

•clay subsoil, covered with a vegetable mould. Along the

streams may be found small areas of alluvial lands, which

are very fertile. The soil on the wet lands consists of a

deep black loam, which is very productive when properly

drained. Generally speaking the lands of this township

•can be considered as only moderately fertile.

Although the township is well watered, there are but few

streams of water, and they are not of much importance as

water courses. Eagle Creek, which is formed by the junc-

tion of what is called the east and west branches, which

unite about eighty rods north-east of the south-west corner

of section 14, and thence take their course as one creek-

Flat Branch is so called on account of the small amount of

fall it has. It drains the south-eastern part of the town-



First Settlement. 397

ship, and is a tributary of the East Branch. Buck Ruii! is

in the north-eastern part, and empties into Eagle Creek near

the north line of the township. The West Branch of Eagle

Creek rises in the Hog Creel: Marsh in Hardin County,

and the East Branch rises near the Hardin County line.

"The weight of authority," writes Dorillas Martz of this

township, " is that Simeon Ransbottom was the first to set-

tle in this township, though Abel Tanner and Abner Hill

came the same year." Tanner came in February, 1825,

from near Kenton, Ohio, where he had resided for three

years previous. He and his wife were ,both natives of

Rhode Island. He located on the banks of the West

Branch of Eagle Creek, near the camping ground of Gen.

Hull, as he passed through in 1813. Mr. Tanner died in

1833, aged forty-two years, and his wife died three years

later.

Simeon Ransbottom settled on the west bank of Eagle

Creek, two miles below Tanner. He was a native of Vir-

ginia. His wife was born in Ireland. Mr. Ransbottom

died in 1851, his wife having died many years previously.

The family of Abner Hill consisted of himself, wife, and

step-daughter. He resided in the township for several

years. He committed a burglary by breaking into Carlin's

Mill at Findley, for which exploit he was sent to the Ohio-

Penitentiary, and was the first representative to that insti-

tution from this township, if not from the county.

Settlements were very soon after made by Jacob Helms,

Benjamin Sparr, Andrew Rickets, John Diller, N. B. Martz,

J. W. Williams and others, and farms were opened up all

over the township.

Mr. N. B. Martz says that when he came to this township

in 1834, he found a man by the name of John Diller living.
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in section 11, on lands which he had hought of a Mr. More-

land, who claimed to have purchased the lands of Simeon

Ransbottom. Mr. Martz adds that his impression is that

Ransbottom was the first settler within the present limits of

Madison township, and that John Tullis came with him per-

haps. Mr. Martz says that from the appearance of the

buildings, clearings, and fruit trees when he first visited the

Diller's and other places, he is led to believe that the first

settlement had taken place at least ten years before that

yisit.

The first church building erected in the township was by

the Methodist Episcopals at Arlington, in 1858. It must

not be supposed that religious worship was unknown prior

to this time, or that no minister had visited this region.

Here as elsewhere the school houses and private houses

were used as places of worship. There are now four church

buildings in the township ; two Methodist Episcopal, one

Protestant Methodist, and one Disciples.

The first school house built in the township was on the

land now occupied as the German Lutheran Cemetery, at

the west line of the township. It was of the usual style,

of logs, with clapboard roof There are now eight school

buildings, all comfortable and commodious. The enrollment

of youth is two hundred and twenty-three males, and one

hundred and ninety-five females, making a total of four

hundred and eighteen.

The first hotel, or tavern as such places were then called,

was kept by John Diller, and was located on the west bank

•of Eagle Creek, at the place now known as Waterloo. This

tavern was called The Cross Keys.

The people of this township devote themselves to agricul-

tural pursuits, and are a peaceable, quiet and thrifty com-
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munity. Education and religion command the respect and

attention of all. The first settlers are principally from the

eastern part of the State and from Pennsylvania. There

are, however, quite a number of Germans, and their de-

scendents.

John W. Williams, one of the early settlers, and pro-

prietor of the village of Williamstown, died but a few years

ago, at a ripe old age, and was perhaps at the time of his

death the oldest person in the township. Mr. Williams was

Post Master for many years, and was ten times elected

Justice of the Peace. He commanded the confidence and

respect of his neighbors, and had many friends.

Christian Welty, a resident here, was one of those sub-

stantial men, who early sought a home in the west. He
was a man of good judgment, sound mind and strict integ-

rity.

Andrew Rickets, after a long and useful life, died but a

few years since, leaving his family a goodly heritage, ac-

cumulated by industry and frugality. His widow, a very

estimable lady, and a fair specimen of the goodly dames of

the early years of the township, now resides in Findley, re-

spected by all who know her,

Mr. Rickets, besides holding several township offices, was

for two terms, a Commissioner of the county, and filled the

office with both ability and fidelity.

Robert Hurd, who came to this township in 1839, was

born at East Haddam, Conn., March 16th, 1785, and emi-

grated to Portage County, Ohio, in 1820, and settled in

Twinsbnrg township, as agent for the brothers, Aaron and

Moses Willcox—twins—from whom the township derived its

name. Mr. Hurd made extensive entries of lands in and

about the site of the present town of Arlington, in 1834,
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and his sons, William B. and Lorenzo, and son-in-law, Jos-

eph Fitch, at once settled on part of these lands, then all a

wilderness. Mr. Hurd laid out the town of Arlington, and

was active in the formation of the township of Madison^

from parts of Delaware and Amanda townships. For a

number of years Mr. Hurd held the office of Justice of the-

Peace. He frequently appeared in Justice's Courts as att

attorney, conducting his cases with much ability. Mr. Plurd!

died at Arlington in 1861.

NAPOLEON B. MARTZ

Was the son of Michael Martz, and was born in Rock-

ingham County, Va., in November, 1809, and came to Han-

cock County in 1834, and settled on the farm now owned hj

his son, Dorillas. He was married in November, 1830, to-

Hannah Nicholls, who still accompanies him in the journey

of life. Mr. Martz was a resident of the county forty-one

years, when he got the western fever, and went to Douglas

County, 111., where he now resides.

Mr. Martz' grand-parents were from Bavaria, hence his

German extraction. He is a man of good morals, although

not a church member. He has a fair English education^

and good strong common sense. His opinions were the re-

sult of careful thought, and his advice was sought by his

neighbors. Honest, intelligent, sociable and accommodating,

he easily won, and always held the esteem of his neighbors.

The following persons have been elected to the office of

Justice of the Peace.

Solomon Watkins—1840.
Joseph Leslie— 1840.

Thomas Reese—1843.

N. B. Martz—1813.
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J. W. Williams—1846, 1849, 1852, 1855, 1858, 1861,

1864, 1867, 1870, 1873.

Joel Markel—1849, 1852.

L. P. Wiug—1855, 1858.

Robert Hurd—1859.

David Wardwell—1861.

L. D. Wiseman—1864.
Philip Wilch— 1867.

Peter Wilch-1869.

E. Longworth—1870.

J. C. Clingerman—1873.

Jonas Huff—1876, 1879.

T. H. Bushong—1876.

D. Martz—1878.

WILLIAMSTOWN.

This town was laid out in 1834, and named in honor of

John W. Williams, the proprietor. It is located on part of

the north-west quarter of the north-west quarter of section

31, and the north-east quarter of section 36. In originally

contained forty-eight lots, and as remarked by a resident,

"it commenced small, and has held its own exceedingly

well." At the time the town was laid out, there was no

family within three miles of it,

Mr. Williams opeued a store and tavern in the place, and

travel commenced along the range line, now the Bellefon-

taine State road. In about 1837, Christain Welty also

opened a store, and a Dr. Smith located here for a short

time, being the first in the township. He was succeeded by

Dr. A. F. Burson, now of Mt. Blanchard, famous for his

success in treating the " Milk Sickness," then prevalent in

this part of the county.
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The village is about fourteen miles directly south of Find-

ley, and about three miles from the Hardin County line.

The business of the town consists of one steam saw, shingle

and lath mill, by William Ileacock ; a wagon and carriage

shop, by Joseph Phillipi ; a shoe shop, by William Knight

;

a blacksmith shop, by William Vanscoich ; two grocery

stores, one by J. B. DeHaven, and one by Cramer & Crabill,

and one physician. Population 128.

A Post Office was established here in 1835, and Christian

Welty was first Post Master. The office was called " Eagle,"

but in 1866 it was changed to Williamstown. The Post

Masters have been Christian Welty, J. W. Williams, B. D.

Evans, John DeHaven, and again Dr. B. D. Evans, the

present incumbent.

WEST UNION.

This place was laid out by Andrew Sheller, in January,

J 835, in the south-east corner of section 36, in lands now

owned by A. Woods, and comprised forty-eight lots. It has

no other history.

ARLINGTON.

In November. 1854, Robert Hurd, Esq., laid out the town

of Arlington, on the south-west part of section 6, and the

south-east part of section 1. The town originally contained

seventeen lots, but since its first platting, successive addi-

tions have been made, until now it is quite a village.

Its business interests are not very extensive. There is

one wagon and carriage shop, operated by Julius Dorney.

Eli Bowman has a blacksmith shop, and Huff & Cramer are

the proprietors of a steam saw and planing mill. There is

one shoe shop ; one pump factory. Woods & Co., and Jo-
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seph Huff each have a dry goods and grocery store, and Dr.

L. S. Lafferty keeps a drug store in connection with his

practice as a physician. There are also two saloons, A
tile factory is in successful operation, owned by Brothers &
Son.

The population of iVrlington in 1880, was one hundred

and thirty-six.

Upon the establishment of a Post Office here in 1846,

Dr. B. Beach was appointed Post Master, and has been suc-

ceeded by L. P. Wing, E. B. Vail, W. K. Drake, Thomas
Stark, Philip Wilch, L. S. Lafferty, E. P. Lease, and C. F.

King.

An exhibit of the number of acres and bushels of cereals,

and the number and value of live stock, as returned by
Township Assessor in 1881.

Wheat, 2,814 Acres.

Oats, 443 "

Corn, 1,605 "

Flax, 103 "

Hay, 467 "

Horses, 459 number.

Cattle, 1,007 "

Sheep, 2,097 "

Swine, 1,816 "

45,188 Bushels.

13,263 *'

70,040 ''

927 "

459 Tons.

118,140, Value.

8,580, "

4,060, "

2,420, "
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MARION TOWNSHIP.

Tp. 1,N. R. 11, E.

Area 15,360 acres. Population 987.

The Commissioners at their session on the 6th day of

December, 1830, caused the following record to be made

:

" It appearing to this Board necessary to divide the town-

ships of Findley and Amanda into three townships after the

following manner, to-wit: Beginning at the south-west

corner of section 31, in township 1 north, in range 12, run-

ning thence north to the north-west corner of section 6 in

township 2, in range 12, thence west to the north-west

corner of section 4, in range eleven, thence south to the

south-west corner of section 33, in township one north, in

range 11, thence east to the place of beginning, which bound-

ary shall be a separate township, and become a body corpo-

rate and politic, and shall be known and designated by the

name of Marion."

The township was named in honor of the dashing South

Carolina Ranger, Francis Marion, of Revolutionary notori-

ety, and is bounded on the north by Cass township, on the

east by Big Lick, on the south by Amanda and Jackson, and

on the west by Findley, and comprises sections 1, 2, 3, 4,

9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27. 28,

33, 34, 35 and 36, in township 1 north, and range li east.

Elnathan Cory made the first entry of lands on the 28th
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day of November, 1^22, of the north-east quarter of the

north-east quarter of section 21.

On the 24th day of October, 1825, Alexander Robertson

•entered the south part of the north-east quarter of section

23. Jonas Hartraan, of Pickaway County, entered the

south-east quarter of section 24, on the 28th of April, 1830,

and on the 15th of October, of the same year, Rezin Rick-

!ets, of Seneca County, entered the west half of the south-

•east quarter of section 15. December 28th, 1830, Allen

Wisely entered the east half of the south-west quarter of

section 14.

Other entries were made by Jacob Her, of Pickaway

County, Joseph Orwig, Daniel Egbert and Major Bright, of

Fairfield, Nimrod Bright and John Leeder, of Pennsylvania,

Isaac Jones, of Richland, and others.

Walnut, oak, ash, beech, sugar, elm and buckeye are the

prevailing kinds of timber.

The soil in the north part of the township is clay and

sand. The river bottoms are exceedingly rich and product-

ive, being a vegetable soil, and the south portion of the town-

ship has a soil of loam, very rich.

The township is well watered by the Blanchard River, and

its tributaries, the outlet of the Prairie on the north, and

Deer Creek on th^e south. On the farm of Allen Wisely

are sulphur springs or deer licks, at which places the hunt-

ers of the early day laid in wait for the unsuspecting game.

Good water may also be obtained by sinking wells. The

river and creeks form a perfect system of drainage, and

heretofore furnished water power for several mills.

. Marion, though one of the smallest, is yet one, of the

wealthiest agricultural townships in the county. There are

very many valuable farms and farm buildings.
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The first settlers were Asher Wickham, Joseph Sargeant

and Othniel Wells. These parties settled near the western

line of the township, Ashar Wickham on the George Burns

farm, Joseph Sargeant on the T. J. Burns place, and Wells,

on the Charles Thomas farm. Very shortl}^ after, Allen

Wisely, Major Bright, Edward Bright, Joseph Baker, Lewis

Thomas, and others commenced improvement in different

parts of the township.

Major Bright became the owner of a large tract of valu-

able land. He at one time held the office of Associate

Judge for this county. Several of his children reside in this

and Big Lick townships, and are quite well off. Mr. Bright

was long a resident of the township.

Lewis Thomas is still a resident of the township, owning

a fine farm on the banks of the Blanchard, with good build-

ings and pleasant surroundings. Mr. Thomas, though well

up in years, is vivacious, and loves to recount the incidents

of his pioneer life. lie is an earnest christian, an honest

farmer, a good neighbor, and a valuable citizen.

No man in the township perhaps is better known, or more

generally respected than is Allen Wisely. He owns a very

valuable farm, well improved and delightfully located. Mr.

Wisely has lived in the township long enough to see it change

from an unbroken wilderness to fruitful fields ; the rude log

cabin replaced by the elegant frame and brick residences of

the prosperous and happy farmers.

The old Baptist Church at William Davis' was the first

one erected in the township. It has long since been re-

placed by a fine frame structure called the Union Bethel, in

which any orthodox denomination have a right to worship.

There are three United Brethren and one Methodist Episco-

pal Church buildings in the township.
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The first school house was built on William Marvin's farm

in 1836, and the first school was taught by Adam Robinson.

There are now six good school buildings in the township,

with an enumeration of three hundred and twenty-two youth

of school age.

The first election was held in April, 1831. Asher Wick-

ham, Joseph Sargeant, Allen Wiseley, DeWitt, Lewis

Ward, Joseph Johnston, Joseph Baker, Major Bright, Adam
Beard, Justin Smith, Powell, Edward Bright and 0.

Wells, thirteen in all, were the voters. The emigrants to

this township came mainly from the eastern portion of Ohio..

In 1837. Daniel Opp put up a frame building on the farm

now owned by Edward Wiseley, and commenced tavern

keeping. A Post Olfice was also established at his place,

and called Crow, and Mr. Opp appointed Post Master. Af-

ter about two years Mr. Opp died, and the Post Office expired

with him, since which time there has not been a Post Office

in the township.

The office of Justice of the Peace has been filled by the

following named persons:

Willis Ward—1831.

Major Egbert—1831.
Charles Thomas—1833.
David Egbert—1832, 1853.

Adam Heisley—1835,

Albert Ramsey—1838, 1841, 1844.

Allen Wiseley— 1838, 1859, 1862, 1865, 1868.

Rezin Rickets— 1841, 1844, J847, 1850, 1853, 1856.

William Marvin—1847, 1851.

William Davis—1853, 1856, 1859, 1862.

Daniel Alspach—1863.
B.J. McRill—1866.
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Isaac Davis—1869, 1872.

Michael Glenuer—1871, 1874.

Amasa Buckingham—1875.

James Wilson—1877, 1880.

Andrew Bish—1878.

C. S. Johnston—1880.

WILLIAM B. MILLER.

Mr. Miller was born in Fairfield County, Ohio, February

11th, 1825, and is the son of Martin Miller, w^ho was a

farmer. Mr. M. has always followed the business of" farm-

ing. He has a good common school education, and taught

school a number of terms. He is perhaps above the aver-

age farmer in intelligence, owing to his better educational

advantages, and is in every sense of the word a progressive

man. He keeps well up with the times, availing himself of

the latest and best improvements and information in his

business; keeps himself not only thoroughly posted in all

that pertains to agi-iculture, but is perfectly conversant with

the politics of the country, and with what interests the peo-

ple in State and National affairs, and is possessed of com-

prehensive and at the same time conservative views on the

subjects. His neighbors have the most implicit confidence

in his intelligence and ability, and he has on more than one

occasion been put forth as the exponent of the principles of

his political party, and on every such occasion he has re-

ceived a generous support.

Mr. Miller was married in 1845 to Jane Martin, and in

1847 he came to this county, and settled in this township,

on the farm on which he resides. He is now, and has been

for the past seventeen years, a member of the United

Brethren Church. His daily life has been such that his ex-
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ample has gone very far towards shaping the morals, and

<;ousequent prosperity of the community. His honesty is

proverhial, and his counsels safe.

WILLIAM MARVIN, SR.

Was the son of Zera iMarvin, and was born in Luzerne

County, Pa., July, 1798. Mr. Marvin's lather had a variety

of occupations ; dealing in merchandise, farming a little,

and preaching occasionally. He was a minister of the Bap-

tist Church. Mr. ]\Iarvin was a carpenter by trade, and

followed that nearly all his life, although he owned quite an

extensive lot of land.

In 1818 he married Mabel Roberts, who came to Ohio

with him, and to this county, and died August 25th, 1852

Mr. Marvin came to Ohio in 1823, and resided in Wayne
•County for eleven years. He came to Hancock County in

October, 1834, and bought in this township, in the June fol-

lowing, on the same lands he occupied up to within a year

before his death. The first winter that the family were in

the county, the families of William and Mathias Marvin

—

seventeen persons in all—lived in one cabin, twenty feet

square.

Mr. Marvin was the father of sixteen children, fourteen

of whom are living, and all married and heads of families.

At the tim^ of his death his children, grand-children, great-

grand-children, and great-great-grand-children numbered

not less than three hundred and fifty persons. He was a

man of extraordinary endurance, good constitution, strono-

will, firm in his convictions, and determined in his actions

He was a member of the Baptist Church for- more than six-

ty years. He came to Findley about a year before he died.

His decease took place in May, 1880. Of industrious, fru-

27



410 History of Hancock County.

gal habits, he was enabled to assist his children in their

start in life, and they are all now in easy circumstances.

WILLIAM DAVIS

Was born in 1808, in the State of Maryland. His father

was a native of Wales. Mr. Davis emigrated to Ohio in

1833. In 1830 he was married to Margaret LafFerty. He-

was one of the early settlers of the township, and owned a

very large tract of land, which was improved by his indus-

try and good management, and became very valuable. Mr.

Davis was a man of untiring industry, and energy. No
obstacle was so great that he did not overcome it. No labor

was too severe for his performance. No duty was left un-

done. No promise unredeemed. He settled in the wilder-

ness, and commenced life with a determination to succeed,

if industry, economy and fair dealing would bring success,.

and he did succeed, as the broad acres of rich lands under

a high state of cultivation, with good farm buildings, fully

attest.

Mr. Davis had a family of eleven children, seven boys and

five girls. All of his children who are now living, reside in

the county. Mr. Davis joined the Baptist Church in 1842,.

and was a member at the time of his death. Although pos-

sessing but a limited common school education, Mr. Davis

was always the friend and patron of schools and churches.

His influence and his means were always in their favor.

Mr. Davis enjoyed the confidence of his neighbors for his

intelligence and integrity, and by their votes he held the of-

fice of Justice of the Peace for a number of years, and was

also a County Commissioner for three years, although the

political party to which he belonged was greatly in the

minority. He lived to see the county, in which he spent
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more than thirty years of his life, become prosperous and

wealthy ; dotted all over with the richest of farms, and with

beautiful and substantial farm buildings. He was for many
years one of the largest dealers in live stock in the county^

and by his liberality in prices, and his prompt payments, he

relieved many a poor family from want, if not from actual'

suffering. Perhaps no man in the county had a more gen-

eral acquaintance with all classes of people, or who was

more respected. Mr. Davis died in 1863.

Table of .statistics, showing crops, and stock, as returned

to County Auditor by the Township Assessor in 1881.

Wheat, 2,797 acres. 53,449 bushels..

Oats, 304 " 9,782 «

Corn, 2,436 " 95,100 "

Flax, 121 " 1,156 "

Hay, 1,018 " 1,135 tons.

Horses, 505 number. 125,750, value..

Cattle, 1,199 " 14,710, "

Sheep, 1,998 " 3,450, "

Hogs, 2,259 " 5,390, "
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ORANGE TOWNSHIP.

Tp. 2, S. R. 9. E.

Area 23,040 acres. Population 1,451.

December 6th, 1836, the Commissiouers of Haucock

County ordered as follows : "That the original surveyed

township number two, south of range nine, in Hancock

County, Ohio, be set off into a separate township, politic

and corporate, and named Orange. Ordered that the voters

be notified thereof, to meet on the third Tuesday in Decem-

ber, A. D. 1836, to elect township officers."

This township is in the south-west corner of the county,

and retains its original limits of thirty-six sections. It is

bounded on the north by Union township, on the east by

Van Buren, on the south by Hardin county, and on the west

by Allen county.

Henry L. Dally, of Tuscarawas county, made the first

entry of lands in this township, being that of the south-east

quarter of section nineteen. This entry was made May 1st,

1834.

On the 12th of June, 1834, William Bryan, of Richland

county, Ohio, entered the south half of section six—now

owned by B. Ewing, R. Greer and A. Kimmel—and David

Thompson, of Stark county, entered the north-east quarter

of twenty—now owned by Asa Battles—and Sam'l Thomp-

son, of Columbiana county, entered the west part of the

south-east quarter of section twenty-two.

In September of the same year, George McManima, of

Richland county, entered the south half of the south-east
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quarter of section seventeen. In August of the same year,.

John Stump, of Seneca county, took up the north-west

quarter of section eighteen—now owned by Thomas Mur-

ray, of Bluflfton.

In October, 1834, John Carnahan, of Putnam county,,

entered the west half of the south-west quarter of section

seven, and Henry Atler, of Penn., entered the south-east

quarter of section eighteen, and Joseph Morrison, also of

Penn., entered the north-east quarter of section nineteen^

and in November, 1S34, Simeon Dudgeon, of Knox county,

entered the south east quarter of section twenty-one. These

entries were followed by others, and in a very few years all

the lands in the township were taken up.

The face of the country in this township is generally

level, although it has quite sufficient undulation to render

drainage easy and abundant.

The soil is varied, but very fertile. In the northern part

is what is called the " marsh," a low, wet tract, utterly un-

fit for cultivation, or in fact, for any purpose almost, until by

the expenditure of vast sums of money, it is being ditched

and drained, when it becomes one of the richest tracts in all

the county. In other parts of the township the soil is" of

loam, or clay, or sand, and sometimes of all combined. But

in no part of the township is the soil of a poor quality*

The crops produced are of the principal cereals and vegeta-

ble, and of the best quality, thus showing the varied rich-

ness of the soil, which adapts itself to these productions.

The township is watered by Riley Creek and its tributa-

ries. This stream crosses the township ti-om east to west,

and furnishes a supply of water for stock during the year.

Although a considerable stream, it is of little consequence

except for drainage and stock purposes. The smaller creeks
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and ruus which lead into this, are means of drainage to the

adjacent lands.

In 1833, as I am informed by an old resident of this

township, Henry L. Dalley, David Thompson and William

Bryan came here and were the first settlers of the town-

ship. At that time, and for several years afterwards, the

Wyandotte Indians claimed the county as a part of their

hunting grounds, and were quite frequent visitors to the

cabins of the pale-faces, but as they were peaceably dis-

posed and honest, they were welcome.

The first settlers were soon followed by Stump, Shaw, the

Battles, the McKinleys, the Marshalls, John Hasson, Wm.
Agin, E. S. Crawford, J. T. McConnell, James Reed and

others, who formed settlements in various portions of the

township.

James Reed built the first frame building in the township
,

and J. T. McConnell built the first brick.

The first election was held by order of the Commission-

ers, in the fall of 1830, at which election there were four-

teen votes cast.

The first school house was built in 1837. The pioneers

•of this township early appreciated the blessings of educa-

tion, and were not unmindful of the moral and religious

training of their children, and as a consequence, churches

^ud school houses followed close in the wake of the settle-

ments. Next to shelter for themselves and famdies, they

provided these other necessaries to civilization, good order

and prosperity. There are now nine school houses in the

township, with an enrollment of four hundred and ninety-one

youth.

The first church building in the township was built by the
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Episcopal Church of North America, iu 1837. There are

now quite a number of places of worship in the township.

The first marriage was that of George MclNIanima, and a

Mis?; Morrison, both of whom are now dead, David Thomp-

son was the first white child born in Orange township, and

a Mrs. Ivors, who died in 1838, was the first person who

'deceased within its limits.

John Stump built the first mill, and there was a general

rejoicing amongst the inhabitants at its completion, as pre-

viously facilities for obtaining flour had not been the best.

The reading of that day was confined principally to the

bible, common school books and occasionally a newspaper.

These, however, were quite sufficient to occupy their leisure

hours, which were but few, so busy were they building cab-

ins, and preparing their clearings for cultivation, and in as-

sisting their neighbors.

Teachers in the common schools received one dollar per

•week, and boarded around, and were expected to sleep with

"the children, and have control of them from the time they

left home in the morning until they returned at night.

JOHN MCKINLEY,

One of the pioneers of Orange township, w^as born iu

Westmoreland County, Pa., September, 23, 1801, and at the

age of two years crme with his father, Wm. McKinley, to

Trumbull County, Ohio, then on the frontier.

On the 13th of March, 1823, he was married to Mary

Marshall, and in August, 1836, he and his family came to

Hancock County. The country was entirely new, or at

least destitute of roads, and Mr. McK. had to cut his way

through the woods to the place where he now resides, camp-

ing at night in the wilderness through which he passed.
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Not in the least discouraged, he at once went to work, and

with the assistance of his boys and encouragement of his^

good wife, he soon opened up a good farm. He is still liv-

ing on this same farm, one of the best in the township, and

endeared to him, not only by the recollection of many weary

years of toil, but by many of the very pleasantest days and

memories of his life.

Mr. McKinley, although four score years mark his age, is

a stout, healthy man, and bids fair to live many years yet.

He performs but little hard w^ork, but employs much of his

time looking after the affairs of his farm. He has always

borne the rieputation of being honest in his dealings, fru-

gal, but not stingy, and hospitable alike to neighbor or

stranger,

Mr. McK. was present at the organization of the town-

ship, at which time there were but fifteen voters, and each

voter was elected to an office. He held the office of Justice

of the Peace twelve yeais, and the office of County Com-

missioner six years.

HENRY L. DALLY

Came to this township from Tuscarawas county in 1833,.

and his was the first family which settled in this part of the

county. The family consisted of himself, wife, four sons

and lour daughters. The country was entirely new, and

they had no neighbors within three or four miles.

Mr. Dally was a tall, muscular man, inured to hardships^,

industrious and honest in all his dealings, and a good neigh-

bor. He and most of his family were members of the Dis-

ciples Church. He located on and cleared up the farm now-

owned by J. W. Shaw.

After remaining here for nearly twenty years, he becaia
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restive, and finally, in IS 50, he emigrated to Iowa, and

again be became a frontiersman. His family, or those of

them who are yet living, are somewhere in the west.

ISAAC THOMPSON

Was the second of ten children of David Thompson, a

farmer, who came here from Stark county. Isaac was born

in Marlboro township, in that county, February 25th, 1828,

and when about five years of age, was brought to this town-

ship by his father's family. This family was the second to

locate here.

Young Thompson commenced life in the woods, and all

the ups and downs of a frontier residence. He has always

followed the independent occupation of a farmer, and now

owns a very valuable farm of two hundred and eighty acres,

well improved and very productive.

Mr. Thompson has a fair common school education, al-

though his entire attendance at school, was only about fif-

teen months, and that after he was fifteen years of age.

He is a man of good natural ability, good business tact, and

safe counsellor, and his advice and assistance in business

matters, is sought after by his neighbors, with whom he

stands high.

In October, 1850, he married Louisa McKinley, by whom
he had six children, all living. Mr. Thompson is a member
of the Disciples Church, and has been for about fifteen

years. His Christian life has conformed to his profession.

He is very punctilious in all his business transactions^

Honest, conscientious and faithful in the discharge of all his

duties. Firm in his convictions of right, not easily turned

aside from what he deems to be right.

Mr. Thompson has resided in this township continuously
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since he first came here in 1833, and has never been absent

from it more than a month at a time. He has been present

at every election held in the township, the first of w^hich

were held at his father's house. Such is the confidence re-

posed in him by his neighbors, that he has been called up

to fill almost all the offices in his township. On his father's

side, his ancestors were of the old Puritan stock, and on his

mothers side, they were from Ireland.

JOHN T. m'cONNELL.

Mr. McConnell was born in Penn. in 1809, and came to

this township In 18)J8, and at once commenced clearing up

the farm on which his son, D. J. McConnell now resides.

He resided for some years in Jefferson County, Ohio, where

in 18:^0, he was married to Eliza Duulevy. Mrs. McCon-

nell died in February, 1862. Mr. McConnell was the father

of twelve children, seven of whom are now living, only two

of whom, however, are living in this county. Mr. McCon-

nell always followed the occupation of farming.

He had a fair common school education, and was a mem-

ber of the Presbyterian Church for more than thirty years?

and was one of the first members in this township. He was

a man of strong constitution ; never sick. He was a man of

strong convictions, slow to yield a point, and tenacious in

his belief He was a good neighbor, and an honest man

At his death, he left a beautiful farm of one hundred and

sixty acres of land, well improved, all by his ow^n labor and in-

dustry. His first neighbors were John McKinley, E. R.

Burns, William Ivers, Benj. Marshall, James McConnell,

Willard Boutwell and Thomas Walls, all of whom are dead

except McKinley and Burns.

On the farm which he cleared up, are to be found some
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interesting relics of the past. About the center of the farm

is a mound or ridge, which from its formation, was no doubt

built as a defense against enemies of some kind. The earth

is thrown up in the shape of a mound or ridge, about thirty-

feet wide at the top, and scooped out or excavated, forming

a rude fortification, commanding the surrounding country

In and around this the timber was evidently removed, as

the present growth is not more than eighteen or twenty

inches in diameter.

About twenty rods east of this was a mound higher than

any other portion of the ridge, and from bones and other

articles found there, is evidently the burial place of the

dead of those who built the mounds. In the neighborhood

are other mounds of similar character, all no doubt built by

the same parties.

The following list comprises the names of those who have

been elected to the office of Justice of the Peace.

William Morrison—1837, 1840, 1843.

John McKinley—1837, 1840, 1843, 1846.

James Reed—J 846, 1849, 1855, 1858.

Wm. M. Marshall— 1849.

James Cummings— 1852.

John A. Ewing—1852, L855.

Jonathan Dunlap—1858, 1861, 1864.

N. Mains—1860.
James L. Henry—1863.

Isaac Thompson—1866, 1869.

W. M. McKinley—1867, 1870, 1873, 1875.

M. C. Palmer—1872, 1875, 1878.

Joseph Henry—1879.
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A table giving the number of acres of grain sown and the

number of bushels produced, and also the number and value

of live stock, as returned by the Township Assessor in.

1881.

Wheat,
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PLEASANT TOWNSHIP.

Tp. 2 N. R. 9 E.

Aeea, 23,040 ACRES. Population 1,866.

John Byal, Jobii L. Carson, and John Rose, com-

missioners, at their session March 2, 1835, '' Ordered

that the original surveyed township number tioo noi'th,

in range nine east, be laid off and formed in a body

politic and corporate, and designated Pleasant town-

ship." Previous to this date it had been a part of Blan-

chard township.

This township lies in the northwest corner of the

county, and is bounded on the north by Wood County,

on the east by Portage township, on the south by Blan-

chard township and on the west by Putnam County. It

derives its name no doubt from its pleasant location and

scenery, and is an original township oi thirty-six section^,.

John Algire, of Fairfield County, made the first entry

of land in this township. The northeast quarter of sec-

tion thirty-one being bought by him March 15, 1833.

On the 20th day of April, same year, Alexander Kil-

patrick, ofHardin County, entered the northwest quarter

of the southeast quarter of section thirty-one. Edward

-Steveson, of Franklin County, entered the west half of

the northeast quarter of section twenty-seven, and on

the same day John J. Needles of the same county entered

the east half of the northeast quarter of the same section.

On the 19th day of October 1833, John McCulloch, of

Jefferson county and William Woods, of Washington
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County, Pa., entered lands in section twenty-eight, and

on the same day Eliakim Crosby entered the west half of

section twenty-nine. Jacob Lamb, of Fairfield County,,

entered the southeast quarter of section thirty, and

George Kalb entered the west half of the northeast

quarter of section twenty-six, on the 2d day of Novem-

ber, 1835.

In 1834 entries of lands were made by Henry Hemry
Nathan Fidler, John Kalb, Beniamin Cummins, Anthony

Wilcoxson, Robert Fletcher, Robert Sherrard, Alexander

Amspoker, Benjamin Todd, Bennet Kiger, Michael Prire

and others.

The first settlement in this township was made in 1833

by Edward Steveson, Benjamin Todd and John J.

Needles, at and near where the village of McComb now
stands. In the following year William and Alexander

Kilpatrick, George Algire, John Kalb, Alexander Ams-

poker, came to the same neighborhood. In 1835 Robert

Morrison, John Bartholomew, Charles Blakeman, Michael

Price, David Wright, Jacob Thomas and others rein-

forced the new settlement.

Benjamin Todd came from Franklin County, O., and

settled on the present site of the village of McComb.

He was the first Justice of the Peace in the township,

having helped to organize the township, and has held

various offices since, discharging the duties of all with

honesty ana fidelity. He w^as also a member of the first

church organization in the township., and has ever since

led a consistent Christian life, and now, at the age of

ninety years, and having raised a large and respectable

family of children, he resides in the village of McComb,
surrounded by the triumph of himself and compeers,
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over nature, loved and respected by all who know him,

almost the last of the hardy pioneers of this part of the

county.

John J. Needles emigrated from Franklyn County also,

and redeemed from the wilderness a beautiful farm. He
was a rather impulsive, eccentric kind of a man, but

withal a kind neighbor and a good citizen. He removed

to Iowa in 1856 and there died about six years ago.

William Kilpatrick, after a residence of a number of

years, moved to Defiance County in 1859, and his brother

Alexander, followed him after having made this town-

ship his home for nearly half a century. Both were

honest men and good citizens.

George Algire still resides here, on the same lands he

cleared up and beautified, one of the oldest residents of

the township. A small wiry man of good constitution

untiring energy and industry, he has accumulated a

competency, and enjoys it in the society of his fiiends.

He has been a minister of the Methodist Episcopal cliurch

for more than forty years. As a minister he is fei-vent

and zealous, of considerable ability, he plainly points out

the way as he understands it. As a christian he has led

a consistent life. As a man and neighbor he commands
the greatest respect.

John Kalb, another of that noble band, after a long

and useful life closed up his earthly career on the first of

March, 1872. In his death the community lost a valu-

able member. Mr. Kalb was a member of the Methodist
church for many years, and two of his sons, John S. and
and Isaac N., were ministers of that church. Father
Kalb was a fine specimen of the frontiersman, and con-

tributed his full share in clearing up the county.
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Charles Blakeman is still living, and a resident of Mc-

Conib. He, too, was a farmei-, and a man of probity and

industry, and has always enjoyed the esteem of his neigh-

bors. He is now in his old age, quietly enjoying the

fruits of his labor.

David Wright, Sr., still resides on the old home farm,

made pleasant and valualde by his own industry and

economy. He is passing the declining years of his life sur-

rounded by bis family and friends, beloved by all.

The soil of this locality is a rich black loam, on a clay

subsoil. On the ridges, or higher lauds, the soil is much

mixed and made up of sand and gravel. The entire body

of land in this township is rich and very productive.

The timber does not vary much from that of other

parts of the county, being princij^ally walnut, ash, oak,

elm, maple and beech.

The head waters of Portage River, with some small

tributaries, are sufficeut, with wells, which are from ten

feet to twenty feet deep, to supply all the water

necessary.

The first election was held in 1835 and Benjamin

Todd, George Algire, Charles Blakeman, Michael Price,

John Kalb, John J. Needles, Alexander Anispoker,

Kobert Morrison, Robert Fletcher, Benjamin Cummins,

David Wright and Jacob Thomas were the voters. The

officers elected were Benjamin Todd, J. J. Needles and

Alexander Amspoker, Trustees: Benj. Todd, Clerk;

George Algire, Treasurer; Benj. Todd, Justice of the

Peace.

The first church organization was in the year 1835.

The Rev. Thrap, of the Methodist church, at that time

organized a class, of whom Benj. Todd and wife, and John
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Kalband wife were tbe members. Services were held iu

])rivate houses, and in tbe school house until 1850, when

the Methodists erected a church building, which was the

first in the township.

The first school house was built in 1838 at the present

site of McComb. It was of the then approved style,

roimd log, clap boai'd roof, mud chimney order of archi-

tecture. There are now eight good school buildings in

the township, and an enrollment o^ four Immdred and

forty-four children of school age.

The first flouring mill was built by Thomas Pickens

in 1845 on Pickens' Kun. Previous to that time a hand

mill owned by William Todd, was the only means of

making bread-stuff in the township. In 1841 George

Algire built a saw mill on Algire's Run. Its capacity

for manufacturing lumber was three hundred feet per

day. The first steam saw mill was built in 1850 by

Tipton & Porter, and the first steam flouring mill was

l)uilt by Capt. Isaac Cusac in 1857.

Thus has this part of the county been developing

little by little, with the hardest of labor, the greatest of

patience, and most persevering industry, until to day

Pleasant township is one of the most populous, wealthy

and beautiful in the county. Her farms, and farm build-

ings, will compare favorably with those of any other part

of the county, whilst in honest thrift, intelligence and

true hospitality her people are surpassed by none.

List of persons who have been elected to the ofiSce of

Justice of the Peace :

Benjamin Todd—1835, 1838, 4848, 1846, 1849.

George Hemry.—1838.

28
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Renjamin Cummins—1850, 1853, J85(>, 1859.

Thomas B. Kelley—1855, 1871.

Charles Piirsey—185().

Samuel McBiide—1859.

Isaac H. Myers—1862, 1805.

Daniel High—1862.

J. E. Creighton—1861.

Jackson Crites—1865, 1868.

S. H. Fairchild—1868.

A. R. Bechtel—1869.

Elisha To<ld—1870.

Joseph C. Brown—1872.

William H. Todd—187:1

Jacob Priest—1876.

Isaac Cusac—1877, 1880.

W.S. Kelley—1880.

F.F. Parker—1880.

olnp:y.

In April 1857, Isaac Fairchild laid out the town of

Olney on the southwest cpiarter of the northwest""

([uarter, and the west half of the southwest quarter of

section fifteen, which comprised forty lots. The plat-

ting of the town was as far as it ever progressed, and it

was only a town on pa})er. The lands on which this

town was to have been built are now owned by J. B.

Williams.
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MCCOMB.

Benjamin Todd laid out a town on the northeast

part of the west half of the northeast quarter of section

twenty-six, in 1847, and called it Pleasantville. The

town originally comprised only eighteen lots. After-

wards successive additions were made- by Mr. Todd,

Ewing, Rawson and otheis. The town is pleasently

situated on the ridge running from Tiffin to Ft. Wayne,

and aV)out ten miles from Findly. The village is the

largest in the county, outside of Findley, and being situ-

ate in a fine farming country, and having good railroad

facilities, bids fair to become a place of some importance.

This town was incorporated in 1858, when the name
was changed from Pleasantville to McComb,
The first Mayor was William Chapman. For some

years the town waited and watched for the completion

of the Continental Railway, w^hicli had been graded for

miles, both east and west of the village, alternately be-

tween hope and fear, the energies of the place became

j)aralyzed, business gradually tell ofi:', and everything

came to a stand still, and a state of retrogression was
setting in. The people, however, appreciating the situa-

tion, roused up and procured the building of the McComb
and Deshler Branch of the Dayton and Michigan Rail-

road, and thus obtained communication with the outside

w^orld, and, as if fortune w^as now determined to smile

upon them, the Continental changed hands and under

the name of N. Y. C, and St. L. Railroad, has already

more than fifty miles of road completed, beginning at

Arcadia and running west through McComb. To say

that the long expectant people of this village are jubilant.

but tamely expresess the situation.
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A post office was established here in 1847 with Wil-

liam Mitchell Postmastei-. He has been succeeded by

Zelotus Barney, James Porter, Eliza Fisher and Mrs.

Margaret Barney, present incumbent.

The Odd Fellows have a flourishing lodge here, estab-

lished in 1859, callod McComb Lodge No. 354.

The business of this place is rapidly on the increase.

A number of good business houses have recently been

erected, as well as many residences. There are already

two well stocked dry goods stores, two hardware stores,

tivo neat well filled drug stores, one clothing store, two

grocery and provision stores, two meat markets, oihe

furniture store, tioo harness sJiops, four blacksmith

«hops, one jewelry store, one gunsmith shop, two wagon

and carriage shops, two saw mills, 07ie steam flouring

mill, tivo shoe shops, 07ie undei'taker, one livery stable,

07ie pump factory, two hotels,_^t*e physiciasn, one attor-

ney, and one news paper, the "McComb Herald," by a

Mr. Darke, and thi^ee churches, one Methodist Episcopal,

one Presbyterian and one Disciples.

There are a number of very tasty dwellings, many of

them surrounded by beautiful grounds. Altogether the

village has an air of thrift and I'apid growth, which is

very encouraging to its people, and the beauty of its

location, its healthfulness, and intelligent society, are

sources of just pride to the inhabitants. Four hundred

and twenty-three was the population in 1880.

There is here a fine brick school building, and three

teachers are employed to conduct the schools. There is

an enumeration of one hundred and eighty-one youth in

the district.
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The following named persons held the office of Mayor
of the village

:

William Cliapmau.

Benjamin Cummins.

S. H. Fail-child.

W. J. Sholty.

Charles Blakeman.

J. K. Turnpaugh.

A. R. BechteL

E. Todd.

I. H. Myers.

A. Bennett.

J. T. Smith.

Isaac Ci'usac,

W. H. Conine.

S. A. Cooper.

H. W.-'Hughes.
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PORTAGE TOWNSHIP.

Tp. 2,N. R. 10, E.

Area 15,360 acres. Population 914.

The County Commissioners at their session in March,

1835, "Ordered that original surveyed township No. 2

north, range 10 east, be set off into a separate township,

politic and corporate, and named Portage. Ordered that

the voters be notified thereof, and to meet the first Monday
in April to elect township olficers."

In 1850, on the formation of Allen township, two tiers of

sections on the east side of this township were detached

and made a part of that township, so that Portage township

now includes only sections 3, 4, 5, (5, 7, 8, 9, 10, 15, 16, IT,

IS, 19, 20, 2], 22, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33 and 34.

This township derives its name from a branch of the

Portage River, which runs through it. It lies on the north

line of the county, and is bounded on the north by Wood
County, on the east by xVllen township, on the south by

Liberty, and on the west by Pleasant.

The first entry of land was made by Jacob Lamb, on the

13th of October, 1831, of the south half of section 19.

Henry Culp, of Fairfield County, entered the north-west

quarter of section 20, on the 24th day of September, 1830.

The east half of the north-west quarter of section 15 was

entered on the 21st day of April, 1831, by William Crom-

lish. July 24th, 1832, John Thompson entered the west
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half of the north-west quarter of section 22, and on the

19th of August, 1833, John Moorehead, of Stark County,

entered the north-east quarter of section 27, and Samuel

Moorehead entered the south-east quarter of section 22.

On tiie 18th of June, 1833, Samuel Howard, of Richland

County, entered the north-west quarter of the south-east

quarter of section 4.

The first settlers in this township w'ere John Thompson,

on the farm now owned by James Deter, and George McClay

on the farm just north of him, Charles Crist, John and

Amos Cooper in 1833, George Taylor, Ezra Hazen on the

Edgingtou farm, Robert Walters, Samuel and John Moore-

head, John Reed, sr., and a little later Sandford F. Dulin,

George Mitchel, Mahlen Morris, Sw^itzer and John Norris-

A number of these old settlers still reside on the lands

they entered and cleared up with so much labor. Samuel

JNIoorehead resides here with his son, John E. John Cooper

is still a resident of the township, and relates many inci-

dents in pioneer life.

Sanford F. Dulin is one of those early settlers who always

luxd faith in the future of this township. He has cleared

up and now occupies, with his aged wife, a valuable farm,

nnd although well up in years, is as jovial and light-hearted

as in his younger days. Just at his farm, are a good brick

school house, and a comfortable frame church, in the success

of both of which Mr. Dulin has always felt a deep interest.

John Thompson, after a residence of many years in the

township, got the western fever, which took him off, and I

believe he is not now living. He was a most excellent

man, and respected by his neighbors for his intelligence and

liis honesty.

John Moorehead, who attained a ripe old age, and by in-
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dustry and honesty accuinulated quite a property, passed

peacefully away only a few years ago, surrounded by a num-

ber of his children, and in the midst of many friends.

John Reed, sr., too, is dead. After improving one ol' the

tracts of land in the township, and rearing quite a large

family, he died almost in the prime of manhood, lamented

by all who knew him.

Mahlen Morris was one of nature's noblemen. Honest,

industrious, intelligent, he was called upon by his neighbors

to look after the affairs of the township, in more than one

responsible station. He was four times in succession, elected

a Justice of the Peace, and filled the office faithfully.

In 1846 he was elected to the office of County Treasurer,

and with his family removed to Findley. In 1848 he was

re-elected, and in LS49 he died of an attack of t3'phoid

fever. His loss was universally lamented. Such had been

his conduct of the affairs of the oflice that he had won the

confidence of all the people of the county.

The first school house was built near Pleasant Hill, but

the exact date I could not learn, perhaps in 1834. The

second school house was built in Judge Cooper's district,

and the first teacher was Miss Rebecca Hedges. There are

now six good substantial school buildings in the township,

and valued at $2,440. and an enumeration of three hundred

and four youth.

The first church was built by the Presbyterians on Sand

Ridge, near where Miles Wilson now lives. Amongst the

first members were Miles Wilson and some of his family,

John Norris and wife. The second church was built by the

United Brethren, on Ten Mile, in 1836, Treat Demming
and wife, and Samuel and Henry DeRhodes were of the first

membership. There are now three churches in the town-
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ship; t^Yo Metliodist Episcopal and one United Brethren.

These buildings are valued at $1,834.

The first marriage in the township was that of Amos
Cooper and Elizabeth Poe. Tlie first child born was Allen

Cooper, son of the Judge, and the first death was that of a

child of John Norris. There are many well improved farms,

and many good, substantial and comfortable farm buildings

in this township.

On the farm of Geo. Mitchell are very fine farm buildings;

the same may be said of those of Judge Cooper and Adam
Crumrine. John E. Moorehead, G. W. Montgomery, T. F.

Edgington, John Lewis, and a number of other residents

have fine d^\ellings and substantial out buildings. The roads

and farms generally are in good condition, and thrift, indus-

try and valuable improvements are seen every where, sure

indications of the intelligence and prosperity of the people.

The soil in the north part of the township is of sand and

loam ; the sandy portion is known as the Sand Ridge. The

south part has a predominance of clay, of a yellowish hue.

This clay in some places is mixed with sand and gravel, but

all is easily tilled, and exceedingly productive. More than

one-third of the land in the township is wood laud, prime-

val forest.

The timber in the north part is sycamore, elm, hickory,

and oak. In the south poplar, oak, ash, walnut, beech and

sugar principally. The whole surface of the township was

heavily wooded.

This township is watered by the west branch of the Port-

age River, and by numerous springs along Sugar Ridge, and

other points in the township.

There was a Post Office established in this townsi})h in

1860, with Jarvis Humphrey as Post'Master. Upon the re-
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moval of Mr. Mumphrey from the township, Joseph John-

ston succeeded him, and held the office until his faculties

became impaired by age, so that he was unfit to further dis-

charge the duties, when Mrs. G. W. Montgomery, the present

incumbent, was appointed.

There are 15,443 acres of land in this township divided

as follows : Plow land 6,623, meadow and pasture 2,646,

uncultivated and wood 0,174, all appraised at $386,515.

Houses appraised at $33,940, mills $600, other buildings at

$21,650, total lands and buildings $442,105.

JOSEPH JOHNSTON

Was a native of Virginia, where he was born on the 4th

day of April, 1801. His father—Isaac Johnston—moved

from Boutetot County, Va., to Ohio, in 1811, and settled at

Portsmouth, in Scioto County. The elder Johnston was a

potter by Crade, and followed that business whilst in Ports-

mouth.

The subject of this sketch has been a farmer all his life.

In 1827 the family came to this county, and took up their

residence in the village of Findley. Mr. Johnston was mar-

ried in 1832 to Susan George, and removed to what is now
Marion township, and in the same year was elected Sheriff

of the county, which office he filled acceptably one term.

He had for neighbors in this township, such men as Asher

Wickham, Charles Thomas, E. S. Jones.

In 1853 Mr. Johnston sold his Marion township farm, and

removed to this township, where he still resides. He had a

ftimily of fourteen children, twelve of whom are living. He
is of English descent, had but limited educational facilities,

and was compelled to depend upon his own resources in that

direction. He helped build the first school house in Marion
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township, helped to organize, and was a voter at the tirst

•election held in that township. He was prominently con-

nected with the early history of the county, and his industry

and energy, with his good common sense, gave him quite an

influence with the early settlers.

He has lived long enough to see the vast improvement's

made in the county, and to enjoy the fruits of his lahor.

His wife died in 1850, and he afterwards married Jane

Dudgeon, who died in 1879. In 1863 he was appointed

Post Master at Portage Center, which oflice he held about

sixteen years. In 1870 he united with the Methodist Epis-

<^opal Church, and is still a member. His family has be-

€ome separated, some reside in Michigan, some in Indiana,

and some in this county. Few men have passed through so

checkered a life as has Mr. Johnston, coming to the county

at an age when new scenes w'ould be most vividly impressed

on his mind, and when the surroundings would be most

heartily and most fully appreciated. He remembers with

pleasure those who were his companions in that half cen-

tury ago, many of them long since dead. Mr. Johnston, al-

though in feeble health from old age, and past hardships,

still retains his memory, and loves to talk of those days and

scenes, and people of long ago.

.JUDGE JOHN COOPER

Was a native of Fayette County, Pa., where he was born

April 25th, 1811. He is the oldest son of James Cooper,

who came to Pennsylvania from New York. Mr. Cooper's

ancestors on his father's side were Scotch, and on his

mother's side were Low Dutch. His father was a farmer, in

which business the Judge has been engaged all his life, and

very successful has he been. In 1812 the family came to
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Perry County, Ohio, and settled near Somerset. That part

of the State was but sparsely settled, and the land which

the Judge's father had entered had to be reclaimed from the

wilderness, and here the Judge labored until 1832, when he

came to this township, bringing with him his young wife,

Jane Eliza, daughter of Daniel Cusac, whom he married in

1830. There were but seventeen families in the township,

which included Portage and the west half of Allen, when

he came here. He at once located on the same land on

which he now resides. Mr. and Mrs. Cooper celebrated their

Golden Wedding, at the fiftieth anniversary of their wed-

ded life, and all their children were present.

His first neighbors in the township were John Thompson,

Robert Walters and John Howard, and they were about the

only residents of what is now Portage township. The Judge

has held important offices in the township and county. In

1849 he was appointed one of the Associate Judges of the

county, and held that office until the adoption of the pres-

ent constitution. In 1862 he was elected County Commis-

sioner, and served six years as such. He was also one of

the first Directors of the County Infirmary.

Mr. Cooper had no other educational advantages than

those furnished by a common country school. He is not a

member of any church, but in religious belief has a leaning

towards the old scho »1 Baptists. He has always been a

fi-iend to schools and churches, and has taken an active in-

terest in both. He is the father of nine children, six of

whom are living.

SA.MIEL HOWARD

Is the son of a farmer, and was born in Westmoreland

County, Pa., December 7th, 1814. He was brought up on
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a farm, and has followed that vocation all his life. When
but a few months old his parents came to Richland County,

Ohio. Mr. H. is the oldest of eleven children, of whom
eight are yet living. He came to this county in l833, and

settled on what is called " Ten Mile Creek," in this town-

ship. They were surrounded by the forest ; Indians plenty

;

game in abundance. Mr. Howard said that when they got

up in the morning, and wanted to kill a turkey, they w^ere

at a loss to know which direction to go, as they were gob-

bling all around. Mr. Howard said that his father had fifty

dollars in money when he came here, and that he borrowed

of him to enter forty acres of land, on the condition that he

should keep the family in provisions for one year, and as

there were eleven of them in the family, he said it required

a great deal of hard labor on his part to do so, especially as

flour was sixteen dollars per barrel, and corn one dollar and

a half per bushel. The settlers then had to go to Tiffin to

mill, and to the village of Findley to trade.

In December, 1837, he married Elizabeth Carroll, with

whom he now lives, and built a cabin in the woods, and com-

menced life, full of hope and energy, determined to succeed.

In 1850, having been elected Treasurer of the county, he

sold his land and moved to Findley. He served two terms

as Treasurer. He then purchased the old Trout farm, at

Van Buren, After residing here for some years he sold out,

and bought the Hollenbeck farm, joining the north corpora-

tion line of Findley, where he resided until about one year

ago, when he moved into the town.

Mr. Howard was Captain of Co. G, 118 Regiment, 0. V.

I., in the late war, and was with that Regiment in all its

marches and battles until the spring of 1864. In 1863

'Capt. Howard was detailed to go to Boston to assist in or-
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ganizing the drafted men of Massachusetts. He remained

there for three months, when he rejoined the Regiment and

went to Eastern Tennessee. In the spring of 18G4 he had

the misfortune to get his leg broken, and was discharged.

He is the father of eleven children, six of whom are liv-

ing. Mr. Howard has always been noted for his public

spirit and liberality. He has been prominent in many of the

enterprises which have so greatly benefited our county.

Such is the confidence in which he is held by the people

of the county, that he was again elected Treasurer of the

county in 1878, and re-elected in 1881.

SAMUEL MOOREHEAD

Was born in Westmoreland County, Penn., in 1798, and

came to Ohio with his father's family in 1814. and settled

near Massillon, Stark County. Mr. M. lost his mother before

leaving Pennsylvania, and his father married again soon

after he came to Ohio. He is a farmer, reared to the pro-

fession by his father, who followed the same business. In

1821 he married Mary Edgar, and in 1834 came to this

county, and settled in Portage township, on the farm now

owned by his son, John E. His parents were of Irish de-

scent. The Mooreheads are generally large muscular men^

endowed with groat physical endurance, and industrious,

frank, open-hearted, liberal and hospitable. Their genial,,

good nature is notorious.

Mr. Moorehead has been a member of the Presbyterian

Church for more than fifty years, and was one of the pio-

neers of that denomination in this part of the county. He
is the father of but two children, one son—John E.—who

resides on the home farm, and one daughter—Mrs. W. K.

Leonard—who resides in Big Lick township. His wife died
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about 1854, and he never re-married. He accumulated quite

a large property, which he and his children are now enjoy-

ing. Mr. Moorehead, though now in his eighty-fourth year,

retains his mental faculties almost wholly unimpaired, and

is the same jovial, kind-hearted man he was in his younger

days.

LAFAYETTE.

Jacob Andre laid out a town on the north part of the east

half of the north-west quarter of section 15, on lands now

owned by Daniel Warner, and called it Lafayette. It com-

prised seventy-two lots, and had great expectations. But

here ends its eventful history.

The office of Justice of the Peace for this township has

been held by the following named persons, who were elected

in the year indicated
;

Peter Heller—1833, 1836.

Mahlen Morris—1836, 1839, 1842, 1845.

John Edging-ton—18:i7, 1840, 1862, 1865.

Samuel Howard—1847.

John Kelley—1844, 1847, 1850.

Henry B. Wall—18:>0, 1851, 1854, 1857, 1860.

Adam Crumrine—1850, 1853, 1856, 1859,1862,1865,

1868, 187], 1874.

Charles R. Thomas—1868.
William M. King—1870, 1873, 1876, 1879.

Thomas F. Edgington—1877, 1880.
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A table showing the number and value of live stock and

the number of acres and bushels of grain raised in this

township, as returned by Township Assessor in 1881.

Horses, 388 number. $18,490, value.

Cattle, 998 " 10,610, "

Sheep, 3,582 " 7,170, "

Swine, 1,610 " 3,680, "

Wheat, 2,219 acres. 45,570 bushels.

Oats, 338 " 10,010

Corn, 2,030 " 79,670 "

Hay, 679 " 879 tons.
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UNION TOWNSHIP.

Tp. 1 S. R. 9 E.

Area 32,040 Acres. Population 1,623.

The record of the County Commissioners of the iih of

June, 1832, says: "There was a petition presented by sun-

dry inhabitants residing in the original surveyed township

No. one south, in range nine, praying to be set oft' as a town-

ship, under the name of Union, which petition was favorably

considered, and they were accordingly set off" under the

above name.

Union is bounded on the north by Blanchard township,

on tlie east by Eagle, on the south by Orange, and on the

west by Putnam county. It is an original township of thir-

ty-six sections.

The first entry of laud was made ou the 16th of October,

1829, by Philip Powell, being the north-east quarter of sec-

tion two.

April 2d, 1830, John Bright entered the north-west quar-

ter of section tAventy-two, and in October of the same year,

Philip Cramer entered the south half of section one. The

west half of south-east quarter of section twelve was en-

tered by John Baker, January 30, 1832, and the same year

Richard M. Carson, of Pickaway county, entered the east

half of the north-east quarter of section four, and Rudolph

Snyder entered the east half of the south-east quarter of

section thirty-six.

29
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About the same time the tsoutb-vvest quarter/ of sect ion

four was entered by Daniel Tussing, of Fairfield county, and

a little later, Abraham Rose of the same county, entered the

north-west quarter of north-east quarter of section t]}irty-

six.

The first white settler in this township was Philip Cra-

mer, who settled on Tiderishi Creek, in section one, in No-

vember, 1830. His sons Jacob and Daniel now reside on

the same premises. When Mr. Cramer came, he had to

make his own road througli the forest to their lands. No

neighbors, no clearing, all strange solitude.

In the spring following, Nicholas Folk settled on what is

now known as the Teatsorth farm, on Ottawa Creek, and in

the fall of the sanie year George Burket and Wm. Lytle, with

their fiimilies, settled farther up the creek.

Other families were not long in finding their way into this

section of the county, attracted by the location and richness

of the lands. Two or three families of the Wades settled

near the center of the township. John Flick, Daniel Fox

and others along the creek. Levi Sho waiter, James Burns,

Pancoast, Gibson and Taylor in the western part, and Benj.

Marshall, James West and others in the south part of the

township.

Philip Cramer lived to a very old age, and was the pio-

neer minister of the United Brethren Church. He was a

man of some ability, zealous in his "Master's work," a good

neighbor, honest in all his dealings, and much respected by

all his acquaintances.

Wenman Wade was of that class of robust and pushing

frontiersman, who pave the way for a better civilization and

prosperous country, by boldly pushing out into the wilder-

ness, and enduring the hardships and privations of pioneer
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life uncomplainingly. Honest, industrious and contented.

Mr. Wade was one who enjoyed the confidence of the com-

munity in which he lived. He held the otiice of Justice of

the Peace, and in entitled to the distinction of being the

first person in the county whose election was contested,

as the following notice will show:

" To the Clerk of Hancock County :—You are requested

to withhold the return of the election of Union township,,

wherein Wenmau Wade was elected Justice of the Peace,

and the election is contested, and the said contest is to be

tried on the 1 3th of September, 1838.

WILLIAM ROLLER,
A Associate Judge."

September the 5th day, 1838.

It does not appear who the contestant was, or the grounds

of contest, I infer that Mr. Wade established his claim to

the office, for in 1841 he was again elected.

Levi Showalter still resides in the township, a hale, hearty

old man, with the same frank, brusque manners, sterling

honesty and neighborly spirit of old. Respected and trust-

ed by all who know him, his path on the downhill side of

life, seems a pleasant one.

James Burns, one of the best of citizens, industrious

honest, after years of toil, accumulated a competency for

himself and family, died surrounded by kind friends and

neighbors, regretted by all.

George Burket was born in Berks County, Pa., and emi-

grated to Fairfield County, Ohio, at which place he was

married to Mary Fox. In 1831 he came to Hancock

County with his wife and two children. He settled on the

farm afterwards owned by his son Jacob. Mr. Burket was a

tall slender m.an, and of rather delicate health. With the
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help of his family, he cleared a very valuable farm, at which

plaec he died about eighteen years ago.

Jacob Burket, son of George, was born in Fairfield coun-

ty, in December, 1811, and when about five years of age,

his parents removed to Perry county, where he remained

until 1831, w'hen he came to this township.

When Mr, Burket came, there were but two other families

in the township Philip Cramer, who resided where his son

Jacob now does, and Nicholas Folk, who then lived on what

is now known as the Teatsorth farm.

Mr. Burket was present and voted at the first election in

the township. He says that at that election, Philip Cram-

er, Nicholas Folk and George Burket were elected Trustees,

and Wenman Wade, Clerk.

Mr. Burket was married in 1832 to Sarah Cramer, by

Es(j. John Cramer. This was the first marriage in the town-

ship. Mrs. Burket died in 1850, and he was again married

this time to the widow of Philip Cramer, jr.

After a long and active life on his farm, Mr. Burket re-

moved to the village of Rawson, where he is quietly enjoying

his declining years. He has always enjoyed the esteem of

his neighbors, and has a host of friends.

Nicholas Folk came from Fairfield County, and took u[)

his abode on the Tawa Creek, on what is known as the Teat-

sorth tarra, which he entered. Mr. Folk was a small man,

rather feeble in health, but succeeded in clearing up the

farm on which he lived and died. He was respected by

all who knew him.

REV. RICHARD BIG GS

W^as born on the 12th day of November, 1806, in Colum-

bia County, Pa., and died at his home in the town of Raw-

sou, Ohio, on the 18th day of July, 1880.
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In 1829 he united with the Methodist Church iu ^'nl•th-

umberland County, Pa. lie shortly afterwards removed to

Summit County, Ohio, where in July 1836, he was licensed

to preach.

In 1838 he removed to Hancock Co., and settled near the

present town of Rawson. Two years later he was admitted to

the North Ohio Conference at its session in Norwalk, and for

more than thirty years was an itinerant minister, and hav-

ing the following charges: Findley, Kalida, Detiance,

Clarksfield, Amherst, Dalton, Congress, Chesterville, Mar-

cellus, Millersburg, Shaneville, Pieasantville, Mt. BlancJi-

ard, Adrian, Arcadia, Blufilton, Bettsville and McComl).

Mr. Biggs was left an orphan when but six years of age.

His educational privileges were very limited, yet such wa&

his dilligence in his studies, that he began teaching at the

age of sixteen. He was always a close student, and kept

up with the times. He was a man of unyielding rectitude,

and pure in his life, modest and retiring in his disposition, yet

faithful in the discharge of every duty. He commenced the

ministry when it meant hard labor, little pay; the country

being new, the appointments were long distances apart, and

the people scattered and poor, yet he earnestly and uncom-

plainingly toiled to lay the foundations of good society, good

government and good morals. His wife still survives him,

as also four of his children.

The principal timbers found in this township, do not dif-

fer from those elsewhere in the county, being walnut, oak,

elm, ash, beech, maple, hackberry, hickory, sycamore and

buckeye.

The soil along the creek bottoms is of a sandy nature, but

the uplands are of loam or clay. The soil in all parts of
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the township is exceedingly productive, and when once en-

tirely cleared of stumps and roots, is easily cultivated.

The principal crops are wheat, oats, corn and grass.

The township is well watered by Ottawa and Tiderashy

Creeks. And these creeks also furnish good drainage for the

lands adjacent, and by the numerous small tributaries that

empty into them, assist in the drainage of the whole town-

ship.

In 1845 Edson Goit, Esq., erected a tlouring mill on Ot-

tawa Creek, Thomas Pickens doing the millwright work.

This was perhaps better known as the Teatsorth Mill It

was a water mill, but after its sale by Goit to James Teat-

sorth, steam power was attached. The mill was a great

convenience to the surrounding country, and its loss—for it

was torn down and removed some years ago—was seriously

felt by the community.

The first church in the township was built by the United

Brethren, and is known as the Clymer Church. There are

now eleven church buildings in the township, which certain-

ly speaks well for the morals of the inhabitants. They are

owned as follows: United Brethren two. Evangelical two,

United Presbyterian one, Methodist p]piscopal one, Metho-

dist Protestant two. Christian Union two, Church of God
•one. These buildings are all substantial, and many of them
really tasteful in their construction and finish.

The first school house was built at the center of the town-

ship, and a school has been kept there ever since. There are

now ten school buildings in the township, all of them, I be-

lieve, of brick, and finished and furnished in modern style

The schools in this township have the reputation of being

amongst the very best in the county.

The enumeration of youth of school age is three hundred
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and thirty-six males, and two hundred and ninety females,

total six hundred and twenty-six.

The first settlers of this township were from the eastern

and interior counties of the State, very largely from Fairfield

county.

The following persons have held the office of Justice of

the Peace

:

John Kramer, 1833.

Wenman Wade, 1835, 1838.

Ephraim Moody, 1839.

Thomas Dewese, 1841.

Henry Stover, 1842.

Thomas Stratton, 1842, 1845, 1851, 1854, 1862.

Samuel Dewese, 1845.

C. F. Malahan, 1847, 1850, 1853.

John West, 1848.

John McConnell, 1856.

Wm. Stratton, 1857.

Rial Beach, 1859.

James Burns, 1861.

Charles George, 1862.

D. W. Cass, 1864.

John Stratton, 1865.

Peter Reckert, 1866, 1869, 1872, 1875, 1878, 1881.

Oeorge W. Mull, 1867.

S. J. Nowlan, 1872, 1875, 1878.

A. J. L. Hartman, 1872.

C4. W. Burket, 1881.
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RAWSON,

The town of Kawsou, on the Lake Erie & Western Rail-

way, was laid out in 1855 by Frederick Keller and G. J.

Kelley, on the north-west corner of the south-west quarter

of section thirteen, and the north-east corner of the east

half of the south-east quarter of section fourteen, and origi-

nally comprised but fifty-four lots. The town was named in

honor of L. Q. Rawson, of Fremont, Ohio, who was then

President of the railroad.

The principal streets running east and west are named

Vance, Kelley, Henderson and Boalt, and those running

north and south are Main and Gale.

The town started out fairly, and soon quite a number of

buildings were erected, but as the railroad, the locating of

which had called the town into existence, was not built, and

for years there seemed to be l)ut little hope that it would be,

the town came to a halt, and was of but little significance

in the history of the township. A few mechanics had in-

vested all their means in property in the prospective town,^

and could not sell it again. The town perhaps could always

boast of a small country store and grocery combined, but for

years it was a desperate struggle to keep life in the place.

Finally the long looked for time arrived. The railroad

was finished, the whistle of the locomotive w^as heard, and

business revived. Real estate changed bands, buildings

were put up, stores were opened, the buzz of machinery was

heard, and all was bustle, business »and speculation, and

streets w^ere opened up to accommodate prospective trade.

Of course the keen edge of excitement wore off and the

inhabitants gradually settled down to every day life, and al-

though to the stranger there appears but little life in th
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place, yet quite an amount of business is carried on, and

the business of the town is gradually increasing.

Additional lots have been laid out by Fred. Keller in

1859, by Jacob Burket in 1873, by C. J. Kelly in 1874, and

by Benj. Stringfellow.

The Methodist Epicopal and Methodist Protestant have

each a comfortable church building here, and the United

Brethren have a society but no building; they worship in the

Methodist Protestant Church.

A post office was established here in 1863 and named

Rawson, with James C. Benham as postmaster. Since that

time the office has been held by Jackson Miller, James

Woods, T. E. Woods and Nicholas Watson, the present in-

cumbent.

An Odd Fellows Lodge was organized here in January,

1875. and is in a nourishing condition, having a good work-

ing membership.

The railroad was completed and the iSrst train ran through

in December, 1873. There is now a large grain warehouse

located convenient to the track, and from whence great

quantities of grain are shipped.

There is one dry goods and grocery store, T. B. Gilbert;

one drug, grocery and queensware store. Woods & Co.; one

drug, grocery and provision store, G. W. Burket ; one groce-

ry and notions, J. B. Sorbie.

A first class flouring mill has just been completed and put

in operation. Radabaugh & Crossley are manufacturers of

hard wood lumber, and planing mill attached. IT. J. Bly-

mire operates a saw and shingle mill and handle factory.

Nowlan and Miller have blacksmith shops. G. F. Folk car-

ries on the furniture business, and Eli Brallyer is engaged

in shoe making. Population in 1880, 227.
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CANNONSBUR<}. »

Benjamin Marshall, Franklin Ballard, Win. McCounell

und James C. Marshall were the proprietors of this town.

It was laid out on the east part of section thirty-five, and

the west pa«*t of section thirty-six, and consisted of 36 lots,

with the principal steets crossing each other at right angles.

Cannonsburg was at one time a place of some neighborhood

importance, but never rose to the dignity of othel- than a

small country village. Railroads came just near enough to

"it to ruin what little trade it had. There is now one gener-

al store, one saw mill, one wagon shop, one blacksmith shop?

and one undertaker's establishment, and these include all the

business places.

A post office was established here in 1841, with Thomp-

son Bartel as postmaster, since which time E. P. Leslie, H.

P. Eaton, D. W. Cass, Fuller Ballard, Henry Lue, J. D.

Buss, J. A. Combs, sr., J. F. Stienman, Lydia A. Rossman,

and J. A. Combs, jr., have held the office. Population in

1880, ninety.

COIIY.

This town is also situated on the Lake Erie & Western

Railway, and was laid out in November, 1872, by Mathias

Markley and Samuel Kemerer, and is located on a part of

the west half of the south-west quarter of section twenty-

two, and when laid out consisted of thirty-two lots. To

these additions have since been made by Kemerer, Markley

and John C. Smith.

The lots were readily sold, and quite a number of build-

ings erected, and as the town is located in the midst of a

rich agricultural district, the place has become one of some
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iiiiportauce, and quite an extensive l)asiness is carried on.

There are a number of neat and comfortable dwelling

houses, mostly of wood, and several large and well arranged

business houses.

There is a large and convenient school building, for the

accommodation of the children of the district. The Evan-

gelical Association own a church building, and the Metho-

dist Protestant Church also have a fine frame building. A
flourishing Sunday School is attached to each.

The business places are two dry goods stores, in which

are kept an assortment of standard goods ; one drug store,

one grocery and provision store, and a meat market.

The manufacturing interests are a pump manufactory, and

one wagon and carriage shop, one blacksmith shop, one

flouring mill, one saw mill, one handle factory, one under-

taking and furniture establishment. There is one physician,

and David Comer has an office in which he attends to the

^business of Notary Public and conveyancer.

A post office was established here in 1873, called Mt.

Cory, with Benjamin Wildemuth as postmaster. The office

has been filled by Alfred Longbrake and the present incum-

bent, W. J. Stauler. The population of the town is two

Jaundred and sixty.
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Table showing the acreage and bushels of grain produced

in 1880, and the number and value of animals as returned

by the Township Assessor in 1881.

Wheat, 4,050 Acres.

Oats, 410 "

Corn, 3,342 "

Flax, 146 "

Hay, 998 "

Horses, 801 number.

Cattle, 1,653 "

Sheep, 2,546; «

Swine, 3,01
1"

"

68,641 Bushels,

13,261 *'

133,420 **

1,289 "

1,164 Tons.

$27,730, Value.

15,000, "

3,670, "

5,560, "



Location of Township. 453

VAN BUREN TOWNSHIP.

Tp. 2, S. R. 10, E.

Area 15,360 acres, Population, 1,011.

At a session of the County Commissioners held March 7,

1831, this entry was made on the records

:

"A petition of sundry inhabitants of Hancocli County

•was presented for setting off the original surveyed town-

ships, numbered one and two, in range 10 south of the base

line, into a township, which was accordingly set off, to be

known and designated by the name of Van Buren."

At the March session of 1834, the Commissioners ordered

that township 2 south, in range 9, be attached to Van Buren

township for corporate purposes.

In Jcine, 1840, at the formation of Madison township,

sections 1, 2, 11, 12, 13, 14, 23, 24, 25, 26, 35 and 36 ot

Van Buren were made a part of the new township, so that

this township is now composed of sections 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8,

9, 10, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32,

33 and 34 in township 2 south.

This township, which was named for President Van Buren

is situated on the south line of the county, and is bounded

on the north by Eagle township, on the east by Madison, on

the south by Hardin County,' and on the west by Orange

township.

The first entry of laud was the north-west quarter of sec-

tion 27, oa the 4th of January, 1831, by Benjamin Sparr.
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In April of the same year, Samuel Green entered the east

half of the south-west quarter of the same section, and in

July, James West entered the east half of the north-east

quarter of section 23.

May 16th, 1833, John Diller entered the north-east (]uar-

ter of the south-east quarter of section 10, and in Decem-

ber of the same year Solomon Bergman, of Licking County,

entered the west half of the south-west quarter of section

17. Peter Pifer and C. Price, both of Pennsylvania, on the

20th of May, 1834, made entries of land, the one took up

the north-east quarter of section 8, and the other the east

half of the north-east quarter of section 9.

In October, 1834, Robert Shaw, of Portage County, Peter

Foltz, of Fairtield County, Isaac Ashburn, of Knox County,

Joseph Smith, of Columbiana County, Henry Freed an<l

Daniel Kesserman, both of Stark County, Ohio, made entries

of lands here. Other entries speedily followed, many of

them by newly arrived emigrants from Oermany.

The first settlement was made by Nicholas Essinger,

Adam Gassman and Peter Pifer, as early perhaps as 1833.

Not far from the same time Adam lieddick^ Peter and Henry

Ileldraau came in, and were (juickly followed by l^hili])

Heldman, Michael and Peter Wilch, all from Germany.

Soon the Stinemans, the Freeds, the Bessermans, the Has-

sons, the Barmouths, the Prices and others, nearly all (irer-

mans, followed and began to open up farms. These pio-

neers were industrious, thrifty, honest and moral, and their

robust health, the result of h-ugal living, their energy and

solid strength, backed up by a fixed determination to suc-

ceed in the land of their adoption, soon enabled them to

open up valuable farms, and to-day we have not a more in-
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(lustrious, honest, peaceable and contented people than those

found in this township.

The timber found here consists principally of walnut, the

different varieties of oak, ash, maple and elm, with beech^

sycamore and buckeye. It required much time and gi-eat

labor to remove this great mass of timber in clearing up the

land and preparing it for cultivation.

The soil in the low glands is a black loam, on the uplands

clay, but all so mingled and enriched by other substances

as to be very fertile.

This township is watered by Ottowa and Riley Creeks,

both of which have their sources here. Good drainage can

be had anywhere in the township by these and their small

tributaries.

Log school houses, the first built in the township, were at

Fulhert's and John Tilles', and were erected about the same

time. The school houses here, as elsewhere in the county,

followed close on the settlements, and these were perhaps

built as early as 1834. There are now six school houses in

the township with an enumeration of youth amounting to

three hundred and twelve..

The German Reformed Church building at Jacob Traucht's

was the first erected in this township. There are now one

Methodist Episcopal, one Dunkard, one German Reformed

and one German Lutheran Church building in the township.

The emigrants to this place were many of them directly

from Germany.
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This table exhibits the number and vahie of live stock,

and the acreage and bushels of cereals, as returned to the

County Auditor, by the Assessor of the township in the year

1881.

Horses, 418 number. $18,004, value.

Cattle, 1,238 " 11,474, "

Sheep, 1,524 " 2,570, "

Hogs, 2,155 " 3,172, «

Wheat, 2,502 acres. 42,304 bushels.

Oats, 714 " 21,539 "

Corn, 1,653 " 56,252 «

Flax, 172 •' 1192 "

Hay, 449 " 414 tons.

The following named persons have been elected Justices

of the Peace at the dates named:

John Bollenbaugh—1832.

Charles Bradford— 1834.

Christian Welty— 183G, 1839.

Andrew Rickets— 1837.

Thomas Morrison—1840.

Henry Hull— 1840, 1 843.

Michael Besserman—1843, 1846, 1849.

George Rinehart:—1846.

Alex. Hodge— 1846, 1849, 1852, 1855, 1858.

Benj. Sparr—1852.

John B. Pugh—1858, 1861, 1864.

Eliab Hasson—1861, 1864, 1867, 1870, 1873.

Adam Stineman—1867, 1870, 1873, 1876.

Christ Shaller—1876.

William Montgomery—1881.
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WASHINGTON TOWNSHIP.

Ti'. 2, N. R. 12, E.

Area 23,040 acres. Population 1,941.

At the meeting of the County Commissioners, on the 5th

day of March, 1832, Charles McKinnis and Robert L.

Strother, two of the Commissioners being present, the fol-

lowing record was made :
" It appearing to the Board of

Commissioners necessary, they have set off the original

township two north, in range twelve east, which shall be a

body corporate and politic, and known by the name of

Washington Township."

This township was named in honor of the " Father of his

country," and is situate in the north-east corner of the

county, and is bounded on the north by Wood County, on

the east by Seneca County, on the south by Big Lick Town-

ship, on the west by Cass Township. It contains thirty-six

sections of land, of six hundred and forty acres each.

The first entry of land in this township was made Novem-

ber 24th, 1830, by Joseph Long, of Fairfield County, Ohio,

who made entry of the west half of the north-west quarter

oi section four, and on the same day, Caleb Roller, of the

same county, entered the east half of the south-east quar-

ter of section five.

December 1st, 1830, John Gersuch, of Wayne County,

Oiiio, entered the north-east quarter of section five, and on

30
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the 17th day of the same month, he made entry ol' the

north-east quarter of section one. On the 17th day of De-

cember, 18o0, James Connelly, of Richland County, ()hio»

entered the west half of the north-west quarter of section

three.

On the 17th day of March, 1831, the east half of tlie

north-east quarter of section two, was taken up by John

Norris, of Wayne County. Thomas Kelley, also of Wayne

County, on the lOth day of April 1831, made entry of the

north-w-est quarter of section one, and on the 7th of May in

the same year, Richard Cole, of Columhiana County, en-

tered the west half of the south-west quarter of section

one.

These entries were followed in the same year by those

made by Wm. Norris, of Seneca County, James G. Wise-

man, of Perry County, William Wisely, of Fairfield Countvr

Michael and Liverton Thomas, of Wayne County, Alexan-

der Work, of Jefferson County, John Mackrill. of Richland

County, James Beeson, David Peters and others.

The first settlement was made in the township Ity Joiin

Gorsuch, who commenced on the north-east quarter of sec-

tion one, in April, 1831. The next settler was James

Sweeney, who located on the south-east quarter of section

four, in the same month, and John Norris settled on the

north-east quarter of section two about the first of May

;

and iu the same month, James Wiseman located on the

north-west quarter of section twelve.

Mr. Sweeney and Mr. Wiseman having come to the town-'

ship in the prime of manhood, and endured all the hard-

ships of frontier life, both lived to a ripe old age, and died

but a few years ago on the farms they first settled on. Mr.

Gorsuch is also dead, I believe, but when or where he died



Thnher-Soil. ^59

I am unable to say. Mr. John N orris, I believe, still lives

in Portage township in this county, on section thirty-two^

and is the only survivor of the four pioneers of this town-

ship.

In 1832 several more families settled in the township,

among them those of Jacob Heistand, . Elijah McRill, Wm,
Eckles, Wm. Ferrel, James Bryan, Liverton Thomas, Joel

JTales, Elijah R. Anderson.

This township, like almost all the others in the county,,

was very heavily timbered, indeed, was a dense forest. The

principal kind of timber were white, red, burr and swamp oak;

white, red and hickory elm; white, black and blue ash ;;

white and black walnut; wild cherry; hard and soft maple;

beech, shellbark and white hickory, basswood, cottonwood,

sycamore and buckeye. In the early settlement of the

township, nearly all this timber was valueless except for

fencing, and was regarded as a serious drawback in improv-

ments, but such is the demand for timber at this day, that

such as was then destroyed, utterly wasted, would now bring

fortunes to the lucky owners.

The soil of this locality is somewhat varied. The entire

part of the township, except the north tier of sections, is a

heavy clay soil, with patches of vegetable mold in the de-

pressions and along the streams, and occasionally some sand

and clay mixed on the higher points. The north tier of

sections from one to six inclusive, has a gravel ridge run-

ning through them, covering about one half the sections,

with a narrow strip between the ridge and the Wood County

line, of a deep, rich, black vegetable mold. Near the foot

of the slope of the gravel ridge, is a strip of red clay, not

more than four or five rods in width, but very productive.

The surface of the whole township slopes gently to the north
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to the summit of the ridge, fi-om thence to the north line of

the township the declination is more abrupt.

This township is watered by the east and middle branches

of the Portage River. These branches are now known by

the names of x\rcadia and Fostoria Creeks, one passing

through the town of Arcadia, and the other one through

Fostoria. The east branch has its source in section twelve,

in Big Lick Tow nship, running in a north-easterly direction,

entering this township in section thirty-five, running across

the township in a north-easterly course, leaving it near the

north-east corner of the county. The middle branch rises

at the south line of the township, about four miles south-

east of the village of Arcadia, crossing the township, leav-

ing it near the north-west corner.

These streams are of little consequence, except that they

uti'ord an outlet for the surface water of almost the entire

township. The middle branch drains about three-fourths of

the township. It has more and larger tributaries than the

other branch, and runs through a deep valley. The bluffs

where this stream crosses tiie ridge, are probably forty feet

in heighth.

The first school house was built in this township in i8^>o

or 1834, and was located on the north-west quarter of sec-

tion twelve, on the farm of James Wiseman, and now owned

by Gov. Foster. The first school in that house was taught

by Isaac Wiseman, and was the first school in the township.

There are now nine school houses, with eleven school

rooms. The enumeration of youth of school age is three

hundred and twenty-seven males, and three hundred and

seven females, total, six hundred and thirty-four.

The United Brethren have an Academy in that part of

Fostoria which is situated in this township. The schools ot
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the to\vnship are at present in a healthy and flourishing con-

dition, and much interest is felt in their success by the pat-

rons. The school buildings are as a whole, comfortable-

houses.

The first church in this township was built in i^'.Vl. at

the center of section five, by the Methodists. xVlthough the

building was erected at this time, yet for some reason it

was not occupied for church purposes until some years later..

The first church in which worship was conducted, was on

section one, near the north-east corner of the county, now

West Fostoria, and was built by the Methodists. It was a

hewed log building, about tw^euty-six by thirty-two feet, and

probably seven feet between the floor and ceiling, and was*

covered with lap shingles.

There are now seven churches in the township. Two
Methodist Episcopal, one Evangelical Lutheran, one Presby-

terian, one German Reformed, one German Baptist and one

United Brethren.

The first election was held in the fall of 1832, when Gen.

Jackson and Henry Clay were candidates for the Presiden-

cy. There were twelve votes cast. The names of the elec-

tors were John Norris, John Gorsuch, Silas Gorsuch, Nelson

Gorsuch, James Sweeney, James Wiseman, Liverton Thom-

as, Jacob Heistand, Elijah McRill, William Ferrall, James

Bryan, William Eckles. The vote stood, as now remem-

bered. Clay eight, Jackson four. Liverton Thomas wa&

elected Justice of the Peace, and was the first elected in

the township.

The Lake Erie & Western Railroad runs across the town-

ship in a diagonal direction from north-east to south-west. It

enters the county near the south-east corner of section one.

and leaves it in the north-east part of section thirty. What
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was called the old Coutiueutal Koad, graded some lil'teeii

years ago, but recently changed hands, and is now called

the New York, Chicago & tSt. Louis Rail Way, and being

rapidly completed, runs in a strait east and west line across

the township, a little south of the center. Both these roads

run through the village of Arcadia.

Hon. Henry Sheets, of whom I obtained the greater por-

tion of the foregoing relating to the township, relates the

following incident of pioneer life.

When Jacob Heistand came to this township from Wayne
(.ounty, he brought with him several head of cows and

young cattle, and not having any inclosure in which to keep

them, allow'ed them to roam at large in the woods. He took

the precaution, however, to put a bell on one, that he might

be able to find them when wanted. But one evening when

he went for them, he found the}^ had strayed farther away

than usual, he did not find them until dark, and on his re-

turn, in passing around one of the large swails in the neigh-

borhood, he lost his way, and the cattle not being very par-

ticular as to the course they took, went in an opposite direc-

tion from home. Mr. Heistand followed until late in the

evening without coming to his or any other clearing. The

woods were infested by wolves, which now began to howl

close by him ; the cattle gathered close about him, through

fear of the wolves. Mr. Heistand concluded that he would

stay with the cattle, and procured a cudgel with which to

keep the wolves at bay. But they becoming more bold, and

^lowling fiercer, he concluded to start on again, hoping to

strike some clearing, which he happily did in a few minutes

but about four miles from home. The clearing was that of

•James Wiseman, with whom he remained during the night.
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JAMES 0. WISEMAN

A\>s born in Greenbrier County, Va., in August, 1790.

He served in the war of 1812 as a cavalryman, under Capt.

Lewis. Mr. Wiseman was married to Elizabeth Summers,

ill IS 14, and in September, 1817, removed to Ohio, settling

iu Madison County. He and his wife made the trip from

Viriiinia to Ohio, a distance of more than four hundred

miles on horseback. After two years residence he removed

to Perry County, which place was his residence until the

spring of 1831, when he came to Washington Township.

Mr. Wiseman was a medium sized man, rugged and

hardy, just the kind of a man to endure the hardships and

[)nvations of a frontier life. He was passionately fond of

hunting, and was expert in the use of the rifle, but he never

allowed this fondness for sport to interfere with the real

business of life, that of making a comfortable home for him-

self and family. He cleared up a large and rich farm. He
was an honest, genial whole souled man, ever ready to as-

sist the needy, and no man more fully enjoyed the confi-

dence of his neighbors.

Mr. Wiseman died in 1873, and his wife survived him

about seven years. They were the parents of thirteen

children, and lived to see all of them become married men
and women except two, one of which died quite young, and

the other was killed in the late war.

WILLIAM CHURCH

Is the oldest of the eight children of Collis and Elizabeth

Church, and was born in Potsdam, St. Lawrence County,

New York, February 4th, 1818. His fatlier was a farmer,

and William followed until he was twenty-one years of age^
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at which time he commenced learning the trade of Wack-

smith, and althongh he is now and has heen for a number of

years a farmer, he has not forgotten how to swing the sledge

and weld the iron, and does all his own smithing, besides

occasionally a job of repairing for his neighbors,

Mr. Church came to Ohio almost fifty years ago, the fam-

ily and household goods making the trip in a wagon. On

their arrival in the state, they located in the northern part

of Wayne County, near the village of Jackson. Here Mr.

C's mother died.

In 1834 the family came to the county and located on

the land on which the town of Rawson now stands. Mr.

Church came to tiie village of Findley and learned his trade

with David Webster.

In 1840 he married Martha J. Teatsorth, and followed his

trade for thirteen years. lie then purchased the farm in

Liberty Township, known as the Burkhead farm. After a

residence here of a few years, he sold out and removed to

the farm on which he now resides in the township. Mrs.

Church died in 1873.

Mr. Church is the father of four children, three of whom
are living. He has always been a man of strict morals, but

never united with any church organization. He owns one

of the finest farms in tiie countv, on which are verv tasteful

and substantial buildings. He has always been noted for

his honesty and industry. He practices economy without

penuriousness, and hospitality without extravagance.

CHARLES E. JORDAN

Is the third child of Charles Jordan, and is a native of

Richland Township, Belmont County, Ohio, where he was

born Mav 23, 1800. His father was a farmer, and emigra-
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ted from Peun. to Ohio, in 1797. The family left Belmont

County in 1828, going to Tuscarawas County.

Mr. Jordan was married in Belmont County February 11,

1826, to Margaret Moore, who lived until May, 1873, dying

at Arcadia, Ohio.

Mr. Jordan by trade is a boot and shoe maker, but never

followed the business but a very few years, since which time

he has been a farmer. lie came to this township October

2d, 183^5, and settled on the lands immediately adjoining

the town of Arcadia, on which his sou John lately died-

He found this land all in the woods, built his cabin, and

went to work in earnest to make him a home, and his suc-

cess is attested by the beautiful farm now occupying the

place of the forest.

Mr. Jordan was the father of nine children, five of whom

are yet living. He had five sons in the Union army in the

rebellion, three of whom are now dead. James was killed

in the engagement at Dallas, Ga. John and Charles both

died since their return home. Robert lives in Iowa, and

William near Arcadia, Ohio.

Mr. Jordan was amongst the first settlers in this town-

ship, and at once took a prominent place in the affairs of

the township. At the first election he attended in the

township, there were but fourteen votes cast. He has held

several township offices, amongst them that of Justice of

the Peace. He has been a member of the Lutheran Church

for about fifty years, and assisted in the organization of the

first Lutheran Society in the township.

Mr. J. has a fair common English education, although he

never attended school more than two months in his life

Mr. Jordan moved to Findley in 1871, and still resides

there. By his economy and industry in his younger dayS;
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he is. now enabled to enjoy his, old age without being a bur-

den to any one.

RISDON.

This town was laid out September 6th, 1832, by John

Gorsnch, who certified " That the east half of the above

town, comprising all the lots from number one to number

thirty inclusive, in the west half of the north-west quarter

of section six, township two north, range thirteen east, in

the county of Seneca, and includes the east half of Main

street, being the county line between Seneca and Hancock

Counties. All the rest of the said lots, on the west half oi

said town, from thirty-one to sixty inclusive, are laid out on

the east part of the north-east quarter of section one, town-

ship two north, range twelve east, in the county of Han-

cock."

This town, and the town of Home, in Seneca County,

were years ago united, and form the town of Fostoria-

There is located here the College of the United Brethren,

and some very handsome private residences. Quite a num-

ber of manufacturing establishments are also located here,

and altogether it is a prosperous portion of the growing

town of Fostoria.

A comfortable brick building for the public schools has

been erected, and the enumeration of youth of school age

amounts to one hundred and four.

ARCADIA.

In July 1855, David Peters and Ambrose Peters laid out

this town, comprising one hundred and thirty-five lots, on

the south part of the north half, and the north part of the

south half of the south-west quarter of section twenty-two.

) -i.WW
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Other additious were iiia<le by William Wbeelau and Charles

E. Jordan.

The town is located about eight miles north-east of Find-

ley, at the crossing of the Lake Erie k Western and the

New York, Chicago & St. Louis Railroads, and has a popu-

lation of about six hundred. The country surrounding it is

rich and well improved, and there seems to be no good rea-

son why Arcadia should not become quite a good point. Its

inhabitants are intelligent and enterprising, and already

quite a large trade is done here.

The business of the town is represented by two quite re-

spectable dry goods stores, two drug stores, three grocerys,

two hotels, three blacksmith shops, two wagon shops, two

shoe shops, two cabinet shops, one cooper shop, one bakery,

one restaurant, one tin shop, one flouring mill, one handle

factory, one saw mill. There are here one Methodist, one

Presbyterian and one Lutheran church, and a good brick

school house. There are four physicians and one lawyer

located here.

The Odd Fellows instituted a Lodge here in July, 1874.

and now have a membership of forty-four.

The Lake & Western Railroad was finished through this

place in the spring of 1859, and the N. Y., C. *& St. L.

Railway commenced laying iron here on the 28th of May,

1881, and on the 2d day of June the cars ran across Main

street.

This town was incorporated in 1859, at which time Geo.

W. Kimmell was elected Mayor, and Dr. D. B. Spahr, Re-

corder. The office of Mayor has since been filled by the

the following persons : Jacob Peters, Joseph Dillery, E. B.

Warner, C. E. Jordan, J. E. Beeson, A. D. Harbaugh, George

Stahl and J. W. Fisher. Joseph Dillery has been five times
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elected Mayor, and J. E. Bowman was six times elected

Recorder.

A post office was established here In 1859, with A. W.

Frederick Postmaster, who has been succeeded by David

Peters, Jacob Peters, William Karn, Joseph Smart, William

Moffat and J. H. Beeson, the present incumbent.

The following named persons were elected Justices of the

Peace in this township, at the dates named:

Tiverton Thomas—1832.
James Wiseman—1835, 1838, 1841, 1844.

William Eckles—1835.

Oliver Day—1838.

Joel Hales—1841.
Michael Roller—1841, 1843, 1847, 1850, 1853.

Ephraim Peters— 1844.

William Baker—1846, 1849, 1852.

Thomas Buckley—1847.
Charles S. Kelley—1854, 1857, 3860, 1803, 1866.

Wesley Bradford— 1 855.

Anthony Fox— 1856, 1859, 1863, 1866. 1869. 1872,

1875, 1878.

Charles E. Jordan—1860, 1863.

Jacob Peters—1866, 1869.

James McCauley—1869, 1873. '

Ezra B. Warner—1872.
Geo. W. Grubb—1874.
D. P. Lloyd—1876.
J. W. Fisher—1877.

C. German—18 r9.

Joseph Dillery—1880.

1
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Table of crop and stock statistics for the year 1880 as

returned to the County Auditor by the Township Assessor

in 1881:

Wheat,
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SOCIAL STATISTICS.

Table showing number of marriages, births and deaths

each month in the year ending March 3Jst, 1880:

*
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acre 'tpOO OO

Table showing amount

|

of taxes levied in 1880,j| Table of Miscellaneous Statistics,

on Grand Duplicate. |j

State,

County,

Poor,

Bridge,

Building,

Road,

Indebtedness,

Township,

School,

Special,

Village,

Total,

$12,338.8:5i|Acres land sold, 20,464. ^,-^$5
19,172.23i|Town Lots, 25. " 720.00
i2,781.4l||No. of Deeds Recorded, 535
23,066.71 jNo. of Mortgages Recorded, 409
ll,50:i3:)tlAmouut Secured, $467,028
12,365.21|1No. of Mortgages Cancelled, 139
3,834,40

7,264,20

42,214.31

192
280
622

1,922

23,117.35

13.488.82

Amount Released, $236,978

Domestic Animals died of Disease.

Value,Horses

Cattle,

Sheep,

Hogs,$181,146.89

Value of Manufactured Articles

$12,045

6,239

1,741

6,486

Wooden Ware, $ 4,200

Wagons, Drays, &c., 3,900

Saddles, Harness, &c., 12,000

Oils, 39,955
All other Manufact's, 44,800

Total, $178,915.

Carriages, Buggies, $28,700
Other Artie's of W'd, 35,000
Tin, Copper, &c.,

,

6,000
Cigars & Tobacco, 800
Drain Tile, 3,560
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PRESIDENTIAL KJ.KCTION, 1880.

A table showing number ol' votes cast for each candidate

for President, and total vote in each election precinct:

Townships and Wards.
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